Thurrock - An ambitious and collaborative community which is proud of its heritage
and excited by its diverse opportunities and future

Health and Wellbeing Board
The meeting will be held at 10.30 am on 23 July 2021
Committee Room 1, Civic Offices, New Road, Grays, Essex, RM17 6SL.

Membership:


























Deputy Mayor, Cllr Halden (Chair)
Portfolio Holder for Adults and Communities, Cllr Huelin
Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services and Education, Cllr Johnson
Cllr Liddiard
Cllr Kent
Corporate Director of Adults, Housing and Health * (Ian Wake)
Corporate Director of Children’s Services * (Sheila Murphy)
Director of Public Health* (Jo Broadbent)
Executive Lead Mid and South Essex Health and Care Partnership & Joint Accountable
Officer for its 5 CCGs (Anthony McKeever)*
NHS Thurrock Alliance Director, Thurrock Clinical Commissioning Group (Mark Tebbs)
NHS Thurrock Alliance Interim Deputy Director (Rahul Chaudari)
Chief Operating Officer HealthWatch Thurrock * (Kim James)
Clinical Representative: Thurrock NHS Clinical Commissioning Group (Dr Anjan Bose)
Chair: Thurrock NHS Clinical Commissioning Group or a clinical representative from the
Board (Dr Anil Kallil)
Deputy Executive Nurse: Thurrock NHS Clinical Commissioning Group (Stephen Mayo)
Director – Place (Andy Millard)
Chair Thurrock Community Safety Partnership Board / Director – Environment and
Highways (Julie Rogers)
Chair of the Adult Safeguarding Partnership or their senior representative (Jim
Nicholson)
Thurrock Local Safeguarding Children’s Partnership or their senior representative (Sheila
Murphy)
Director level representation of Thurrock, North East London Foundation Trust (NELFT)
(Tania Sitch/Gill Burns)
Executive member, Basildon and Thurrock Hospitals University Foundation Trust
(Andrew Pike / Preeti Sud/Michelle Stapleton)
Executive Director of Community Services and Partnerships, Essex Partnership
University Trust (EPUT) (Alex Green)
Chief Executive Thurrock CVS (Kristina Jackson)
HM Prison and Probation Service (Karen Grinney)

Agenda
Open to Public and Press

Page

1

Apologies for Absence

2

Minutes

5 - 16

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the Health and
Wellbeing Board meeting held on 28 January 2021.
3

Urgent Items
To receive additional items that the Chair is of the opinion should be
considered as a matter of urgency, in accordance with Section 100B
(4) (b) of the Local Government Act 1972.

4

Declaration of Interests

5

Integrated Care Systems Update
This item is a verbal item and a supporting report has not been
provide in advance of the meeting

6

Children and young people's emotional wellbeing and mental
health services in Thurrock

17 - 26

This item is supported by reports provided to members in advance of
the meeting as part of the meetings’ papers
7

Thurrock Health and Wellbeing Strategy Refresh Update

27 - 60

This item is supported by reports provided to members in advance of
the meeting as part of the meetings’ papers
8

Brighter Futures Strategy Refresh

61 - 224

This item is supported by reports provided to members in advance of
the meeting as part of the meetings’ papers
9

Primary Care Strategy Refresh
This item is supported by reports provided to members in advance of
the meeting as part of the meeting papers

225 - 270

10

MSE Health and Care Partnership Report on Learning from
COVID

271 - 300

This item is supported by reports provided to members in advance of
the meeting as part of the meetings’ papers
11

Health and Wellbeing Board Terms of Reference
This item is supported by reports to be provided to members in
advance of the meeting and will be provided to members following
the publication of the meeting papers

Queries regarding this Agenda or notification of apologies:
Please contact Darren Kristiansen, Business Manager - Commissioning by sending
an email to DKristiansen@thurrock.gov.uk
Agenda published on: 15 / 7 / 2021

This page is intentionally left blank

Information for members of the public and councillors
Access to Information and Meetings
Due to current government guidance on social-distancing and the COVID-19 virus,
there will be limited seating available for the press and members of the public to
physically attend council meetings. Anyone wishing to attend physically must email
direct.democracy@thurrock.gov.uk to book a seat. Alternatively, council meetings can
be watched live via the Council’s online webcast channel:
www.thurrock.gov.uk/webcast
Members of the public have the right to see the agenda, which will be published no
later than 5 working days before the meeting, and minutes once they are published.
Recording of meetings
This meeting will be live streamed and recorded with the video recording being
published via the Council’s online webcast channel: www.thurrock.gov.uk/webcast
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact Democratic Services at
Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk
Guidelines on filming, photography, recording and use of social media at
council and committee meetings
The council welcomes the filming, photography, recording and use of social media at
council and committee meetings as a means of reporting on its proceedings because
it helps to make the council more transparent and accountable to its local
communities.
Thurrock Council Wi-Fi
Wi-Fi is available throughout the Civic Offices. You can access Wi-Fi on your device
by simply turning on the Wi-Fi on your laptop, Smartphone or tablet.


You should connect to TBC-CIVIC



Enter the password Thurrock to connect to/join the Wi-Fi network.



A Terms & Conditions page should appear and you have to accept these before
you can begin using Wi-Fi. Some devices require you to access your browser to
bring up the Terms & Conditions page, which you must accept.

The ICT department can offer support for council owned devices only.

Page 1

Evacuation Procedures
In the case of an emergency, you should evacuate the building using the nearest
available exit and congregate at the assembly point at Kings Walk.
How to view this agenda on a tablet device

You can view the agenda on your iPad, Android Device or Blackberry
Playbook with the free modern.gov app.

Members of the Council should ensure that their device is sufficiently charged,
although a limited number of charging points will be available in Members Services.
To view any “exempt” information that may be included on the agenda for this
meeting, Councillors should:



Access the modern.gov app
Enter your username and password

Page 2

DECLARING INTERESTS FLOWCHART – QUESTIONS TO ASK YOURSELF
Breaching those parts identified as a pecuniary interest is potentially a criminal offence
Helpful Reminders for Members




Is your register of interests up to date?
In particular have you declared to the Monitoring Officer all disclosable pecuniary interests?
Have you checked the register to ensure that they have been recorded correctly?

When should you declare an interest at a meeting?



What matters are being discussed at the meeting? (including Council, Cabinet,
Committees, Subs, Joint Committees and Joint Subs); or
If you are a Cabinet Member making decisions other than in Cabinet what matter is
before you for single member decision?

Does the business to be transacted at the meeting

relate to; or

likely to affect
any of your registered interests and in particular any of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interests?
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests shall include your interests or those of:




your spouse or civil partner’s
a person you are living with as husband/ wife
a person you are living with as if you were civil partners

where you are aware that this other person has the interest.
A detailed description of a disclosable pecuniary interest is included in the Members Code of Conduct at Chapter 7 of the
Constitution. Please seek advice from the Monitoring Officer about disclosable pecuniary interests.
What is a Non-Pecuniary interest? – this is an interest which is not pecuniary (as defined) but is nonetheless so
significant that a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard to be so significant
that it would materially impact upon your judgement of the public interest.

Non- pecuniary

Pecuniary
If the interest is not already in the register you must
(unless the interest has been agreed by the Monitoring
Officer to be sensitive) disclose the existence and nature
of the interest to the meeting

Declare the nature and extent of your interest including enough
detail to allow a member of the public to understand its nature

If the Interest is not entered in the register and is not the subject of a pending
notification you must within 28 days notify the Monitoring Officer of the
interest for inclusion in the register

Unless you have received dispensation upon previous
application from the Monitoring Officer, you must:
-

Not participate or participate further in any discussion of
the matter at a meeting;

-

Not participate in any vote or further vote taken at the
meeting; and

-

leave the room while the item is being considered/voted
upon

If you are a Cabinet Member you may make arrangements for
the matter to be dealt with by a third person but take no further
steps

Page 3

You may participate and vote in the usual
way but you should seek advice on
Predetermination and Bias from the
Monitoring Officer.

Our Vision and Priorities for Thurrock
An ambitious and collaborative community which is proud of its heritage and excited by
its diverse opportunities and future.

1.

2.

3.

People – a borough where people of all ages are proud to work and play, live and
stay


High quality, consistent and accessible public services which are right first time



Build on our partnerships with statutory, community, voluntary and faith groups
to work together to improve health and wellbeing



Communities are empowered to make choices and be safer and stronger
together

Place – a heritage-rich borough which is ambitious for its future


Roads, houses and public spaces that connect people and places



Clean environments that everyone has reason to take pride in



Fewer public buildings with better services

Prosperity – a borough which enables everyone to achieve their aspirations


Attractive opportunities for businesses and investors to enhance the local
economy



Vocational and academic education, skills and job opportunities for all



Commercial, entrepreneurial and connected public services

Page 4

Agenda Item 2
PUBLIC Minutes of the meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held on 28
January 2021 11.00am-1.22pm
Present:

Councillor James Halden (Chair)
Roger Harris, Corporate Director for Adults, Housing and
Health
Ian Wake, Director of Public Health
Mark Tebbs, NHS Thurrock Alliance Director, Thurrock Clinical
Commissioning Group
Sheila Murphy, Corporate Director for Children’s Services
Tania Sitch, Integrated Care Director Thurrock, North East
London Foundation Trust (NELFT)
Dr Anil Kallil, Chair of Thurrock CCG
Nigel Leonard, Executive Director of Community Services and
Partnerships, Essex Partnership University Trust (EPUT)
Kim James, Chief Operating Officer, Healthwatch Thurrock
Stephen Mayo, Deputy Chief Nurse, Thurrock Clinical
Commissioning Group

Apologies:

Councillor Robert Gledhill
Councillor Allen Mayes
Councillor Tony Fish
Julie Rogers, Chair Thurrock Community Safety Partnership
Board/Director of Environment and Highways
Andy Millard, Director for Place
Karen Grinney, HM Prison and Probation Service
Michelle Stapleton, Interim Director of Operations, Basildon
and Thurrock University Hospitals Foundation Trust
Tom Abell, Deputy Chief Executive and Chief Transformation
Officer, Basildon and Thurrock University Hospitals Foundation
Trust
Andrew Pike, Executive Member, Basildon and Thurrock
Hospitals University Trust
Preeti Sud, Executive Member of Basildon and Thurrock
Hospitals University Foundation Trust
Kristina Jackson, Chief Executive, Thurrock CVS
Anthony McKeever, Interim Joint Accountable Officer for Mid
and South Essex CCGs

Guests:

Jo Cripps, Mid and South Essex Health and Care Partnership
Dianne Sarkar, Basildon and Thurrock Hospitals University
Foundation Trust
Brian Balmer, Mid and South Essex Health and Care
Partnership
Ashley King, Mid and South Essex Health and Care
Partnership
Michael Addo-Boatang, Thurrock Clinical Commissioning
Group
Helen Farmer, Thurrock Clinical Commissioning Group
Gill Burns, North East London Foundation Trust
Catherine Wilson, Thurrock Council
Priscilla Tsang, Thurrock Council
Greg Myddleton, Essex Police
Pradip Mistry, Thurrock Dementia Action Alliance

Page 5

1.

Welcome, Introduction and Apologies
Colleagues were welcomed and apologies were noted.

2.

Minutes
The minutes of the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting held on 26
November 2020 were approved as a correct record.

3.

Urgent Items
There were no urgent items raised in advance of the meeting.

4.

Declaration of Interests
There were no declarations of interest.

5.

Update on ICS Application
This item was presented by Jo Cripps, Mid and South Essex Health and Care
Partnership. Key points included:
 An application was submitted in December 2020 to NHS England for
the Mid and South Essex Health and Care Partnership to become a
designated Integrated Care System. The application was agreed and
endorsed by the Partnership and the three Health and Wellbeing
Boards.
 The application will be assessed against a maturity matrix
demonstrating the journey of the Partnership and collaborative
working with the wider NHS.
 The outcome of the application is due to be released mid-March 2021
and if successful, implemented from 1 April 2021.
During discussions the following points were made:
 Colleagues welcomed the application and the clearly outlined
description between place and the wider system.
 Members noted the Secretary of State is considering a review of
boundaries which had previously been discussed 3 years ago
whereby the priorities of the Partnership were established. If the
boundaries are to be changed, relationships with new partners need to
be formed and the Memorandum of Understanding reviewed.
 Members reiterated the Integrated Care System focus is on place
based working for the benefit of the population.
 Concerns were raised regarding the intense back log of cancer
diagnosis and treatment as a result of the pandemic, as well as mental
health issues therefore a strong partnership approach is necessary.
ACTION: The Chair will formally write to the Secretary of State to raise
concerns regarding proposed new boundaries and the Health and
Wellbeing Board’s opposition of this.
RESOLVED: Members noted and commented on the verbal update.

Page 6

6.

BTUH Maternity CQC Assessment Outcome
This item was introduced by Dianne Sarkar, Basildon and Thurrock Hospitals
University Foundation Trust (BTUH). Key points included:
 An update on the improvement maternity plan and the Section 31 are
reported to regulators on a monthly basis. Good progress has been
made with the improvement plan and there are no outstanding actions
at this time. For the Section 31, a number of conditions and
governance systems have been implemented and are being
embedded into the service.
 The improvement plan also receives regular scrutiny via an internal
Quality Improvement Board.
 BTUH has received external support from PWC for additional
resources and implementing best practice approaches. As a result, no
concerns have been raised to the external guardian.
 As a result of the assessment, there are daily huddles and multidisciplinary meetings as part of the escalation and hand over process.
 Staffing has been a challenge, particularly over the Christmas period
due to the pandemic, however 1-to-1 care was provided 93.9% of the
time. The Hospital did have to divert on 4 occasions due to capacity
however there were no direct negative impact on patients.
 There are currently still a number of challenges such as recruitment
however BTUH is continuing to support individual and team coaching
as part of a career framework.
 BTUH have received support from NHS England in terms of sharing
best practice policies to help improve care.
 A midwife has been appointed to head partnership working and
engagement with women and their families. This will enable external
stakeholders to be reached across the Trust.
 It was confirmed colleagues are continuing to look at the health and
wellbeing of individuals within pregnancy.
During discussions the following points were made:
 Colleagues noted previous concerns regarding communications with
families from the midwifery department therefore a wraparound
service for vulnerable mothers was suggested.
ACTION: Diane Sarkar to liaise with Sheila Murphy regarding support for
vulnerable mothers.






Members requested formal progress reports are submitted to the
Brighter Futures Board to enable Children’s Services colleagues to
digest updates and ensure the views of women known to the service
are captured.
Colleagues were advised HealthWatch is involved in a local piece of
work in conjunction with BTUH and will share information and
upcoming events with partners.
It was noted there has been a recent increase in numbers of women
with COVID-19 however it is encouraging there have been no
significant issues as a result of this.
Members were advised the next CQC inspection is likely to take place
in the next financial year.

Page 7



7.

There is a local maternity management system with representation
from Public Health which looks at the impact of COVID-19 and any
best practice policies.

RESOLVED: Members noted and commented on the verbal update.
Update on health and care Winter / COVID pressures
This item was introduced by Ian Wake (Thurrock Council) in relation to wider
epidemiology in Thurrock. Key points included:
 The current overall rate per 100,000 of the population is 472 – this is
the first time it has been under 500 since 10 December 2020. The
Local Authority is ranked 39th, down from 37th and the rate for the over
60 population is 315.2. Overall the positivity rate is 13%.
 There has been a significant reduction in the number of positive tests,
with approximately 150 per day, down from over 400 during the
Christmas week.
 The number of tests taken has dropped however asymptomatic testing
remaining strong with over 1200 tests taken per day.
 It has been identified 2-3 times more women are testing than men and
the 20-29 age group are less likely to test; further communications
engagement is to be launched via social media to encourage testing in
these cohorts.
 In conclusion, COVID-19 levels are still high in Thurrock however the
borough is starting to see a reduction in cases and a lower system
demand.
During discussions on epidemiology the following points were made:
 Members noted data on ethnic minority status had been removed from
the surveillance dashboard due to the lack of sufficient granularity for
analysis.
 Colleagues noted a public conference has been arranged in February
within the Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic community regarding the
fears associated with the COVID-19 vaccine and members were
encouraged to join the event.
Mark Tebbs (Thurrock Clinical Commissioning Group) made the following key
points in relation to NHS system pressures:
 A critical incident was declared in December 2020 as there had been a
steep rise in hospital admissions and demand on services. Across the
3 hospitals, there were approximately 1000 COVID-19 patients and
many of these required oxygen support.
 All front line staff were thanked for their huge effort during this time
and resilience has been created due to the system and partners
working well.
 There is a need to focus on staff wellbeing as the pandemic has
caused extreme and prolonged pressure therefore it is imperative
people are supported.
 The service was managing high levels of staff sickness throughout this
period, both in relation to COVID-19 diagnoses and isolation.
 To help ease service pressure, the system focus was on the flow of
patients out of the hospital through discharge of patients into the
community. This was achieved through the opening of Oak House,

Page 8












increased capacity at the Brentwood Community Hospital and a further
designated site, Meadowview, being opened.
Community providers have provided support to care homes through
community services and GPs, particularly in relation to respiratory
pathways.
The NHS has seen a rise in the use of the think NHS 111 model to
encourage reduced use of A&E as full waiting rooms can increase the
COVID-19 transmission risk.
Colleagues have noted pressures within mental health services which
have remained open during the pandemic, however a focus has been
on crisis support. IAPT services have adapted their model and have
been able to provide virtual support.
Primary care have reprioritised their model to ensure capacity for
respiratory support.
The local vaccination programme is progressing well and on track,
with the focus on 2 PCN sites in Stifford and Chadwell for the 4 priority
groups. However, the progress of the programme is dependent on
supply and is often at short notice.
The Essex Partnership University Trust (EPUT) have launched a staff
wellbeing service for health and social care staff which will provide a
route for assessments and any onward referrals. In addition, the
psychology team have been identified to provide further direct support
to health care workers and access is already available.

During discussions the following points were made:
 Members raised that if any children’s health services have been
redirected at present, that Children’s Services colleagues are made
aware of this in order for them to adjust their services accordingly.
This is particularly in relation to children and learners with Special
Educational Needs (SEN).
 Colleagues advised they were keen to join up all services up,
particularly children’s performance therefore an operationally focused
group is being formed.
ACTION: Mark Tebbs to liaise with Children’s Services regarding the
operational performance group.




Members were reassured from a clinical perspective that any high
risks cases involving children, any safeguarding concerns and those
with mental health conditions are all being seen and triaged as part of
business as usual.
Colleagues noted national guidance had been shared in relation to the
specific services which had been diverted.

ACTION: Sheila Murphy to liaise with Helen Farmer regarding the
specific national communication around Children’s Services.


Members were reminded of the Economic Recovery Strategy which is
vital for NHS colleagues to feed into.

Roger Harris (Thurrock Council) made the following key points in relation to
adult social care services:

Page 9










Thanks to colleagues across all partners was reiterated as all services
faced staffing issues during this time.
During the second wave of the pandemic, nearly every care home had
been in an outbreak however half of the care homes are now out of
this and are able to accept new referrals.
The opening of Oak House was important as it took referrals from the
hospitals. Numbers of those from Thurrock at Basildon Hospital were
low and half the Oak House referrals were from Essex.
Members noted the local hospitals remain at Opel 4 alert, indicating a
major incident as hospital admissions and the care sector are likely to
be the last to see a reduction in demand.
The recovery period after the pandemic needs to be considered,
particularly those areas of work which have been put on hold, for
example some services have been closed such as day care facilities.
Furthermore, no evictions have progressed during this time therefore
there is a concern in the possible rise in homelessness.

RESOLVED: Members noted and commented on the update
provided.
8.

Mid and South Essex Primary Care Strategy
This item was introduced by Brian Balmer, Mid and South Essex HCPC. Key
points included:
 The purpose of the review of the Strategy is to summarise progress
since it was approved in June 2018; this is due to be completed by
end of March 2021.
 Since June 2018, there has been a number of developments, including
the NHS Long Term Plan, the formation of Primary Care Networks
(PCNs) and the focus on an integrated system.
 The biggest strategic change has been the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic which has greatly tested the system and continues to do so.
 The review of the Strategy encompasses a number of principles such
as system integration and a focus on PCNs. There will be enhanced
engagement with patients as an integral part of all changes to
provision and due consideration provided to resourcing.
 A key strategic area is enhanced PCNs which will improve
management and administration / non clinical capacity. The PCNs will
also have a local commissioning role with increased flexibility around
additional clinical roles.
 The scope of primary care is a further key strategic area which
focuses on recovery post-pandemic as the system has paused routine
functions and many patients are apprehensive about going to health
care professions. A ‘care gap’ has been created whereby there are
patients who have identified needs however they are unable to be
seen in a timely manner.
 A Guardian service has been established whereby patients are
actively involved in their care.
 Workforce support is also key, with a focus on the retention and
recruitment of GPs.

Page 10

During discussions the following points were made:
 Members reiterated the importance of place and the considerable
opportunities for PCNs to use a place based locality footprint to
integrate all transformation work.
 Members recognised this work links with the Integrated Care System
approach to devolve as much power to the local level rather than a
centralised position. The Strategy requires a strong voice at the
Health and Care Partnership level and the formation of a second
Primary Care Commissioning Committee will be able to feed into this.
ACTION: Brian Balmer to liaise with Mark Tebbs to understand how
primary care priorities fit into the wider system.







Colleagues noted the potential funding flow and recruitment
challenges for networks as each area should have the same calibre of
workforce and attraction. However, there are differences in the need
between practices across the borough and their populations.
Members raised concerns with the perceived overuse of
pharmacology within primary care however reassurance was provided
there will be increased peer reviews of practices to raise standards for
vulnerable patients.
Members noted the Guardian service will not be a duplication of the
work HealthWatch are involved with as the purpose of the service is to
obtain improved information on individual care.
Colleagues welcomed further offline discussions to develop a timeline
to feed into the Strategy before it is signed off by the Partnership
Board in March 2021.

RESOLVED: Members noted, and endorsed the report and the Mid and
South Essex Care Partnership’s Workforce Strategy.
9.

Initial Health Assessments of Looked After Children
This item was introduced by Stephen Mayo, Thurrock Clinical Commissioning
Group. Key points included:
 This is a follow up report from November 2020 whereby it was agreed
by the Board that 90% of Initial Health Assessments (IHAs) of Looked
after Children (LACs) should be completed within 20 working days.
 The IHA performance indicator for Health stands at 100%. Over the
period
 April to October 2020, the targets were met three times (April, August
and
 September 2020). A critical incident was declared in December which
has impacted the sharing of information due to resources being
diverted to support the ongoing pandemic.
 There have been a number of issues identified with meeting the 20
working day time frame which relates to communication concerns,
challenges to NELFT staffing and challenges relating to out of area
placements.
 To mitigate these issues, weekly meetings have been arranged with
colleagues and there are improvements in the November and
December 2020 data.

Page 11





A project is underway to develop a technological solution to support
the processes and information sharing regarding CLA across
Southend, Essex and Thurrock (SET).
Due to the pandemic, the IHAs have been conducted virtually however
this is risk assessed on a case by case basis.
In addition, colleagues are exploring the possibility of a joint funded
post between Health Provider and Thurrock Children Social Care for
IHAs to improve uptake and following up with out of area providers
which tends to adversely impact on the figures of Thurrock CLA IHAs.

During discussions the following points were made:
 Members welcomed the improved working between organisations as
the timeliness of IHAs was flagged during a previous Ofsted
inspection.
 Colleagues agreed the joint post is an appropriate proposal however
some concerns were raised in relation to the SET wide approach. This
project is currently at an early stage and the advantages would be to
have a centralised administration centre.
 Members agreed before final decisions are made regarding the SET
approach, these are to be discussed at a future Board meeting.
ACTION: Secretariat to ensure an IHA item is include on the Board
forward planner.
RESOLVED: Members noted and commented on the report.
Members agreed the following:
 To place Initial Health Assessments and its timeliness on the
agenda of the Health and Wellbeing Board for bi-annual review.
 The Thurrock Clinical Commissioning Group’s children’s
commissioners to have further discussions with external
commissioners around support by statutory regulations and IHA
completion.
 A jointly funded role(s) is considered between Health and
Children Social Care to aid process to consistently achieve the
statutory timeframes.
 Thurrock Health and Social Care Services to adhere to the SETwide IHA database, when launched.
 For further consideration to be given to the joint commissioning
of IHAs across SET.
10.

Southend, Essex and Thurrock Dementia Strategy Re-fresh
This item was introduced by Catherine Wilson, Thurrock Council. Key points
included:
 The current Strategy was developed in 2017 and is due to end in
2021. A Thurrock specific action/implementation plan was also
developed and approved at this time.
 A review of the Strategy will identified where changes / improvements
are needed, particularly in light of the COVID-19 pandemic which has
greatly impacted those with dementia, their carers and families as
majority of face-to-face services have not been available during this
period.
 As part of the consultation, colleagues are proposing that on-line
engagement takes place using Thurrock Council’s consultation portal

Page 12



in mid-February for a period of 8 weeks to shape priorities in the
refreshed Strategy. Consultation findings will then be shared with
partner organisations and a Steering Group established.
In addition to the consultation results, priorities will be shaped by
national priorities and Alzheimer’s Society and Carers UK research,
who in turn have their own engagement mechanisms.

During discussions the following points were made:
 Members advised they opposed the model of dementia villages as
individuals should be supported to remain as independent as possible
in regular society.
 It was agreed a dedicated meeting with the Thurrock Dementia Action
Alliance would be beneficial to discuss the Strategy in further detail.
ACTION: Catherine Wilson to arrange a meeting with the Thurrock
Dementia Action Alliance.
RESOLVED: Members agreed the proposed approach and timeframes
outlined in the development of the Pan Essex Dementia Strategy (Health
and Social Care) and Thurrock specific implementation plan.
11.

Essex Sexual Abuse Strategy
This item was introduced by Priscilla Tsang (Thurrock Council) and Greg
Myddleton (Essex Police). Key points included:
 The Strategy has been developed using existing resources such as
the Thurrock Violence against Women and Girls (VAWG) strategy,
and Thurrock’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) on sexual
violence and abuse.
 Local partners have also been involved through the development of
action plans such as SERICC.
 This is the first partnership strategy to focus on sexual abuse which
brings together a range of stakeholders who all have a role to play in
preventing and reducing sexual abuse, as well as ensuring
perpetrators are brought to justice.
 A fundamental change is needed in the way society views sexual
abuse as it is often a taboo subject.
 The Strategy aims to look at the understanding of consent,
manifestations of this and what good / healthy relationships look like.
The root cause of perpetrators also needs to be tackled to reduce
instances of offending.
 This is a timely Strategy as due to the current pandemic, there has
been an increase in the number of reported sexual violence and
abuse incidents and those seeking help.
 A Task and Finish Group is being established which will help to
identify and create a performance framework, with a draft being
completed by the end of March 2021.
During discussions the following points were made:
 Members recognised the difficulty in detecting sexual abuse as the
cohort and subsequent data within Thurrock is low.
 The Strategy can be influential across the county through police
activity and awareness raising campaigns to ensure a consistent
approach to messages.

Page 13



Colleagues noted further links need to be made with mental health as
historical experiences can be linked to mental ill health.
For
perpetrators, this could also be a root cause of sexual violence and
abuse.

RESOLVED: Members endorsed the Strategy and considered how
organisations might help to deliver the strategy’s objectives in
Thurrock.
At 13:05 the Board became inquorate as a number of members left the meeting due
to other meeting commitments. For the last item there were 4 members of the Board
present (Cllr Halden, Sheila Murphy, Nigel Leonard and Mark Tebbs).
12. Children and young people’s emotional wellbeing and mental health
services in
Thurrock
This item was introduced by Helen Farmer (Thurrock Clinical Commissioning
Group). Key points included:
 The Brighter Futures Children’s Partnership Board are currently
refreshing their strategic plan and have identified emotional wellbeing
and mental health for children and young people as a priority area for
development.
 An adapted model for delivery of services during the pandemic has
been implemented through reaching out proactively and being able to
see more patients digitally. However there will be a prolonged impact
on children’s mental health and wellbeing and the demand for
services.
 The service is seeing children that were not known to them prior to the
pandemic and there has been an increase in crisis presentation within
Thurrock. Late night clinics have therefore been opened to reduce the
need to send clients to A&E for urgent support.
 An example of best practice is through the borough’s Youth Offending
Service which has a robust integrated approach with an emotional
wellbeing and mental health support worker and an educational
psychologist. This is a wraparound and holistic service.
 Mental health support teams are available within schools,
commissioned via NELFT. This close working partnership is seen as
a significant advantage enabling early identification and providing an
important link with services.
 There have been over 3000 new births during the pandemic in
Thurrock without the social networks or normal delivery of service
provision available during this time therefore perinatal consequences
of the pandemic need to be considered.

Page 14

During discussions the following points were made
 Colleagues noted the back logs within mental health services already
and this has been exacerbated by the pandemic therefore postpandemic recovery needs to be considered.
 It was recognised there were previous tensions between the emotional
wellbeing and mental health services and schools which are now more
positive in nature.
 Members noted the services available during the transitional period
between teenage years and adulthood need to be strengthened.
RESOLVED: Members noted and commented on the report.
The meeting finished at 13:22pm.
CHAIR………………………………..
DATE…………………………………

Page 15

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6


ITEM: 6

23 July 2021
Health and Well Being Board

Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services Procurement Update
Wards and communities affected:

Key Decision:

All

Key

Report of: Michele Lucas - Assistant Director, Education and Skills, Teresa SalamiOru - Assistant Director, Public Health and Catherine Wilson - Strategic Lead
Operational Commissioning
Accountable Assistant Director: Michele Lucas – Assistant Director, Education
and Skills
Accountable Director: Sheila Murphy, Corporate Director Children Services
This report is Public

Executive Summary
This report sets the progress to date regarding the re-procurement of our Child and
Adolescent Mental Health Services for Children and Young People in Thurrock. The
shaping of the Thurrock delivery model within the Brighter Futures Strategy together
with a review of the current structure structures in place to support our ambitious
plans for a new integrated model of supporting children and young people with
emotional wellbeing challenges.
The current contract has been in place since 2015 delivered through a Collaborative
Commissioning Approach between the seven Clinical Commissioning Groups and
three Local Authorities across the Greater Essex footprint. The current contract ends
on the 31st January 2022. The re-procurement of the service commenced on 4th May
2021 in order to deliver the new contract from the 1st February 2022.
The delivery of Mental Health Services for Children and Young People are a priority
within the NHS Five Year Forward View for Mental Health published by NHS
England and produced by the Independent Mental Health Taskforce in February
2016. The NHS Long Term Plan published in 2019 makes a renewed commitment to
improve and widen access to mental health care and support for children and adults.
We also need to recognise the impact of Covid 19 on children and young people’s
emotional wellbeing.

Page 17



The specification for the new service, which does allows for local determinants,
supports our own developing strategic response through our Brighter Futures
Strategy for children and young people and will form part of the integrated pathway
for child and adolescent mental health services. The Collaborative Commissioning
Forum is supportive of our approach in developing a model that brings together our
universal service responses to ensure that children and young people can access
and be directed to support whenever it is needed. The aim of an integrated service
will be to prevent escalation along the pathway wherever possible but to ensure the
right level of service is accessed for each child and young person. The new model
will be developed under the guidance of Brighter Futures in collaboration with all
partners’, young people and their families.
The core elements of the Thurrock specific delivery model include:
1) Strong integration of the workers from CAMH’s into Brighter Future’s to
ensure greater integration and accountability.
2) Local governance through Brighter Futures, inclusive of local schools, to
ensure Thurrock assets are integral to the CAMH’s decision making process.
It is recognised that there are significant challenges in meeting the increasing
demand for emotional wellbeing and mental health services as a result of the
COVID-19 restrictions. The work to transform how mental health services are offered
that has already commenced will provide the opportunity to take a whole systems
approach to delivery that will better help ensure that we make best use of the
resources available.
The current collaborative commissioning arrangement has led to an improved single
point of access and seamless access to services in different tiers of need. This is
particularly the case for access to tier two and tier three services which were
previously accessed through different referral systems, often resulting in delays for
children and young people in receiving support.
The current commissioned service ends on the 31st January 2022. The provision of a
Greater Essex CAMH’s Service brings together the budgets of the three local
authorities and seven Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) totalling £21 million
per annum.
It was agreed at Cabinet in March 2021 that Thurrock Local Authority would proceed
with the procurement as part of the Collaborative Commissioning Forum recognising
the significant benefit that can be derived from wider place commissioning
arrangements.

1.

Recommendation(s)
1.1 For Health and Wellbeing Board to be aware of the progress
regarding the procurement of Child and Adolescent mental Health
Services together with plans for the Thurrock model of delivery and the
sustainability of that model.

Page 18



2.

Introduction and Background

2.1

Prior to 2015 Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMH’s) were
not delivered collaboratively and young people’s experience of services was
very disjointed. A decision was made with all partners to collaboratively
commission those services and it became the Emotional Well Being and
Mental Health Service delivered by the successful bidder North East London
Foundation Trust (NELFT) across the Greater Essex footprint. This
arrangement has been in place since 2015 and has led to an improved single
point of access and seamless access to services in different tiers of need.

2.2

The current commissioned service ends on 31st January 2022, the
procurement began on the 4th May 2021 and the new contract will be in place
by 1st February 2022.

3.

Issues, Options and Analysis of Options

3.1
The development of the School Wellbeing Service and more recently the
inclusion of mental health teams in schools has placed Thurrock in a strong
position to consider how we would like to work in partnership with our
commissioned services going forward.
The Brighter Futures refreshed strategy has identified emotional wellbeing for
children and young people as a key strategic priority and a number of
partnership meetings have taken place to further discuss the emerging new
place based wellbeing model.
This new emerging wellbeing model is underpinned by the following
seven principles of service delivery which have been developed as part of the
Brighter Future’s Strategy:


Holistic –treatment approaches that take a whole family approach and
treat both the young person and the family taking into account the
environment in which the young person lives.



Responsive help is available when required and to all who need it.



Integrated CAMH’s service delivery is embedded into a single integrated
model of children’s emotional health and wellbeing and other community
assets including schools and INSPIRE rather than being delivered
separately or in parallel.



Preventative will seek to intervene at the earliest possible opportunity to
prevent mental ill health issues becoming worse



Resilient and capacity building helps to support are resilient service model
by building capacity through training and education.

Page 19





Evidence Based Practice takes into consideration local & national
evidence as part of service development



Able to provide a single point of access offers swift seamless navigation
and support for children, parents and professional throughout the service
model and system.

Together with the above due regard will be paid to the following essential
elements below for the delivery of high quality Child and Adolescent Mental Health
services:






Involving children, young people, families and carers
Collaboration between different organisations and services
Innovative ways of providing person-centred care
Improving access to services
Education and training for staff, children and young people and their
families

Our new emerging wellbeing model (see appendix one) brings together our
universal responses to ensure that children and young people can access and
be directed to support whenever it is needed and to support children, young
people and their families while they wait for tier two and tier three intervention
3.5

The proposal for the term of this contract is seven years with the option to
extend for a further three years. This is in line with the scale and size of the
procurement.

3.6

The contract covers a minimum of 35% of children in Thurrock to have access
to the service, this is the same access rate for all locality areas covered by the
service specification.

3.7

The specification requires the following key principles are factored in to the
delivery of the service:

3.7.1. An integrated responsive and evidence based Tier two and Tier three Child
and Adolescent Mental Health Service across Thurrock, Essex and Southend
to all children and young people aged from 0 until their 18th birthday, or 25th
birthday for those service users with Special Educational Needs (SEN) and/or
disabilities, including those with Education Health and Care (EHC) plans, and
who require longer term mental health support (these may involve adult
services where applicable and appropriate). Ensure those children and young
people aged 18 years needing long term mental health support receive
appropriate provision to meet their needs and have a smooth transition to
adult mental health services where they meet the criteria for acceptance into
adult services.
3.7.2. Equitable service provision for those children and young people from
the more vulnerable groups, prioritised based on their mental health
clinical presentation.

Page 20



3.7.3. Provide assessment and treatment compliant with national and local
standards for children and young people with emotional wellbeing and
mental health disorders who meet the acceptance criteria for the
service, who also present with complex physical health needs including
learning disability, autistic spectrum disorder, attention deficit and
hyperactivity disorder, to improve access and multi-agency intervention.
3.7.4. Children and Young People Misusing Substances and/or with a
gambling addiction to work in partnership at appropriate levels and
where clinically specified for mental health treatment.
3.7.5. A single point of access to carry out screening and appropriate
directing and/or signposting for those that do not meet the acceptance
criteria into other appropriate services for emotional wellbeing and
mental health needs.
3.7.6. Out of hours and emergency care available 24/7, 365 days per year. A
crisis intervention and intensive support team, which aims to prevent
hospital admission for those children and young people whose mental
health state requires an urgent response within 24 hours.
3.7.7.
Offer a first appointment to all children and young people who meet the
referral criteria. This first appointment, unless in unscheduled or urgent
care, should be as soon as possible and no later than 4 weeks.
3.7.8. Provide interventions and treatments, where required and agreed with
children, young people and families/carers, as soon as possible, and no
later than 18 weeks from first referral, with the median experienced wait
for treatment being no longer than 12 weeks.
3.8

The changes in the health landscape being considered across Thurrock,
Essex and Southend with place based commissioning being at the forefront
mean that a collaborative commissioning agreement will support the ability to
work across these systems. Place based outcomes via the locality teams will
allow for:






3.9

A strengthening of place-based clinical leadership
Accountability and quality of local health services
Development of relationships with local public and third sector
Delivery of education and training opportunities to interested parties
such as GPs, schools
Working with key strategic partners in the locality areas

The ongoing provision of Child and Adolescent Mental Health services for
children and young people will support the work to transform the offer with a
seamless pathway between adult and children’s support where appropriate.
The work to transform mental health services through a whole systems
approach that is already underway and includes a focus on these aspects.

Page 21



Next Steps
We are currently looking at how we refocus the work of the SWS to ensure that
they can provide a central point for early intervention. The SWS partnership has
recently developed a network of local providers and we are working with our
key partners to further refine the model and look at ways in which we can begin
to test and learn going forward.
Funding for the SWS remains a risk – we have secured funding for a further two
years however this is something that we will continue to review going forward.
Continue to utilise the wider partnership to review and refine the model in
readiness for the new provider coming on line in January 2022.
Develop a multi-agency panel to review referrals and signpost to services
based on needs identified.
Continue to imbed the training and upskilling of school based staff to offer a
strong early offer of support to children, young people and families
Develop a range of parent/carer programmes to support with emotional
wellbeing challenges.

4.

Reasons for Recommendation
For Health and Wellbeing Board to be aware of the progress regarding the
procurement of Child and Adolescent mental Health Services together with
plans for the Thurrock model of delivery and the sustainability of that model.

5.

Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable)

5.1

A report recommending continuation of the Collaborative Agreement and
agreement to the procurement was submitted to Children’s Overview and
Scrutiny on the 2nd February 2021 and presentation to Cabinet in March 2021.
Agreement was received.

5.2

The Thurrock way forward has been discussed across the Collaborative
Commissioning Forum, and with the Children’s Directorate Management
Team. Local work to transform the Mental Health offer through a whole
system approach is ongoing and this will include a focus on the pathway
between children’s and adult services. As this work develops, discussion will
be held at the Brighter Futures Board and the Health and Wellbeing Board as

Page 22



appropriate.

6.

Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community
impact

6.1

This commissioning supports the following corporate priority:
People – a borough where people of all ages are proud to work and play, live
and stay.
This supports delivery of:




high quality, consistent and accessible public services which are right first
time
build on our partnerships with statutory, community, voluntary and faith
groups to work together to improve health and wellbeing.
communities are empowered to make choices and be safer and stronger
together.

7.

Implications

7.1

Financial
Implications verified by:

David May
Strategic Lead Finance – Children’s Services

The costs of providing safe and effective interventions associated with
supporting children and young people in the community with crisis support or
outreach can be considerably less than those associated with inpatient care.
The provision of mental health services through a collaborative approach brings
economies of scale and provides a wider range of access to services. Earlier
access to services and the reduction of delays in access prevents longer term
need and therefore a reduction in costs.

7.2

Legal
Implications verified by:

Courage Emovon
Principal Lawyer / Manager – Contracts &
Procurement Team

The Council have a statutory obligation to provide for the Health and wellbeing
of its local residents and the proposals in this report reflects that duty and
obligation.

Page 23



The NHS Long Term Plan published in January 2019, restated the
Government’s commitment to deliver the recommendations in The Five Year
Forward View for Mental Health and set out further measures to improve the
provision of, and access to, mental health services for children and young
people.
Whilst the recommendations in this report support the delivery of mental health
support for children and young people, it is noted that Legal services will be on
hand to advise on any issues arising from the recommendations as and when
required.

7.3

Diversity and Equality
Implications verified by:

Becky Lee
Team Manager -Community Development and
Equalities– Adult’s, Housing and Health

In line with the Equalities Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty, public
authorities including CCGs must give due regard to the need to:
(a) Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other
behaviour prohibited by the Act. In summary, the Act makes discrimination etc.
on the grounds of a protected characteristic unlawful.
(b) Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected
characteristic and those who do not.
(c) Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic
and those who do not including tackling prejudice and promoting
understanding.
The protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment,
pregnancy and maternity, marriage and civil partnership, race, religion or belief,
sex, and sexual orientation.
The initial community and equalities impact assessment completed as a part of
this exercise indicates that the proposals in this report will not have a
disproportionately adverse impact on any people with a protected
characteristic. A full community and equalities impact assessment will be
completed as a part of the procurement process.

7.4

Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability,
Crime and Disorder)
None

Page 24



8.

Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location
on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected
by copyright):


9.

None

Appendices to the report

Test and learn
integrated pathway June.pptx

Report Authors:
Michele Lucas
Assistant Director
Education and Skills
Children’s Services
Teresa Salami-Oru
Assistant Director
Public Health
Adults Housing and Health
Catherine Wilson
Strategic Lead Operational Commissioning
Children’s Services and Adults, Housing and Health

Page 25

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7


23 July 2021

ITEM: 7

Health and Wellbeing Board
Health & Wellbeing Strategy Refresh
Wards and communities affected:

Key Decision:

All

No

Report of: Jo Broadbent, Director of Public Health
Accountable Head of Service: Ian Wake, Director Adults, Housing & Health
Accountable Director: Ian Wake, Director Adults, Housing & Health
This report is Public
Executive Summary
This paper provides an update on progress in refreshing the Health & Wellbeing
Strategy (HWBS) for 2021-26. The attached slide set (Appendix A) sets out the
scope, arrangements and timeline for the refresh.
1.

Recommendation(s)

1.1

The Health & Wellbeing Board is asked to comment on and approve the
project scope outlined in the attached slide set (Appendix A) and the
arrangements for completing the strategy refresh:

1.2

The overarching Vision for the refresh should be “Levelling the Playing
Field”, with each chapter identifying ambitious actions required to do
that.

1.3

The actions to Level the Playing Field will be arranged around 6 key
influences on health and wellbeing, including wider determinants of
health, around which the strategy will be structured:
1. Quality Care Centred Around the Person
2. Staying Healthier for Longer
3. Building Strong & Cohesive Communities
4. Opportunity for All
5. Housing & the Environment
6. Community Safety

1.4

Review & sign-off of the draft strategy document will be at the HWB
Board meeting in October 2021, before review through the Council’s
committee structure.

Page 27



1.5

Operational oversight of the refresh process will be via: HWB Strategy /
TICP Strategy Group, chaired by Ian Wake, AD Oversight Group, chaired
by Cllr James Halden, and HWBS Engagement Group chaired by Dr Jo
Broadbent.

1.6

The Strategy will be finalised and launched in January 2022.

2.

Introduction and Background

2.1

The HWBS is a whole system plan for health & wellbeing and a means to
engage all partners in the wellbeing agenda, co-ordinating strategic thinking of
all elements of the council and all system partners to deliver quantifiable gains
in health and wellbeing of residents.

2.2

Thurrock agreed its first HWBS in 2013. The second and current HWBS was
launched in July 2016 and can be accessed here:
https://www.thurrock.gov.uk/strategies/health-and-well-being-strategy

3.

Issues, Options and Analysis of Options

3.1

Preparatory work with system partners and HWBB Chair to date has identified
the 6 key influences and suggested that the HWBS needs to:
 Be high level and strategic
 Be highly ambitious and set out genuinely new plans rather than just
describe what has already been done
 Provide a clear narrative that drives the work of all aspects of the local
authority, NHS and third sector
 Address resident priorities and be co-designed with residents
 Be place and locality based and take a strengths and assets approach, not
focused only on deficits or services

3.2

The attached slide set (Appendix A) sets out the scope, arrangements and
timeline for the refresh of the HWBS 2021-2026. The pressures of Covid-19
have impacted on the timeline for the strategy refresh. It is intended that the
strategy will be finalised by January 2022.

4.

Reasons for Recommendation

4.1

The Health & Wellbeing Board (HWBB) has a collective statutory duty to
produce a HWBS. It is one of two highest level strategic documents for the
Local Authority and system partners, the other being the Local Plan. The
statutory status of the document means that the new Integrated Care System
(ICS) must have regard to it when planning their own strategy.

5.

Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable)

5.1

A plan for engagement on the HWBS is attached at Appendix B, underpinned
by an engagement framework, attached separately at Appendix C.

Page 28



6.

Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community
impact

6.1

The HWBS is one of two highest level strategic documents for the Local
Authority and system partners, the other being the Local Plan. It is a whole
system plan for health & wellbeing and a means to engage all partners in the
wellbeing agenda, co-ordinating strategic thinking of all elements of the
council and all system partners to deliver quantifiable gains in health and
wellbeing of residents.

6.2

In order to support delivery of the Council’s Vision, the 6 Domains of the
HWBS Strategy each relate to one of the Council’s key priorities of People,
Place and Prosperity, as outlined in the attached slide set.

7.
7.1

Implications
Financial
Implications verified by:

Not provided by Finance Implications

The cost associated with the strategy refresh will be delivered within existing
budgets or agreed through existing Council and partner agencies governance
finance arrangements.
7.2

Legal
Implications verified by:

Not provided by Legal Implications

The Health and Social Care Act 2012 established a responsibility for Councils
and CCGs to jointly prepare Health and Wellbeing Strategies for the local
area as defined by the Health and Wellbeing Board.
7.3

Diversity and Equality
Implications verified by:

Becky Lee
Community Development and Equalities Team

The aim of the strategy is to improve the health and wellbeing of the
population of Thurrock and reduce health and wellbeing inequalities. A
community equality impact assessment (CEIA) will underpin the strategy and
mitigate the risk of disproportionate negative impact for protected groups. This
approach will ensure the strategy itself and implementation supports delivery
of the council’s equality objectives while maintaining compliance with the
Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty.
7.4

Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability,
Crime and Disorder)
The refreshed Health and Wellbeing Strategy will facilitate crime and disorder
priorities that relate specifically to health and wellbeing, further strengthening
the relationship between the Health and Wellbeing Board and Community
Safety Partnership.

Page 29



8.

Appendices to the report




Appendix A – Refresh Scope
Appendix B - Communication and Engagement Plan
Appendix C – Engagement Framework

Report Author:
Jo Broadbent, Director of Public Health (Adults, Housing & Health)

Page 30



Appendix B
Thurrock Health and Wellbeing Strategy Refresh 2021
Communication and Engagement Plan
Introduction
1. This papers considers communication and engagement activity to support the
refresh of Thurrock’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy (HWBS).
Background
2. Health and Wellbeing Boards are partnership boards that include the Council,
NHS, Voluntary and Community Sector, and local councillors. The Boards
are responsible for improving the health and wellbeing and reducing
inequalities in health and wellbeing of their local areas. They do this through
the setting health and wellbeing priorities which form part of a Health and
Wellbeing Strategy.
3. Thurrock agreed its first HWBS in 2013. The second and current HWBS was
launched in July 2016. It is a five year Strategy which focusses on preventing
poor health and wellbeing from occurring by addressing the wider
determinants of health.
4. The revised strategy for 2021-2026 is being produced, however the pressures
of Covid-19 have impacted on the timeline for the strategy refresh. It is
intended that the strategy will be finalised by January 2022.
Engagement of system partners and the population of Thurrock
5. Thurrock Integrated Care Partnership (TICP) is considering a new approach
to community engagement, co-design and locality based commissioning for
health and care. It is proposed that development of this community
engagement and co-design approach is included as a key element of the
revised HWBS aspirations under Domain 3 of the strategy (Building Strong &
Cohesive Communities).
6. In developing Thurrock’s refreshed Strategy, it is proposed that potential
priorities are tested out with both local citizens and stakeholder groups.
Key Partners
7. The engagement of system partners is essential in helping determine local
priorities and how improved outcomes can be achieved through adopting a
genuine partnership approach for planning, commissioning and delivery
services at the appropriate geographical levels comprising System (Mid and

Page 31



South Essex Health and Care Partnership); Place (Thurrock Clinical
Commissioning Group and the Council); and Neighbourhood /Locality levels.
8. System topic experts have engaged informally over the last year and this,
alongside JSNAs, Health Needs Assessments and other key policy and
research documents, have informed the development of HWBS potential
priorities. However, it is vital that system partners and professionals with an
interest in the health and wellbeing of the people of Thurrock are provided
with an opportunity to formally respond to HWBS refresh consultation
exercise.
The public
9. Part of the engagement approach is to ensure Thurrock’s citizens have the
opportunity to input to priorities for community health and wellbeing
improvement as well as helping to identify how health and care services can
and should improve.
10. The final refreshed Strategy will reflect and incorporate the range of evidence
and information provided through data and comprehensive assessments of
specific needs, system experts and the population of Thurrock.
Methods of consultation
11. It is proposed that the consultation exercise comprises opportunities for
professionals and the public to inform the refreshed Health and Wellbeing
Strategy priorities by responding to an online consultation via the Thurrock
Council Engagement HQ or providing their views at one of the online
engagement opportunities that will be available.
12. The scope and timescale of the up-front engagement exercise has
unfortunately been limited by the restrictions caused by Covid-19. However,
the development of a Strengths and Assets Based Approach to co-production
of initiatives in the strategy, based on the Collaborative Communities
Framework, will be a core element of the Strategy itself.
13. Thurrock CVS have a tool for collating qualitative insight from communities
called Air Table. This is currently being used by the Community Builders to log
records of the themes of the conversations they are having with residents,
along with outcomes (e.g. where the feedback was passed onto). The tool can
collate these to be passed onto commissioners as required to inform each of
the six areas.

Page 32



Online consultation
14. It is proposed that there will be an online consultation on proposed priorities,
supported by two written summaries of key challenges under each of 6 areas
of health and wellbeing, one being easy-read. The written summaries will
provide headline information about the challenges in Thurrock in each areas
of health and wellbeing, and set out potential priorities identified through
reviewing evidence and dialogue with system partners. The aim of this will be
to help people identify their top priorities for each domain.
15. The approach for Domain 1 - Quality Care Centred around the Person will
differ slightly to align with work on the Adult Placed-Based Strategy / Better
Care Together.

Online engagement
16. Working in partnership with Thurrock CVS and Healthwatch, existing
stakeholder forums and partnership groups will be asked to consider the
proposed priorities through. A brief overview video will be recorded, that can
be shared at partnership meeting, alongside some targeted questions on
proposed priorities, with groups then asked to feed back.
17. This will be supplemented by an online engagement meeting for stakeholders
and partners
18. Stakeholders that we intend to engage with as part of the Strategy refresh are
provided at Appendix C.
Elected Member and Council Committee Oversight
19. Both TICP and the Health and Wellbeing Board will keep an overview of the
strategy development process. To secure engagement across the Council’s
Directorates, an Oversight Board of ADs for PH, Skills, Economic
Development, Place, Children’s, Housing & Adults will be set up, chaired by
Cllr James Halden as HWB Board Chair.
20. Review of the draft HWBS will be undertaken by:
o Directors’ Board
o Council DMTs
o Health and Wellbeing Board
o Cabinet
o Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 4th November 2021
o Housing Overview and Scrutiny Committee
o Children’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee – 1st December 2021
o Community Safety Partnership

Page 33



o Full Council
Timeline
21. Communication and engagement activity will be taking place from July to
September 2021. The Air Table insight plus the outputs from the various
strands of engagement will be drawn together into a single view of Community
priorities for health and wellbeing to inform the HWB strategy by end of
September
Engagement Summary Timeline
Activity
Draft for each of 6
Domains:
 key challenges
 12-15
potential
priorities
AD Oversight Board
HWB Engagement Group
meeting
Health & Wellbeing Board
Review of progress
Online consultation via
Council Engagement HQ
Video for stakeholder
meetings recorded
Paperwork for stakeholder
meetings completed
HWB Engagement Group
meeting
Stakeholder forums and
partnership groups
Online
consultation
meeting/s held
Health & Wellbeing Board
Review of progress
All consultation feedback
collated via Air Table
Consultation
summary
findings drafted
HWB Engagement Group
meeting
Final priorities for each
domain agreed for review
by HWB Board
AD Oversight Board

Date
19th July

Lead/s
Domain T&F Groups x6

c. 20th – 22nd July
Week beg 19th July
23rd July

Cllr Halden / Jo Broadbent
Darren Kristiansen / Jo
Broadbent
Jo Broadbent

26th July – 6th Sept

Roxanne Scanlon

26th - 30th July

Jo Broadbent / Kristina
Jackson
Smita Nagmoti / Domain
T&F Groups x6
Darren Kristiansen / Jo
Broadbent
CVS / CCG / various

30th July
Week beg 2nd August
2nd August – 2nd Sept
2nd August – 2nd Sept

6th Sept

Jo Broadbent / Kristina
Jackson
Darren Kristiansen / Jo
Broadbent
CVS

10th Sept

TBC

Week beg 13th Sept
c.17th Sept

Darren Kristiansen / Jo
Broadbent
Domain T&F Groups x6

27th Sept – 8th Oct

Cllr Halden / Jo Broadbent

?August tbc

Page 34



Draft Strategy review by ?October tbc
Health & Wellbeing Board

Darren Kristiansen / Jo
Broadbent

Appendix C – Engagement Framework attached separately

Page 35

This page is intentionally left blank

Thurrock Health and Wellbeing Strategy
2021 – 2026
“Levelling the Playing Field”
Refresh Scope v.1.2
Page 37
Jo Broadbent
Director of Public Health
29/06/21

Slide Pack Contents

Strategy Content

Strategy Development Proces

1.
2.
3.
4.

7. Timeframes
8. Governance & Monitoring
9. Stakeholder & Community
Engagement

Page 38

Introduction
Suggested Structure
Strategic Fit
Vision - “Levelling the Playing
Field”
5. 6 Key Influences on Health &
Wellbeing in Thurrock
6. Outcomes Framework

Strategy Content

Page 39

1. Introduction
•

Purpose of the Health & Wellbeing Strategy
–
–
–

Page 40
–

•

The Health & Wellbeing Board (HWBB) has a collective
statutory duty to produce a Health & Wellbeing Strategy
(HWBS)
It is one of two highest level strategic documents for the LA
and system partners, (other being the Local Plan), which can
engage all partners in the wellbeing agenda
It is a whole system plan for the HWBB, co-ordinating
strategic thinking of all elements of the council and all system
partners to deliver quantifiable gains in health and well being
of residents
The statutory status of the document means that the new ICS
must have regard to it when planning their own strategy

Work with system partners and HWBB Chair to
date:
–
–
–
–
–

Needs to be high level and strategic
Needs to be highly ambitious and set out genuinely new
plans rather than just describe what has already been done
Needs to provide a clear narrative that drives the work of all
aspects of the local authority, NHS and third sector
Needs to address resident priorities and be co-designed with
residents
Needs to be place and locality based and take a strengths and
assets approach, not focused only on deficits or services

HWB Strategy Guidance can be found here

•

Theme agreed with HWBB Chair and HWB/TICP
Strategy Group – “Levelling the Playing Field”
–
–
–

–
–

Intergenerational health inequalities still persist in Thurrock
Opportunities for every resident to reach their full potential
are not shared equally
There is an unacceptable variation in access, service quality
and outcome across health, care and wellbeing services with
those with the greatest need often getting the poorest
services and outcomes, which is genuinely unfair
The strategy will drive collective action across every council
department, and through the NHS and through other key
system partners to address this unfairness
Only by taking a whole systems approach can we hope to
“level the playing field” and address this inequality of
opportunity. Too often services work in isolation and do not
support a shared goal, e.g. the impact housing and
community can have on SMI recovery

2. Suggested Structure

Page 41

1. Chair’s Foreword
2. Overview / Executive Summary
3. Thurrock’s Health and Wellbeing Board
4. Impact of Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2016-2021 – inc. strategy metrics
5. Health and Wellbeing in Thurrock - Strategic Fit
6. Thurrock’s Vision for Community Health and Wellbeing
7. Key Principles
8. Overview of Thurrock the Place
9. Health and Wellbeing in Thurrock – including Impact of Covid
10. Community Priorities for Health and Wellbeing
11. Overview of Domains and Priorities
12. A focus on each domains and priorities including: supporting narrative, key
outcomes for each domain, impact on vision and delivery mechanisms
13. Outcomes Framework
14. Making it Happen - Oversight and Monitoring Arrangements

3. Strategic Fit

• To truly Level the Playing Field, the HWBS needs to take a whole
system approach, being a key driver not just of Council Directorate
and Service Plans, but across the wider Thurrock system and the Mid
& South Essex ICS as well

In order to support
delivery of the Council’s
Vision, the 6 Domains of
the HWB Strategy each
relate to one of the
Council’s key priorities of
People, Place and
Prosperity :

Page 42

• To have maximum impact, the HWBS needs to align with and draw
on the resources and levers in other key strategies for Thurrock,
including the Local Plan, and plans shared with neighbouring
boroughs such as the Thames Freeport

PEOPLE

PEOPLE

PEOPLE

PROSPERITY

PLACE

PEOPLE

Proposed Domain 1

Proposed Domain 2

Quality Care Centred
Around the Person

Enable People to Live
Healthier and Remain
Independent for Longer

Proposed Domain 3
Wider Determinants of Health

Proposed Domain 4
Wider Determinants of Health

Proposed Domain 5
Wider Determinants of Health

Proposed Domain 6
Wider Determinants of Health

Building Strong and
Cohesive Communities

Opportunity for all

Housing and the
Environment

Community Safety

4. Vision - “Levelling the Playing Field”
Thurrock experiences inequalities both as a whole when compared to England averages and also within the borough Life Expectancy (LE) in Thurrock compared to England

Life Expectancy within Thurrock

• LE in Thurrock has fallen below England average in the past 10 years

• 10 year LE gap between most and least affluent communities

• For women, current LE is significantly lower than England average

Healthy Life Expectancy

Healthy Life Expectancy

• Women in the most affluent areas of Thurrock experience 8 years
more healthy life than those in the most deprived

• HLE for women is significantly lower than England average:

Page 43

HLE for women in Thurrock
2009-19

Healthy / Disability-Free Life Expectancy = the average number of years
that an individual is expected to live in a state of self-assessed good or
very good health (Health Profile for England, 2017 )

• Women in the most deprived areas experience 22 years in poor
health:

4. Vision – How do we Level the Playing Field in Thurrock?
Health & wellbeing status is driven by broad and complex influences –

To Level the Playing Field, Thurrock HWB Strategy needs to take a broad
approach and focus on all these areas eg:

Page 44

National ‘Levelling Up’ agenda opportunities for Thurrock :
•
Thames Freeport & Backing Thurrock agenda – secure inclusive
growth
•
The Towns Fund – creating opportunity in more deprived areas;
promoting arts, culture & physical activity
•
Skills Fund & Apprenticeships – opportunities for local young peopl

The King’s Fund highlight the
following wider health
determinants:
• Income
• Housing
• Education
• Best Start in Life
• Spatial planning

• Strong & Resilient
Communities
• Access to Green Spaces
• Transport & Active Travel
• Jobs & Work
• Environment

ASELA Anchor Programme opportunities for Thurrock:
• Infrastructure & Housing – affordable housing, transport &
infrastructure
• Technical University – skills development for adults & young people
• South Essex Estuary Park - green & blue spaces, improved air quality

Source: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/visionpopulation-health

5. 6 Key Influences on Health & Wellbeing in Thurrock
Engagement with subject matter experts and stakeholders has suggested we can Level the Playing Field in Thurrock through 6 key influences on
health and wellbeing, including wider determinants of health, around which the strategy could be structured.
Either an existing group (1 & 3) or a small T&F stakeholder group (2, 4, 5 & 6) will develop the chapter for each of these 6 key influences, facilitated
by the Public Health & Adult Social Care team:
Council & Partner Leads

Linked Strategies

T&F Group Lead

. Quality Care Centred Around
he Person

Carmel Micheals, Matt Auckburally,
Kehinde Adeniji (via Locality Working
Prog Board)

Brighter Futures Children & Young People’s Strategy
Better Care Together Thurrock Adult Place-Based Strategy

Ceri Armstrong

. Healthier for Longer

Helen Farmer, Stephen Mayo, Preeti Sud,
Jane Itangata, Catherine Wilson, Wendy
Robertson

Brighter Futures Children & Young People’s Strategy
Better Care Together Thurrock Adult Place-Based Strategy

Jo Broadbent

. Building Strong & Cohesive
ommunities

Kristina Jackson, Kim James, Natalie
Smith (via Stronger Together)

Better Care Together Thurrock Adult Place-Based Strategy
Collaborative Communities

Maria Payne

. Opportunity for All

Michele Lucas, Gerard McCleave, Jackie
Philips, Neil Woodbridge, Mark Vickers
Kristina Jackson

Brighter Futures Children & Young People’s Strategy
Backing Thurrock
ASELA inc Thames Freeport
Levelling Up

Beth Capps

. Housing & the Environment

Ewelina Sorbjan, Gavin Dennett, Michelle
Cunningham, Vince Taylor, Jahur Ali,
Davis, Irina Davis, Laura Pattison, Sean
Nethercott

Housing Strategy
Local Plan
Transport & Active Travel
SEE Park

Bex Willans

. Community Safety

Michelle Cunningham, Claire Moore,
Priscilla Tsang, Paula Ward

Community Safety
Violence Against Women & Girls Youth Violence & Vulnerability

Sareena Gill

Page 45

nfluence on HWB

Snapshot of domains of influence on health & wellbeing #1
PEOPLE

PEOPLE

PEOPLE

PROSPERITY

PLACE

PEOPLE

Proposed Domain 2
Enable people to live
healthier for longer

Proposed Domain 3
Wider Determinant of
Health
Building Strong &
Cohesive Communities

Proposed Domain 4
Wider Determinant of
Health
Opportunity for All

Proposed Domain
5 Wider
Determinant of
Health
Housing & the
Environment

Proposed Domain 6
Wider Determinant of
Health
Community Safety

Proposed priority 1B.
• Ensure residents have
access to high quality GPs
and Primary Care when
they need it
• Create four Integrated
Medical Centres

Proposed priority 2A.
Improve the identification
and holistic management of
long term conditions,
including mental ill health

Proposed priority 3A. Build
Strong, well connected
communities
• Work within the
Collaborative
Communities
Framework
• Address digital poverty
• Volunteering
• Prevent

Proposed priority
5A. We will support
homelessness
prevention and
rough sleepers

Proposed priority 6A.
We will deliver the
VAWG Strategy to
improve the health
and wellbeing of
victims of domestic
violence.

Proposed priority 1D. We will
work with MSE Health and
Care Partnership to ensure
Acute Care services reflect the
needs of Thurrock residents
• Acute hospital services
• NHS 111 services
• Ambulance services
• Patient transport services

Proposed priority 2B. More
cancers will be prevented,
identified early and
successfully treated.

Proposed priority
5B. Improve
housing quality and
tenants’ health &
wellbeing through
our Well Homes
programme

Proposed priority 6B.
Improve response and
provision for response
to sexual violence

Proposed priority 1E. Where
appropriate we will integrate
Health and Social Care
commissioning and delivery,
managed through the Better
Care Fund

Proposed priority 2C.
Ensure a robust Health
Protection response to
infectious diseases and
environmental threats to
health, including:
• maximising uptake of
immunisations
• promoting sexual health

Proposed priority 3B. All
Children and their families
experience good emotional
health and wellbeing
(Brighter Futures theme 4)
• Strengthen our whole
school approach, with a
view to ensuring all
children are thriving
and have access to the
support they need
• Identify and implement
solutions which
improve access to
targeted and specialist
interventions.
• Tackling the social
inequalities that put
young people at a
disadvantage in
achieving good mental
health and health

Proposed priority 4A. All
Thurrock residents are
enabled to achieve their
potential (Building on
Brighter Futures theme 1)
• All children in Thurrock
making good
educational progress
• Support young people
leaving academies and
schools into further
education or
employment
• To include library
support around literacy,
housing advice
• Adults can access good
quality education and
training

posed Domain 1 Quality Care Centred Around
Person
s MH service delivery

posed priority

nsformation of
ices to provide
grated, strength
ed holistic health
care services in
munities

Page 46

posed priority

sform our in
se care provider
ice to ensure the
ple of Thurrock
ive the care that
need when they
d it

Proposed priority 4B.
• More Thurrock residents
in employment, Fewer
children & adults in
poverty
• The council’s single view
of debt support
• We will support the
economically vulnerable
through the Economic
Recovery Plan

Proposed priority 5C.
• We will provide a
responsive service
to residents
experiencing crime
and anti-social
behaviour
• Consider the
needs of
vulnerable adults
at risk of
exploitation
through hate crime
and fraud

Potential high leve
objectives identifi
from preparatory
work are included
illustrative purpos
and to help define
scope of each dom

NB Please note th
these objectives w
change as the T&F
Group work
progresses.
Key:

Wider Determinants of H
strategies (various

Brighter Futures Childr
Young People’s Strate
objective

Better Care Together Th
Adult Place-Based Stra
objective

Snapshot of domains of influence on health & wellbeing #2
PEOPLE

PEOPLE

PEOPLE

PROSPERITY

PLACE

PEOPLE

Proposed Domain 1
Quality Care Centre
Around the Person

Proposed Domain 2
Support People to Live
Healthier for Longer

Proposed Domain 3
Wider Determinants of
Health
Building Strong &
Cohesive
Communities

Proposed Domain 4
Wider Determinants of
Health
Opportunity for All

Proposed Domain 5
Wider Determinants of
Health
Housing & the
Environment

Proposed Domain 6
Wider Determinants of Health
Community Safety

Proposed Priority 3C.
Build a trusted
partnership
conversation between
individuals,
communities and
services

Proposed priority 4D.
We will create a vibrant
local economy,
supporting local
businesses, to employ
local people, with
benefits to all
including the through
the Thames Freeport

Proposed priority 2D.
Primary prevention of
chronic diseases through
reducing smoking,
obesity, lack of physical
activity, and substance
misuse.

Page 47

Proposed priority 1F. All Children are able to access
the services they need and be healthy (Brighter
Futures theme 2)
•
We will work in partnership to ensure the
completion of initial health assessments for
children coming into social care
•
Education, Health and Care Plans will be
completed within statutory timescales to the
quality required
•
We will support children and young people in
care and those with SEND during transitional
periods in their lives.

Proposed priority 3D.
Reduce Social Isolation
and Loneliness

Proposed priority 5D.
Improve air quality in
Thurrock

Proposed priority 6D. All Children live safely
in their communities (Brighter Futures theme
3)
•
Tackling child exploitation, including
work of the Economically Vulnerable
Task-Force
•
Develop an understanding of the
community impacts of serious youth
violence and vulnerability and develop
interventions to address challenges
Public Health Lead
•
We will tackle gang behaviour and
support young people at risk of being
exploited by gangs.

Proposed priority 5E.
Create spaces that make it
easy to exercise, be active
and socialise in a safe
environment

Proposed priority 6C. We will disrupt
perpetrator activity and support offenders to
reduce their reoffending behaviour

Proposed priority 5F.
• Develop homes that
keep people well and
independent
• Improve energy
efficiency and talking
fuel poverty and excess
cold

t are we aiming for in the chapter on each Key Influence?

What do we want to achieve?
What will achieving this goal look like? ie high
level objectives
Why is this important?
How will this Level the Playing Field / reduce
inequalities?
Page 48

derpinned by –
Monitoring Metrics
Delivery oversight ie which strategies
underpin delivery & which groups have
governance / oversight
Risks / Opportunities – including wider with
partners

2016-21 chapter
example: GOAL 5
Healthier for
longer
What do we want to achieve?
• Reduce avoidable ill-health and death

What will achieving this goal look like?
• A greater proportion of our population will be a healthy weight
• Fewer people in Thurrock will smoke
• The identification and early treatment of long term conditions such
diabetes or high blood pressure will be significantly improved
• More cancers will be prevented, identified early and treated better

Why?
Thousands of us will be ill or die each year from diseases which are
preventable. Promoting healthy lifestyle choices is vital. Smoking is sti
the most common cause of preventable ill health and death, and obes
growing problem which is particularly acute in Thurrock. These issues
physical and mental health, they result in shortened lives and poorer q
of life, and they put huge strain on families and health services. Tackli
these issues is vital, therefore, if we are to improve health and wellbei
Thurrock.

To do this, we want to help people make healthy choices. For example
people maintain a healthy weight we want to make it easy to be active
have a healthy diet, and provide people with good information on how
live a healthy life.

Cancer is one common reason for ill health and death. Many cancers a
avoidable through lifestyle changes but when people do have cancer
want to ensure that it is identified early, through screening programm
treated effectively when it does happen.

6. Outcomes Framework
The outcomes framework will include key metrics with 5 year aspirations of improvement, for each of the
priorities in the strategy. The 2016-21 framework was structured as below:
Objective

Indicators

Baseline

A. OPPORTUNITY FOR ALL

A1. All children in Thurrock making good
educational progress

% of children achieving GLD at the end of year
R
Gap between above indicator and % of
children on pupil premium achieving GLD at
end of year R
% of all children achieving National Standard
or greater depth
% of young people gaining the higher grades
in attainment and progress across the 8
subjects making up the National Curriculum
(Attainment 8 and Progress 8)
% of children achieving 5 good GCSEs at A – C
including English and Maths
% of working age population who are
economically active

72.5%

77.7%

NOMIS

% of the population of working age claiming
Employment Support Allowance and
incapacity benefits
% of population claiming JSA

5.0

NOMIS

1.4%

NOMIS

Page 49

Goal

A2. More Thurrock residents in employment,
education or training.

A3. Fewer teenage pregnancies in Thurrock.

Target
%by 2020
80%

Source
SFR36.
www.gov.
uk.

85%
70%

% of 16 – 19 year olds Not in Employment,
Education or Training

5.3%

Under 18 conception crude rate per 1000

36.1

PHOF
indicator
2.04

Strategy Development Process

Page 50

7. Timeframes
Key Milestones

Owner

Date

Sign-off of Scope

HWB Board

23rd July

Engagement period

Engagement Group

30th July – 10th September

Final priorities for each
domain agreed

AD Oversight Board

End September

Draft Strategy document
reviewed by HWB Board

HWB Board

October

Council committee
governance approval

DPH / HWB Chair

November - December

Document launch

Comms / DPH / HWB Chair January 2022

Page 51

Activity

8. Governance & Monitoring

Page 52

1. Review & Sign-off of Strategy Refresh: HWB Board, chaired by Cllr James Halden
2. Oversight & Direction: HWB Strategy / TICP Strategy Group, chaired by Ian Wake, and AD Oversight Group, chaired by Cllr
James Halden
3. Process Management: HWB T&F Steering Group, chaired by Jo Broadbent and including ‘Domain Leads*’ for each of 6
domains, PH Health Intelligence, Strategy team
4. Engagement Coordination: Engagement Group, chaired by Jo Broadbent and including CVS, TCCG, BCTT, Community
Engagement team
5. Ongoing Monitoring of Delivery: HWB Board, chaired by Cllr James Halden
*Each Domain Lead to convene a small T&F stakeholder group for each of 6 key influences on health & wellbeing to:
a.
Agree overall high level outcomes / objectives for each aspect
b. Identify c.12-15 potential priorities and c.5 key challenges in this area with brief high level summary of each challenge to be used in
public engagement
c.
Agree monitoring metrics for inclusion in Outcomes Framework
d. Identify how the outcomes identified within each of the domains can be supported by topic / domain-specific local strategies & where
the governance for delivery for this domain sits
e. Identify how action on this domain will impact inequalities and the Vision of “Levelling the Playing Field”
f.
Propose final 4-5 key priorities for the strategy, based on insight, data and community feedback
g.
Write the relevant chapter narrative, referencing material already pulled together

9. Stakeholder & Community Engagement
Thurrock Integrated Care Partnership (TICP) is building a new approach to community engagement, co-design and locality based
commissioning for health and care. It is proposed that development of this approach is included as a key element of the HWBS
objectives, and will be a key strategic approach underpinning future co-produced strategic developments and also commissioning
approaches.

Page 53

As a result of delays due to Covid, the time period for consultation on the HWBS is constrained. The following Stakeholder &
Community Engagement will be undertaken between 30th July – 10th September 2021:
Qualitative community input
• Collation of views from previous engagement exercises such as Your Place, Your Voice; Better Care Together Thurrock
• Contemporaneous collation of views via CVS Airtable database
• Online Q&A event/s
Consultation on high-level priorities
Key challenges and priorities for each of 6 key aspects of health & wellbeing will be collated by a T&F stakeholder group, and
consulted on via:
• Thurrock Council Engagement HQ online
• Existing community & stakeholder group meetings

This page is intentionally left blank

Type of
communication
opportunity

Target
Audience

Press release

All across
Thurrock
Promote the
professionals online
and
public consultation
Adultthe
Social

Press release as required

N/A

Newletter

Care
professionals
across Adult Promote the
Social Care
online
within the
consultation

Adult Social
Care
Newsletter

N/A

Community
Forums
Libraries
Clinical
Engagement
Group

General
Public
General
Public

GPs

Commissioning
public and
Reference Group PPGs
Children's Centres Mums
Mums
Public and
Community
locality
Builders
professionals
Local Area CoGeneral
ordinators
Public

Voluntary and
Community
Sector
VCS CEO Network Organisations

CVS Network
Meeting
Healthwatch
Advisory Group
Weekly newsletter

Voluntary and
Community
Sector
Organisations
The Public

Aim of
comms
activity

Frequency of
meetings
Vehicles to Frequency of
events or face
facilitate
online/email
to face
engagement communication engagement

Monthly

Regular
Meetings Face to Face
/ Online
Monthly

Monthly

Face to Face Any time?
Regular
Meeting,
online
Monthly

Any time?

Regular
bi-Monthly, next
Meeting, F2F meeting July

bi-Monthly, next
meeting July

Ad hoc

July?

July?

Face to Face Daily

Daily

Face to Face Daily

Daily

Regular
Meeting online

Quartley

Quartley

Regular
Meeting online
Regular
Meeting

Quartley

Quartley

Quartley

Quartley

Social Media

Weekly

Weekly

Page 55

Monthly

PPG

Regular
Meetings Face to Face
/ Online
Monthly

Sports

Ad hoc

Active parks
Housing
Engagement
Officers
Economic
Development &
Skills Partnership

Ad hoc

Children's
Partnership Board
Thurrock Coalition
for Disabled
People

Regular
Meeting
Regular
Meeting, Ad
hoc
Regular
Meeting
Regular
Meeting, Ad
hoc

Monthly

Face to Face
Regular
Meeting

TLS
Community Safety
Partnership
Youth Cabinet
Tennants
Excellence Panel
Thurrock HWB
CCG Board
Directors' Board
Partner
Governance
Boards (EPUT /
NELFT)
Housing Overview
and Scrutiny
Committee
Cleaner Safer
Greener Overview
and Scrutiny
Committee
Health and
Wellbeing
Overview and
Scrutiny
Committee

Full Council
Childrens
Overview and
Scrutiny
Committee

Elected
members

Consultation
and
Regular
engagement meetings

N/A

Virtual/Hybrid

Elected
members

Consultation
and
Regular
engagement meetings

N/A

Virtual/Hybrid

Regular
meetings

N/A

Virtual/Hybrid

Elected
members

Consultation
and
engagement
Consultation
and
engagement

Regular
meetings

N/A

Virtual/Hybrid

Elected
members

Consultation
and
Regular
engagement meetings

N/A

Virtual/Hybrid

Elected
members

Page 56

Planned
Task and
Engagement Finish
date(s)
Group lead

Organisation Lead
link
contact

Lead contact
details

Louise Banks
(CCG) (?),
at the launch Lyn-Britt
Thurrock CCG
of online
(Council
/ Thurrock
consultation Comms)
Council

Darren
Frequency of
meetings to
be aligned
with
consultation
plan
to be
determined

Thurrock
Council

Dee Whyte

to be
determined

Lyn Gittins link to all
forums and
Thurrock
getting us on Lyn.Gittins@Th
Council
the agenda urrock.gov.uk
Thurrock
Rachel
Council
Gallehawk
Louise
Banks/Rahul
Thurrock CCG Chaudhari

to be
determined
to be
determined

Louise
Thurrock CCG Banks
Thurrock
Council
?

to be
determined
to be
determined

Jacqui
Thurrock CVS Payne
Thurrock
Karen
Council
Dobson

to be
determined

Kristina
Thurrock CVS Jackson

to be
determined
to be
determined
to be
determined

Vanessa
Thurrock CVS Bennett
Healthwatch
Thurrock
Kim James
Natasha
Thurrock CVS Campan

Page 57

to be
determined
to be
determined
to be
determined

PPG Network

Kevin ?

Active Essex
Thurrock
Council

Lee Monk
Jai

to be
determined

Thurrock
Council

Kerry O'Pray

to be
determined

Thurrock
Council

Billie Masters

to be
determined

Thurrock
Council

Michele
Lucas

to be
determined
to be
determined

Thurrock
Council
Thurrock
Council

Neil
Woodbridge

to be
determined
to be
determined
to be
determined

Thurrock
Council
Thurrock
Council
Thurrock
Council
Thurrock
Council

Ongoing

CCG
Thurrock
Council

Michelle
Cunningham
Karen
Wheeler
Karen
Wheeler
Darren
Kristiansen
Lynne
Hilkene
Amber
Robinson

to be
determined

Thurrock
Council

Democratic
Services

Thurrock
21-Sep-21 Jo Broadbent Council

Democratic
Services

Thurrock
07-Oct-21 Jo Broadbent Council

Democratic
Services

Thurrock
04-Nov-21 Jo Broadbent Council

Democratic
Services

Thurrock
24-Nov-21 Jo Broadbent Council

Democratic
Services

Thurrock
01-Dec-21 Jo Broadbent Council

Democratic
Services

Ongoing
to be
determined

Page 58

Notes

Example

Example

Page 59

Page 60

Agenda Item 8


ITEM: 8

23 July 2021
Health & Wellbeing Board

Children’s Partnership update: The Brighter Future’s
Strategy – Developing Well in Thurrock 2021 -2026
Wards and communities affected:
All

Key Decision: No

Report of:
Teresa Salami- Oru, Assistant Director for Public Health
Accountable Head of Service:
Shiela Murphy, Corporate Director for Children’s Services
Accountable Director:
Shelia Murphy, Corporate Director for Children’s Services
This report is Public
Executive Summary
This paper provides an update on progress made in developing the Brighter Future’s
Children & Young People’s strategy. The Brighter Futures Children’s Partnership
represents the highest place level strategic partnership board for children and young
people and is overseeing the development of the Brighter Futures Strategy.
Over the last two years the Brighter Futures Children’s Partnership Board has
undergone a journey of considerable significance, characterised by change and
transformation, demonstrated by a desire to refresh its vision and gain clarity on the
roadmap for delivery over the next five years. A refresh process therefore commenced
in October 2020 led by the Assistant Director for Public Health, supported by a task
and finish group chaired by the Executive Corporate Director for Children’s Services.
A process of need identification, narrative explanation and priority synthesis was
adopted. Need was understood through the analysis of high level epidemiological
data, stakeholder views and young people’s voices.
A five year strategy has now been drafted and is currently going through an agreed
governance process. The Brighter Futures Partnership Board agreed the strategy in
principal in June 2021. A public consultation is also being held on the strategy for an
eight week period. Consultation commenced 22nd June 2021. It is anticipated the

Page 61



strategy will be published by September 2021 and feed into the Health and Wellbeing
Strategy.
1.

Recommendation(s)

1.1

For the Board to approve the Brighter Futures Strategy in principle and
delegate authority to the Brighter Futures Children’s Partnership Board for
strategy approval and endorsement.

2.

Introduction and Background

2.1

2.2.

Over the last two years the Brighter Futures Children’s Partnership Board has
undergone a journey of considerable significance, characterised by change
and transformation. The partnership has experienced change by agreeing to
do things differently and experienced transformation, by accepting a new way
of being. The former has required a shift in behaviours and the latter a shift in
values. The partnership has now agreed to,


Subscribe to a shared vison, with a view to driving strategic decision
making and planning



Create a new future, which strives to achieve the best outcomes for our
children and young people



Be driven by evidence



Embrace meaningful co productive methods that puts the voice of the
child and young person at the centre of service design and delivery

To ensure all partners fully subscribed to the above agreed actions, a “re
casting” the vision workshop was held with stakeholders in April 2019.
Outcomes from the workshop included stakeholder agreement to recast the
Brighter Futures Vision through the development of a refreshed strategy.
Strategy development commenced in October 2020, four key strategic
priorities have now been agreed:
1.

All children are able to achieve their potential – focusing on education
and skills

2.

Children are able to access the services they need to stay healthy,
focusing on prevention and early intervention focusing on maternity, 0-5
and 5-19

3.

All children can live safely in their communities, focusing on preventing
serious youth violence and gang membership

4.

Children and their families experience good emotional health and
wellbeing focusing on strengthening protective factors and reducing risk

Page 62



factors that impact on children and young people’s mental health and
commissioning of services that support/treat children and young people
and their families with mental ill health.

Figure 1:

2.3

The Brighter Futures Partnership and Corporate Director for Children’s
Services have decided a phased approach to the strategy’s completion to
enable robust consultation and user voice capture. The strategy is now being
taken through agreed governance routes. Proposed governance itinerary,
-

The Brighter Futures Board – June 2021 (approved in principal)
The Youth Cabinet – July 2021 (approved)

-

Health & Well Being Board July 2021– (approval in principal sought)
The Thurrock Integrated Care Partnership- August 2021 (noting)

-

Thurrock CCG Board - September 2021 (approval)
The Thurrock Clinical Professional Forum (TBC) (noting)

-

The Growing Well Board – October 2021 for noting/information

3.

Issues, Options and Analysis of Options

3.1

The Brighter Futures Partnership Board wish to publish the strategy in
September 2021 as agreement has already been received by the wider
stakeholder community. Additionally this timeline aligns more closely with the
completion of the Health & Wellbeing Strategy. Given this commitment the
Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to approve the strategy in principle

Page 63



(please see appendix 1) and delegate authority to the Brighter Futures
Children’s Partnership for final approval of the strategy.
The Board will be kept appraised of progress against the ambitions within the
strategy bi annually. The Annual Brighter Futures Outcomes Framework report
will also be brought to the Board for consideration and note.
4.

Reasons for Recommendation

4.1

Publication for the Brighter Futures strategy is planned for September 2021. In
order to achieve this deadline the Board is asked to delegate authority for
approval to the Brighter Futures Partnership and approve the strategy in
principal.

5.

Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable)
The consultation process with the public is ongoing throughout July through the
Council Consultation portal. This will come to an end in August 2021

6.

Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community
impact

6.1

The Brighter Futures strategy feeds into the Health and Wellbeing strategy and
is aligned to the TICP strategy and local needs assessments. Figure 1
demonstrates the alignment with corporate priorities.

6.2

Co-production is one of the seven principles underpinning the Brighter Futures
strategy, workshops were therefore conducted with young people aged
between 11 and 18 (n=29). Semi structured interviews were also held with 12
young people. Findings from these activities have served to shape the strategy
and assure partners that strategic priorities are aligned to what young people
deem as important.

7.

Implications

7.1

Finance.
Implications verified by:

David May, Strategic Lead Finance
dmay@thurrock.gov.uk

Finance approved contained within existing budgets.
7.2

Legal
Implications verified by:

Courage Emovon, Principal Lawyer / Manager
Contracts / Legal Services
CEmovon@thurrock.gov.uk

Page 64



There are no direct legal implications, however legal services will be on hand
to advice on any implications arising from this report. It is noted that the
Council have a statutory obligation for the protection and wellbeing of Children
in its area of jurisdiction.
7.3

Diversity and Equality

Implications verified by:

7.4

Rebecca Lee, Team Manager - Community
Development and Equalities
rlee@thurrock.gov.uk

Inequalities is one of the seven underpinning principles of the Brighter Futures
Strategy. It is noted that if inequalities are not tackled at an early age, it is
unlikely that the inequalities gap will be narrowed as children get older. A
full community equality impact assessment (CEIA) will be completed to ensure
the final strategy mitigates the risk of inequalities including those that may be
identified through the consultative process. This will ensure the strategy itself
and implementation supports delivery of the council’s equality objectives while
maintaining compliance with the Equality Act 2010 and Public Sector Equality
Duty.
.
Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability,
Crime and Disorder)

8.

Background papers used in preparing the report

9.

Appendices to the report


Brighter Futures Strategy - Developing Well Thurrock 2021 -2026

Report Author:
Teresa Salami-Oru
Assistant Director for Public Health
Adults Housing & Health

Page 65

This page is intentionally left blank

Page 67

Developing Well in Thurrock
The Brighter Futures Children’s Partnership Strategy 2021 - 2026

Contents
Welcome to Our Children and Young People’s Strategy .................. 4

SP1: The Attainment Roadmap ............................................... 47
SP1: How will we know we are there? ..................................... 49

Summary: Brighter Futures Strategy 2021- 2026.............................. 6

3.3 Strategic Priority 2 (SP2): Children are able to access the
services they need and be healthy, focussing on prevention and
early intervention ......................................................................... 50

Chapter 1: Introduction & Context ..................................................... 7

SP2: What do we know? .......................................................... 50

1.1 Introduction .............................................................................. 7

SP2: The Current Provision ..................................................... 61

1.2 Our Approach .......................................................................... 9

SP2 Our Ambitions .................................................................. 74

1.3 Our Rationale ........................................................................ 10

SP2: The Attainment Roadmap ............................................... 75

1.4 Underpinning principles ......................................................... 12

SP2 How Will We Know We Are There? .................................. 81

Chapter 2: Our Children Our Place ................................................. 13

3.4 SP3: All children live safely in their communities – with a focus
on Youth Justice .......................................................................... 82

Acknowledgments ............................................................................. 5

2.1 Who are our Children and Young People? ............................ 14

Page 68

2.2 Health & Wellbeing: Early Years and School Age ................. 18
2.3 Education, Health & Social Care ........................................... 19
2.4 High Level Summary of Need ................................................ 20
2.5 Key Points ............................................................................. 21

Chapter 3: Understanding where we want to be ............................. 23
3.1 Our Strategic Priorities: Gaining more insight ........................ 23
3.2 Strategic Priority 1 (SP1): Children in Thurrock enabled to
achieve their potential ................................................................. 24
SP1 Why is this strategic priority important? ............................ 24
SP1: What do we know? ......................................................... 24
SP1 Understanding Local Need ............................................... 28
SP1: The Current Position ....................................................... 36
SP1: Our Ambitions ................................................................. 46

SP3 Why is this strategic priority important? ............................ 82
SP3: Understanding Local Need .............................................. 84
SP3 What Do We Know? ......................................................... 88
SP3: The Current Position ....................................................... 92
SP3: Our Ambitions ................................................................. 98
SP3: The Attainment Roadmap ............................................. 102
SP3 How Will We Know We Are There? ................................ 103
3.5 Strategic Priority 4 (SP4): Children and their families
experience good emotional health and wellbeing ...................... 104
SP4 Why is this Strategic Priority Important? ........................ 104
SP4 What Do We Know? ....................................................... 104
SP4 Understanding Local Need ............................................. 115
SP4: The Current Position ..................................................... 120
SP4: Ambitions ...................................................................... 136

SP4: The Attainment Roadmap ............................................. 137

Mapping needs against strategy priorities ................................. 154

SP4: How will we know we are there? ................................... 142

References.................................................................................... 157

Chapter 4: Delivering our Vision ................................................... 143
4.1 Delivering our Vision............................................................ 143
Why is our vision important? .................................................. 143
4.2 Young people’s voice .......................................................... 144
Importance of Young People’s Voice ..................................... 144
4.3 Young people’s voice - Creative Workshops ....................... 145
4.4 Young people’s voice – Semi structured interviews ............ 147

Page 69
3

Welcome to Our Children and Young People’s Strategy
Welcome to Thurrock’s Children and Young People’s Strategy, 2021 -2026.
Developing Well in Thurrock sets out how the Brighter Futures Children’s Partnership intend to bring together all of their energy, enthusiasm and
resources to improve health, social care, and wellbeing outcomes for our children.
Our young people have great talent and potential, and we want them to have the best start in life and grow up well-equipped to take advantage of the
opportunities available to them. We also wish to ensure children transition seamlessly into adulthood and are enabled to achieve their potential. In order
to do this, we believe partners need to work in partnership with young people at the heart of all decisions and plans.
We have much to celebrate in Thurrock and are particularly proud of our partnership track record. As a Brighter Futures Children’s Partnership we
developed our Families Together service in 2019, successful restructured our Early Help Hubs and implemented a Schools Wellbeing Service offer
to all local schools. We also achieved good outcomes from the OFSTED ILACS inspection in 2019.

Page 70

This Children and Young People’s strategy builds on the successes of our previous plan and focuses on the priority areas which still require further
improvement. It also takes into account government priorities and the ambitions of Brighter Future’s key strategic partners, with due regard to
young people’s voice. Implementation of the strategy will need to be taken forward within a context of reset and recovery post pandemic and
reduced funding. In the current economic climate it is more important than ever to continue to work in partnership to mitigate some of the effects
of spending cuts.
There have been some exciting developments within children’s mental health with the introduction and expansion of Mental Health Support Teams
and plans in development to strengthen local transition arrangements.
As Corporate Director for Children’s Services for Thurrock, my number one priority will continue to be to secure the best possible outcomes for
children, young people and their families.
Shelia Murphy, Corporate Director for Children’s Services, Thurrock Local Authority

4

Acknowledgments
Report Authors:
Teresa Salami-Oru, Assistant Director for Public Health
Beth Capps - Senior Programme Manager
Ashlee Mulimba - Senior Programme Manager
The lead author would like to thank and acknowledge the following colleagues whose ideas, content , and input have all assisted in the
creation of this strategy:
Michele Lucas, Assistant Director
Education & Skills

Helen Farmer - Director for Children,
MSE

Kate Kozlova – Boran, Strategic
Lead Education & Skills

Yvonne Anarfi - Designated Nurse
for Safeguarding Children

Rachel McCarthy - Specialist Public
Health Registrar

Jacqueline Bradley, Principal
Thurrock Adult Community College

Catherine Wilson - Strategic
Lead Commissioning and
Procurement

Page 71

Katie Powers - Public Health
Graduate Trainee

Kelly Clarke – Public Health
Intelligence Information Support
Officer

Clare Moore – Strategic Lead, Youth

Offending Service and Prevention

5

Smita Nagmoti – Specialist Public
Health Registrar
Carly Banks - Participation and
Engagement Officer
Ruth Murdock – Strategic Lead –
Quality Assurance

Summary: Brighter Futures Strategy 2021- 2026
PEOPLE

PEOPLE

PEOPLE

PROSPERITY

Brighter
Futures
Strategic
Priority

SP1: All children are
enabled to achieve their
potential

SP2: Children are able to
access the services they
need and be healthy,
focussing on prevention
and early intervention

SP3: All children live safely in their
communities – with a focus on Youth
Justice

SP4: Children and their families
experience good emotional health
and wellbeing

Priority Lead

Assistant Director for
Education & Skills

Assistant Director for
Public Health

Assistant Director for Children’s
Social Care

Director for CYP, MSE*

Ambitions

Support young people to
gain qualifications, skills,
and experience to
progress into sustained
employment

All children start school
ready to learn

Improve educational
attainment for all
disadvantaged children
and young people

All children are protected
from illness and disease

Deliver targeted and tailored primary
prevention for populations with greater
need

All children receive the
care they need in the
right place.

Intervene early with tailored
secondary prevention to reduce the
harms of exposure to violence and
violence risk behaviours

Page 72

Corporate
Priority

All children are able to
access education

All children achieve a
healthy weight.

Further develop surveillance to
identify the most at risk children and
families and intervene early with
tailored intervention packages

Provide tertiary prevention for
perpetrators and victims of violence to
reduce further harm

Strengthen our whole school
approach, with a view to
ensuring all children are thriving
and have access to the support
they need
Identify and implement solutions
which recognise needs early and
improve access to targeted and
specialist interventions
Tackle the social inequalities
that put young people at a
disadvantage to achieving good
mental health
*As chair of the SWS Partnership Board

6

Chapter 1: Introduction & Context
1.1 Introduction

Page 73

Every child and young person, regardless of the circumstances into
which they are born, should have the opportunity to maximise their
potential in life. One of the goals in our Health and Wellbeing
Strategy is to make Thurrock a place that offers “Opportunity for all”.
Central to this goal is making Thurrock a place where children can
flourish and achieve their full potential. It is noted that the current
Health & Wellbeing Strategy (HWBS) will be refreshed in 2021.
Nationally we know that despite overall improvements in child health,
England lags behind other countries in many key health outcome
areas. There are, however, some notable areas of success, such as:
• Positive trends in teenage pregnancy rates
• Reduction in children-in-care numbers
• Reduction in the number of children on child protection plans
• School readiness
We know that national infant mortality reductions have stalled,
breastfeeding and obesity rates are among the worst in Europe, and
health inequalities are seen across many indicators. Locally, a
similar picture presents clear challenges seen with high obesity
rates, low levels of breastfeeding, and poor immunisation coverage.
More children & young people with special educational needs and
disabilities are being identified and we need to ensure our local
services can meet their needs so that all children and young people
(CYP) achieve the best possible outcomes.
Children’s mental health is a national and local priority. Approximately
1 in 6 CYP have a probable mental health condition (26). Evidence

suggests mental ill health can have a devastating impact on a young
person’s physical health, relationships, and later life prospects.
The prevalence of self-harm and increasing service demand
present as local challenges. Activity data from the local Emotional
Wellbeing and Mental Health Service (EWMHS) suggests that there
was a 32% increase in referrals from April 2017 to October 2020 and
that self-harm was the third primary presenting concern during this time.
The Thurrock EWMHS service works to the national target waiting
time (from referral to treatment) of 18 weeks. Data from the service
show that, in the vast majority of cases, the service meets that target.
Nevertheless, it is clear that many CYP have to wait long periods
for treatment and that this is a major concern for parents, teachers,
and others working with CYP.
In recent years there has been an ongoing change in the burden of
disease from mortality to morbidity. While people are living longer, years
lived with disability and ill health are increasing, placing an additional
demand on the health and social care system. For example, children
and young people with a range of disabilities, complex health needs,
and severe health problems are living longer than they may have in the
past, surviving into later childhood and adulthood.
Much of this burden is preventable. The foundations for virtually every
aspect of human development are established in the first years of life.
Effective interventions, particularly in the first 1001 days of life have the
potential to break intergenerational cycles of transmission for example
those posed by adverse childhood experiences and disadvantage.
Over the last two years, the Brighter Futures Children’s Partnership
Board has undergone a journey of considerable significance,
characterised by change and transformation. The partnership has
experienced change by agreeing to do things differently and

one. Partners want every child to have the opportunity to be confident
in their relationships and achieve personal success as they grow into
adulthood. We believe that by working together as organisations and
with families and communities we will achieve this.
Our strategy contains the broad ambitions that we have for our
services and their users; and focuses on ensuring that our children
thrive.

Page 74

transformed by accepting a new way of being. The former has
required a shift in behaviours and the latter a shift in values. The
partnership has now agreed to:
 Subscribe to a shared vison, with a view to driving strategic
decision making and planning
 Create a new future, which strives to achieve the best
outcomes for our children and young people
 Be driven by evidence. E.g. decision making, service
development and commissioning
To ensure all partners fully subscribed to the above agreed actions, a
“re casting” the vision workshop was held with stakeholders in April
2019. Outcomes from the workshop included partner agreement to
recast the Brighter Futures Vision through:
 The creation of a memorandum of understanding which
supports an integrated approach to Children’s Partnership
Working and Governance across the system
 The refreshing of the Brighter Futures Strategy for children
 The creation of subgroups to support the Board’s priorities
The current strategy has therefore been written in response to these
agreements.
This strategy comes at a time of unprecedented challenges for all
services that work with and for children, young people, and families.
Financial pressures coupled with increasing demand mean that all
services are looking at how they remain focused on improving
outcomes through working more efficiently and cooperating
wherever possible.
The Brighter Future Partnership Board remains committed to making
the experience of childhood and early adulthood in Thurrock a good

8

Corporate Director for Children’s Services. A process of need
identification, narrative explanation and priority synthesis was adopted.
Need was understood through the analysis of high level
epidemiological data, stakeholder views and young people’s voices.
Appreciative enquiries were held with corporate stakeholders to test
out ideas and agree the ambitions and road map to achievement.
Young people’s views on their wellbeing and what was important to
them was captured through co-production methods using existing
engagement channels and bespoke consultation.

1.2 Our Approach
This document has been prepared through the collaborative efforts
of the Brighter Futures Partnership. Partners include:
The Local Authority
 Thurrock Borough Council (Unitary Authority)
NHS commissioners:
 NHS Thurrock CCG
 Primary Care Networks x 4
NHS service providers:
 North East London NHS Foundation Trust
 Mid & South Essex NHS Foundation Trust
 Essex Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust
Other partners

Page 75










Internal consultation was conducted in order to facilitate
engagement, understanding, and agreement amongst partners.
This was achieved through updates at key partnership meetings. The
agreed strategy governance process was as follows:

Thurrock Council for Voluntary Services, Healthwatch
Thurrock, Department for Work and Pensions
South East Local Economic Partnership (SELEP)
Schools Forum
The Essex Community Rehabilitation Company Limited
Thurrock Adult Community College
Thurrock Primary Head Teachers Association (TPHA)
Thurrock Association of Secondary and Special School Head
teachers (TASS)
The 0-11 Strategy Group and the 11-19 Strategy Group

The Brighter Futures Board – July 2021 (approval)
The Youth Cabinet –August 2021 (approval)
The Thurrock Integrated Care Partnership- September 2021 (noting)
Health & Well Being Board – July 2021 (delegated approval)
Thurrock CCG Board - September 2021 (approval)
Clinical Professional Forum – August 2021 (noting)
The Growing Well MSE ICS Board – August 2021 (noting)

External consultation Residents were given the opportunity
to comment on the appropriateness of priorities through an eight
week consultation process, which started in June 2021.

Strategy development took place between October 2020 to August
2021 and was led by the Assistant Director for Public Health,
supported by a task and finish group chaired by the Executive

9

2010. The report cites that child poverty has increased, children’s
and youth centres have closed, and funding for education has been
reduced. The report makes six recommendations including giving
every child the best start in life and enabling all children, young
people, and adults to maximise their capabilities and have control
over their lives.

1.3 Our Rationale
It is no longer a statutory requirement for local areas to have a
Children’s Partnership Board (Children's Act 2004) however, in
Thurrock, we believe it is important that partners continue to work
together to set and deliver shared objectives for children. This Children
and Young People’s Strategy sets out our vision and priorities
for children in the context of, and informed by, the Health and
Wellbeing Strategy, Mid and South Essex ICS Transformation Plan,
and NHS England’s Five Year Forward View.
The Brighter Futures Children’s Partnership Board developed its first
strategy in 2017. Since this time there have been a number of
challenges and drivers for change. Drivers for change include:

Local Needs Assessments & Annual Reports

Page 76








National Plans & Frameworks



The NHS Plan, 2019
In 2018, the government announced £20.5bn of additional funding
for the NHS in England by 2023/24. The NHS Long Term Plan,
launched in January 2019, sets out priorities for how this money will
be spent over the next ten years.
Prevention Green Paper: Advancing our health prevention in the
2020s, 2019
This sets out plans to tackle the causes of preventable ill health in
England.
Health Equity in England, The Marmot Review 10 years on, 2020
Over the last decade, health inequalities have widened overall and
the amount of time people spend in poor health has increased since

Breast Feeding Needs Assessment, 2019
The Children Looked After Needs Assessment, 2021
The SEND JSNA, 2018
The Maternal Obesity Needs Assessment, 2021
The Emotional Mental Health & Wellbeing JSNA, 2015
The APHR 2017 - A Sustainable Children’s Social Care System
for the Future
The APHR, 2019 Violence & Vulnerability

Inspections




SEND Written Statement of Action, 2019
BTUH CQC Maternity Inspection, 2020
ILACS Inspection 2019

Challenges
There have been a number of challenges over the last three years,
including local area budgets and increased service demand.

10

Page 77

However, the most prolific challenge of recent times has been the
COVID- 19 Pandemic. Most of the challenges that have arisen for
children have been related to the wider response to the pandemic;
these include social, educational, and health impacts due to the
closure of schools and the refocussing of health services during
the pandemic and national lockdowns resulting in missed or
delayed health appointments.
Many children are likely to have been impacted by the economic
changes resulting from the pandemic response, such as loss or
change in parental income, increased negative health behaviours
such as more sedentary time, and increased stress of those around
them impacting on the child’s emotional wellbeing. Children may
have suffered from isolation and boredom, with the vast majority of
children having missed around 6 months of formal education; this
is particularly true of children who face disadvantage. It is likely
that there has been an increase in vulnerability, adverse childhood
experiences, abuse, and family relationship issues.

11

Value driven: In delivering our strategy there are seven wellbeing
aspirations we want for all our children and young people. We want
them to:
 Have the best start in life
 Be safe from harm and have the help they need
 Have healthy and active lives
 Be prepared for adult life
 Feel they can have their say and be listened to
 Have a good education that enables them to achieve their full
potential
 Be happy and thriving

1.4 Underpinning principles
Prioritisation: Due to the potential volume of priorities, we have
sought to prioritise our efforts based on the following:






Page 78

issues where Thurrock is an outlier from comparators
issues where we are outliers and the trend is worsening
a JSNA product has highlighted a need and made
recommendations for action that has not yet been taken
an inspection has been undertaken which requires changes in
a particular area
there is a desire locally to shape a particular area for the
purposes of achieving transformational change

Co- Production: In developing this strategy partners have sought
to co-produce with service users. Co-production can help make the
best use of resources, deliver better outcomes for people who use
services, and build stronger communities. In the writing of this
strategy we have put the following critical values in place in order to
meaningfully coproduce: equality, diversity, accessibility, and
reciprocity.


Outcomes focused: The impact of our strategy will be measured
by success criteria derived from national and local performance
measures. We will take a layered approach to understanding success
including case studies, service reviews and young people’s
voice.

Asset focused: We have sought to focus on identifying our
strengths and assets, as well as our needs and difficulties.

Reducing inequality: If inequalities are not tackled at an early age,
it is unlikely that this gap will be narrowed as children get older.
Investing in the early years can help to address health inequalities
that disadvantage some from the very beginning of their lives. There
is also a strong incentive to invest in the early years from an
economic perspective, as the long-term savings that can be generated
are considerable.

12

Chapter 2: Our Children Our Place

Page 79

Thurrock is a place with a rich cultural heritage.
There are approximately 59,424 children and young people between
the ages of 0 and 25 in Thurrock, which is 34% of the population. This
compares with the national average of 31%, indicating that Thurrock’s
population is slightly younger than that of England. The median
population age in Thurrock is 36.9, this is below the England median
of 40. There are slightly more males (35%) aged 0 to 25 than females
(33%). 
Situated on the north side of the River Thames bordering Essex, Kent,
and East London, Thurrock is an area of great contrast and unique
opportunities. It is a crucial strategic player in the South East Local
Enterprise Partnership, South Essex 2050 partnership, and the
Thames Estuary plans.
Rural villages and market towns are set within the 70% of the borough
that is made up of green belt. Nature reserves, heritage locations, and
sites of special scientific interest abound.
Three international ports punctuate 18 miles of riverfront with cranes
and gigantic container ships, while industrial parks line the A13, all
within driving distance of the major London airports. There are plans
for four Integrated Medical Centres in the borough. This is just one of
a series of game-changing initiatives being delivered with our health
partners.



ONS Population estimates/ NHS Digital Local Health summary report

13

Source: Fingertips, NHS Digital 2018

2.1 Who are our Children and Young
People?

Figure 2 Proportion of young people

Demography
Population
In 2018 there were 2,417 live births in Thurrock with a total of 13,200
children aged 4 years old and younger, who made up a total of 7.6%
of the population.
In 2018 Thurrock had a larger proportion of children aged 0-19 years
than the East of England region and England. Thurrock has a relatively
young population compared with regional and national percentages.
This is important as there will be relatively more demand for services
for children in the immediate term and increased demand for housing,
jobs, and other services as the population ages. The proportion of the
dependent population in Thurrock is larger than it is regionally, this
knowledge is important when planning services to meet the current
and future needs in Thurrock

There were 47,500 children aged 0-19 years making up 27.5%
of the total population.

Page 80

Figure 1 Number of children in Thurrock

Table 1 Age breakdown

Source: ONS 2018 mid-year population estimates

14

Population projections
Figure 3 0-19 population projections

Ethnic Diversity
The map below shows where in the borough children from minority
ethnic groups live based on the 2020 School Census data. The darker
green colours indicate a higher proportion of children from minority
ethnic groups in that area. We can see that the South and West of
Thurrock in Grays Riverside and West Thurrock and South Stifford
have greater ethnic diversity than the wards in East Thurrock including
Orsett, Stanford Le Hope, Corringham and the Homesteads.
Understanding the ethnic diversity and makeup of communities in
Thurrock is important in order to ensure culturally appropriate services,
barriers, and inequalities are addressed.

54,000
52,000
50,000
48,000
46,000
44,000
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035
2036
2037
2038
2039
2040
2041
2042
2043

Number of people

0-19 year olds, population projection for Thurrock

Year

These graphs show the projected increase in the population in
Thurrock for all ages (below) and for those aged 0-19 years old
(above). The population of those aged 0-19 is projected to rise more
steeply than the all age population, with the most rapid increase
between 2018 and 2025. Understanding this allows us to plan services
accordingly and forecast financial needs and assets to support the
growing. population.

Figure 4 School children from minority ethnic groups

Page 81

Figure 5 All age population projections

220,000
200,000

180,000
160,000
140,000

2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035
2036
2037
2038
2039
2040
2041
2042
2043

Number of people

All age population projection - Thurrock

Year

15

Ethnicity
Figure 6 Non-White British/Irish population proportions

Thurrock has a diverse ethnic makeup, particularly amongst children
and young people. While 14% of adults are from an ethnic minority
group * , 30% of school age children reported being from an ethnic
minority group in the 2020 school census.

Page 82

Table 2 Non-White British/Irish population numbers

Figure 6 shows the breakdown of the non-White British/Irish
population in Thurrock (all ages) from the 2011 census. Table 2 shows
the numbers of people in each non-white British/Irish group and how
each group is represented as a percentage of the total non-white
British/Irish population in Thurrock. The majority of the non-white
British/Irish population are from a Black African ethnic group, followed
by other white and mixed ethnic backgrounds followed by Asian Indian
and other Asian groups.

*

2011 Census

16

Deprivation and Poverty
Income Deprivation

Figure 7 IDACI scores

This map shows levels of deprivation in Thurrock, with the red and
orange colours indicating the most deprived areas of Tilbury Riverside,
Tilbury St Chads, Ockendedon, Belhus, Aveley and Uplands, and East
Thurrock and South Stifford.

Page 83

This map uses the Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index
(IDACI) measuring the proportion of all children aged 0 to 15 living in
income deprived families. It measures the proportion of the under 16
population in an area experiencing a variety of deprivation indicators
related to low income. The number in each ward is the total number of
children aged 0-15 in that ward, this gives us a perspective as to the
number of children living in low income families. For example,
between 23.9%-36.2% of the 736 children in Tilbury Riverside &
Thurrock Park are living in income-deprived families.
The data show that those wards with a higher IDACI rating tend to
have higher numbers of children living there. The previous map on
page 15 when looked at alongside this map shows that these wards
are also those with the greatest proportion of minority ethnic children.
Given the link between deprivation and poorer health outcomes along
with our understanding of the ethnic makeup within these wards allows
us to have a greater understanding of population needs in these areas.
Consulting with these young people is key to having a strategy that
will positively impact on them and their lives.

17

2.2 Health & Wellbeing: Early Years and School Age

Page 84

2.3 Education, Health & Social Care

Page 85
19

2.4 High Level Summary of Need


Using data from NHS Fingertips Child Health Profiles we have
sought to understand need by comparing ourselves to our statistical
neighbours and understanding of our trends (based on 5 data
points)

Page 86



We are worse than our comparators and show a worsening trend in
hospital admissions for self-harm in 10-24years olds and hospital
admissions for unintentional and deliberate injuries (15-24 year), A&
E attendances for 0-4s and MMR 2nd dose



The MMR immunisation level does not meet the recommended
coverage of 95%. By age five only 86.7% of children in Thurrock have
had both doses. In 2019 England had its measles free status
removed and Thurrock experienced two measles outbreaks in
vulnerable communities. As part of reset and recovery in 2021
concerted action needs to be galvanised by stakeholders to address
this trend



Year 6 obesity and Breastfeeding initiation are worse than our
comparators, trends are however static. Obesity in reception is
similar to statistical neighbours, with a static trend. The Whole
Systems Obesity Action Plan, Goal A captures actions required to
address this, however commitment is required by decision makers to
secure a dedicated resource to drive this agenda



The current proportion of children with SEND is similar to our
statistical neighbours and shows an improving trend. It is possible
that SEND numbers may have arisen from contributory factors such
as child immunisation and the positive impact of healthcare
advancement where more children are surviving with more complex
needs



We are similar to our comparators for Social, Emotional Mental
Health needs, but show a worsening trend



Thurrock is doing statistically significantly better than comparators
in the top right two green squares in table 3

Table 3 Trends and comparisons for child health indicators in Thurrock

-KS2 Achievement

2.5 Key Points

Table 4 Indicators by priority area

Strategic Area
Education

Health

Page 87

Safety

Mental Health

Indicators
School exclusions
Free school meals
NEET
KS2 Achievement
Breastfeeding initiation
Breastfeeding continuation
Good development at 2 ½ years
Obesity at Reception
Obesity at Year 6
Oral health
Low birth weight
Teenage pregnancy
A&E attendance 0-4
MMR 2nd dose
Entrants into Youth Justice System
Children in care
Children on Protection plans
Children in need
Social, emotional and mental health
needs
SEND
Hospital admissions for self-harm
Hospital admissions for deliberate and
unintentional injuries (0-14)
Hospital admissions for deliberate and
unintentional injuries (15-24)

21



Thurrock has a higher proportion of children and young people
compared to East of England and England, and the population is
predicted to continue to rise. Stakeholders should assure
themselves that consideration in local planning has taken these
trends into account. Actions already in train include the
implementation of recommendations from the Children’s Social
Care APHR 2017 and various sufficiency strategies



There is a higher proportion of school children from minority ethnic
groups in Thurrock compared to regional and national levels.
According to the IDACI index, wards with higher scores have
comparatively larger numbers of children and greater ethnic
diversity



We have analysed high level data to understand need. Addressing
local need requires strategic priorities and underlying ambitions.
We have matched our needs to four strategic areas and articulated
these into strategic priorities. Each priorities ambitions are
contained in the relevant chapter

Page 88

22

Chapter 3: Understanding where
we want to be
3.1 Our Strategic Priorities: Gaining more
insight
Having understood the areas of need in our child population, we have
refreshed our vision and identified four strategic priorities, along with
a cross cutting theme of transitions. They are as follows:



Page 89

All children are enabled to achieve their potential
All children are able to access the services they need and be
healthy, focussing on prevention and early intervention
 All children live safely in their communities
 All children and their families experience good emotional health
and wellbeing
Each strategic priority will now be explored in detail taking into
consideration the following:
1. What we want to achieve?



Why is this strategic priority important?
Clarify what is being focused on and why

2. The current position




Health & Wellbeing intelligence
Services offered
Impact of COVID-19



Opportunities and Challenges

3. What do we know?




Local products, inspections, reviews
Evidence underpinning interventions
Gaps (if applicable)

4. Our ambitions


Short, medium, and long term ambitions

5. The attainment roadmap



What are the things we are going to do or do differently?
How place and system partners can help

6. How will we know we are there?


Agreed success measures

3.2 Strategic Priority 1 (SP1): Children in
Thurrock enabled to achieve their
potential
SP1 Why is this strategic priority important?
It is important that all children reach their academic potential through
education and training, ensuring that a child’s background does not
determine his or her future outcomes. It is also essential that our
schools and educational settings are supported to deliver the best
education possible and that education is accessible.

Page 90

The COVID-19 pandemic led to the closure of schools and education
institutions during the lockdown of spring and summer 2020. This led
to large losses in school time affecting many young people and their
families, particularly those from disadvantaged backgrounds.
Education and skills has therefore been prioritised because it is likely
that there are, some children who are at risk of not achieving their
potential because of the indirect impacts of the pandemic, their
protected characteristics, socio-economic group, or circumstances.
Addressing inequality is a local priority and aligns with the
fundamental principles of this strategy.

SP1: What do we know?
Education improves health and livelihoods, contributes to social
stability, and drives long-term economic growth. It benefits the
individual, the community, and wider society. Schools are used to
deliver education to young people from the age of 5 to 16 years. Early
year’s provision is offered to those under five, and skills and further
education offered to young people over the age of 16.
Attending an education setting is a protective factor in the life of most
children and young people. When a young person does not attend
school regularly they can quickly lose step with their peers, both
educationally and socially. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, education
settings have experienced disruption to their normal delivery.
The pause and restart of schooling, attendance at school through
national and local health protection measures, and the test trace and
isolate system has been disruptive for children and young people in
training and education. Disruption to GCSE, AS & A level
examinations may make it difficult in the future to quantify the
educational attainment gap.
Local young people living in Thurrock have told us how the pandemic
has affected them. Many reported missing school friends and feeling
lonely. Some reported experiencing strain on their emotional and
mental wellbeing as a result of reduced socialisation and disruptions
to normal life (see page 145).

Scope

Temporary home schooling has been mandatory during lockdown and
periods of self-isolation. This may have been particularly challenging
for children living in noisy, overcrowded homes without a quiet space
to learn as well as those without access to the internet.

SP1 will focus on taking action to address the disadvantage gap in
educational attainment and the challenges and opportunities afforded
by the pandemic. Strategic Priority 2 (SP2) addresses preschool
attainment gap determinants.

Page 91

Children from disadvantaged backgrounds are likely to have been
particularly affected by school closures. We know that without
intervention, school closures early in the pandemic are likely to have
further widened the existing disadvantage gap. The annual “learning
loss” experienced by pupils each summer demonstrates this issue.
The vast majority of children decline academically over the long
summer break, but for disadvantaged children the effect is particularly
pronounced. Evidence suggests that the summer holidays might
account for almost two-thirds of the attainment gap between rich and
poor children at age 14yrs (1).
Disadvantaged children start school behind their more advantaged
peers, with the gap in performance widening as they progress through
the education system. While there is evidence to suggest the
disadvantage in attainment gap in Thurrock has improved since 2012,
there is still opportunity to build on this performance, particularly in
light of the negative impacts of the pandemic.

Disadvantage can be summarised as encompassing not only income poverty, but also a lack of social and cultural capital and control over decisions that affect life outcomes. A pupil is classed as disadvantaged by the
Government if they have been eligible for free school meals within the five years before sitting GCSE exams or if they have been in care or adopted from care.

25

Figure 8 Determinants of the education disadvantage gap

Page 92

o https://www.local.gov.uk/learning-life-role-adultcommunity-education-developing-thriving-localcommunities-handbook

Policy and Key Evidence Documents
There is a huge amount of national legislative and policy change
affecting Education & Skills services. Key policy areas are:



National Careers Strategy: Making the most of everyone’s
talents, 2017
o Aims to improve social mobility and offer opportunity to all.
The document sets out a long-term plan to boost national
productivity and the earning power of people throughout
the country.
o https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/careersstrategy-making-the-most-of-everyones-skills-andtalents



Page 93


Impact of Family Learning on Children’s outcomes
o http://www.learningandwork.org.uk.gridhosted.co.uk/
wp-content/uploads/2017/01/Compilation-evidencefamily-learning-final-revised-01092013.pdfrning

FE White Paper - Skills for Jobs – Lifelong Learning for
Opportunity and Growth
o https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/u
ploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/953510/sk
ills-for-jobs-lifelong-learning-for-opportunity-andgrowth.pdf




Key local documents which have informed SP1 include,
o SELSP Skills Strategy
 https://www.southeastlep.com/app/uploads/2020/02
/Skills_Strategy_frontcover_screenshot.png
o Thurrock Economic Development strategy
 https://www.thurrock.gov.uk/sites/default/files/asse
ts/documents/ldf_tech_economic_dev_strat.pdf

Impact of Adult Learning – Healthy, Wealthy and Wise
o Annual Public Health Report 2019/20
o https://learningandwork.org.uk/resources/researchand-reports/healthy-wealthy-and-wise-the-impact-ofadult-learning-across-the-uk/



Learning for Life the role of Adult Education in developing
thriving communities – a handbook for councillor

 This report focused on Violence & Vulnerability
 https://democracy.thurrock.gov.uk/documents/s283
31/Annual%20Report%20of%20the%20Director%20
of%20Public%20Health%20201920%20-%20Serious
%20Youth%20Violence%20and%20Vulnerability%2
0-%20.pdf

SP1 Understanding Local Need
Throughout their school years, disadvantaged children and young
people are disproportionately more likely to lack the necessary
foundations – a good level of health and wellbeing, a nutritious diet, a
supportive and stimulating home environment - to learn and perform
in school. Across nearly every health outcome, disadvantaged
children are worse off. The relationship between disadvantage and
educational attainment is highly complex; it is noted that
disadvantaged children are not a homogenous group, their outcomes
and experiences of education vary by many factors, including gender,
ethnicity, first language, special educational needs and disability
(SEND) status, family history of disadvantage, geography, and the
performance measure used. (2)



297 children were looked after as of 31 March 2020, the rate is
in line with that of benchmark groups

All of the above groups are at risk of experiencing inequality in
educational attainment.
The Disadvantage Gap
In Thurrock in 2019 the gap in months between advantaged and
disadvantaged children was 4.1 months in early years, 7.3 months in
primary schools and 18 months in secondary schools. Thurrock ranks
in the lower middle quartile of local authorities across England.
Table 5 English Local Authorities Disadvantage Gap, 2019 †

Page 94

Scale of Need
The following figures give a sense of the potential number of young
people at risk of experiencing disadvantage in Thurrock. There are
59,424, 0-25year olds in Thurrock. Of this population group






4,661 have special educational needs and/ or disability and
attend schools in Thurrock (above England average)
1,230 have Education, Health and Care Plans
43% of school children are from Black, Asian and minority
ethnic groups * , this is also above the England and regional
averages

Since 2012 the disadvantage gap change in Thurrock for Early Years
has been -0.3 months, -3.2 months for Primary School, and -1.0 for

ONS mid-year population estimates, April 2019
January School Census, 2020
† https://epi.org.uk/publications-and-research/epi-annual-report-2019-the-education-disadvantage-gap-in-your-area
*

Secondary School. * This negative change in months shows an
improvement in the gap. Throughout the stages of childhood (prenatal
to secondary school age) negative and positive factors influence
educational attainment. These factors can accumulate over time and
contribute to the size of the disadvantage gap.

Figure 9 GCSE achievement

% of Thurrock pupils achieving grades 4 or above in English and
Mathematics GCSEs (2019 cohort)
70%

61%

60%
50%

Compared to the overall cohort, children in Thurrock with any or all of
the following designations,

41%

40%

38%
33%
26%

30%





Free School Meals (FSM)
Children in Need
Special Educational Needs

20%
10%
10%
0%
All pupils

are less likely to achieve a 9-4 pass score in English and Maths
GCSEs than those without such designations. While overall, 61% of
GCSE pupils in Thurrock achieved 9-4 in 2019, only 10% of pupils with
all three disadvantages were able to achieve the same. Of the three
categories, SEN has the greatest impact on GCSE achievement while
FSM has the least, though there is still a 20% difference between the
achievement of the FSM group and the overall cohort.

Any SEN6 or
FSM6 or CIN6

CIN6*

SEN6*

SEN6 & FSM6
& CIN6

*6 refers to a child having experienced the particular vulnerability anytime within the
last 6 years

Page 95
*

FSM6*

Higher Risk groups
Despite progress in closing the disadvantage gap in attainment,
inequalities in educational outcomes remain. Certain groups continue
to be at particularly high risk, such as children with SEND, those who
are in contact with social services and certain ethnic minority groups
including Black Caribbean and Gypsy, Roma, and Traveller children.

Education Policy Institute. Interactive geographical dashboard: education Gap in England

29

Ethnicity & Children with SEND

Young People at Higher Risk

30% of children in Thurrock are from an Ethnic Minority group. The
majority of the non-white British/Irish population are from a Black
African ethnic group, followed by
other white and mixed ethnic
backgrounds followed by Asian
Indian and other Asian groups.
Black Caribbean young people
make up 5% of this cohort and
Gypsy/Irish
Traveller
young
people 1%.
15 % of children and young
people in Thurrock have been
identified as having a special
educational need
(national
average for English unitary
authorities is 15.6%) and 4.1%
have an education, health and
care plan (compared to national average of 3.4%). There is the need
to understand the underlying factors, drivers, and processes that may
be inadvertently contributing to the high numbers of Education, Health
and Care plans in Thurrock.

Homeless children
Adequate housing and feeling safe at home are important for a child’s
health and wellbeing. Children who experience homelessness are
among some of the most vulnerable in society. Homelessness is often
associated with extreme poverty and is a social determinant of health
and wellbeing. In Thurrock in 2017/18, 176 households with
dependent children or pregnant women were regarded as
unintentionally homeless and eligible for assistance, a rate of 2.6 per
1,000 households. This is worse than East of England region (1.7 per
1,000) and is worse than England (1.7 per 1,000).

Page 96

NEETs
Young people with fewer qualifications are more likely not to be in
education, employment or training (NEET) after leaving school and
find it more difficult to secure employment
as they get older. The chance of being
NEET is affected by area deprivation,
socio-economic position, parental factors
(such as employment, education, or
attitudes), growing up in care, prior
academic achievement, and school
experiences.
Being
NEET
occurs
disproportionately among those already
experiencing
other
sources
of
disadvantage (3).
In Thurrock only 2.4% of children aged 16
and 17 are not engaged in any education, employment or training. This
is below the national average of 6%, and is 0.7% better than the same

30

time the previous year. In December 2020 Thurrock was ranked as
second out of 152 local authorities for the numbers of young people it
had not in education or training. Overall this represents a local
strength in creating opportunities for young people to fulfil their
potential.

females aged under 16 years old in Thurrock in 2018, a rate of 1.9
conceptions per 1,000 females aged under 16. This is similar to the
East of England rate of 2.0 per 1,000 and slightly lower than the
England rate of 2.5 per 1,000. However, caution should be applied
when considering this rate due to the small number of conceptions. In
2018, there were 53 conceptions amongst females aged 15-17 in
Thurrock, a rate of 18.7 conceptions per 1,000. This rate is slightly
higher than those observed in the East of England and England, 14.4
and 16.7 respectively.

NEET: Teenage Parents
Being a teenage parent is a trigger for becoming NEET. NEETs that
were unavailable for work locally in 2020 consisted of teenage
parents, carers, and pregnant young persons. A reduction of less than
five NEET young people from 2019 is noted from the Thurrock
Education & Skills Data base 2020. While a reduction is positive,
consideration should continue to be made for these groups within local
plans.

Page 97

Teenagers have the highest rate of unplanned pregnancy with
disproportionately poor outcomes (7). Of the under-18 conceptions in
2018, 58.5% resulted in abortion, higher than the regional rate and
England rates of 52.4% and 53% respectively, indicating that further
prevention activity is required locally.
NEET: Young Carers

The health and socio-economic outcomes for the majority of teenage
parents and their children tend to be poorer than non-teenage parents
and their children, with children born to teenage mothers having a 63%
higher risk of living in poverty. (4) For many, their health, education
and economic outcomes remain disproportionately poor and
contribute to inter-generational inequalities and long-term
socioeconomic disadvantage. However, it is important to recognise
that some teenage pregnancies are planned and some teenage
parents make excellent parents and manage very well.

Being a young carer is a trigger for becoming NEET. The Children and
Families Act 2014 defines a young carer as, “someone under 18 who
helps look after someone in their family, or a friend, who is ill, disabled
or misuses drugs or alcohol”. There was a small increase (<5) in the
number of NEET young carers in 2020 compared to 2019.
Children known to social services
Thurrock is similar to its Statistical Neighbours for:

National estimates suggest that one-third of young people have had
sex by the age of 16, increasing to 85% experiencing vaginal
intercourse by the age of 20 (5). According to the most recent data





from the Office for National Statistics (6) there were 6 conceptions to

31

Children in care (67 per 10,000)
Children on protection plans (50.1 per 10,000)
Children in need (694 per 10,000)

child’s learning, compared to less than half of parents with A-level or
GCSE level qualifications. (2)

(Please see page 20– High level summary of need)
Young People with Emerging Education Issues

Young Peoples’ Voice

Exclusion from school is known to impact significantly on young
people’s life chances and wellbeing. Permanently excluded children
are likely to develop mental health difficulties and many will struggle
with poor self-esteem; they may struggle to secure opportunities in
employment or studies later in life. In 2018/19, 0.05% of primary
school pupils in Thurrock were given permanent exclusions compared
to 0.02% in England. For secondary pupils, the permanent exclusion
rate was 0.25% compared to 0.2% across England.

Young people’s voice was captured as part of the development of this
strategy (see page 144). Education disruption on account of the
pandemic featured as a concern for older children particularly those
aged 15 and older. Older children also mentioned the need for
opportunities and success later in life.
Academic Performance
Children are assessed throughout their educational journey. SATs are
tests that are given to primary pupils twice during their time at primary
school. The first is at the end of Key Stage 1 (KS1) which is in year 2,
and the second at Key Stage 2 (KS2), which assesses the last 4 years
of primary school learning.

Page 98

Exclusion rates vary across Thurrock and there is no clear assurance
system in place for monitoring. The APHR 2019/20 recommended that
a systematic mechanism is put in place to provide assurance that
children and young people who are absent from education are
monitored and followed up. (8)

Figure 10 Children achieving expected standard at KS2

Elective Home Education is a conscious decision by parents or carers
to educate their children at home. In Thurrock there was a notable
increase in the number of home schooled children in September 2020,
there were 301 children on the home schooled register compared to
214 at the same time in the previous year. There are a number of
challenges associated with parents removing a child from the local
school register, such as parental teaching confidence, parental
teaching capacity, and challenges with getting the child placed back
into onsite schooling. Research suggests that more than threequarters of parents with a postgraduate degree, and just over 60% of
those with an undergraduate degree, feel confident directing their

Percentage of children achieving the expected standard at KS2
(Reading, Maths, Writing)
75%
70%

70.4%

65%
60%

61.1%

60.5%

62.2%

64.4%

66.0%
62.7%

64.9%

63.6%

55%

2017

2018
England

East of England

Source: National Pupil Database, DfE

32

2019
Thurrock

KS2 assessments are taken at the end of Year 6. They are commonly
known as SATs but are also referred to as End of Key Stage Tests and
Assessments. SATs/KS2 are used to measure and assess pupils’
understanding of maths, reading, and grammar and punctuation.
Figure 10 Children achieving expected standard at KS2 shows
Thurrock's continued improving trend in KS2 results from 2017 to
2019; each year demonstrating a comparatively better performance
than England and the EoE.

KS2 scores are important as they assess how well a child is
performing in comparison to others, assess progress since KS1 SATs,
and offer a predictor for success at GCSE level. GCSE attainment/
average attainment scores in Thurrock were similar to the England
average in 2018/19 (45.2% compared to 46.4%). GCSE attainment/
average attainment 8 score of children looked after, in the same time
period was considerably lower, 19.7% compared to the England
average of 18.9%. This suggests that vulnerability has an impact on
educational attainment.

While Thurrock's overall performance is good, it masks poorer
performance in more deprived children and the attainment gap that
exists between deprived and non-deprived children. Figure 11 below
compares KS2 scores in deprived and non-deprived children over a
three year period.

Key Points

Page 99



Young people from deprived backgrounds living in Thurrock are
at risk of not achieving their academic potential. While
Thurrock's overall academic performance is good, it masks
poorer performance in more deprived children. Thurrock's
attainment gap at all key stages ranks in the 25% lower-middle
of local authorities across England. It is positive to note that the
disadvantage attainment gap has improved since 2012



It may be difficult to quantify the educational attainment gap for
KS4 students in the future as the pandemic has disrupted the
public exams process



The education policy institute identifies the characteristics of
well performing children at each stage of the life course.
Applying these considerations to Thurrock would suggest the
need to strengthen opportunities to address the gap at the
secondary stages. Table 6 gives an indication of considerations
required to close the educational attainment gap

Figure 11 Differences in KS2 standard achievement

Difference in KS2 standard achievement between deprived
and non-deprived children in Thurrock
76.1%

80%

75%
70%

71.5%
68.0%

65%
56.7%

60%
55%

53.6%
49.9%

50%
45%
2017

2018

Deprived group

2019

Non-deprived group

Source: National Pupil Database which sits with DfE

33

Page 100



Effective strategies for addressing the disadvantage gap
should consist of holistic life-course approaches, joined-up
working to support families from conception onwards, a highly
trained and stable workforce capable of addressing individual
pupils’ barriers to learning, and equal access to educational
opportunities



Certain groups of children are at particular risk for experiencing
inequality in educational attainment. These include children
who are NEET, have SEND, are CLA, or Black Caribbean and
Gypsy, Roma and Traveller children. Having SEND has the
greatest impact on GCSE attainment.



Being a teen parent or being pregnant are triggers for becoming
NEET. NEETs that fall into this group are sometimes
unavailable for work

Secondary
School

Table 6 Considerations
Childhood
stage

Prenatal
period
Early
Childhood
Preschool
Primary
School

Characteristics of
disadvantaged
children

Local Offer

Gaps/opportunities

Stress in pregnancy
difficulty in accessing
pre-natal care
ACES, Poor housing
conditions
Weak home learning
environment
Lower School
Readiness

Healthy Families 0-19
programme
Multiagency
Safeguarding Hub
Prevention and Support
Service
PASS Plus
Locally commissioned
parenting programmes

Opportunities/gaps
Covered within strategic priority 2
Relevant ambition : Children start
school ready to learn
Opportunities
Housing is outside scope of this
strategy but families with housing
needs would be signposted to housing
support services.
Home schooling Officer in post

34

Less experienced
teachers,
High staff mobility
Stereotype threat,
role model invisibility

Work undertaken
independently by
academies in Equality &
Diversity.
Local Authority
Education and skills
diversity programme

Gap
Understanding what works with
supporting teachers to understand
how to address the disadvantage gap.
Role Model invisibility



Teen conceptions in Thurrock are slightly higher than the East of
England and England. It is therefore important that bespoke
support plans are prepared for NEETS in these circumstances.
Stakeholders must build the knowledge, skills, resilience and
aspirations of young people, as well as provide them with easy
access to welcoming services in order to help them delay sex until
they are ready to enjoy healthy consensual relationships and to
use contraception to prevent unplanned pregnancy



There has been a 40% rise in the number of home schooled
children. This may be as a result of the COVID 19 pandemic.
There are a number of challenges associated with parents
removing a child from the local school register, such as parental
teaching confidence, parental teaching capacity, and challenges
with getting the child placed back into mainstream schooling. Since
2020 Thurrock has developed a Home Schooling plan and secured
extra capacity to address this



Exclusion rates vary across Thurrock. There is no clear assurance
system in place for monitoring. The APHR 2019/20 recommended
that a systematic mechanism is put in place to provide assurance
so that children and young people who are absent from education

are monitored and followed up. This recommendation is supported
by the current strategy


Local young people have voiced concerns about the impact of the
pandemic on their education. Many reported missing school
friends and feeling lonely. Some reported experiencing strain on
their emotional and mental wellbeing. It is imperative that local
stakeholders work together to ensure young people gain the
education, skills, and experience they need to succeed in
adulthood



Young people’s Mental Health is addressed under Strategic
Priority 4

Page 101
35

Figure 12 Settings

SP1: The Current Position
The local universal education offer for 0-18s

Page 102

Thurrock Council has a statutory responsibility to provide a school
place for every child of school age who live in Thurrock. 27.3% of our
population are aged 0-19yrs, projected to increase by 27.7% by 2027.
There are currently 39 Primary schools, 11 Secondary schools and 2
Special Schools in Thurrock. Each Academy, Free School, and
Voluntary Aided-School is its own Admissions Authority. The Council
is the Admissions Authority for Community Schools and Voluntary
Controlled Schools. In respect to Voluntary Aided Schools, the
governing body of the school determines admission arrangements.
For Academies and Free Schools, the relevant Academy Trust is the
Admission Authority. The rise in the child population is taken into
account within the Pupil Place Plan. Please see below for further
details.
•
•

Pupil Place Plan, 2020-2024 (PDF 3.90MB)
Pupil Place Plan, 2019-2023 (PDF 5.35MB)

Table 7 Settings assets

36

Asset

Number

Primary Schools

40

Secondary Schools

13

Special Schools

2

Pupil Referral Unit

1

Children’s Centres

10

Colleges

2

The local education & skills offer
Selective Provision




Page 103







The Healthy Families Service employ school nursing staff who
offer support to students through school/college, at transition
points, and work to ensure children are ready for adulthood and
receive support with exam stress and managing emotions
Thurrock Youth Cabinet – is designed to support young people
to be fully involved in having their say about the issues that
affect young people and the services that are provided for them.
The programme provides consultation opportunities for
services to gain feedback from young people and for the views
of young people to be heard. Elected members are part of the
British Youth Council, attending conventions throughout the
year in addition to the annual youth sitting. The Youth Cabinet
deliver an annual youth conference that all schools in the
borough attend, offering the opportunity to debate issues that
have arisen via the national Make Your Mark campaign
Duke of Edinburgh Award Scheme is a youth award
programme supporting schools and colleges to deliver all
sections of the Bronze, Silver, and Gold awards including
learning a new skill, volunteering, physical challenge, and an
expedition, in addition to operating open centres that
encourage those who wish to enrol outside of their school
INSPIRE Service Careers advice drop in sessions at Inspire
Youth Hub are offered on an open access basis and provide
sessions to enhance young people’s understanding of the
world of work, focusing on identification of strengths and selfassessment,
career
learning,
psychometric
testing,

understanding emotional intelligence, and skills needed to
excel in the modern workplace
The Prince’s Trust programme is also offered through INSPIRE
and aims to build confidence in young people who are NEET.
Evaluation suggests positive outcomes include increased
confidence, improved relationships with parents, improved
mental health, and a reduction in homelessness risk

Thurrock Council’s INSPIRE service run a number of programmes
available to some young people in the Borough:
Schools based careers advice offer is available for individual schools
to purchase, which provides one-to-one assessment and individual
careers advice to secondary school pupils, usually to year 9 pupils.
The offer varies between schools and is dependent on what each
school decides to purchase but includes sessions on aspirations,
finances, apprentices, and routes to university and other higher
education. Generally the level of provision purchased means only a
few pupils from each school receive the offer. The council’s
Employability and Skills Team link closely with INSPIRE to work with
schools to arrange work experience for young people and to organise
employment skills development programmes like Thurrock’s Next Top
Boss.
TCHC (Level 1 and 2) employability and functional skills programme
is commissioned by INSPIRE and runs from their Grays hub offering
a 24-week course in maths, literacy, and confidence building linked to

37

careers advice and development of a careers plan. The programme is
open to young people who are NEET.

careers interview if the school buy into our traded service, if not the
school will use their own resources

Post-16 education & skills offer



Post 16 years, a young person’s situation is tracked on a regular basis
using the following procedure:

Further Education providers confirm student enrolment, the team track
the remaining balance of young people to confirm if they are in
education, employment or training. Any young people who confirm
they are NEET receive an initial Careers, Education, Information,
Advice and Guidance interview with the view to move them into a
positive situation such as: Education, employment, training, FE, reengagement provision – Princes Trust, TCHC or Functional Skills






Page 104

Education – tracked annually unless an FE provider
informs the Local Authority that the young person has left
post-16 education
Apprenticeships – tracked every 6 months
Employment – tracked every 3 months without local
training, 6 months with training

Activity Survey – September to February

Interventions
The Inspiring Tilbury Project

The Inspire team track participation of young people between the ages
of 16 to 19 (the academic year they turn 18); they run three reports a
year for the Department for Education, all these reports form the basis
of the Local Authority’s NEETS prevention plan:

The Inspiring Tilbury project (ITP) is a three year project started in
September 2019 to support all residents of the Tilbury St Chads,
Tilbury Riverside & Thurrock Park wards into sustained employment,
training or education, delivered by Inspire Thurrock Careers.
During the Covid-19 lockdowns all support was only available by
telephone and the services available to the residents included
information and advice, regularly reviewed action plans, psychometric
testing, mentoring, employability training, current and relevant local
market information, job search training, job application training, and
youth engagement projects.
The project has made/sent 606 calls, 2030 texts, and 2010 emails,
resulting in signing up 15 unemployed and 15 economically inactive

 Intended Destination Survey – September to May
Current Yr11 complete this survey to confirm they have a post-16
intended destination; those who reply “undecided” will receive a
careers interview from us, if the school buy into our traded service, if
not the school will use their own resources
 September Guarantee May – May to October
Further Education providers confirm who has received an “offer of
learning”; any student who has not received an offer will be contacted
to confirm their post-16 destination, this could be an apprenticeship or
employment with training. Again the student will receive another

38

residents and moving 3 into employment and 3 into education or
training.

requests to run the club. Individual requests have been serviced by
the IYH duty advisers.

Inspire Youth Hub (IYH) Drop-in Service

Inspire Virtual Careers Fair

For the past 10 years, Thurrock students have benefitted from
participation in a careers fair to speak to colleges and universities
about pathways into FE and HE, as well as employers about what it is
like to work in their sector and the best routes to begin their working
life.

Prior to the Covid-19 lockdowns the IYH provided a free careers
information advice and guidance service for young people aged 13 to
19 and to 25 for those with SEND. The service was available Tuesday
to Friday 09.30 – 16.30 and during the two major lockdowns this was
replaced by a phone or digital service available Monday to Friday
accessed by either telephone or email requests. During the relaxation
of lockdown, face-to-face sessions were made available daily Tuesday
to Thursday. During the period from February to September 2020 IYH
received and serviced 362 requests compared to 419 for the same
period in 2019.

Page 105

In light of the global pandemic, Inspire continues to modify
programmes to support students to prepare for the world of work; the
annual careers fair is no different. In 2021 Thurrock will offer a virtual
careers fair, which will offer a growing exhibitor library including the full
range of sectors operating in the borough, as well as a variety of local
and national colleges, universities, and other training providers.

Inspire Opportunities Bulletin
Inspire NEET Team

A weekly email bulletin is prepared and sent to all NEET YP and
interested clients who have provided contact details and opted to
receive it, providing current job and apprenticeship opportunities,
information on training and support services. Currently the circulation
is 2,242 with a 98.8% delivery and 932 confirmed opening the bulletin
email.

NEET young people aged 16 to 18, and SEND up to 25, are regularly
called and offered support into education, employment or training.
NEET unavailable are offered specialist support i.e. Teenage Parent
groups and referrals to Mental Health support. Currently support is
delivered digitally during lockdown but previously outreach visits were
offered in a suitable location to the young person.

Inspire Opportunities Club

A series of Google Classroom interactive video sessions has been
prepared for NEET young people wishing to sign up to the
Opportunities Club but currently there have not been sufficient

39

Thurrock Opportunities
The website https://www.thurrockopportunities.co.uk/ has been
created to support Thurrock residents and businesses with careers
advice, employment, and apprenticeship information and news.

Make Happen
Make Happen is the regional Uni Connect (formerly NCOP)
programme, part of the
Office for Students. The
programme brings together
universities, colleges and
local partners to deliver
outreach programmes to
young people in years 9 to
13, with a particular focus
on areas where higher
education participation is
lower than might be
expected given the GCSE
results of the young people who live there. In Thurrock we have
divided the programme into three phases to cover the school
academic year:

Inspire Princes Trust
Inspire Princes Trust Team deliver the twelve week ‘Teams’ personal
development programme for young people 16 to 25 years of age. As
a result of the current lockdown the Trust team developed and
implemented a four week virtual programme.

Page 106

Functional Skills Training
Inspire have a dedicated functional skill trainer normally based at the
Hub. During lockdown a remote offer was designed to allow young
people to gain the qualifications to access apprenticeships, work or
further education.
Risk of NEET Project
Local secondary schools identify their year 11 students who are at risk
of NEET when leaving school and they are offered careers/education
advice and guidance by Inspire careers advisers with follow up
sessions during the summer break to reduce the possibility of them
becoming year 12 NEET.

Phase 1 – Autumn Term
 We deliver assemblies to raise awareness of apprenticeships and
the opportunity for young people to complete higher degree
apprenticeships as another way of getting a degree
Phase 2 – Spring Term


40

We have created 12 bespoke masterclasses to raise awareness of
higher education and to dispel some of the common myths

surrounding University that have a negative impact on young
people, these can be delivered face to face or virtually

Figure 13 Thurrock Skills Charter 2021

Phase 3 – Mentoring programme


We offer every school in Thurrock five places each on our
mentoring programme for students living in an NCOP post code,
who are at risk of NEET. Over the summer these young people
have one to one support to ensure they do not become NEET

ASK

Page 107

Inspire Thurrock Careers deliver Apprenticeship Skills & Knowledge
(ASK) sessions to secondary schools in Thurrock providing
information, advice and guidance on apprenticeships to students,
teachers, and parents normally via group work and presentations in
assemblies but due to the current lockdown they are being delivered
digitally.

The Education & Skills Charter
Adult Skills
The Thurrock Opportunities portal is being used as a first port of call
for employment and training opportunities in Thurrock, including the
post 16 SEND Local Offer
https://www.tacc.ac.uk/thurrockadultskills/
Kick-start – Thurrock Council – 30 placements
Apprenticeship contributions
Apprenticeship levy transfer
Core support
Family Learning - https://www.tacc.ac.uk/getstarted/family-learning/

The Thurrock Skills Charter is a new initiative that is being led by the
11-19 years strategy group. It aims to ensure an agreed minimum
education and skills offer is provided for all over 16s living in Thurrock.

41

he remained until January 2020 when he moved to independent living
at Clarence Road hostel. There were concerns around his lack of
independent living skills. Richard was evicted in February 2020 as a
result of consistently breaching his licence agreement by allowing his
girlfriend to live with him at the hostel. Since then Richard has been
living with his mother.

Community Learning – Digital Exclusion and Digital Skills
development https://www.tacc.ac.uk/thurrockdigitalskills/
Learning for Wellbeing - https://www.tacc.ac.uk/getstarted/wellbeing/
Vocational qualifications https://www.tacc.ac.uk/getstarted/qualifications-and-skills-for-work/
English and maths - https://www.tacc.ac.uk/getstarted/english-maths/
ESOL - https://www.tacc.ac.uk/getstarted/esol-2/

Interventions

Details pertaining to the post 16 SEND education offer can be found
here
http://www.askthurrock.org.uk/kb5/thurrock/fis/family.page?familycha
nnel=2676p
https://www.thurrockopportunities.co.uk/




Page 108

Service Case Study



Background
Richard is 19. He has a diagnosis of ADHD but chooses not to take
medication. Richard was Looked After from 2013 to 2019, having
previously been on a Child Protection Plan. Richard’s family were
known to social care from 2005 because of concerns around the
adequacy of his mother’s parenting, failure to prioritise her children’s
needs, and physical abuse. Richard and his younger siblings were
placed with their maternal grandfather and his partner under a
connected persons’ agreement. After Richard left school in 2018 he
began to push boundaries at home. In June 2019 there was a physical
altercation between Richard and his grandfather, who ended the
placement saying Richard’s aggression posed a risk to his carers and
siblings. Richard moved to a therapeutic foster care placement where

Richard was NEET for almost a year from leaving school in 2018
until he moved to a therapeutic foster care placement in 2019
Richard is currently studying for his Functional Skills with the
Inspire Functional Skills Tutor. At the same time Richard is
completing his DofE Bronze with Inspire Personal Advisers
Richard has applied for an I-learn Forklift training course at South
Essex College and will be subsequently applying for a place at
Amazon with Barnados

Outcomes

42



Richard’s mother is now 37 and seems able to meet his needs as
a young adult. They have been able to establish a supportive
relationship. She frequently speaks with the NEETs team about
his progress. Richard is rebuilding his relationship with his
grandfather and they have undertaken some DIY and landscaping
projects together



Richard has shared that he is happy living with his mum for the
time being, acknowledges that he doesn’t yet have all the skills

needed to live independently and has decided to prioritise settling
into employment

Service Strengths



Richard has an interview at the Co-Op distribution warehouse in
West Thurrock. He is optimistic about getting this job and
confident about using the skills and understanding he developed
through the “Next Steps” course at his interview and to help him
stay in employment



Richard still wants to get his CSCS Card and is hoping to do a
Forklift course, to improve his employability in the future

Schools in Thurrock have worked hard to support families to overcome
challenges and will continue to do so over the coming months. Over
the last 12 months, tutoring has been in place for students requiring
extra support, laptops have been made available, and a Government
awarded health and food fund has been made available to Thurrock.
This fund is set to support the nutritional requirements of children on
free schools meals throughout the academic year.

Leading through adversity

The Wellbeing Helpline
Reflection

Page 109



Parents’ experiences of the pandemic have a direct impact on their
children. Whether parents and families are resilient and managing; in
isolation; or in insecure tenancies that affect their wellbeing; these all
influence their children. It is therefore important that parents and care
givers are supported, financially and socially, with services and
employment so that they can support their children and thereby build
resilience. Locally, the Schools Wellbeing Service and Educational
Psychology have been providing a Wellbeing helpline for parents and
school staff. This service has been operational since July 2020.

This case study illustrates the value of collaborative working
between Thurrock Council employees and outside organisations,
and that it can often take time to achieve positive outcomes when
outside factors impact on the young person’s willingness and
ability to engage. Richard states that he finds lockdown boring.
However, it may be that restrictions have given him opportunities
to work on his relationship with his mother and grandfather, and to
engage in support from Inspire and his Aftercare worker. The
factors that led to him being Looked After have had a profound
impact on Richard as a young person. Richard has grown in
insight and maturity during the period he has been supported by
Inspire

Identifying opportunities in difficult circumstances
The pandemic has afforded a number of opportunities. The use of
digital technology has escalated and given rise to innovative thinking.
Building on the success of the NEETs performance, partners now wish
to develop an integrated hybrid Youth and Adult Education Offer
subject to corporate partner agreement. This proposal will also cater

43

to more vulnerable NEETs such as young offenders, carers, pregnant
teenagers, and teenage parents.

Education Health &
Care Plans
A high level of activity
has been undertaken by
the local authority to
ensure that children and
young people have
continued access to
support in relation to the
educational health and
care needs identified
within their Education Health and Care Plans. There have clearly
been impacts on learning and development as a consequence of the
arrangements that have been in pace to counter the impact of the
Covid-19 pandemic; however the support and engagement of pupils
has been carefully monitored and the longer term impact on their
learning and development will continue to be a priority for all services
across Thurrock.

The integrated offer will also support local economic proposals as it
will provide an ideal opportunity to join up and develop the skills,
employability, and enterprise offer for adults and young people.
Thurrock Adult Community College delivers education for adults and
young people through ESFA contracts including a flexible grant to
support vulnerable adults through community learning. Bringing this
work under the banner of Inspire Your Future will provide a seamless
route for young people and adults to access high quality information,
advice, guidance, employability skills, and enterprise opportunities
within Thurrock’s wider strategic framework.

Page 110

The vast majority of NEET prevention intervention projects in Thurrock
have operated on a virtual basis since the beginning of lockdown. This
has enabled services to continue, despite the discontinuation of faceto-face services.
Collaboration

Service Challenges

There is appetite locally to develop a school community “think tank”
exploring solutions to disadvantage in education in line with the
Collaborating Communities framework. This presents an opportunity
to address determinants of the disadvantage gap relating to primary
and secondary education. Local education CEOs have pledged
support to develop this concept.

Child Population Increase
Planning and action to address increases in school numbers has
begun with the opening of two new secondary schools, Orsett Heath
and Thomas Park, with strategic action detailed within the Thurrock
Pupil Place Plan https://www.thurrock.gov.uk/pupil-placeplanning/overview

44

The COVID 19 Pandemic

Skills

The COVID-19 pandemic led to the closure of education settings in
spring and summer 2020. This led to large losses in schooling time,
and disruption to the delivery of in-kind benefits, such as free school
meals. Local Authority School transportation was also challenged and
required careful planning in line with government guidance. Private,
voluntary, and independent providers of early years’ education and
childcare also faced large financial challenges due to a loss of private
income.

Skills development is of paramount importance to Thurrock’s
economic future. Without a significantly improved skills base, existing
businesses will struggle to generate new employment and the area
will fail to attract new investment. Economic growth is more likely to
be achievable, and to have long lasting benefits, if local communities
are fully equipped to take advantage of new opportunities.
Consideration must be given to ensuring the most disadvantaged
communities gain access to education, skills, and opportunities.

Deepened Disadvantage

Education

As a result of lockdowns and self-isolation, many families have had to
facilitate home learning. Poorer families have found this more difficult
to successfully implement than more affluent families. Research
conducted by the Sutton Trust reports that at the start of April 2020,
34% of pupils had taken part in live or recorded online lessons, and
that pupils from middle class homes were much more likely to have
taken part (30% doing so at least once a day compared to 16% of
working class pupils). At private schools, 51% of primary and 57% of
secondary students accessed online lessons every day, more than
twice as likely as their counterparts in state schools. 50% of teachers
in private schools reported they were receiving more than three
quarters of work back, compared with 27% in the most advantaged
state schools, and just 8% in the least advantaged state schools (9).

Page 111

Young people in Thurrock are concerned about their education and
career prospects given the impact of the pandemic in 2020. Young
people want support with their school work, careers, and achieving
their life goals. As part of the year of reset and recovery the local
authority will need to work with its partners to plan timely responses to
these concerns.
Service Models
Although of high quality, services such as TCHC only work with
NEETS and careers advice is only available to a small number of
children that each school who purchases the service selects. As such,
the reach of these services into the general population of Thurrock
young people is limited.

45

SP1: Our Ambitions

Ambition 1
Short term

Ambition 2
Short/Medium

• Support young people to gain qualifications, skills and
experience to progress into sustained employment

• Improved educational attainment for all disadvantaged children
and young people

Page 112
Ambition 3
Medium/Long
term

• All children are able to access education

Further information
SP1 Lead: Assistant Director
for Education & Skills
Operational Groups: 0-11 and
11-19 working groups.
SP1 Supporting Group Removing barriers to education
in disadvantaged children
working group
Opportunities identified: Low
numbers of NEETS,
transformation
Challenges: selective
services, disadvantage gap,
SEND, Home schooled
children
Definitions:
Short term <18months
Medium term 18- 36 months.
Long term = 36 – 60 months.

SP1: The Attainment Roadmap
Process/Action

Rationale

1. Support young
people to gain
qualifications,
skills, and
experience to
progress into
sustained
employment

1a Develop and implement a post pandemic
training and education plan as part of “Reset
and Recovery”

There is a risk that pupils may have experienced “learning loss” due to
disruptions in learning over the course of the Pandemic. It is also clear from
young people themselves that they are concerned about their academic
future and require support to progress to expected levels. A borough wide
education and training plan therefore needs to be developed as part of
reset and recovery. It is clear that children and young people have been
affected differently by the Pandemic. Starting with SEND, bespoke training
and education plans need to be developed and monitored. Children with
SEND should be prioritised, as having SEND has the greatest impact on
GCSE attainment, there are also large numbers of EHCPs. This action will
also support the Written Statement of Action.

2. Improve
educational
attainment for all
disadvantaged
children and young
people

2a
Conduct a literature review to
understand what works in reducing the
educational attainment gap in schools
2b Establish a plan of action with schools to
eliminate the disadvantage gap experienced
by young people at primary and secondary
level.
2c Equip our educators with the tools and
skills needed to eradicate cultural prejudice
and bias in our schools
2d Establish mentoring services for young
people prioritising those at risk for
offending/offenders and children with SEND
* Establish a systematic mechanism to
provide assurance that children and young
people who are absent from education are
monitored and followed up. School
attendance below 75% should be flagged at
a locally established Locality Based MultiDisciplinary panel (cross reference APHR

Page 113

Ambition

1b Continue to monitor progress of bespoke
training and education plans for vulnerable
children.

Young people from deprived backgrounds living in Thurrock are at risk of
not achieving their academic potential. There is an academic attainment
gap between the wealthy and less wealthy.
The education policy institute identifies the characteristics of well
performing children at each stage of the life course. Applying these
considerations to Thurrock would suggest the need to strengthen
opportunities to address the gap at the secondary stages, however given
that the majority of schools in Thurrock are academies and part of cluster
groups it may be more helpful to look at the disadvantage gap across
primary and secondary year groups.

47

2020 monitored within Prevention strand of
Violence and Vulnerability Plan)

3. All children are
able to access
education

3a.Develop a model for an integrated Youth
& Adults Education & Skills Offer
3b.Develop and implement a Teenage
Pregnancy Strategic Plan

Page 114

Building on the success of the NEETS performance, partners now wish to
develop an integrated hybrid (virtual and face-to-face) Youth and Adult
Education Offer subject to corporate partner agreement. This proposal will
also cater for more vulnerable NEETS such as young offenders, carers,
pregnant teenagers, and teenage parents. The integrated offer will also
support local economic proposals as it will provide an ideal opportunity to
join up and develop the skills, employability and enterprise offer for adults
and young people
Being a teen parent or being pregnant are triggers for becoming NEET.
Teen conceptions in Thurrock are higher than the East of England and
England. A strategic plan of action is therefore recommended to address
teenage pregnancies.

48

What are we going to do?
So What?
1. We plan to develop an integrated education and skills youth and adult offer which builds on the
opportunities presented by lockdown and potential skills gap caused by lockdown.
2. We have reignited action to take robust steps to address the disadvantage gap in educational
attainment in local children
Now what?
We have consulted with local teachers and young people and are confident our ambitions are aligned with
what stakeholders see as important. We have identified operational groups to initiate and implement our
plans and a CEO Academy champion. We have also identified indicators to measure impact.

Page 115

SP1: How will we know we are there?




% participants improved parenting skills compared to baseline
% participants improved confidence to support child’s education compared to baseline
% parents progressed towards a job/better job (better outcomes for children) compared to baseline






% reduction in educational attainment gap KS2
%reduction in educational attainment gap KS4
Reduction in NEETS from baseline
Reduction in SEND NEETs from baseline




% increase in apprenticeships, kick-start and internships
Case studies
49

3.3 Strategic Priority 2 (SP2): Children are
able to access the services they need and
be healthy, focussing on prevention and
early intervention

aiming to improve outcomes for children and reduce inequalities. High
impact areas have been identified within the programme that are
linked to policy and driven by evidence to support delivery of the
Healthy Child Programme in an integrated way across the 0-19 age
range. These areas are where a significant impact on the health and
wellbeing of children and young people can be realised. (11)

SP2: Why is this strategic priority important?

High Impact Areas for maternity:

Page 116

What happens during pregnancy and the first few years of life
influences physical, cognitive, and emotional development in
childhood and may have an effect on health and wellbeing outcomes
in later life. Ensuring every child has the best start in life is one of
Public Health England’s 7 key priorities. Getting a good start in life and
throughout childhood includes building resilience and getting
maximum benefit from education as important markers for good health
and wellbeing throughout life.
Ensuring that every child has the Best Start in Life: “ready to learn at
two and ready for school at five” is a national priority for Public Health
England. Delivering this vision is reliant on a wide range of
stakeholders working together.
Lastly the importance of this priority can be seen through its inclusion
in the Thurrock Health and Wellbeing Strategy, additionally our high
level analysis of need in section 2.4 identifies a number of indicators
that are worse than our comparators with worsening trends that can
be aligned to this strategic priority.

•
•
•
•

Improving planning and preparation for pregnancy
Supporting good parental mental health
Supporting healthy weight before and between pregnancies
Reducing the incidence of harms caused by alcohol in
pregnancy
• Supporting parents to have a smoke-free pregnancy
• Reducing the inequality of outcomes for women from ethnic
minority communities and their babies
High Impact Areas for 0-5 years:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Breast feeding
Maternal Mental Health
Parenthood and early weeks
Healthy Weight
Minor Illnesses
Healthy 2 year olds and getting ready for school

SP2: What do we know?
The Healthy Child Programme (10) is an evidence based framework
for the delivery of public health services to families with children aged
0-19. It is a universal prevention and early intervention programme

High Impact areas for 5-19 years:
• Resilience and wellbeing
• Keeping safe

•
•
•
•

Healthy lifestyles
Maximising learning and achievement
Supporting complex and additional health needs
Transition to adulthood

The 0-5 element of the Healthy Child Programme is led by health
visiting services and the 5-19 element is led by school nursing
services, providing place-based services and working in partnership
with education and other providers. These professional teams provide
the vast majority of Healthy Child Programme services. The universal
reach of the Healthy Child Programme provides an invaluable
opportunity from early in a child’s life to identify families that are in
need of additional support and children who are at risk of poor
outcomes.

Page 117

The Healthy Child Programme supports a collaborative approach and
provides the framework to support integrated delivery within local
authorities and with partners using the high impact areas and the
mandated health reviews as a structure to achieve the following:


help parents develop and sustain a strong bond with
children



support parents in keeping children healthy and safe and
reaching their full potential



protect children from serious disease, through screening
and immunisation

51



reduce childhood obesity by promoting healthy eating and
physical activity



identify health and wellbeing issues early, so support and
early interventions can be provided in a timely manner



focus on the health needs of children and young people
ensuring they are school ready (SEND code of practice
2017)



make sure children are prepared for and supported in all
child care, early years and education settings and especially
are supported to be ‘ready for to learn at two and ready for
school by five’.

Figure 14 4-5-6 Approach

Page 118

Being ready for school (also known as ‘School Readiness’) follows an
assessment in the following areas with the aim to ensure that every
child will have reached a level of emotional development enabling
them to communicate needs and be independent in dressing and
toileting, understand and take turns through listening skills, also
allowing them to socialise and form friendships and relationships aside
of those with their parents. Having physically good health is also part
of the assessment including oral health and of a healthy weight for
their height range and have prevention from childhood illness and
diseases by up to date vaccine protection.

Page 119

The programme includes continued support through school age years
for every child to be supported to thrive, gain maximum benefit from
education, and drive high educational achievement. The programme
also identifies and helps children, young people, and families with
problems that might affect their chances later in life, including building
resilience to cope with the pressures of life.
Scope
SP2 will focus on prevention and early intervention services in relation
to children being able to be healthy. The chapter seeks to ensure that
the high impact areas selected from the 0-19 Healthy Child
Programme (12) (13) are being achieved through access to relevant
services and support. Not all of the high impact areas for maternity
and the HCP are covered in this chapter, with some included in other
areas of the strategy.
For the purposes of Strategic Priority 2 the following definitions will
apply:

Children
In this context children will be considered as aged 0-19 year olds and
0-25 year olds for SEND. Antenatal care and maternity services will
also be included to cover the health of pregnant women and their
unborn children from conception to birth.
Access
Access to healthcare means not only the ability of the child, young
person or pregnant woman to attend a service but also the availability
and capacity of the service itself e.g. an acceptable time between
referral and service delivery.
All patients, regardless of immigration status, have the right to access
free primary care, including registering with a GP, urgent care centres,
and walk-in centres. NHS 111 is also free to all.
The World Health Organisation (WHO) describes accessibility through
the lens of human rights. Health services must be within safe physical
reach for all sections of the population, especially vulnerable or
marginalized groups such as children, women, ethnic minorities,
people with disabilities etc.
Health
Health in this chapter is defined in the context of ‘Holistic Health’.
Holistic health is often defined as a form of perspective that looks at
the whole person: body, mind, social, spirit, and environment. It
involves multiple agencies and services and these can overlap. This
perspective goes beyond the singular view to support more than just
the body/physical needs.

Policy and Key Evidence Documents

drinks and for primary school children to eat more healthily and stay
active. The goal set out in Chapter 2 is to halve childhood obesity and
reduce the gap in obesity between children from the most and least
deprived areas by 2030. The 2019 green paper described above
commits to publishing a third chapter including action on infant feeding,
clear labelling, and ending the sale of energy drinks to children.

National Guidance
NHS Long Term Plan 2019
Chapter 3 of the NHS Long Term Plan 2019 includes a section
focused on ‘a strong start in life for children and young people’. It sets
out a variety of commitments to improving various aspects of care for
children and young people; including maternity and neonatal services,
learning disability and autism, children and young people with cancer,
long term conditions, and mental health services. The Long Term Plan
recognises that the needs of children are diverse, complex, and need
a higher profile at a national level. Some priorities included improving
uptake of immunisations, improving quality of care for children with
long-term conditions such as asthma, epilepsy and diabetes, mental
health service provision, tackling obesity, and changing the model of
transitioning care from children to adult services.
Advancing our health: prevention in the 2020s – consultation
document.
In this 2019 green paper the government commits to building upon
action within the Childhood Obesity Plan that aims to tackle the
causes of obesity. It also highlights that prevention is everyone’s
responsibility including individuals, the NHS, employers, schools, and
local authorities.

The Healthy Child Programme: pregnancy and first 5 years of life,
and from 5 to 19 years old

Page 120

The Healthy Child Programme, published in 2009, plays a key role in
improving the health and wellbeing of children and supporting children
and families. It focuses on preventative services, providing a
programme of screening, immunisation, health and development
reviews, and advice around health, wellbeing and, parenting. The
roles and responsibilities of commissioners, health, education, local
authorities, and other partners are outlined to encourage development
of high-quality services.
Best start in life and beyond: Improving public health outcomes
for children, young people and families 2018
This guidance document was produced to support the commissioning
of the Health Child Programme 0-19 with a focus on the contribution
of health visiting and school nursing services to the leadership and
delivery of the programme.

Childhood obesity strategy
Chapter 1 of the government’s Childhood Obesity plan (2017) includes
aims to encourage industry to cut the amount of sugar in food and

54



The Children and Families Act 2014 brought in new changes to the
law to provide greater protection for vulnerable children and support
for their families. The act encouraged changes to the adoption system
which meant that more children who needed homes were placed
faster. Reforms include giving children a choice to stay with their foster
families until their 21st birthday, making sure children’s residential
homes are safe and secure, improving the quality of care vulnerable
children receive, and much more.




SEND code of practice: 0 to 25 years

Planned transitions and closer collaboration with adult services
needs to happen earlier for disabled young people and care
leavers
Timeliness of initial health assessments when all children come
into care
Alignment and effectiveness of systems that support children
at risk of criminal and sexual exploitation and children missing
from home and care, to ensure that children can tell their stories

2019/20 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health for
Thurrock: Youth Violence and Vulnerability

The SEND Code of Practice 2015 is the statutory guidance for SEND
used by local authorities, schools, and other providers. It is
underpinned by the legislation set out in the Children and Families Act
2014. The code of practice places emphasis on the collaboration of
services between education, health, and social care to provide holistic
support for children with SEND.

Page 121

This report proposed a new high level single integrated model for
treatment of young people involved in violence. The model aims to
treat children and young people in the wider context of issues within
their family and environment.
SEND Ofsted report 2019 and Thurrock’s SEND Priorities

Local Policies and Key Evidence
In March 2019 Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission (CQC)
conducted a joint inspection on the local area of Thurrock to analyse
the implementing of the disability and special educational needs
reforms set out in the Children and Families Act 2014. The report
highlighted that there were significant areas of weakness in Thurrock’s
practice and determined that the local authority was responsible for
submitting a written statement of action to Ofsted.

Children’s Social Care Ofsted Report 2019
An inspection of children’s social care services in Thurrock in 2019
reported that services for vulnerable children and their families in
Thurrock are now ‘good’. The previous inspection in 2016 had judged
services to ‘require improvement’ and since then an experienced
senior leadership team has driven a sustained pace of improvement
in most areas. Some areas that the 2019 report found needed
improvement included:

Thurrock Council and Thurrock’s Clinical Commissioning Group
(CCG) produced a written statement of action to address the areas of

55

concern identified in the SEND Ofsted inspection. A number of
strategic priorities were set out:






Page 122



Breastfeeding HNA 2020– Key findings and recommendations
A Health Needs Assessment in relation to breastfeeding was
developed by the Public Health Team in 2019-20. A series of strategic
systems recommendations are made within the needs assessment
report based on this findings to be delivered through a strategy and
delivery plan. The themes include:

Ensure that children and families are at the heart of an effective
SEND system
Ensure every child and young person is making good progress
and attends a good place to learn
Ensure children and families are well supported
Ensure an effective and responsive approach to assessing and
meeting the needs of children and their families
Ensure the identification and early support for children with
SEND
Ensure young people are well prepared for adulthood








In 2017 Thurrock Council published the Whole Systems Obesity
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) which led to a strategy
for addressing the issue of obesity locally.

Childhood Immunisation Recovery Plan 2019-2022

Maternal Obesity HNA 2021 – Key findings & Recommendations:
In 2019 over a fifth of pregnant women (23.7%) were obese (BMI ≥ 30
kg/m2) at the time of the antenatal booking appointment in Thurrock.

Across Thurrock there is a low uptake of childhood immunisations and
in response to this a Childhood Immunisation Recovery Plan was
developed which aims to improve local trends and uptake. Progress
reports were being produced regularly to monitor and evaluate the
implementation of this plan. Monitoring was suspended during 2020
due to the Pandemic

Recommendations include:




System wide change
Digital support offer
Messaging/Normalising breastfeeding
Service and support offer
Involving dads and partners routinely
Specialist support - C section, tongue tie and maternal mental
health

Implementing NICE guidelines for obesity in pregnancy locally,
including providing personalised advice on eating healthily and
being physically active
Working collaboratively at a system level to ensure there is an
efficient offer for weight management in pregnancy

56

Childhood Immunisations Social Marketing Report 2019 findings

SP2: Understanding Local Need
Obesity

Against a WHO target of 95% coverage in childhood immunisations,
Thurrock’s average uptake ranges by vaccination from 84.2% to
96.1% with an average of 89.9%. At individual surgery level, uptake of
boosters can be as low as 10%.
The hierarchy of concerns in Thurrock are:
 Vaccine safety
 Child unwell at the time
 Unconvinced the vaccine was effective
 Felt risks outweighed benefits
 Giving so many vaccines in one go

Children’s JSNA product 2017 update

Page 123

The obesity rate in Thurrock at reception in 2019/20 was 11.7%,
similar to the national average. However, it rises to 25.2%* in year 6
(age 10-11), which is significantly higher than both the regional and
national averages. The trend for both age groups over the last five
years of measuring has remained static, so rates have neither
improved nor gotten worse. There is variation between wards in
Thurrock with the more deprived wards correlating with higher obesity.
We know that if a child is obese at reception year in school, only 2 in
10 return to a healthy weight by year 6. † Preventing obesity is a
complex challenge requiring system wide change; increasing
breastfeeding initiation and duration could play an important part in
this.

A Joint Strategic Needs Assessment for Children and Young People
in Thurrock was published in 2017. The report was comprehensive
and covered being healthy, staying safe, enjoying and achieving,
making a positive contribution and achieving economic wellbeing.
Some of the final recommendations include reducing smoking in
pregnancy, particularly in more deprived areas, working with children’s
centres and schools to improve family diets, raising awareness of
importance of physical activity, oral health messages, raising the
profile of good mental health, focusing on early intervention, and many
more.

*
†

With less opportunity to exercise outside, home schooling due to
lockdown and related diet changes, Covid-19 has had the potential
to have a significant impact on child obesity. The measurement of
NCMP has been disrupted in 19/20 and 20/21 and so surveillance
via these means is likely to be disrupted for an undefined amount of
time. The impact on obesity may not be fully visible for a number of
years and this presents a significant challenge. The Whole Systems
Obesity (Goal A) work stream has a number of actions developed

NCMP, NHS digital
PHE, 2019

57

aiming to prevent and reduce already existing high levels of
childhood obesity within Thurrock.

as women go through multiple pregnancies their BMI gradually
increases and does not return to their pre-pregnancy weight (14).

Figure 15 shows the breakdown of measurement outcomes for Thurrock pupils measured
during the 2019/20 NCMP.

Infants of obese mothers are at increased risk of macrosomia,
congenital anomalies, prematurity, stillbirth, and neonatal death.
Additionally, intrauterine exposure to maternal obesity is associated
with an increased risk of developing obesity and metabolic disorders
in childhood (15) In 2020/21 a health needs assessment was
completed to explore maternal obesity in Thurrock. The prevalence in
Thurrock in 2018/19 was 23.7% which is similar to the prevalence
nationally (22.1%) and higher than the regional prevalence (21.4%)*.
Statistical neighbour data was unavailable for comparison at the time
of reporting.

Figure 15 Child overweight and obesity

Page 124

Immunisations
The childhood immunisation schedule gives a safe and effective way
to protect children and young people from a number of serious
diseases. In Thurrock the proportion of 2 year olds that have had the
required doses of the 6 in 1 vaccine was 93.6%.† This is statistically
similar to the national and regional averages. Statistical neighbour
data was unavailable for comparison at the time of reporting.

Maternal obesity

Another important vaccine is the MMR vaccine which requires 2 doses
to be effective. In Thurrock 86.7% of 5 year olds have had 2 doses of
the vaccination (2019/20). Second dose uptake is statistically
significantly worse than comparators and the trend is worsening
(please see section 2.4) The proportion necessary to achieve herd

Maternal obesity increases the risk of pregnancy-related
complications, such as gestational diabetes and pre-eclampsia,
compared to women with a healthy BMI. Women who are obese
during pregnancy are also at increased risk of needing a caesarean
section or instrumental delivery. Furthermore, studies have shown that
*
†

PHE. Public Health Profiles 2020
PHE 2019/20

58

immunity and reduce the MMR diseases spreading in the community
is 95%, therefore there is a risk of outbreak of these diseases in
Thurrock while coverage remains below 95%.

Breastfeeding can impact on future healthy weight. Promotion of
healthy diets and early intervention to support families can help to
reduce excess weight in children. Low breastfeeding rates in
Thurrock, coupled with the fact that families on low incomes are less
likely to breastfeed, has the potential to widen the gap in health
inequalities and life expectancy.

Delivery of immunisations is commissioned by the NHS and delivered
locally by the Immunisations and Screening Team for school age
children, immunisations for babies and children of preschool age are
delivered by GP practices. The Healthy Families Service works in
partnership, promoting vaccines at contact points and following up
with families of unvaccinated children.

Child Development
Good child development is essential for physical and mental health,
with education being important in long-term wellbeing and health,
ensuring children have the best start in life. The Healthy Child
Programme assesses children at key stages throughout childhood.
One of the early stages is at the age of 2 -2 ½ years where children’s
overall development is assessed based on the ‘expected level of
development’ in a number of domains including physical, emotional,
gross and fine motor skills, language development, and literacy. In
2019/20 86.6% of children at this age were achieving an overall good
level of development expected for their age. This was statistically
significantly better than the national average and similar to the region.
This trend continues at the end of reception where 73.7% of children
were achieving the expected ‘good’ level of development compared
with 71.8% nationally and 72.3% regionally; this is statistically
significantly better as well. The proportion of children in Thurrock
receiving free school meals who achieved the ‘good level of
development’ 2018/19 was lower at 67%.†

Breastfeeding

Page 125

In 2018/19 59.1% of babies in Thurrock had their first feed as
breastmilk, for England as a whole this was 67.4% and for the East of
England region, 70%. By the time babies reach 6-8 weeks only 48%
are still breastfed, * this is similar to regional and national average
rates.
The Health benefits of breastfeeding are well established in the
evidence base. Infants who are not breastfed may be unable to take
advantage of a number of health and wellbeing benefits, such as;
positive impact on attachment, a reduction in Sudden Infant Death
Syndrome (SIDs), reduction in childhood illnesses and disease, and
nutritional benefits.

*
†

PHE life course intelligence team
PHE Fingertips Child Health Profiles

59

The 2 ½ year check is an opportunity for additional/ special needs and
developmental delay to be recognised and further assessment
arranged as needed; this is one of the universal opportunities to
identify children’s needs. Prioritising integration of this check is an
important objective for the partnership and for the SEND board. Early
identification of needs is paramount in ensuring effective support for
children and their families.





Key Points:


Page 126




Children achieving their expected level of development,
sometimes called ‘school readiness’ when at the preschool and
reception age is used as a marker of development in young
children and tells us something about the outcomes from a
healthy pregnancy, infancy, and early childhood. It can also
indicate where more support is needed and if a child has
additional needs in order to achieve their potential and be
healthy
86.6% of children achieve a good level of development
expected for their age at the 2 ½ year check with health
visiting. Just under 74% of children are assessed to be ‘school
ready’ at the end of the reception year, significantly greater than
the England average and similar to the region for this indicator
of child development
Rates of breastfeeding in Thurrock are lower than ideal with
many mums choosing to breastfeed but less than half
continuing by the time their baby is 8 weeks old. Breastfeeding
provides the best possible nutritional start for infants, protecting



from infection and illness and offering important health benefits
to both the infant and the mother
Maternal obesity increases the risk of pregnancy-related
complications such as gestational diabetes and pre-eclampsia
compared to women with a healthy BMI. Just under 24% of
pregnant women have maternal obesity, similar to the national
but higher than the regional prevalence
Thurrock is an outlier for child obesity with a quarter of
reception age children and almost 40% of children in year 6
having a weight that is outside of the healthy range for their
height
Rates of immunisation in children and young people in
Thurrock are observed to be are lower
than necessary to achieve herd
immunity against a number of diseases
and illnesses with inequality existing
within this important protective element
to improve health within the population

Overall, child health in Thurrock has continues to improve, with many
indicators of health and development outcomes showing sustained
improvements in recent years. There has been a reduction in the
inequality that exists, notably in the ‘good level of development’
indicator for Reception pupils receiving free school meals (FSM)
improving at a faster rate than those who do not receive FSM. In
2012/13, the gap between these two groups achieving a ‘good level of
development’ at the end of Reception was 11.3%, that gap reduced to
6.7% in 2018/19. This strategic priority seeks to focus on continuing

60

to narrow the gap and improve health outcomes for all children and
young people.

partners to deliver a comprehensive offer. Families move through the
service delivery levels dependent on assessed need.
The universal service level includes:

SP2: The Current Provision
• Health Visiting
• School Nursing (School Health Programme including 5 – 15
and 16 – 19 years)
• National Child Measurement Programme

Universal Services
The Brighter Futures group of services comprises a range of
preventative, universal, and targeted children’s services in Thurrock.
These include Children’s Centres, the Prevention and Support
Services (PASS) previously known as Early Offer of Help (EOH), and
Troubled Families now termed Brighter Futures Early Help services,
alongside other partners delivering services for Children and Young
People as well as the 0-19 Healthy Child Programme provider: The
Brighter Futures Healthy Families Service.

Page 127

A mixture of professionals deliver services alongside health visitors
and schools nurses including health improvement practitioners,
nursery nurses, children’s nurses, and administrative support staff.
The service is offered to all families through a series of mandated
contact points, those with higher need may be offered more frequent
interaction with the service. Additional contact is available to any
family on request through the single point of access.

Thurrock Healthy Families Service
This service was commissioned through a tender process during 2016
and the contract awarded to North East London Foundation Trust
(NELFT) for a duration of three years with possibility for extension of
a further two years. The contract started on 1 September 2017.

Mandated Contact points:
Currently the Healthy Families service offers an antenatal contact from
28 weeks of pregnancy which is a universal offer, the purpose of which
is to offer support in preparation for parenthood, including
breastfeeding, linking families to the children’s centres, assessment of
health and wellbeing, and assessment of risk, as well as to identify
any additional needs or support that might be required in a universal
plus and universal partnership plus capacity. Parenting classes are not
currently universally offered. There are some parenting classes
offered in a targeted way through the Early Help Service provided in
Thurrock by Coram and also support is offered through parental

The service operates incorporating nationally mandated health
reviews focussing on the 6 high impact areas and the 4 levels of
service outlined in the 4-5-6 model in the previous section. Health
visitors have a crucial leadership, co-ordination, and delivery role
within the Healthy Child Programme. The model of service on page 62
shows the levels of the service from universal for all to more intensive
partnership plus services as needed. The service works with key

61

outreach workers but these are offered to families with children rather
than at the antenatal stage.

weight check as part of the National Childhood Measurement
Programme. Health Assessments continue in secondary school at 1213 years, at 16 years school leaver age, and finally at the review point
of transitioning into adulthood. The Brighter Futures Healthy Families
Service School Health Team deliver these services in Thurrock.
Transition planning early is key, involving Children and Young People
and supporting them with the changes in their lives. As well as Health
Reviews, often delivered through a survey approach to allow parents
to highlight any worries or concerns, the School Health Service have
drop ins and social media resources to engage with young people.

The antenatal contact is not currently able to be offered to all pregnant
women and relies upon the service being aware of the pregnancy. In
2019/20 there were 573 appointments for pregnant women with the
Healthy Families Service equating to just 24% as there were
approximately 2400 births. Resolving this issue of data flow between
the midwifery service and the health visiting service could increase
this percentage.
The service offers to all and delivers mandated contacts for the vast
majority of the families in clinics, in the family home, and children’s
centres. The Covid-19 pandemic has altered the split of where
appointments take place but performance has been largely consistent
with families taking up appointment offers at a similar rate, though
necessarily virtually in many cases. Identifying families who have not
had face-to-face contact with professionals is a priority for services.

Universal and Targeted Service Offer

Page 128

Figure 16 Healthy Families service model

Transition
Transition points are key throughout childhood, these are highlighted
within the High Impact Areas of the Healthy Child Programme and
addressed in part through the mandated contact points. Within the 05 age range ‘Healthy 2 year olds and getting ready for school’ is the
focus of the 2 ½ year review and the educational check delivered by
early years settings ensuring children are prepared for school.
Transition is also a focus in the 5-19 Healthy Child Programme with
review points and health assessments at 4-5 years and at 10-11 years
prior to starting secondary school and coinciding with the healthy

62

Universal Services - Early Years Performance

Table 8 Thurrock performance for ‘Best Start in Life’ statistics compared with IMD 2019
decile comparator local authorities

Public Health England produce comparator statistics for ‘Best Start in
Life’. The partnership in Thurrock performs very strongly as a
comparator against similar local authorities (IMD 2019 decile
comparator group) in almost every area with exception of childhood
obesity where Thurrock is a significant outlier with higher than average
and comparator rates.

Page 129

Given the greater levels of deprivation in Thurrock compared to the
England average, and associated greater health and education need
compared to the England average, working to improve these
outcomes is an important measure to address inter-generational
health inequalities and improve the life chances of our children and
young people.
Despite the strong performance data in the following table, there is
room for improvement. There are very few integrated checks that
occur between the Health Visiting Team and the Nursery Education
Team for those children who are in early education at 2 ½ years. This
is a crucial opportunity to be able to offer services such as speech and
language therapy to children who may be showing signs of language
delay. Ensuring that children receive support with any motor skills that
may be delayed and also ensuring social and emotional support can
be provided if there are problems identified. Integrating this review
universally will allow a more comprehensive review to take place and
prevents repetition for the family.

Early years indicators

Thurrock

Rank
compared
with
similar
local
authorities

Best start in life summary rank
(2018/19)

1

1 out of
13

Proportion of New birth visits
completed within 14 days 2018/19

97.2%

1 out of
15

Breastfeeding prevalence at 6-8 weeks
after birth 2018/19

48%

4 out of 7

Proportion of children aged 2-2½yrs
receiving ASQ-3 as part of the Healthy
Child Programme or integrated review
(2018/19)

98.8%

3 out of
13

School readiness: percentage of
children achieving a good level of
development at the end of Reception
(2018/19)

73.7%

4 out of
15

st

-

st

88.8%

th

46.2%

rd

90.3%

th

71.8%

Source: Public Health England: Best Start in Life Dashboard 2018/19

63

England

Universal Service- Additional Programmes

Targeted Services

Ask Teddi

Healthy Start

The Healthy Early Years programme
digital offer is in the final stages of
launch (March 2021). Co-produced
with families and professionals in
Thurrock, this service offer is an
innovative digital solution to impact on
healthy weight in the early years
through provision of an artificial
intelligence robo-support mechanism.
‘Ask Teddi’ will support parents with a
child 0-5 years in developing healthy
eating, weaning, and physical activity
habits as well as giving evidence
based support on breastfeeding and
giving the healthiest start. Evaluating
the impact this has on infants and their
caregiver is essential in determining
effectiveness. The evaluation is
planned to complete at the end of
December 2021.

In the UK, Healthy Start is a statutory scheme that provides a
nutritional safety net for low-income pregnant women and families with
young children on benefits and tax credits. As well as families on
benefits, all pregnant women under the age of 18 are eligible. The
scheme provides free vouchers every week to buy fresh, frozen, and
tinned fruit and vegetables, pulses, milk, and infant formula. Coupons
for free Healthy Start vitamins for pregnant women, breastfeeding
women, and children under the age of 4 are also provided.

Page 130

Through the Healthy Start website, the scheme provides local
authority level data on the uptake of the vouchers among eligible
beneficiaries. The East of England region consistently has the lowest
uptake compared to all other regions in England.
The uptake in Thurrock has decreased from 69% of the 2109 eligible
beneficiaries in May 2015 to 45% of the 2180 eligible beneficiaries in
November 2020. The uptake has steadily decreased in all regions of
the UK from an average of 73.4% in May 2015 to 50.9% in November
2020. The number of eligible beneficiaries has not significantly
changed (16).
NICE guidelines recommend that healthy diet, physical activity, and
lifestyle advice should be provided to all pregnant women but
particularly those with a BMI of 30 or more at the earliest opportunity.
This should include advice on how to use Healthy Start vouchers,
dispelling myths e.g. eating for 2 and how to exercise safely.

64

Parenting Programmes
Sexual Violence & Abuse (SVA)

A suite of accredited group parenting programmes are delivered to
parents of children with an open early help or social care case. These
range from 10-14 weeks in length and run weekly. The remit is to build
parental capacity and resilience, ensuring children and young people
grow up in supportive families and negate safeguarding concerns.
Programmes include:


Page 131







The service delivers support to two distinct groups with an open early
help or social care case:
•

Strengthening Families Strengthening Communities for
parents of children aged 3-18
Incredible Years for parents of children aged 0-12
Mellow Parenting for parents of children aged 0-5
Triple P for parents of children aged 0-16
STOP for parents of children aged 10-16
FLASH for parents of young people aged 11-16 who are selfharming

•

Parents (female and male) with children who have
experienced any form of sexual violence or abuse (SVA)
themselves
Parents (female and male) where their child has
experienced any form of sexual violence or abuse

The service takes a whole family approach by working with all
members who require support, regardless of who the victim is. It works
to recover parental relationships and capacity where these have been
damaged by the impact of the SVA. It also focusses on parents’
capability to safeguard children from the harm of SVA and to enable
parents to have the skills to speak with their children about staying
safe from harm and exploitation.

Between 10 and 15 programmes take place each year.
The programmes are commissioned for 170 parents – during 2019/20
the target was not reached with the places taken at 85% of capacity,
this was mainly due to non-engagement.

Domestic Abuse

Between 15 and 30% of referrals do not engage at all with the
provision however once a parent attends the first session, 89% of
parents go on to complete at least 10 of 13 sessions.

The service delivers two elements: an 8 week therapeutic and
practical support one-to-one response for parents with an open early
help or social care case covering the dynamics of abuse and violence;
building better understanding of this; the impact on children; safety
and support planning; emotional recovery and resilience; practical
support in respect to finances, legal matters, housing, training, and
employment.

65

Additionally, a universal drop-in service is available across various
locations in the borough as well as by phone. This is open to service
users who have experienced, or are currently experiencing, abuse and
violence. It offers brief support sessions primarily covering safety and
support planning; practical support is offered as per the above 8 week
programme.

Initial Health Assessments for LAC
 Thurrock CCG commissions all IHAs for all CLA in or out of the
Thurrock area
 Assessments of young people placed in Thurrock are completed by
NELFT
 Assessments for young people placed out of area are completed by
the health provider in that local area
 Presents an opportunity to influence outcomes and inequalities for
LAC. E.g. the rate of mental health disorders is far higher in looked
after children (45%) than the general population aged 5 to 15 years
(19%).
 Challenging to influence the completion of the IHA within statutory
timeframe for those children placed out of area.

Improvements to IHA data – Consistently observed; the implementation of
weekly multiagency Health and CLA IHA/RHA reviews
Review Health Assessments for LAC

Children Looked After

Page 132

Children Looked After (CLA) tend to have greater health needs
compared to their peers who have not been in care. The majority of
children become looked after due to abuse and neglect* with further
evidence suggesting that almost fifty-percent of children in care have
a diagnosable mental health disorder and two thirds have special
educational needs†. Health is a key asset for all children as it provides
the basis from which they can flourish and achieve their full potential
while transitioning into a successful adulthood.
All children and young people who are looked after have access to all
services in the same way as other children and young people, in
addition to this they have specific access to regular health
assessments:





 Local authority Public Health commissions review health
assessments as part of Brighter Futures Healthy Families, delivered
by NELFT.
 Assessments of young people placed in Thurrock are completed by
NELFT
 Assessments for young people placed out of area are completed by
the health provider in that local area

Initial Health Assessments (IHAs)
Review Health Assessments (RHA)
Priority assessment for EWMHS
GP Registrations

*

NSPCC 2018

†

DoH, DfE 2018

66

Children Looked After Profile (as at 28 February 2020)
At the end of February 2021 there were 294 looked after Children in
Thurrock, 17 were unaccompanied asylum seekers. This represents
0.658% of Thurrock Children. As of the end of February 2021:



Children are placed in Thurrock = 108 (36.7%)
Children placed outside of Thurrock = 186 (63.3%)

Figure 17 Ages of CLA

Page 133

Number of CLA

Ages of all CLA in Thurrock (Feb 2021)
100

80
60

85

92

5-11

12-15

40
20

51

66

0
0-4

16-17

Figure 18 Placements of CLA

Placements of CLA (Feb 2021)

18.7%

Thurrock

36.7%

19.0%
25.5%

Essex
Other
London

67

Impact of Covid-19 Safeguarding
Exacerbated vulnerabilities for CYP
With children out of school for long periods of time there is the
potential for children to go ‘under the radar’ children that may
have become vulnerable during lockdown and not be known to
any services.
Surge in CYP Mental Health vulnerabilities and increase post lock
down / Covid

Page 134

Impact of Covid safe practice
With virtual visits and assessments becoming more
common place during the pandemic there are concerns that
this may not always be effective at assessing changing risk
and need and placed a huge pressure on professionals in
establishing risk. The report notes that during the pandemic
a number of specialist services were limited or unavailable,
thus reducing the scope for, and impact of, coordinated
multi-agency support for children and families.

Parental and family stressors
A factor in most cases reviewed concerns were featured
across the rapid reviews during to Covid-19. Domestic
violence and mental health often with the lack of contact
with extended support networks losing the protective factor
of these relationships. Changes to family dynamics were
also noted where a new partner joined the household to
avoid lockdown contact restrictions.

The impact of Covid19 was looked at in a
recent Child
Safeguarding
Practice Review
Panel thematic
analysis of rapid
reviews relating to
child safeguarding
incidents during
March-September
2020 (9).
The practice briefing
sets out key findings
and
recommendations.
The paper concludes
that the pandemic
presents a situational
risk for vulnerable
children and their
families with the
potential to
exacerbate pre –
existing
safeguarding risks
and also bring about
new ones.
The paper notes that
factors operate in
combination to
escalate vulnerability
and risk.

Harm to babies under 12 months old
This was the most prevalent group notified in the review
with a high proportion of non-accidental injury and
unexpected sudden infant deaths. In these cases
reviewed, parental and family stressors were the most
significant factor in escalating risk. In some of the cases,
face-to-face visits had been replaced with telephone or
video contact. The review recommends that it is
important that families with newborns during lockdown
have at least one face-to-face visit from a midwife and
health visitor.

Increase in stressors
Increased pressure on families included destructed
routines, isolation, over crowing and financial pressures,
tensions in relationships and escalation of domestic
violence.

Adaptations for Covid Safe PracticeRapid Reviews highlighted examples of the effective use
of ‘virtual home visits’ by video link. Where these worked
well, practitioners were able to observe children and
adult-child interaction, assess the home environment,
and use focus questions to assess changing risk and
need. The review recommends practitioners would
benefit from the development of practice guidance and
best practice standards for virtual visits and this should
be addressed in reset and recovery within the partnership
as part of any future blended approach to contact with
children and families.

Socialisation
Babies born in 2020 are likely to have missed out on any social
interaction with children of the same age and are likely to need more
support in ensuring good social and emotional development. Early
childhood is an important time for brain development and socialisation
plays an important part in this. Good child development is important
for physical and emotional health into childhood and later adulthood.
There is opportunity to impact upon this through Children’s Centres
and groups for babies and toddlers following the national lockdown to
support development and social skills.

Page 135

There is potential for there to be some positive impacts of lockdown
for some families as well, such as improved family relationships,
increased time to spend with family, reduced anxiety and stress from
external influences, greater awareness of infection prevention and
control, and vaccinations. It is likely however that the national
lockdown and pandemic response will have the impact of widening
existing health inequalities between the most affluent and most
deprived in our communities.
Impact of Covid-19 on CYP services and activity
Since the start of the Covid-19 pandemic A&E attendances for
children and young people in Thurrock and nationally have been
reduced compared to the year before. Attendances started to increase
again in the summer when government restrictions were relaxed,
however they reduced again in line with the second wave and
introduction of further restrictions. In Thurrock A&E, attendance levels
did not exceed the levels of the year before at any point from the start
of the pandemic up to the point our local data is available.

These patterns mirror the trend seen nationally as well. There is
evidence to show that young people in particular have experienced
poor mental health during the pandemic. However, A&E visits have
still been much lower than the same time period in 2019 (17) (18). It
is possible that young people are seeking other routes for help or
support or, more worryingly, that they are not seeking help at all, which
could lead to more severe cases of mental illnesses in the future. It
will be important to monitor the situation closely in the coming months
and years to truly understand the impact.
Figure 19 A&E attendances 10-15

700

A&E attendances 10-15 year olds Thurrock 2020
compared to 2019

600
500
400
300
200
100
0

2019

2020

Figure 20 A&E attendances 0-4

primary care may be, or appear, less accessible than usual during the
pandemic.

A&E attendances 0-4 year olds Thurrock 2020 compared
to 2019

Figure 21 Primary diagnoses A&E

9,000

8,625

Top 15 primary diagnoses for A&E attendance: for age
groups between 0-19
(2018/19 to November 2020/21)

1,400
1,200
1,000
800
600
400
200
0

7,000
6,000

5,415

8,000

Page 136

4,000

A & E Attendances:
Looking further at the reasons for A&E attendance shows that there
have been changes in the reasons for attendance between 2018-19
and 2020-21. There has been a decrease in all categories, likely due
to the impact of Covid-19, and decreased confidence in attending the
acute care settings. The most frequent reasons for attending in
2020/21 continue to be ‘gastrointestinal’ and ‘respiratory’. A significant
coding issue is observed with the highest category being ‘unknown’.
The diagnosis ‘nothing abnormal detected’ suggests possible
inappropriate attendances- although this is hard to be certain about.

3,000
2,000
1,000

641
1,175
1,161
348
1,160
1,665
710
1,091
1,174
479
1,063
1,243
587
1,063
1,277
348
1,035
765
219
903
1,040
482
768
1,549
881
718
733
281
680
504
128
631
789
115
386
404
191
322
290
81

2020

1,890
1,864
2,949

5,000
2019

0

Continuing to provide information about the pathways for the
conditions that are frequently attended reasons such as ‘respiratory’
and ‘gastrointestinal’ in an informative way may allow families to
access provision in community based settings where this is
appropriate. This could have a positive impact on A&E attendances,
although it should be noted that other community services such as

2018/19 Total

70

2019/20 Total

2020/21 Total

•

Opportunities:
•

•
•

•

Page 137

•
•

•
•

There is opportunity for scrutiny and partnership working at
place level through the Health Protection Board with expansion
to include oversight of immunisations and infectious diseases
locally
Covid-19 may be an opportunity to maximise public confidence
in vaccination and boost uptake in partnership with Essex
Vaccination Committee
A childhood immunisations strategic plan has been developed
to address the low take up of vaccines locally, strengthening
and refreshing this plan is a matter of priority to facilitate an
increased uptake
A Health Needs Assessment in relation to breastfeeding has
been developed by the Public Health Team in 2019-20; a series
of strategic systems recommendations are made within the
needs assessment report to be delivered through a strategy
and delivery plan
The opportunity to work further as a system to impact maternal
obesity is discussed in detail in the health needs assessment
and makes up a key ambition in section 4
The Teddi app includes detailed information on the healthy start
scheme aiming to increase uptake. Targeted action from the
Healthy Families has been disrupted due to Covid-19 and is
something to revisit during reset and recovery of services
coming out of the pandemic
To harness and develop the Goal A delivery plan into further
measurable actions to prevent and reduce child obesity in
Thurrock
To work in partnership to offer integrated reviews at 2 ½ years
to assess viability and improve integrated working between
professionals, earlier intervention for any identified issues for
the best achievable outcome

•
•

•
•

There is opportunity for early intervention and support at an
earlier stage to families who may be at increased risk or
vulnerability. Partnership working and data flows between
maternity and health visiting has the potential to be improved
to increase the uptake and offer of the antenatal contact to
women; enabling support at an earlier stage and therefore
improving child health outcomes
Create a more integrated parenting provision offer with social
care teams to improve engagement rates
To improve whole-family approach working for parenting,
domestic abuse and sexual violence & abuse programmes
through improved outcomes for families participating in
programmes
Explore the value in some service users continuing to receive
support through virtual platforms for commissioned parenting
programmes
There are opportunities to bring together fragmented
commissioning arrangements across domestic abuse and
sexual violence & abuse services

Challenges:
•

71

Whilst it has been recognised by professionals within the
partnership as best practice to provide integrated reviews,
financial and practical challenges have prevented this
effectively being implemented to date. A pilot took place but
was not taken forward; with recommendations made to resolve
some of those challenges with a further pilot in place towards
the end of 2020/21 financial year to progress this. It is
acknowledged to be a key objective for the partnership and that
of the SEND strategic board

•

•

•

Page 138
•

•

Working in partnership to minimise the impact of the delivery of
the Covid-19 vaccination programme on other infectious
disease vaccination targets to prevent negative impacts
Delivering sufficient support for families to enable
breastfeeding is challenging and needs to be prioritised within
the service model as one of the high impact areas in the re
procurement of the Healthy Child Programme to ensure
families in Thurrock benefit from this and women that choose
to breastfeed are supported to continue for longer
The local service offer for obesity within the Healthy Families
Service includes delivery of the NCMP programme, the service
offer for healthy weight was remodelled during 2019 to have a
preventative rather than treatment focus at school level. This
part of the Healthy Families Service has been disrupted by the
Covid-19 pandemic and school closures making delivery
impractical. Focussing on how this offer can be adapted will be
a key part of service redesign moving into the procurement for
the next contract
Delivery of the NCMP in school year 2020/21 has been
significantly disrupted, the programme was directed to be
paused nationally during the pandemic resulting in a lack of
accurate surveillance for obesity and overweight in school age
children. The data quality for 2020/21 and 2021/22 will make it
difficult to enable comparison
The Covid-19 pandemic has proved to be an immensely
challenging period for the health and care system, services
have been innovative and creative as a result to ensure
services continue to be offered to families. Whilst virtual service

•

•

•

72

delivery can be a beneficial addition to the service offer there is
also the challenge of ensuring effective safeguarding for
professionals to be assured that children are adequately
safeguarded. Learning from recorded serious incidents and
safeguarding reviews has challenged the system to ensure
there is an effective and stringent process in place and that
face-to-face reviews occur to ensure children are adequately
protected from harm. Catching up with mandated reviews is a
challenge to prioritise as part of the reset and recovery process
and building virtual delivery into the routine universal offer in a
safe way
Engagement with some parents referred to parenting
programmes as part of targeted provision has been a challenge,
particularly where a case is closed to social care following
assessment as there is less of a mandate for attendance.
Working creatively to overcome this is a key challenge for the
system to enable the best outcomes for families
The Covid-19 pandemic has exacerbated issues for some
families, which are likely to be long lasting for many parents
already experiencing pressures. For victims of domestic abuse
and domestic sexual violence the shift to home working for
many individuals will likely lead to more demand for services,
yet some victims will be unable to easily reach support.
Delivering IHAs within statutory timeframes has been a national
challenge for a number of years. The 2019 Ofsted report
highlighted this as an area for improvement in Thurrock which
remains a challenge despite progress made

•

•

There have been concerns about IHAs for LAC during the
pandemic. A Southend, Essex and Thurrock (SET) protocol
was developed to address the concerns raised in the model of
delivery and approach during Covid-19. This includes a risk
assessment to decide whether a virtual or face-to-face IHA was
required. Ensuring adequate safeguarding for these most
vulnerable children remains a challenge
Influencing completion of health assessments for children
placed in care outside of Thurrock authority area

Page 139
73

SP2 Our Ambitions

Ambition
1
Short

Ambition 2
Medium /
Long

Page 140

Ambition 3
Short /
Medium

Ambition 4
Short /
Medium

• 1. All Children start school ready to learn

• 2. All Children achieve a healthy weight.

• 3. All Children are protected from illness and disease through the
childhood vaccination programme

• 4. All Children receive the care they need in the right place and at
the right time.

Further information:
SP2 Lead: Assistant
Director for Public
Health
Collaborative health
partners group
Opportunities:
Integration of services,
Pathway development
for maternal healthy
weight and childhood
obesity prevention,
digital services
development,
Challenges: Childhood
obesity, low uptake of
immunisations,
responding to the
impact of Covid -19,
LAC Health
assessments
Definitions:
Short term: next 18 months
Med term: 18-36 months
Long term: 36 – 60 months.

SP2: The Attainment Roadmap
Ambition

Process/Action

Rationale

1. All children start
school ready to
learn.

(i) Deliver integrated developmental
checks for 2 ½ year olds to support
early identification of SEND and
additional needs. Exploring digital
technology to enable this.

Good child development is essential for physical and mental health, with
education being important in long-term wellbeing and health, ensuring children
have the best start in life. The health assessment of children at the age of 2 -2
½ years assesses children’s overall development based on the ‘expected level
of development’ in a number of domains. Children receiving early education at
2 years also have an EYFS (Early Years Foundation Stage) progress check at
this age. Integrating the check allows the creation and sharing of a broad
picture of the child’s development.
The 2 ½ year check is an opportunity for additional/ special needs and
developmental delay to be recognised and further assessment arranged as
needed; this is one of the universal opportunities to identify children’s needs.
Prioritising integration of this check is an important objective for the
partnership and for the SEND board. Early identification of needs is paramount
in ensuring effective support for children and their families.
Babies born in 2020 are likely to have missed out on any social interaction
with children of the same age and are likely to need more support in ensuring
good social and emotional development. Early childhood is an important time
for brain development and socialisation plays an important part in this. Good
child development is important for physical and emotional health into
childhood and later adulthood.

(ii) Offer socialisation sessions for
families with babies born in 2020 at
Children’s centres in collaboration with
healthy families to identify family’s
needs and offer activities to support
early development.

Page 141
2. All children
achieve a healthy
weight

(i) Reducing childhood obesity through
a coordinated approach, harnessing
and articulating into action goal A of the
WSO strategy and delivery plan

Thurrock is an outlier for child obesity with a quarter of reception age children
and almost 40% of children in year 6 having a weight that is outside of the
healthy range for their height

(ii) Launch a digitally based wellbeing
resource for 0-5’s to prevent obesity
and improve wellbeing

Preventing obesity is a complex challenge requiring system wide change;
increasing breastfeeding initiation and duration could play an important part in

75

(iii) Evaluate and agree funding to
launch a digital Maternal Healthy
Weight Service to prevent maternal
obesity and impact on childhood
obesity.

this. Breastfeeding can impact on future healthy weight. Promotion of healthy
diets and early intervention to support families can help to reduce excess
weight in children. Low breastfeeding rates in Thurrock, coupled with the fact
that families on low incomes are less likely to breastfeed, has the potential to
widen the gap in health inequalities and life expectancy.

(iv) Pilot and test a digital maternal
healthy weight pathway – to build on
the already successful gestational
diabetes education sessions.

With less opportunity to exercise outside, home schooling due to lockdown
and related diet changes, Covid-19 has had the potential to have a significant
impact on child obesity. The impact on obesity may not be fully visible for a
number of years and this presents a significant challenge. The Whole Systems
Obesity (Goal A) work stream has a number of actions developed aiming to
prevent and reduce already existing high levels of childhood obesity within
Thurrock.
Looking at innovative digita
l ways to prevent excess weight gain and prevent childhood obesity is
important, beginning pre birth by aiming to impact on maternal obesity.

(v) Develop and implement a delivery
plan from the Breastfeeding HNA
product to implement the
recommendations

Page 142
3. All children are
protected from
illness and disease
through the
childhood
vaccination
programme

(vi) Review as a partnership promotion
and delivery of healthy start voucher
scheme to increase uptake in those
eligible
(i) Refresh and strengthen the local
childhood immunisations strategy and
action plan.
(ii) Deliver the childhood immunisations
delivery plan to increase uptake of key
immunisations (e.g. MMR) and prevent
outbreaks of communicable disease.

Rates of immunisation in children and young people in Thurrock are
observed to be are lower than necessary to achieve herd immunity against a
number of diseases and illnesses with inequality existing within this important
protective element to improve health within the population.
Delivery of immunisations is commissioned by the NHS and delivered locally
by the Immunisations and Screening Team for school age children (EPUT),
immunisations for babies and children of preschool age are delivered by GP
practices. The Healthy Families Service works in partnership, promoting
vaccines at contact points and following up with families of unvaccinated
children. Coordinating actions and strategy between the different partners will
be important in increasing coverage of the childhood immunisations schedule.

76

4. All Children
receive the care
they need in the
right place, at the
right time.

(i) Further understand A&E usage in the
context of Covid to ensure families are
aware of how to access healthcare during
reset and recovery; looking for
opportunities to harness digital
technology and work in different ways

Page 143

(ii) Review all families with babies born in
2020/21 that have not seen professionals
face to face during the pandemic to
ensure families are supported and
children safeguarded.

Since the start of the Covid-19 pandemic A&E attendances for children and
young people in Thurrock and nationally have fluctuated in line with national
restrictions showing decreases and subsequent increases as restrictions are
lifted. It is possible that young people are seeking other routes for help or
support or, more worryingly, that they are not seeking help at all, which could
lead to more severe cases of physical and mental illnesses in the future. It will
be important to monitor the situation closely in the coming months and years
to truly understand the impact. Establishing how best to offer healthcare
services to support children and young people and looking at digital advances
could help with mitigating the impact of these changes in presentation at A&E
to best support children and young people.

(iii) Increase the proportion of mothers
that receive an antenatal contact in
pregnancy to earlier identify family needs;
exploring opportunities for children’s
centre integration as part of this process.

Safeguarding children is of paramount importance and particularly important to
ensure that all families have been supported during the pandemic and children
continue to be safeguarded where face to face contact with professionals has
been decreased during the pandemic. Developing guidance for professionals
to assist in virtual delivery methods will support this aim.

(iv) Health assessments for looked after
children – Continue to explore and pilot
proposals under consideration with the
partnership, to support efficient working
arrangements to achieve national targets
and ensure LAC receive health
assessments within target timescales.
(v) Out of area health assessmentscontinue to work in collaboration with
partner local authorities to develop
processes of assurance that Thurrock
children placed out of areas receive

Offering support early for families helps identify needs and prevents escalation
of need. Increasing the antenatal contact and removing barriers to information
sharing and timeliness of information sharing is a priority for improving early
identification and support offered to families.
Children Looked After (CLA) tend to have greater health needs compared to
their peers who have not been in care. The majority of children become looked
after due to abuse and neglect* with further evidence suggesting that almost
fifty-percent of children in care have a diagnosable mental health disorder and
two thirds have special educational needs†. Ensuring timely completion of
statutory health assessments presents an opportunity to influence outcomes and
inequalities for CLA. This is of particular challenge for children placed outside of

77

health assessments within statutory
timescales.
(vi) Explore in partnership the availability
of health support for young people
placed in semi-independent
accommodation, often unaccompanied
asylum seekers
(vii) Development of guidance to support
staff with virtual delivery methods whilst
ensuring all children and appropriately
safeguarded.

the borough where influence to complete assessments to statutory timescales is
less. Working collaboratively to address this will help to ensure health needs of all
CLA are addressed in a timely way.
Thurrock has a relatively large number of CLA that are unaccompanied asylum
seekers; ensuring that they are offered health support is important in reducing
inequality and ensuring equal access to service provision for this group preventing
escalation of need and contributing to positive outcomes for these children and
young people. With the knowledge that these young people are often places in
semi-independent accommodation partnership working will be essential to ensure
services work together in achieving this.

Page 144
78

So What?
These are the principles we will work to in delivering SP2:

Page 145

1. We will work as a partnership to lead, design, explore, and cocreate innovative public health solutions and initiatives for-and
with-children, young people, and pregnant women (pre-birth)
2. We will test out ideas, identify what works, and look to scale
those up to meet the wider children and young people’s
population needs whilst maximising available assets and
opportunities to integrate more fully as a system
3. We will work to ensure equity exists within service development
and delivery and that measuring the impact on reducing health
inequalities is central to services operationally and strategically
4. We will commission a sustainable cost effective 0-19 service to
deliver the Healthy Child Programme, responsive to local need
and integrated at place level to continue the progress made by
the existing Healthy Families Service
5. We will work collaboratively to develop guidance to ensure
children are appropriately safeguarded with the production of
guidance for virtual delivery methods
6. Look to facilitate transition points smoothly through
engagement with children and young people and working
collaboratively
7. We will continue to engage with children and young people
about their health and wellbeing; remaining ambitious and
optimistic for their future












professionals exploring using digital technology to overcome
some of the practical challenges
Explore further opportunities to offer services to families prebirth and to integrate health visiting and children’s centres in
their offer to pregnant women
Seek to work with all partners in addressing the challenge of
child obesity including coordination with physical activity
opportunities and with acute and paediatric colleagues to not
only focus on prevention but treatment and services for older
children with obesity as well as pregnant women, also
incorporating oral health within the service offer and advice
Relaunch the Healthy Start Voucher scheme in Thurrock taking
a coordinated approach to encourage families that are eligible
to take up this offer
Increase vaccination uptake of the childhood vaccination
programme by ensuring consistent messaging from
professionals and a coordinated approach beginning with a
refreshed strategic plan
Take a strategic and joined up approach to communications to
ensure Brighter Futures messages reach all parts of the system
and community
Further explore health system usage (A&E attendance in
particular) and engage with families to establish how we can
support them with receiving care in the right place at the right
time using all available assets
Work as a partnership, and with children and young people
looked after, to increase the health assessments delivered
within the right timeframe and in an accessible way

Specifically in delivering the ambitions we will:


Stakeholder Engagement
Work together to integrate checks for 2-3 year olds to maximise
benefits to families and share information between

An appreciative inquiry meeting took place in April 2021 and was well
attended by a wide range of Brighter Futures partners. The purpose

•

of the meeting was to identify local strengths and to consult on SP2
as a priority and its underpinning ambitions and actions.
Of the attendees at the workshop, 88% felt that the ambitions were
comprehensive or about right. Only 2 participants felt the ambitions
had important areas missing or were not ambitious enough. Feedback
received on this included the following areas participants felt should
be included in delivering this priority:
Integration of purpose not
process and integration of
organisations; including the
local authority and NHS

Page 146

Right
place

Language
development

Outcomes
indicators
and KPIs

Links with integrated
medical centres,
Community Assets
and opportunities.

Now what?
•
•
•

We will use the information generated from our appreciate
inquiries to support our “articulating plans into action phase”
This phase will take place in May – September 2021 including
further consultation with stakeholders
The Brighter Futures Board will provide overall strategic
governance and oversight of the process moving forward.

80

A newly established collaborative health partners group will
provide operational oversight of and review of SP2 plan

SP2 How Will We Know We Are There?
Healthy Families
 Increase in antenatal Health Visiting contacts, from an agreed baseline
 Increase in number of families registered with the Children’s Centres, from baseline
 The proportion of families claiming Healthy Start vouchers from those eligible increases compared to target.
 The proportion of women breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks increases compared to national target
 The proportion of integrated checks at 2-3 years increases. (Early education and Health Visiting) compared to target.

Page 147

Service delivery
 An audit of families not seen face to face during the pandemic for mandated health reviews is undertaken to assure the partnership that all children
are safeguarded.
 Guidance is developed collaboratively to allow professionals support in virtual delivery methods whilst ensuring children are safeguarded.
 Audit of A&E data to inform recommendations about service usage at the right time and place for families to enable meaningful measures and
outcomes be put in place.
 A maternal healthy weight service is piloted with acute colleagues to evaluate outcomes for pregnant women
 Socialisation groups for babies born during the pandemic allow families access to services and support child development outcomes
 Further integrating parenting provision to increase the proportion of families who complete parenting programmes of those invited.
 An academic evaluation reports that the digital ‘Ask Teddi’ 0-5 wellbeing programme is effective in supporting families with their child’s wellbeing
 Partnership exploration of the availability of health services for unaccompanied asylum seekers in semi-independent accommodation, an action
and delivery plan is developed to address the recommendations made and ensuring access for this cohort.
 Children and Young people are systematically engaged in service development and delivery.
Child Outcomes:
• Proportion of children that are at the expected level of development at 2-3 years increases
• There is a reduction in the gap between the most and least deprived groups that achieve school readiness by reception year whilst the overall
proportion does not decrease.
• Proportion of children in year R and year 6 that are a healthy weight increases
• The gap between the most and least deprived groups being obese at year 6 reduces.
• Proportion of CLA that receive statutory Health assessments in the recommended timescale increases (IHAs and RHAs)
• Increase the % of children who receive 3 doses of the 6/1 vaccine by the age of 2
• Increase the % of children who receive 2 doses of MMR by the age of 5
• Increase the % of CLA with up to date immunisations

disproportionality of ethnic minority and looked after children within
court ordered interventions.
The Youth Justice Board for England Wales (2021) (19) conducted a
review on the ethnic disproportionality in remand and sentencing in
the youth justice system across the country. They highlight a number
of findings demonstrating disproportionality:

3.4 SP3: All children live safely in their
communities – with a focus on Youth
Justice
SP3 Why is this strategic priority important?
The number of violent crimes committed by young people in Thurrock
have generally been increasing in recent years. While youth violence
accounts for about 1% of all crime, it can have a serious and longlasting negative impact on health and wellbeing of individuals and
communities.





Black, Asian, and Mixed ethnic groups were more likely to
receive harsher sentences compared to white children and
more likely to receive custodial remand
Children from Black and Mixed ethnicity backgrounds
received more restrictive remand outcomes



Thurrock council has a responsibility to ensure children in Thurrock
are provided the best possible care and support, including those who
have committed a crime.

Offences they are convicted with are more likely to involve
a knife, and their cases are more likely to be heard at Crown
Court rather than Magistrates Court



Practitioner assessed factors (such as measures of risk,
vulnerability, and wellbeing) appears to account for
disproportionality in these areas

Page 148

Interventions can prevent individuals from developing a propensity for
violence, reduce reoffending, and can improve educational outcomes,
employment prospects, and long-term health outcomes.

Youth Offending Services (YOS) were created by the 1998 Crime and
Disorder Act to prevent offending and re-offending by young people
between the ages of ten and seventeen years old. Interventions
include diversion programmes, reparation programmes, restorative
justice, and support for families.

Since 2019 public bodies, including the police, local authorities, the
NHS, education, and youth offending services have a duty to adopt a
Public Health Approach to tackling serious youth violence. A public
health approach involves:

Thurrock YOS performs well in reducing re-offending and preventing
children entering the criminal justice system in comparison to regional
and national figures. The challenges lie in the emergence of organised
criminal gangs, a significant increase in knife crime, and



82

Implementing a whole systems approach that includes multiple
stakeholders and datasets








addressing the underlying risk factors that increase likelihood that an
individual will become a victim or perpetrator of violence.

Viewing violence as a communicable disease that can be
treated through prevention, intervention, and recovery.
Using data and intelligence to monitor and understand the
problem
Identifying the risk and protective factors
Developing and testing prevention strategies and ensuring
widespread adoption of successful strategies through
coordinated multi-agency action
Implementing effective and promising interventions at-scale
while continuously monitoring their effects, impacts, and costeffectiveness

Figure 22 Public health approach to addressing violence

The work of a public health approach can be segmented into four
categories (see Figure 22):

Page 149

•Surveillance: Action to understand and monitor the problem
at a population level including the effectiveness of a whole
system approach.
•Primary Prevention: Action to ‘inoculate’ the wider community
against the risk of becoming either a victim or perpetrator of
serious violence.

Scope
Surveillance is about understanding and monitoring youth violence
and vulnerability at a population level. This work was carried out
extensively by the Annual Report of the Director of Public Health
2019/20 on Youth Violence and Vulnerability. Its findings highlight
areas of need and inform the strategic priorities of this strategy.

•Secondary Prevention: Intervention with those with existing
risk factors to mitigate risk
•Tertiary Prevention: ‘Treatment’ of perpetrators and victims of
violence to reduce further harm.

Primary Prevention is about the delivery of a comprehensive,
integrated, and high performing Early Years and Family/Parenting

These prevention programmes are designed to improve the health,
wellbeing, and safety of all individuals by understanding and

83



Support offer to promote family environments, healthy development,
and quality education in early life.
Secondary Prevention is about intervening early to reduce the harms
of exposure to violence and violence risk behaviours. The APHR and
subsequent monitoring by the youth offending services have identified
areas of need, particularly in addressing disproportionality in the
vulnerabilities for ethnic minority and looked after children. The APHR
has outlined a number of recommendations which we will explore in
this strategy.

Youth Offending Service Records indicate that ‘violence
against the person’ offences and weapons offences committed
by young people in Thurrock have risen sharply since 2013-14
to a peak in 2016-17 and fallen back only slightly since

Figure 23 Ethnicity Analyses, Victims and Suspects of Violent Crime and Weapons Offences,
Thurrock Young People, 2015/16 – 2018/19

Page 150

We will also explore sticky issues identified by the APHR that can be
addressed by tertiary prevention. This includes the increasing trend in
knife crimes and the disproportionality of ethnic minority children and
Looked After Children in court ordered interventions in Thurrock.
Additionally we will look at why YOS are less effective in diverting a
small cohort of ethnic minority children away from serious repeat
offending.

SP3: Understanding Local Need
Source: Thurrock Youth Offending Service 2014/15 to 2018/19

Youth Violence

Vulnerability within ethnic minority communities

Youth Violence is on the rise. The APHR 19/20 explored the trends
and vulnerability to Youth Violence in Thurrock. Here are the key
findings:



A comparison of the ethnicity of victims and suspects of violence with
injury reported in Thurrock between 2015/16 and 2018/19 shows that
in the cohort of suspects, black young people are over-represented
with approximately double the proportion of black suspects compared
to the general population (see figure 2).

The rates of recorded crimes of violence in Thurrock, Southend
and Essex have risen sharply since 2013
Reported crimes of violence with injury and weapons offences
where the victim was aged 10-24 in Thurrock rose from
2015/16, peaking in 2016/17 but have since dropped back
slightly

84





Thurrock has five wards with a predicted risk of 70% of at least one
ambulance call out for a knife/stab/gunshot wound in 2019/20. These
are East Tilbury, Aveley and Uplands, Chadwell St. Mary, Tilbury St.
Chads, and Stamford East and Corringham Town

Young people accessing YOS due to committing Common
Assault offences are more likely than the entire YOS
cohort of the general population of Thurrock to be of White
or Mixed ethnic groups
Conversely those accessing YOS because of Offensive
Weapons offences are disproportionally Asian and,
particularly, Black compared to both the entire YOS cohort
and general population of Thurrock aged 10-17

Gangs
Children and young people involved in gangs are exploited and
groomed to commit crimes. The frequency with which someone
commits serious and violent acts typically increases whilst they are
gang members compared with periods before and after gang
involvement (20).

Locality


Page 151





The majority of suspects lived in the district that the crime
was committed in. This suggests a low level of mobility of
suspects when committing violent incidents

The majority of children being exploited by organised criminal gangs
either self-exclude (truant) or have been officially excluded from
school (21) and are likely to be spending large amounts of time
unsupervised on the streets.

Deprivation was a poor predictor of violence whereas
previous history of violence at ward level is a very strong
predictor of the likelihood of future violence

Being exploited by organised criminal gangs encourages more active
participation in anti-social behaviour and criminal activity. Research
suggests that gang members tend to be engaged in a wide range of
criminal activities: drug dealing, robbery, assault, and rape. (22)

Grays Riverside is the ward in Thurrock with the highest
number of reported incidents of violence over the last two
years. It is ranked 14th highest out of 665 wards in
Greater Essex. Thurrock has eight wards with seven or
more reported incidents of violence with injury: Grays
Riverside, Stanford-le-Hope-West; West Thurrock and
South Stifford; Aveley and Uplands; Tilbury St. Chads;
Chadwell St. Mary; Tilbury Riverside and Thurrock Park;
and Ockendon.

Poor mental health makes young people more vulnerable to being
exploited by gangs (23) whilst gang membership can have an adverse
effect on mental wellbeing. (24) (25)

85

Figure 24 Changes in Ethnicity Breakdown of Gang Nominals, 2016/17 to 2018/19

Figure 25 Locations of Gang Nominals in Thurrock

Page 152

Source: Thurrock Council Gang Related Violence Group data 2016/17 to 2018/19

Black/Black British young people are significantly over represented in
the population of gang nominals in Thurrock when compared to the
general population of Thurrock young people aged 10-24 (see Figure
24). One possible explanation could include the migration of black
gang involved young people into the borough from London.
Overrepresentation of young black youth in Thurrock gangs also has
implications for how future prevention work may need to be focused.
Numbers of gang nominals under the age of 15 is minimal suggesting
that future prevention activity aimed dissuading young people from
joining gangs, needs to be targeted at the age group under 16 in
Purfleet, Chafford, Grays, and South Ockendon, which are the four
areas where the majority gang nominals now reside (see Figure 25).

Source: Thurrock Council Gang Related Violence Group data 2016/17 & 2018/19

County Lines
County Lines is a term used to describe gangs and organised criminal
networks who export drugs into one or more locations within the UK
using a dedicated mobile phone line. They function through the
grooming and exploitation of children and vulnerable adults.
Young people exploited through County Lines activity are both
perpetrators of serious crime and victims of exploitation. The national
referral mechanism support victims of modern day slavery trafficking
in the UK. There has been a rapid increase in the number of referrals
from children from Thurrock to the national referral mechanism (see

86

Figure 26). The increase indicates a likely local increase in victims of
child criminal exploitation through County Lines.

service gaps can be exploited by gangs to target vulnerable young
people.
Figure 27 Harm associated with county lines

Figure 26 Thurrock referrals (under 18) to the National Referral Mechanism

Page 153

Source: NRM Data

The National Crime Agency identified eight main areas of harm
caused to children and vulnerable adults exploited through County
Lines gangs (Figure 27).

Source: NCA, December 2018

Problem with current responses to county lines

When young people are arrested by police for drugs or possession
with the intent to supply they are often released back to their home
area with a drug debt. Additionally, they often are not receiving
adequate support from statutory services.

A multi-agency approach including the police, probation, youth
offending teams, education, adults’ and children’s social care, adults
and children’s safeguarding boards, the NHS, and public health is
required. Until that is in place the different approaches by service and

Children who are excluded from school are often targeted and
reintegration measures such as Pupil Referral Units, home schooling,

87

or reduced timetables can exacerbate their vulnerability and increase
their risk of being exploited.



Sometimes children are vulnerable because they are from families
who are struggling financially. Programmes designed to divert children
away from gangs don’t adequately include and support the family and
its needs.

SP3 What Do We Know?
Local products, inspections, reviews:

Key Points

Thurrock Council Children’s Service Ofsted report of 2019

Recent trends show that youth violence is on the rise locally. Analysis
of local violence and gang activity found a number of areas of
inequalities to address:

Page 154



Young people exploited through gangs and county lines activity
can be simultaneously victims and perpetrators of crime. There
are a range of factors that can exacerbate their vulnerability to
exploitation



Analysis of violent crime and weapons offences by different age
groups show that a high proportion of young offenders are
white, yet black young people are over-represented with
approximately double the proportion of black suspects
compared to the general population



Location is important. A locality ward with a previous history of
violence at ward level is a very strong predictor of the likelihood
of future violence. Gang nominals are shown to be focused
within Purfleet, Chafford, Grays, and South Ockendon

The Thurrock Council Children’s Service Ofsted report of 2019 rated
the services for vulnerable children and their families as ‘good’. It
found strong child-centred practice that was evident across all teams
and services, including skilled and committed social workers and other
frontline practitioners who listen to children and their parents, take
time to understand children’s experience, and act swiftly to prevent
harm and provide support early. It highlighted stable leadership and
strong aspirations to ‘get it right’ for vulnerable children as key factors
in their success.
There are of areas for improvements identified in the report aimed at
better supporting vulnerable children. These included:

Some Black/Black British young people also seem to be
vulnerable to gangs. They are significantly over represented in
the population of gang nominals in Thurrock when compared to
the general population of Thurrock young people aged 10-24

88



Better understanding and addressing the risks to children
who are at risk of being exploited or going missing



Alignment and effectiveness of systems that support
children at risk of criminal and sexual exploitation and
children missing from home and care, to ensure that
children can tell their stories



Planned transitions and closer collaboration with adult
services needs to happen earlier for disabled young
people and care leavers



Timeliness of initial health assessments when all children
come into care

 Availability of/exposure to drug use in the neighbourhood.
 Family Violence
 Substance Misuse
 Frequent Truancy/Low school commitment
 Being Expelled or excluded from school
 Running away and truancy
Predictive analysis of this data points to five sets of risk factors that
are highly predictive of future serious youth violence:

Evidence underpinning interventions



Risk factors (vulnerabilities) for and protective factors against violence
and gang involvement in young people



Xantura, commissioned by Thurrock Council, created and are
maintaining a linked dataset of different data held on young people
and their families. It provides the opportunity to understand the impact



Page 155



of vulnerabilities and risk factors that lead a young person to violence
and gang involvement in Thurrock at an individual and population
level.



For 15-18 year olds, the most common vulnerabilities present at the
time of committing violence against the person offences related to
school absence:





Being excluded or expelled from school
Frequent truancy
Low school commitment
Drugs: Availability of, exposure to drugs in
neighbourhood; and Substance Misuse.

Exclusion from education; including permanent or
temporary school exclusion and frequent truancy
Criminality; including previous criminal activity,
association with gang related peers, robbery, vehicle theft
Substance misuse; particularly exposure to drugs in the
neighbourhood
Family dysfunction; including poor parental supervision,
broken home, neglect, emotional abuse
Individual Behaviour or Cognitive issues including
troublesome conduct disorders

Strategic Actions
The APHR 2019 outlines 8 evidenced-based strategic actions for
preventing and reducing serious youth violence and gang membership
these are:

the

1. Promote family environments that support healthy development
2. Provide quality education early in life
3. Strengthen youths’ communication, empathy, problem solving,
conflict resolution and emotional intelligence skills

For 10-14 year olds, the most common vulnerability present at time of
committing violence against the person offences were:

89

4. Connect youths to adults and activity that role model positive
behaviour
5. Intervene early to reduce harms of exposure to violence and
violence risk behaviours
6. Address the wider determinants of violence and gangs
7. Prevent gang membership and crime caused by gangs
8. Enforce the law to disrupt and deter violent offenders and crime
connected with gangs.
A summary of the evidence base for these eight strategic actions is
shown in Figure 28. The actions can be:

Page 156






Universal (aimed at the entire population)
Selective (provided only to populations with additional need or
increased risk)
Targeted (aimed only at individuals with additional needs or
risk)
Specialist (programmes that seek to address existing violent or
other damaging behaviour in young people)

Actions 1-4 presented in Figure 28 are about primary prevention and
are addressed in universal services. We will explore actions 5-8, which
involve secondary and tertiary prevention of youth violence.

90

Figure 28 Strategic actions for preventing and reducing serious youth violence and gang membership

Page 157

SP3: The Current Position
Services offered for secondary prevention (strategic actions 4-5)
Figure 29 gives a summary of current provision against strategic actions:
4. Connect youth to adults and activity that role model positive behaviour
5. Address the wider determinants of serious youth violence
The green text outlines provision that mirrors evidence of best practice. The black text outlines new and innovative provision for which evidence
is not strong but is being evaluated for effectiveness.
Figure 29 Current Provision for strategic actions 4-5 in Thurrock

Page 158
92

Services offered for tertiary prevention (strategic actions 6-8)
Figure 30 gives a summary of current provision against strategic actions six, seven and eight:
6. Intervene early to reduce harms of exposure to violence and violence risk behaviour
7. Prevent gang membership and crime caused by gangs
8. Enforce the law to disrupt and deter violent offenders and crime connected with gangs
Activity supported by the published evidence base is shown in green.

Page 159
93

Figure 30 Current Provision for strategic actions 6-8 in Thurrock

Page 160
94

Service Activity
Between December 2019 and January 2021 Thurrock were working
with 76 children assessed as being at risk to exploitation. Of those 76
children, 42% were ethnic minorities (see Figure 31).
Figure 31 Children open to social care that are at risk of exploitation between Dec-2019Jan-2021 by ethnicity

8%

Children looked after accounted for 21% of statutory outcomes in
2019-20. There is no nationally published comparator for the period
but children looked after remain over represented, despite the
introduction of a national protocol to reduce the criminalisation of
children looked after (see Figure 32).
Figure 32 Disproportionality in statutory outcomes

5%

8%

58%

21%

Source: Thurrock Council, 2021

Page 161

White

Black

Asian

Source: Thurrock Council, 2021

The Youth Justice Board of England & Wales report of 2021 found a
national disproportionality of ethnic minority children in sentencing.
The Thurrock YOS works closely with Essex Police and partners to
ensure that relevant young people are diverted away from statutory
criminal justice outcomes and consequentially the criminal justice
system. However, like the national picture there is disproportionality in
who are being referred to the Youth Diversion Scheme and who are
receiving court-ordered interventions in Thurrock. 30% of children on
statutory outcomes were ethnic minority children. Two of the three
children currently in custody were young black men.

Impact of Covid-19 on Services
Thurrock’s Prevention and Support Service (PASS) supports CYP and
families with issues such as domestic abuse, sexual violence, troubled
families, crime prevention, and parental physical & mental health.
Their objective is to prevent issues escalating and requiring statutory
intervention. Figure 33 below details the number of children and young
people supported by PASS in statutory interventions or the diversion
programme. It shows a trend towards fewer children on statutory
interventions in recent years.
The COVID -19 Pandemic has led to delays in the courts and court
sentencing. As a result of this it is anticipated that 20/21 data will show
even fewer children supported by PASS for statutory and diversion

schemes. 2021/22 is likely to see an increase in activity once the court
systems are running again as usual.

has the potential to offer a more proactive and holistic response,
particularly to young people at risk of becoming victims or perpetrators
of violent crime and/or of gang involvement.

Figure 33 PASS activity 2015/16 to 2019-20

What can we do better in primary prevention?

Page 162

While the Early Years and Family/Parenting Support offer is both
evidence based and delivering some of the best outcomes for children
and families in the country, there is opportunity to provide better
targeted and tailored to populations with greater need.
There is inadequate skills based training that addresses cognitive and
behavioural risks including aggression, conduct disorder and lack of
empathy prevents future youth violence. There is also a need to
develop a more comprehensive classroom based skills offer on
improving behaviour, reducing aggression and strengthening
emotional intelligence in our young people.
The INSPIRE youth work targeted provision, although of high quality,
is not funded at a supply level. It could also be broadened to include
skills development on improving communication, problem solving,
strengthening emotional intelligence, conflict resolution, and impulse
control. It should also include timely 1:1 talking therapy to address
mental health problems.

Source: Thurrock Council, 2021

Challenges
What can we do better in surveillance?
Serious youth violence and gang membership have risen significantly
in Thurrock since 2013 but remains concentrated within specific wards.
A children’s linked data set operating through the Xantura system
integrates a range of different individual council service data but does
not yet include police or ambulance datasets and only has limited
health data within it. The system can provide predictive risk modelling
capabilities that could allow us to identify the most at risk children and
families and intervene earlier with tailored prevention packages. If
joined up with a wider range of relevant crime and health datasets it

What can we do better in secondary prevention?
There is a need for a larger focus on secondary prevention. The
threshold for at-risk children is too high and at times a child does not

96

YOS who are repeat offenders and for whom the current service is
less successful at achieving desistance from crime. This group is
characterised by violence, drug supply and weapons offences, and is
over-represented by black young men. The reasons why YOS are
less successful at diverting this cohort away from future serious
offending is unclear and a robust evaluation is needed to investigate
this.
There is a disproportionality in who are referred to YOS and who are
receiving court ordered interventions. The national Youth Justice
Board review found that practitioner assessed factors accounted for
some of the disproportionality at a national level. An equality impact
assessment is required to understand the cause of this
disproportionality at a local level.

Page 163

receive adequate support and intervention until they have been
arrested for a violent crime.
When a child does receive help, it is often lacking in a tailored,
coordinated multi-agency response. The support weighs heavily
towards criminal justice and discrete interventions that are
insufficiently coordinated and focused on individual cognitive or
behavioural factors. Other wider determinants that can increase a
child’s vulnerability to violence and gang membership, for example,
the family and neighbourhood environment.
Young people at high risk of or beginning their journey of violent
offending are likely to have experienced a range of adverse childhood
experiences and will likely have a number of vulnerabilities that need
addressing in parallel.
In line with findings by Ofsted, the operational coordination of
information and alignment of systems to monitor the needs and impact
of work with vulnerable adolescents and children needs to be
strengthened. This should include wider familial support such as
employment, training, education, homelessness advice, drug and
alcohol addiction and mental health treatment services.
A Multi-Agency Child Exploitation Panel can be expanded in scope
and to be locality based and focussed on evidenced and data-based
information sharing that will support all agencies to understand indepth risk and community-based threats.
What can we do better in Tertiary Prevention?
The Youth Offending Service is successful in reducing reoffending
rates overall. However there are a small cohort of young people within

97

SP3: Our Ambitions
Further information:

Ambition 1
Short

Ambition 2
Mudium /
Long

Page 164

Ambition 3
Medium /
Long

• Further develop surveillance to identify the most at risk children and families and
intervene early with tailored intervention packages

• Deliver targeted and tailored primary prevention for populations of greater need

SP2 Lead: Assistant
Director for Children’s
Social Care
SP2 supporting board: Youth
Justice Governance Board &
Violence & Vulnerability Board
Challenges:
Disproportionality,
surveillance, targeted
interventions, high thresholds.

• Intervene early with tailored secondary prevention to reduce the harms of exposure
to violence and violence risk behaviours

Opportunities, YOS service,
Xantura integrated data
system, Early Years and
Parenting support offer.
Definitions:
Short term= next 18months

Ambition 4
Short / Long

• Provide tertiary prevention for of perpetrators and victims of violence to reduce
further harm

Medium term 18- 36 months.
Long term = 36 – 60 months.

Ambition
1. Further develop
surveillance to
identify the most at
risk children and
families and intervene
early with tailored
intervention packages

Action
•
•
•
•

Page 165

2. Deliver targeted and
tailored primary
prevention for
populations of greater
need

•
•

•

•

•

Rationale

Develop and deliver a single programme of strategic
analyses to respond to corporate strategic needs
Further develop analysis on identified risk factors into a
predictive risk model for youth violence and gang
involvement
Embed multi-agency strategic oversight of trends in youth
violence and gang involvement and the impact of future
prevention activity
Target and priorities prevention activity based on Xantura
analysis.
.

A children’s linked data set operating
through the Xantura system integrates a
range of different individual council
service data but does not yet include
police or ambulance datasets and only
has limited health data within it. If joined
up with a wider range of relevant crime
and health datasets it has the potential
to offer a more proactive and holistic
response.

Identify those children and families most at risk through
Xantura modelling
Build on the success of early years offer by including
targeted and tailored parenting programmes and robust
evaluations.
Prioritise future new investment in expanding the reach of
the generic youth service offer, prioritising areas where
there is currently no or inadequate levels of provision and
higher prevalence of youth violence
Expand the reach and breadth of INSPIRE to include to
include skills development on improving communication,
problem solving, strengthening emotional intelligence,
conflict resolution and impulse control.
Use locality risk profiles to inform the priorities of the
planning and regeneration functions of the local authority

While the Early Years and
Family/Parenting Support offer is both
evidence based and delivering some of
the best outcomes for children and
families in the country, there is
opportunity to provide better targeted
and tailored to populations with greater
need.
There is inadequate skills based training
that addresses cognitive and
behavioural risks. There is also a need to
develop a more comprehensive
classroom based skills offer on
improving behaviour, reducing

99

•

•

Page 166

3. Intervene early with
tailored secondary
prevention to
reduce the harms of
exposure to violence
and violence risk
behaviours

•

and the work of the Violence and Vulnerability Board and
ultimately the Joint Health and Wellbeing Board, Community
Safety Partnership and its subgroups
Develop and expand the reach of the current mentoring
provision so that an increased number of young people at
risk of violence can benefit. The effectiveness of current
and future mentoring will be evaluated robustly using
Xantura
Create locality based multi-disciplinary panels that meet
regularly to swiftly address risk factors strongly associated
with serious youth violence and gang involvement by:
• Sharing intelligence across stakeholders from
children’s social care, health providers, Brighter
Futures, drug and alcohol treatment, education,
schools, community Safety, housing, the police, local
area coordinators and relevant third sector
organisations
• Undertaking rapid operational action to reduce and
mitigate risks through enforcement activity,
community development and estates management
• Swiftly addressing identified drug availability/dealing
within neighbourhoods
Create a new Integrated Support team to receive referrals
from the multi-disciplinary panel for young people with
multiple risk factors but below threshold for statutory
service. The Integrated Support Team should be based on a
strengths/assets approach will be responsible for:

100

aggression and strengthening emotional
intelligence in our young people.

The threshold for at-risk children is too
high and at times a child does not
receive adequate support and
intervention until they have been
arrested for a violent crime.
When a child does receive help, it is
often lacking in a tailored, coordinated
multi-agency response. The support
weighs heavily towards criminal justice
and discrete interventions that are
insufficiently coordinated and focused
on individual cognitive or behavioural
factors.

•

Page 167

4. Provide tertiary
prevention for of
perpetrators and
victims of violence to
reduce further harm

Proactively engaging with young people at risk and
(where appropriate) their family/peers
• Agree goals with young people
• Connect young people with community assets that
help them achieve their goals
• Support and divert young people away from crime and
gang membership
• Broker coordinated care from specialist agencies
where necessary to address unmet needs
• Commission further work to develop a Thurrock multiagency strategic response to addressing harms caused by
social media
• Ensure the provision of all integrated prevention
programmes are line with evidence of best practice.
• Ensure Trauma-focussed CBT is available within the service
offer
• Evaluate all current and future tertiary prevention
programmes including Deal or No Deal, Goodman, Holiday
Activity and Youth @ Risk to determine effectiveness of
impact, including their impact on disproportionality.
• Develop a more integrated a holistic model with a
greater focus on addressing familial, school,
environment risk
• Continue funding for A&E based youth service and
undertake and evaluation of impact.
Undertake further evaluation work to understand why there is a
cohort of young people accessing YOS who are committing
multiple violence / drugs offences and for whom current

101

The Youth Offending Service is
successful in reducing reoffending rates
overall. However there are a small cohort
of young people within YOS who are
repeat offenders and for whom the
current service is less successful at
achieving desistance from crime. This
group is characterised by violence, drug
supply and weapons offences, and is
over-represented by black young men.
The reasons why YOS are less
successful at diverting this cohort away
from future serious offending is unclear
and a robust evaluation is needed to
investigate this.

interventions appear to be unsuccessful in terms of future
desistence. Pilot and evaluate new approaches where appropriate

Ambition

Action/Process

Rationale

•

Create and implement a Serious Youth Violence Strategy based on the 33
recommendations with the APHR that provides a integrated and coordinated
multi-agency response.

2. Further develop
surveillance to identify
the most at risk children
and families and
intervene early with
tailored intervention
packages

•

Develop and deliver a single programme of strategic analyses to respond to
corporate strategic needs
Further develop analysis on identified risk factors into a predictive risk model for
youth violence and gang involvement
Embed multi-agency strategic oversight of trends in youth violence and gang
involvement and the impact of future prevention activity
Target and priorities prevention activity based on Xantura analysis.

3. Deliver targeted and
tailored primary
prevention for
populations of greater
need

•
•

Page 168

1. Develop a Serious
Youth Violence Strategy

•
•
•

•
•
•

Identify those children and families most at risk through Xantura modelling
Build on the success of early years offer by including targeted and tailored
parenting programmes and robust evaluations.
Prioritise future new investment in expanding the reach of the generic youth
service offer, prioritising areas where there is currently no or inadequate levels of
provision and higher prevalence of youth violence
Expand the reach and breadth of INSPIRE to include to include skills development
on improving communication, problem solving, strengthening emotional
intelligence, conflict resolution and impulse control.
Use locality risk profiles to inform the priorities of the planning and regeneration
functions of the local authority and the work of the Violence and Vulnerability
Board and ultimately the Joint Health and Wellbeing Board, Community Safety
Partnership and its subgroups

102

•

Develop and expand the reach of the current mentoring provision so that an
increased number of young people at risk of violence can benefit. The
effectiveness of current and future mentoring will be evaluated robustly using
Xantura.

SP3: The Attainment Roadmap
So what?
Youth violence and gang activity is on the rise in Thurrock. Children involved in violence and gang activity are often victims of exploitation.
There is opportunity to build on the success of early prevention work to identify children who are at risk and provide better targeted and tailored
to populations with greater need.

SP3 How Will We Know We Are There?

Page 169

Now what?
This strategic priority looks at what exacerbates a child’s vulnerability to violence and gang activity. We will now focus on what we can do to
address vulnerability to serious youth violence where it exists so that every child has an equal chance to succeed.
To that end we will be strengthening our predictive modelling and will create multi-disciplinary panels to identify at risk families and intervene
early. We will create an Integrated Support Team to support children who are at risk, but do not quite hit the high thresholds for statutory
support services. We will also be conducting evaluations of our secondary and tertiary services to strengthen what is working well and
understand where services can be improved.







Decrease in episodes of children going missing and highly rated child criminal exploitation
assessments.
Reduction of children being convicted of possession with intent to supply and possession of a
bladed article.
Reduction in school exclusions as a result of knife crime.
Case studies and service inspection evidence

Increase of identified gang nominals or children being exploited by gangs engaging in identified
interventions under the gang related forum prevention key performance indicators (5 prevention
KPIs).
Increase of identified gang nominals or children being exploited by gangs made subject to disruption
outcomes under the gang related forum disruption key performance indicators (7 disruption KPIs).
103

3.5 Strategic Priority 4 (SP4): Children and
their families experience good emotional
health and wellbeing
SP4 Why is this Strategic Priority Important?
Happy children with positive relationships with family and friends are
more likely to grow into healthy adults, making positive contributions
to society. Good mental health allows children to develop resilience
they need to deal with the range of life events that come their way.
Good mental health throughout childhood into adulthood is therefore
beneficial not only to the individual but also their family and wider
society.

back from adversity. Protective factors increase resilience, whereas
risk factors increase vulnerability. Resilient individuals, families and
communities are more able to deal with difficulties and adversities
than those with less resilience.
Mental ill health can be seen as resulting from an imbalance of positive
and negative (risk) factors. A range of positive factors are known to
keep children and young people mentally well. They not only enhance
mental wellbeing but also build resilience (the ability to cope with
adversity). The causes of mental health problems are complex and
risks to mental health manifest themselves at all life stages. A wide
array of inter-related risk and protective factors influence a child’s
development and mental health. Protective factors which promote
good mental health include:


Page 170

SP4 What Do We Know?
We know that the mental health of our children and young people is a
major concern for local young people, parents, teachers and other
professionals and a priority within our Health & Wellbeing Strategy
2021-2026; additionally analysis of high level data in section 2.4
shows that for Thurrock self-harm and admission for unintentional
injuries in young people is worse than our comparators and worsening
in trend. Social Emotional mental Health in young people is similar to
our comparators but shows a worsening trend.
The benefits of promoting wellbeing accrue across the life course,
therefore promoting mental wellbeing in children provides more
economic benefits than promoting mental wellbeing at other ages.
The World Health Organisation (WHO) defines mental health as: ‘a
state of wellbeing in which the individual realises his or her own
abilities, can cope with the normal stresses of life, can work
productively and fruitfully, and is able to make a contribution to his or
her community6. Resilience can be defined as the capacity to bounce






Positive coping strategies - When faced by stress, some
ways of coping are highly effective while others can be
destructive
Supportive parents - Parents’ mental health, and a stable
home without conflict influence children’s mental well being
Healthy Environment - The physical environments, e.g. good
housing and green space
Social connections - Good social networks of friends and
family are vital for positive mental wellbeing
Physical exercise - Exercise is known to promote good mental
health and reduce anxiety and depression

There is strong evidence that certain risk factors have a negative
impact on mental health in children and young people. Some
characteristics which make people more susceptible to mental ill
health cannot be modified by interventions – e.g. age, gender & and
genetics. Risk factors for mental ill health that can be modified or
prevented include:

Page 171



Being Bullied - One of the strongest risk factors for mental
illness with effects which often continue into adulthood



Excessive internet use - Growing evidence shows excessive
use of internet and social networking sites increases anxiety
and depression



Body image - Poor body image is strongly linked to eating
disorders and known to be an issue in Thurrock



Overweight - Can be a cause and consequence of poor mental
health



Adverse childhood experiences - Intense sources of stress
in childhood such as abuse; neglect; violence between parents,
alcohol or substance misuse can have long-term effects on
mental health*



NEET - Not being in employment education or training is a
strong risk factor for mental ill health. Having a mental health
problem can result in lower educational attainment (for example,
children with conduct disorder are twice as likely as other
children to leave school with no qualifications)*



*ACES

In July 2020, a large-scale survey commissioned by the NHS Digital
found that the prevalence of clinically significant mental health
conditions amongst children was 50% higher than in the previous
large-scale clinical survey, conducted three years earlier. The
headline finding from the 2020 survey was that “one in six children
(16%) of children aged 5 to 16 were identified as having a probable
mental health disorder, increasing from one in nine (10.8%) in 2017.
(26) While this finding needs to be treated with caution as it was
conducted during the pandemic it gives a clear heads up, that service
demand may increase and the that the gap between children’s needs
and delivered services may have widened.
The economic cost of mental health in the UK has been estimated at
£8 billion per year (70 million working days missed each year, or an
average of 2.8 days per year per UK employee). Lost productivity
(including presentism, where mental health issues lessen work
performance) costs £15 billion, and replacing staff who leave their
posts because of mental illness costs employers £2 billion. (27)
Costs to society and the individual can be reduced if support and
treatment are available when needed. It is important that children who
require treatment for an established mental health disorder receive the
right support, at the right time. It is also important that stakeholders
work together to stop mental illness from developing in the first place
by shifting some of the emphasis from treatment to prevention and
early intervention, building on existing strengths and minimising risks

Gang membership - Gang members have much higher rates
of depression, anxiety and psychotic-like symptoms. This could
be both a cause and consequence of involvement in gangs*

and NEETS are discussed in further detail in SP1, Gang membership is discussed in SP3

105



which tip young people away from mental wellbeing and towards
mental ill health. Approximately 70 million days are lost from work
each year because of mental ill health, making it the leading cause of
sickness in the UK (28). Probable mental health disorders are
increasing, suggesting that problems for employers and employees
are being stored up for the future as half of all mental health problems
begin in childhood.

The survey report concluded that the continued promotion of young
people’s emotional wellbeing and resilience was highly desirable and
recommended an analysis of inequalities to better understand the
social inequalities driving wellbeing inequalities.

Page 172

Children account for 27.5% of Thurrock’s population, but only 8.2% of
total mental health spending. Thurrock has historically successfully
achieved economies of scale through the Collaborative
Commissioning Forum, however in order to meet the rising demand
Thurrock will also need to work with partners to do more with less and
identify opportunities for scaling up.
The Brighter Futures survey was commissioned by Thurrock Council
in 2016 to improve local data related to the emotional health and wellbeing of children and young people. A total of 5,132 children and
young people attending a Thurrock school completed the survey in
2020-21. A total of 30 schools took part in the survey in 2021: 23
primary schools and 7 secondary schools (one special).
Themes that had emerged from previous reports were reflected in the
findings for 2021:


However, a minority of young people do meet a criterion for
concern, either because of poor emotional wellbeing or risky
behaviour or both

Most of these young people are neither suffering poor wellbeing
nor engaging in health-risky behaviour

106

Local Position

Over the past five years, two key government reports on young
people’s mental health have been published: Future in Mind in
2015 (Department of Health, NHS England, 2015) and the Five
Year Forward View (FYFV) for Mental Health in 2016
(Department of Health, NHS England, 2016). Both set out
proposals to transform the design and delivery of treatment services
for CYP with mental health needs, to make it easier for children,
young people, parents and carers to access help and support when
needed and to improve how services are organised, commissioned
and provided. There is also an emphasis in these documents on
working towards preventative, integrated provision of services. The
MH in Mind report made recommendations grouped around five
themes:
1. Promoting resilience, prevention and early intervention 2.
Improving access to effective support – a system without tiers 3.
Care of the most vulnerable 4. Accountability and transparency 5.
Developing the workforce

Implications of policy at Place
Local stakeholders continue to work on and build local plans which reflect
the five themes. The local system approach to mental health, the whole
school approach and the THRIVE model demonstrate a clear framework
for articulating policy themes locally.
Implications of this policy for the Brighter Futures Strategy
There is opportunity to strengthen frameworks locally to deliver the five
themes.

Page 173

National Guidance/Policy

Page 174

The NHS Long Term Plan, 2019 the NHS makes a new
commitment that funding for children and young people’s mental
health services will grow faster than both overall NHS funding and
total mental health spending. It aims to:
• expand access to community-based mental health services to
meet the needs of at least an additional 345,000 children and
young people aged 0-25 years, to include support that is
embedded in schools and colleges
• have at least 70,000 additional children and young people
each year receive evidence-based treatment. This represents
an increase in access to NHS-funded community services to
meet the needs of at least 35% (by 2020/21) of those with
diagnosable mental health conditions
• create a new approach to young adult mental health services
for people aged 18-25, to support the transition to adulthood
• boost investment in children and young people’s eating
disorder services to maintain delivery of the 95% standard
beyond 2020/21 (95% of children and young people referred
receiving NICE-approved treatment within 1 week if urgent,
and within 4 weeks if routine or non-urgent).
• NICE have published a range of guidance that is of relevance
to Children and Young People's Mental Health and Wellbeing
including early years, social and emotional wellbeing in
primary education, secondary education, and transition from
children’s to adults’ health or social care services.

Implications of policy at Place
In response to the national vision for children and young people’s mental
health services a transformation strategy was developed. This strategy
‘Open Up, Reach Out’ brought together the three local authorities and
seven CCG’s across Essex, Southend and Thurrock. It moved from
traditional tiered services delivered in a fragmented way by multiple
providers into a single integrated service. This is developed through a
Collaborative Commissioning Forum with representatives from each of the
partners.
This strategy set out three key priorities:
- Improve access and equality
- Build capacity and capability in the system
- Build resilience in the community
A commissioning exercise was undertaken that provided one contract
across the area along with a single point of access to services. This
contract is now coming to an end and the service specification is being
developed to build on the transformation that has taken place over the last
five years. Funding for services for Thurrock children and young people is
predominately from the CCG although the local authority also contribute to
the service.
Where additional funding becomes available such as through the Long
Term Plan 2019 the CCG and local authority work closely together with the
Collaborative Commissioning Forum within the priorities set out to
determine how this is best used. Funding to enhance support through the
Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health Service for children with LDD was
provided through the Collaborative Commissioning Forum (for mental
health services across Essex, Southend and Thurrock) as a part of the
current contract. This has now been included in the specification for the
next contract as a reflection of the need identified and the success of the
enhanced offer. In addition, the School Wellbeing Service provides support
to schools at an earlier level of need. The development of the transition

108

support programme will also provide better opportunities to plan support as
young people with LDD move through to adult services.
Implications of policy for the Brighter Futures Strategy
Children across Thurrock will be able to access mild to moderate mental
health support though Mental Health Support Teams. School coverage is
likely to increase from 25% (2020) to 35% by 2022. There is opportunity
to integrate this with the local school wellbeing service to maximise school
coverage and integrate and streamline lower level mental health support.

Page 175
109

National Guidance/Policy

Local Position

National Green Paper

Implications of Policy for Place
Both the local SWS and MHSTs deliver the integrated preventative
Green Paper 2017, Transforming Children and Young People’s Mental approach detailed in these documents. Waiting time standards for
Health Provision, which reviews the evidence of what works in the
access to mental health services for children and young people
treatment and prevention of ill mental health in young people (DoH &
continue to be worked upon.
DfE, 2017) and makes specific proposals for how to improve services
in future. The three main elements of the approach proposed by the
Implications of policy for the Brighter Futures Strategy
Green Paper are: having a designated mental health lead in all
MHSTs feature within the lower level mental health support option
schools by 2025, creating mental health support teams working with
available to local children. This service however is not available to all
schools and colleges, and reducing the waiting time standard for
local schools. Steps need to be taken to ensure all schools have
access to mental health services for children and young people.
access to low level mental health support.

Page 176

Local Evidence

Local Position

The 2017 CYP Mental Health Needs Assessment articulated six
prevention focused recommendations:
• Focus on building strengths and reducing risks not just treating
illness
• Promote the protective factors which keep CYP mentally well
• Tackle the risk factors which can push people into mental ill
health
• Develop a new partnership model and create school-based
wellbeing teams
• Gather and share information on what is already being done
• Improve mental health data and track progress by all schools
participating in the Brighter Futures Survey

Local action undertaken in response to local evidence
The School Wellbeing Service was developed in response to the CYP
Mental Health HNA and went live in September 2019. The service was
developed through a partnership between Thurrock Council, Thurrock
CCG and local schools and academies. The service supports schools
to develop environments where mental wellbeing can thrive. They also
help schools and school staff to identify and tackle risk factors to
mental ill-health and promote wellbeing protective factors. A SWS
Partnership Board was stood up in 2019 to oversee the service and
share good practise. The Brighter Future survey continues to be
improved annually based on survey findings and administrative reports.
Implications for Brighter Futures Strategy
The Schools Wellbeing Service forms part of the service structure
delivering mental health support to local young people

110

Brighter Futures Survey: Locally commissioned children’s
survey. Brighter Futures Survey 2020
.
.

Page 177

Evaluation of the Southend, Essex & Thurrock Children and
Young People’s Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health Service
(EWMHS) 2019.
The wider context relevant to this evaluation is described in
some detail in the full report. It sets out a direction of travel from
the policy perspective towards:
• Greater collaboration, whole system working
• Child or young person being at the centre, with the adoption of
iThrive, and greater emphasis on service user shaping services
• Greater emphasis on genuine primary prevention/mental health
promotion
• More opportunity for early intervention before problems
exacerbate
• Quicker access for diagnosable mental health problems.

Local Action undertaken in response to local evidence
All schools in Thurrock receive a comprehensive report on the findings
of the Brighter Futures Survey for their school. They also receive
individualised support from their school wellbeing practitioner to help
them plan to address any issues that have arisen their report.
Implications for the Brighter Futures Strategy
Survey findings have been included on page 2 to assist in articulating
“what we know”
Implications of local evidence at Place
Stakeholders report greater collaboration and whole system working.
Implications for the Brighter Futures Strategy
The evaluation findings support the ambitions identified within the
strategy.

111

SWS Evaluation Report
An evaluation of the SWS has been commissioned by Thurrock
Council. The University of East Anglia are leading this
evaluation. Completion is anticipated by September 30th 2022.

Page 178

Implications for the Brighter Futures Strategy
An interim report has been requested to gauge the early impact of the
SWS. Initial findings presented within the interim evaluation report
show that staff and parents are positive about how health and
wellbeing is supported within schools.
It highlights some areas for improvement including:
- A need for training on mental health and wellbeing for support
staff
- Ensure training for all school staff should be bespoke or reflect
their training needs
- Improve perceptions and communications with parents around
how incidences of bullying are managed
Implications for the Brighter Futures Strategy
The evaluation findings support the shaping of ambitions within the
strategy.

112

A Gap Analysis of Current Provision in Thurrock against the
Published Evidence Base can be found in the Annual Public
Health Report, 2019.

Implications of local evidence at Place
Thurrock Council have established a Violence and Vulnerability board
to action the recommendations from the Annual Public Health Report,
2019. Included within these actions is to establish multi-disciplinary
panels and integrated support teams to identify and address risk
factors early and to include trauma-focused CBT within the offer for
CYP

Page 179

Implications for the Brighter Futures Strategy
 Relevant to SP4 is the report finding that suggests the current
EWMHS mental health provision focuses largely on the
individual. It does not offer the more holistic specialist support
recommended in the evidence base such as multi-systemic
therapy or family functional therapy that seeks to address wider
problems in the family and environment of the young person.
Trauma focused CBT also recommended in the evidence base
for victims of serious youth violence is also offered. The service
will strengthen the whole family approach by working together
/collaboratively with wider partners within adult services. (agreed)

113

Local response

CQC Report : Review of Children & Young People’s Mental Health
Services 2017
This document was created through the analysis of a sample of 101 CQC
inspection reports of specialist child and adolescent mental health services
(CAMHS) that provide inpatient care or care in the community, review of
policy and CYPF engagement.
The report highlighted some of the ways specialist CAMHS services have
delivered good or outstanding care. Such services were characterised as
• Involving children, young people, families and carers
• Collaboration between different organisations and services
• Innovative ways of providing person-centred care
• Improving access to services
• Education and training for staff, children and young people and their
families

Local Activity at Place reflecting CQC Report
A review of the EWMHS service in 2019 suggests good
involvement of CYP and families into the shaping of the
service and collaboration with stakeholders across
organisations. Training for families and staff is provided
through the MHSTs and Schools Wellbeing Service.

CQC Report: Are we listening? A review of children and young people’s
mental health services,2010
Recommendations from the report:
• The Secretary of State for Health and Social Care should make sure
there is joint action across government to make children and young
people’s mental health a national priority, working with ministers in
health, social care, education, housing and local government
• Local organisations must work together to deliver a clear ‘local offer’ of
the care and support available to children and young people
• Government, employers and schools should make sure that everyone
that works, volunteers or cares for children and young people are
trained to encourage good mental health and offer basic mental health
support
• Ofsted should look at what schools are doing to support children and
young people’s mental health when they inspect

Local Activity at Place reflecting CQC Report
Thurrock has implemented and socialised the THRIVE model
and continues to raise awareness of the local offer. The SWS
and MHSTs offer training to school stakeholders and parents,
however there is opportunity locally to strengthen this offer and
skill up the wider workforce.
Implications for the Brighter Futures Strategy
There is an opportunity to prioritise innovative ways of
providing child and family centred care, and service access
through strategy ambitions.

Page 180

Good Practise

114

Implications for the Brighter Futures Strategy
There is an opportunity to prioritise innovative ways of
providing child and family centred care, and service access
through strategy ambitions.

SP4 Understanding Local Need
Inequalities
It is widely accepted that inequalities in health, including mental health
arise due to inequalities in society. While mental health does not
discriminate against those who experience it, the risks of mental illhealth are not equally distributed. For example children who
experience adverse childhood events (ACEs), are homeless, are of a
minority status or have poor education are more likely to experience
poor mental health. ACEs have been found to account for 29.8% of
mental disorders (29).

Page 181

The IDACI score for Thurrock suggests the following wards are the
most deprived, Tilbury Riverside, Tilbury St. Chads, Ockendon,
Belhus, Aveley and Uplands and West Thurrock and South Stifford.
Socioeconomically disadvantaged children and adolescents are two
to three times more likely to develop mental health problems. It is likely
therefore that these areas represent comparatively greater areas of
need. Options for a local targeted offer should be considered in
alignment with place transformation.
Probable Mental Health Disorders
Children with probable mental health disorders are unlikely to be
known to services or be in receipt of an intervention*. Figure 34
attempts to visualise this concern and shows the number of children
*Based

diagnosed with a mental health problem known to services above the
iceberg and children not known to services with a probable disorder
beneath the iceberg. It is noted that children in this cohort may be
receiving some level of support – it is however unknown as to how
much, what it is and if sufficient. Identifying this cohort however
provides an important link for the workforce who might be supporting
some of these children. It is therefore important that Thurrock
continues to build its workforce capacity at a universal level to support
the identification and low level intervention needs of children not
known to services.
The following paragraphs give some quantification of need in this area.
There are an estimated 6700* children in Thurrock aged between 2
and 18 yrs. who have a probable mental disorder.
The most common types of mental health problems amongst young
people 5-16 include conduct disorder (5.8%); anxiety (3.3%),
depression (0.9%) and hyperkinetic disorder (1.5%). 1.3% had a less
common disorder (made up of 0.9% with autism spectrum disorder,
0.3% with an eating disorder, and 0.1% with mutism) (30). More recent
research suggests that self-harm may be increasing amongst certain
groups, with a 68% increase in self-harm rates among girls aged 13
to 16 since 2011 (31)
Applying these percentages to the Thurrock population of children
aged 5-16 (consistent with the study sample above) would suggest

on Mental Health of CYP Survey- 5.5% of 2-4yr olds have a probable MHD, 16% of 5-16yr olds have a probable MH disorder & 16.9% of 17-18yr olds have a probable
MHD- Population from ONS mid-19 estimates

that there are at least 1,854 children with a conduct disorder; 1,055
with anxiety, 288 with depression and 480 with hyperkinetic disorder.
Self-Harm

Page 182

Self-harm is not a mental health problem, but is linked with mental
distress. People with a history of self-harm are a high-risk group and
a priority for prevention. Some groups have higher rates of self-harm,
including young people, particularly looked after children and care
leavers. There is evidence to suggest an upward trend in hospital
admissions for self-harm in Thurrock in residents aged between 10 24 years. The rate per rate per 100,000 (aged 10-24) for hospital
admissions for self-harm for 2018/19 was 322.4 per 100,000 for
Thurrock and 444.0 per 100,000 for England. Hospital admissions for
unintentional and deliberate injuries (16-24 years) also show an
upward trend. Both indicators are statistically significantly worse than
statistical neighbours. Activity data from the local EWMHS service
reflects local need for self-harm intervention and increasing service
demand for the period 2017 -2020.
The Schools Wellbeing Service currently provide training support to
schools on how to manage self-harm. Lower tier integration,
increased capacity and early identification could assist with reducing
self-harm and the requirement for more specialist services. This
information may have implications for the current local children’s
emotional mental health and wellbeing offer.

116

Figure 34 Estimating hidden need: Children not meeting thresholds, not yet identified, awaiting treatment or unable to access support

Page 183

Vulnerability

Page 184

Vulnerable children may also be at risk for developing mental health
problems and can be classified as having a “pre diagnosable
condition”. The term vulnerable may apply because of their family
background: those children from families experiencing issues such as
severe poverty, domestic violence and poor parental mental health.
It is noted that 17.3% of households in Thurrock experience toxic trio
narrow factors i.e. children grow up in households where an adult has
a clinically diagnosable mental or psychiatric disorder or in a
household where an adult has experienced violence or abuse in the
last year or in a household where an adult suffers from drug/alcohol
dependence
(Children’s
Commissioner
2019
Childhood
Vulnerabilities Report). Estimates for Thurrock would suggest, there
are 3,758 children living in vulnerable households with a pre
diagnosable mental health disorder.
Parental Conflict
Children exposed to frequent, intense, and poorly resolved interparental conflict are at heightened risk of emotional problems such as
anxiety and depression as well as behavioural problems such as
conduct problems. Children of all ages can be affected by destructive
inter-parental conflict, which has effects throughout the life course of
the child. In 2020, 388.1 per 10,000 children in Thurrock were
classified as Children in Need due to parental conflict, dysfunctional
home life, or disability, compared to 323.7 for England and 321.3 for
Thurrock’s statistical neighbours.

There is a comprehensive wellbeing offer for CYP in Thurrock as
detailed from page 120, which includes universal and targeted support.
Children’s Services Thurrock also currently offer parental conflict
training for Early Help staff and a suite of targeted parenting
programmes for parents. Further detail regarding parenting
programmes can be elicited in chapter SP2.
The increase in probable mental health disorder suggests the need to
consider intervention capacity, early identification and assurance for
adequate accessibility to non-specialist community interventions.
Special Educational NeedsSpecial Educational Needs and Disability
(SEND) cover a huge range of needs and disabilities and often
children with SEND will have multiple needs. Social, emotional and
mental health (SEMH) needs are a type of special educational need
in which children/young people have severe difficulties in managing
their emotions and behaviour. They often show inappropriate
responses and feelings to situations. Children with SEMH will often
feel anxious, scared and misunderstood.
Findings from the Thurrock SEND Deep Dive (32) infer that Moderate
Learning Difficulty (MLD), Speech, Language and Communication
(SLCN) together with Social, Emotional and Mental Health (SEMH)
needs are the top three primary needs in children and young people
with SEND in Thurrock. The report identified that a third of those with
SEMH do not have an Educational Health Care plan. Having
appropriate EHC plans supports schools to put in place the right
support systems to better manage behavioural problems that can
prevent exclusions.

yrs. who have a probable mental disorder. Estimates for
Thurrock would suggest, there are 3,758 children living in
vulnerable households with a pre diagnosable mental health
disorder. Children with probable mental health problems are
not likely to be known to services and therefore represent a
possible unknown problem or hidden need. The local offer for
low level mental health support needs to be clear and
accessible with consideration given to scaling up and upskilling
the universal workforce

Key Points
•

Children’s mental health is a local and national priority. A wide
array of inter-related risk and protective factors influence a
child’s development and mental health. Some characteristics
which make people more susceptible to mental ill health cannot
be modified by interventions – e.g. age, gender & and genetics

•

The benefits of promoting wellbeing accrue across the life
course, therefore promoting mental wellbeing in children
provides more economic benefits than promoting mental
wellbeing at other ages

•

Page 185
•

Findings from the Brighter Future survey 2021 identified that
most young people who took part in the survey were neither
suffering poor wellbeing nor engaging in health-risky behaviour.
There were however some areas of concern. Themes that had
emerged from previous reports were reflected in the findings.
The survey report concluded that the continued promotion of
young people’s emotional wellbeing and resilience was highly
desirable and recommended an analysis of inequalities to
better understand the social inequalities driving wellbeing
inequalities
Children’s mental health appears to have worsened over the
last three years. In 2020 one in six children (16%) aged 5 to 16
were identified as having a probable mental health disorder,
increasing from one in nine (10.8%) in 2017. There are an
estimated 6700 children in Thurrock aged between 2 and 18

119

•

It is important that stakeholders work together to stop mental
illness from developing in the first place by shifting some of the
emphasis from treatment to prevention and early intervention,
building on existing strengths and minimising risks which tip
young people away from mental wellbeing and towards mental
ill health

•

Experiencing disadvantage and being vulnerable can increase
the risk of mental health problems. Socioeconomically
disadvantaged children and adolescents are two to three times
more likely to develop mental health problems. There exists an
opportunity locally to identify targeted options in line with place
transformation and to better understand the social inequalities
that lead to mental ill health in children

•

A third of children with SEMH do not have an Educational
Health Care plan. This signifies importance of all staff in the
classroom being well-trained in identifying and supporting
those with lower level SEMH who might not qualify for specific

support under an EHC plan. The SWS currently provide this
training

The following pages depict how current services are aligned to the
THRIVE model.

Scope

Figure 35 THRIVE model

Strategic Priority 4 (SP4) will focus on strengthening the integrated
approach to children’s mental health provision. This will include not
only greater integration of children’s services but ensure a whole
family response is coordinated with provision and support available for
parents.

SP4: The Current Position

Page 186

The THRIVE Model
The Thurrock children’s mental health offer is aligned to the THRIVE
model. The THRIVE Framework was originally developed by a
collaboration of authors from the Tavistock and Portman NHS
Foundation Trust and the Anna Freud National Centre for Children
and Families in 2014. The THRIVE Framework is an integrated,
person centred, needs led approach to delivering mental health
services for children, young people and families which conceptualises
need into five categories; Thriving, Getting Advice and Signposting,
Getting Help, Getting More Help and Getting Risk Support.
Through this approach partners have sought to offer help early to
children and young people and build resilience, with key emphasis
placed on delivering seamless time efficient interventions ensuring
adequate support for our most vulnerable children.

120

Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health Offer-Universal Offer

Page 187

Key Universal Services
Mental Health Support Teams in Schools (MHSTs)

Page 188

In December 2017, the Transforming Children and Young People’s
Mental Health Provision green paper introduced a new policy to
provide additional support through schools and colleges and together
with DfE established Mental Health Support Teams (MHSTs).
Thurrock are part of the national programme with one team providing
support for 14 schools in Thurrock and one team providing support to
students attending South Essex College. The teams consist of a newly
trained workforce called Education Mental Health Practitioners
(EMHPs) and senior mental health practitioners. MHSTs are being
delivered by North East London Foundation Trust which will ensure a
seamless service with our EWMHs provision. The teams went live in
January 2021 and are working closely with schools, colleges, pupils,
and families to coproduce service delivery and development. An
additional team is anticipated to be in place for Thurrock in 2022.

implemented over the coming 3 years. The outcome of the
national evaluation will inform future planning and ambition to
deliver full coverage for all schools and colleges
Schools Wellbeing Service (SWS)
The Schools Wellbeing Service is jointly funded by partners in
Thurrock and was launched in September 2019. The service was
developed in response to the recommendations in the CYP Mental
Health Needs Assessment 2018 and is currently hosted by Thurrock
Children's Services.
The focus of the SWS programme is to strengthen and improve the
emotional and mental wellbeing of children and young people, as well
as school staff, by reducing risks for poor mental health and promoting
protective factors. The SWS is a team of practitioners comprising of a
team leader, practitioners, and administrative support. Each SWS
practitioner is responsible for working schools to provide facilitation
and support in delivering the following activity streams:

The MHST service has three core functions:
1. To deliver brief evidence-based interventions to support
children and young people with mild-moderate mental health
problems
2. To provide timely advice to school staff and liaison with external
services, to help children and young people to get the right help
and stay in education
3. The NHS has committed to ensuring all area in England have
25% coverage by 2023 and new teams are expected to be

Leadership / policy: Each school to have a Mental Health Lead
(MHL) and Mental Health Action Plan.
Skills development/training:
champions and parents

For staff, pupils, school wellbeing

Support: Phone line for staff/parents/carers, reflective sessions for
staff, Student Mental Health Champions

Information sharing: Mental Health Network Meeting, Thurrock
Thrive model visual aid termly, 5 ways to wellbeing ½ termly bulletin
for parents, staff and pupils
The SWS provides a whole school approach rather than direct
interventions to enhance the knowledge, skills and confidence in
promoting good mental health, supporting those experiencing
difficulties and knowing when to provide universal, targeted or refer to
specialist services. The SWS has supported individual school needs
planning to enable bespoke packages of support and intervention
meeting the individual needs of children.

Page 189
123

Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health Offer- Targeted Services

Page 190

Key Targeted Services
Triple P Positive Parenting Programme

Page 191

This online resource for families went live across Thurrock Southend
and Essex in February 2020. Since this time over 1200 families have
registered for this service and accessed resource. Pre-intervention
data suggests that there has been effective recruitment of parents with
children with substantial challenge. Conduct problems and
hyperactivity are the most severe with 79% and 74% of parents in the
non-typical range. The data regarding outcomes at the end of Triple
P online show a higher level of confidence at managing behaviours
effectively. Parents who have more confidence with managing their
children are more readily able to have more positive interactions with
them, enabling positive relationships to evolve leading to better
outcomes for children and their own ability to respond appropriately to
wider environmental factors they will face in their lifetimes.
This is a test and learn approach with 30 services from across a range
of agencies participating in the programme. The Collaborative
Commissioning Forum has approved extension of the programme to
January 2022 and an additional 30 training places for Stepping Stones
Autism Training.
Infant Mental Health -Together with Baby Service
The first 1001 days of life, from conception to age two is a time of
unique opportunity and vulnerability. It is a period of rapid growth,
when the foundations for later physical and mental health
development are laid.

Southend, Essex and Thurrock are one of a few areas across the UK
to have a dedicated Infant Mental Health Service Together with Baby
provided by EPUT. Together with baby is a service to help parents
understand better their baby’s emotional responses and
communications as well as strengthen their relationship. The service
offers a safe non-judgemental space to help parents understand
further the difficulties they are encountering. It is delivered by highly
qualified staff with in-depth knowledge of infant mental health and
development. Alongside direct interventions with families they deliver
training and advice and guidance to services working with babies and
families.
Perinatal Mental Health
Perinatal mental health problems are those which occur during
pregnancy or in the first year following the birth of a child. Perinatal
mental health illness affects up to 20% of new and expectant Mums
and covers a wide range of conditions .If left untreated, mental health
issues can have a significant and long lasting effects on the women,
the child and wider family members. The NHS has invested in
developing Specialist Community Perinatal mental health Services
which will ensure 10% of women and their partners will receive the
specialist care required by 2023. EPUT provide the service for
Thurrock working closely with health Visitors, Midwifery, and GPs.
It is important that all professionals supporting families are aware and
have the information available to identify and support those with risks
and emerging concerns. Alongside the expansion of the specialist
service two supporting programmes are in development:


A Peer Support Module for couples. This is in partnership with
third sector organisations



A digital online resource to increase awareness, provide
information regarding service provision and a resource for
practitioners. The underpinning deliverables will be to ensure
appropriate care and early intervention and address health
inequalities

Page 192
126

Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health Offer: Specialist services

Page 193

The Key Specialist Service

specialist services families and children will be supported to access
alternative community support.

Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health Offer (EWMHS Service)
The joint commissioning arrangements of The Southend, Essex and
Thurrock Emotional Wellbeing and Mental Health Service has
delivered the ambition of providing an integrated service for children
aged 3-18 with a mental health need. The service is accessed through
one single point of contact which provides clinical triage, advice and
support. There is also a Crisis Response available both within the
community and A&E settings. To further enhance access anyone can
initiate a referral to the Single Point of Access including CYP and
families themselves.

Page 194

Mental Health & Emotional Wellbeing practitioners are trained in a
range of evidence based interventions. The EWMHs model includes
a dedicated core team in Thurrock supported by a range of specialist
teams including Eating Disorders, Learning Disabilities and Crisis
teams. Where there is a requirement for group or individual sessions
is to be delivered off site, these happen across locations including
family/carers homes, school and jointly with wider professional groups
including social care, Youth Offending team and youth services such
as Inspire.

Within the core community service there are four core work
streams/pathway to treatment;
•
•
•
•

with

a

mental

health

Once a case is assigned to a work stream, the following is expected:
•

•

•
•

The service works holistically with schools and wider family members
ensuring all who support the child and young person have a good
understanding of their needs and strategies to support. Following
triage at the single point of access if there is no clinical need for

Behavioural/ Conduct pathways
Complex Cases
Anxiety and Mood
Neurodevelopmental (children
comorbidity)

Care plan development and identified interventions – these
commence within 18 weeks of referral. This is also a national
target. If cases get worse there is an avenue to fast track where
the need presents.
Appropriate evidenced based Interventions administered
aligned with the need and wishes of the child and family- This
may be brief or long term depending on need
Outcomes are tracked based on the intervention administered
as well as individual achievements
Link to other services where appropriate.

Service Strengths
Getting Help – Services
Essex & Thurrock Children and Young People’s Emotional
Wellbeing and Mental Health Service (EWMHS)

Thriving and Getting Advice
Local Intelligence
The Brighter Futures Annual Survey has been undertaken since 2016.
The survey provides place based intelligence concerning children's
mental health and wellbeing. The survey is also currently being used
to understand the impact of the local Schools Wellbeing Service. This
survey is the main local tool for improving understanding of CYP
mental health needs, alongside a school self-assessment that
highlights the needs of individual schools through the voice of its
senior leaders and teachers.

Feedback from children and young people has shown the service to
be enabling, empowering and impactful. Progress has been made to
join up services and provide greater continuity of care. There are
strong links between EWMHS staff and school counsellors / school
nurses in Thurrock, and stronger links with local safeguarding
children’s boards and youth offending services in some areas. The
introduction of an open access policy through the single point of
access has gone some way towards helping to foster a greater sense
of empowerment among children and young people, and to reduce the
stigma associated with mental ill-health.

Delivering services using a Whole School Approach

Page 195

In order to support pupils with a mental health problem it is important
to reach all parts of the school community and beyond. The whole
school approach is an ideal ways of facilitating this. In Thurrock both
the MHSTs and SWS adopt a whole school approach and involve
pupils, parents/carers in a number of novel ways. Using schools to
deliver mental health intervention and prevention is in itself a local
strength. There is clear evidence of the vital role schools, colleges and
education providers play in identifying mental health needs at an early
stage further supporting inclusion of early intervention and prevention
buttressing the role schools and colleges play in reducing inequalities
experienced by children and young people.

Vulnerable Young People’s Pathways
The Youth Offending Team and integrated post with EWMHs
continues to work closely together and with the additional post of the
speech and language therapist ensure effective support for the cohort
of young people. A EWHMS Community Psychiatric Nurse and
speech and language therapist is embedded within the Youth
Offending Service (YOS) to work with young offenders with mental
health issues and/or neuro-development problems.

129

Getting Risk Support Services

service model and to continue to find ways of building the capacity and
capability needed for the whole system to respond earlier to the
emotional wellbeing and mental health needs of children and young
people.
Education settings CEOs have voiced some dissatisfaction with tier 1
and the overall system model. Specifically,

The Crisis Response
The ISS and Crisis Model for Essex has been recognised as good
practice and presented at a number of regional forums. The National
requirement to have a 24/7 crisis provision implemented due to Covid
was already established as part of business as usual and enhanced
last year through the ISS. The ISS offer has been strengthened to
reduce A&E attendances and reduce tier 4 admissions. The
strengthened offer will allow time to assess and support an immediate
crisis as an alternative to admission.

•
•
•

The Schools Wellbeing Service has been rolled out too slowly
The tiers are health driven
Partnerships needed to be strengthened

Page 196

The local authority have commissioned University of East Anglia to
evaluate the Schools Wellbeing Service. Initial findings presented
within the interim report show that staff and parents are positive about
how health and wellbeing is supported within schools. It highlights
some areas for improvement including:

Service Challenges
Thriving and Getting Advice
• Sustainability
The current SWS and MHST services are working well, however the
MHST intervention is not available to all schools in Thurrock. Funding
for the SWS service ends in 2022. A sustainable option allowing all
schools access to both services needs to be sought. Recent
correspondence from central government does however suggest
funding for an additional MHST for Thurrock. Partnership board terms
of reference (Brighter Futures Board and SWS Partnership) need to
be refreshed with a view to strengthening collaboration and
overseeing sustainability plans. There is an opportunity within the
lifespan of the current strategy to strengthen integration of the current

A need for training on mental health and wellbeing for support
staff
- Ensuring training for all school staff is bespoke or reflect their
training needs
- The need to improve perceptions and communications with
parents around how incidences of bullying are managed
The final report will be available from September 2022.
-

130

Getting Help – Services
•

and national CQC identified good and outstanding practise. Partners
have developed a test a learn pathway for this purpose. Please see
figure 35. It is anticipated that will be implemented from February 2022.

Vulnerable Young People’s Pathways

Thriving and Getting Advice/Getting Help – Services/Getting Risk
Support Services

There is a need to ensure all vulnerable young people have access to
holistic, evidenced-based support when they need it.

•

Getting Risk Support Services
•

Thurrock’s child’s population is set to rise by 27% by 2027. Service
demand continues to increase year on year, recent estimates suggest
16% of children aged 5 to 16 now have a probable mental health
disorder, compared to 10.8% in 2017.
Thurrock spending has
increased over the years but spends comparatively less than the
England average, £49 compared to £66. Children account for 27.5%
of Thurrock’s population, but only 8.2% of total mental health spending.
Across English CCGs, the highest spend per adult (£404) is
significantly more than the highest spend per child (£202). The lowest
spend per adult (£129) is five times higher than the lowest spend per
child (£25). (33)

Service Models

Page 197

Frontline professionals and local evidence sources over the last three
years have identified service delivery challenges with the current
Emotional Mental Health & Wellbeing Service. Challenges identified
include:





Finance

service fragmentation
waiting times
highly set thresholds
limited use of community assets

Thurrock has historically successfully achieved economies of scale
through the Collaborative Commissioning Forum.

Activity data from EWMHS 2017 to 2020 does however show an
overall improving position with regards the 12-week referral to
assessment targets. In 2019/20 (last full year of data) 73% of referrals
were assessed within 4 weeks. While there is a need to provide much
greater clarity to stakeholders about the scope of EWMHS as a
commissioned service there is an opportunity for local stakeholders
to work together to develop a “best fit” model for Thurrock in line local

In order to meet the rising demand Thurrock will need to work with
partners to identify opportunities for scaling up (e.g. building up the
tier 1 workforce capacity) and identifying opportunities to do more with
less (e.g. reviewing DNA policies, maximising community assets).

131

There is also an opportunity to identify those most in need and those
unable to access services, preventing escalation to specialist service
and preventing unnecessary costs.

Page 198
132

As of May 2021 MSE has been successful in receiving monies from DfE and NHSE/I for a 3 year programme supporting wave 7 of the Mental Health Support Team rollout. This will mean an additional MHST for Thurrock
from September 2022. Thereby increasing local capacity at tier 1

Page 199

Service contracts

Page 200

There are currently a number of contracts, with a range of private,
voluntary, statutory and health care providers. Each have their own
individual range of outcome measures and key performance indicators
making it difficult to compare and measure any meaningful impact.
There exists an opportunity for commissioners to collaborate to
establish alignment of outcome and performance measures to better
understand impact. Commissioners in the local authority and Clinical
Commissioning Group can utilise this data to further analyse and
understand which interventions and services have the most significant
impact thus insuring future investment is deployed in the most
effective way. The Brighter Futures Board can act as the strategic
governance mechanism for contractual performance.

than twice as likely to suffer from mental health disorders compared
to those with jobs. Youth unemployment can have long-term effects,
with periods of unemployment affecting future employability and
wages.
The period between 12 and 24 years is a critical time for creating and
maintaining relationships with family, friends and the wider community.

The Impact of COVID 19 on Young People
There is data to suggest that young people’s mental health has been
negatively affected by the pandemic. The Opinions and Lifestyle
Survey (OPN) that has been monitoring the social impact of COVD 19
1 has found that young people are more likely than other age groups
to report that lockdown has made their mental health worse.
Young people have experienced an increase in negative feelings
across a range of areas. The understanding society data from 2017/18
and April 2020 and shows that young people were three times more
likely to report that they were not enjoying day-to-day activities in April
2020 than they were in 2017/18.
Employment and its associated economic benefits is another
important building block of a healthy life. Work gives many young
people a sense of stability, purpose and improved self-esteem. A
study from UCL (34) found that unemployed young people are more

Interacting with the wider world helps young people to strengthen
social and emotional skills during this critical developmental time.
There is research to suggest that the lack of social contact due to
lockdown may be impacting on young people’s development and their
ability to develop important social and emotional skills. (35)
There are however some positives that can be attributed to lockdown.
Many young people spent most of their time with their families rather
than their wider social circle in educational settings. Some young

people illustrated how this had brought families closer together as they
were more reliant on each other for support. Research has shown
that younger people, ages 16 to 29 years, were least likely to be
worried about the effect coronavirus was having on their lives (17%)
compared with those aged 30 to 59 years (27%) or those aged 60
years and over (24%). (36)

Page 201

Some young people were however disproportionally affected by the
pandemic. These include children with SEND, pre exiting mental
health needs, ethnic minorities, disadvantaged children and females.
(37) According to the COVID-19: mental health and wellbeing
surveillance report,


From May to November 2020, female pupils aged 6 to 18
reported higher anxiety and poorer wellbeing than males



In January 2021, survey data suggests that a larger
proportion of children from households with lower annual
incomes were identified as having possible/probable mental
disorders, such as emotion and hyperactivity problems,
than those children from households with higher annual
incomes



Children and young people (aged 6 to 18) with SEND have
shown elevated mental health symptoms and higher levels
of behavioural, emotional, and, restless/attentional
difficulties throughout the pandemic



There is evidence to suggest that some young people with
pre-existing mental health needs have found access to care
and the return to school difficult



Some evidence suggests that children and young people
from ethnic minority backgrounds have experienced a
higher rate of mental health and wellbeing concerns (37)

The Local Authority and CCG will seek to address disproportionality
through bespoke local plans and the recently awarded Government
Recovery Funds.

135

SP4: Ambitions

1. Strengthen our whole school approach, with a view to ensuring all

Ambition 1
Short term
<18months

children are thriving and have access to the support they need

Further information
SP4 Lead: Director for Children,
MSE and or SWS Partnership Board
Chair
SP4 supporting group: SWS
Partnership Board

Page 202

Ambition 2
Medium term
18-36 months

Ambition 3 Long
term
36-60months

2. Identify and implement solutions which recognise needs early and
improve access to targeted and specialist interventions.

3 Tackle the social inequalities that put young people at a disadvantage
in achieving good mental health and health

Opportunities identified:
collaboration, intelligence,
transformation, integration,
innovative thinking.
Challenges: increased demand,
system fragmentation, sustainability,
service models, accessibility,
“hidden need”

SP4: The Attainment Roadmap

1

Page 203
2.

Ambition

Rationale

Strengthen our
whole school
approach ( WSA)
with a view to
ensuring all children
are thriving and
have access to the
support they need

A strong WSA could help to stop mental ill health from developing in the first place by shifting some of the
emphasis from treatment to prevention and early intervention, building on existing strengths and minimising
risks which tip young people away from mental wellbeing and towards mental ill health. This ambition will also
allow partners to facilitate the enhancement of the necessary knowledge, skills and confidence required in
promoting good mental health in school communities and families.
The WSA will ensure clarity of when to provide universal, targeted or referral to specialist services. Thereby
allowing children to receive the support they need at the right time and enabling them to thrive.
A key principle of WSA is partnership working. A strengthened approach will solidify existing stakeholder
relationships and address partnership fragmentation, training and communication challenges. This
consideration is supported by a number of sources including the interim UEA report of the SWS service and
the SP4 Appreciative Stakeholder Enquiry.
The integration of the Schools Wellbeing Service and the Mental Health Support teams will support the
strengthening of the local WSA by increasing low level mental health support coverage of local schools. This
proposal supports sustainability and is aligned with national policy and local evidence.

Identify and
implement solutions
that recognise
needs early and
improve access to
targeted and
specialist
interventions.

Solutions which address “hidden need” and pathway fragmentation are likely to improve access to services
and provide timely intervention. Figure 34 visualises this concern and shows the number of children
diagnosed with a mental health problem known to services above the iceberg and children not known to
services with a probable disorder beneath the iceberg. Strengthened workforce capacity at a universal level
could support the early identification and low level intervention needs of children not known to services. This
workforce would also serve to facilitate appropriate access to targeted or specialist services as needed or
provide low level support preventing the need for further pathway escalation.
Service fragmentation, waiting times, highly set thresholds and the use of a community assets are all
challenges identified within this report which affect service access. An evidence based model therefore needs
to be agreed with partners to address these challenges and ensure children receive the help they need. In
addition to this there are a number of good practise examples identified by the CQC on improving service
access that have not been piloted in Thurrock. The Brighter Futures Partnership wish to be bold and

137

innovative and consider further solutions for service access over the course of this strategy. An emerging test
and learn model is currently being considered.
There is an opportunity locally to align targeted support to areas of greatest need in line with place
transformation, within the context of reduced budgets and increasing demand.

3.

Page 204

Tackling the social
inequalities that put
young people at a
disadvantage in
achieving good
mental health and
health

Experiencing disadvantage and being vulnerable can increase the risk of mental health problems.
Socioeconomically disadvantaged children and adolescents are two to three times more likely to develop
mental health problems. There exists an opportunity locally to identify options to better understand the social
inequalities that lead to mental ill health in children. Furthermore, the Brighter Futures Survey report 2020
has recommended an analysis of inequalities to better understand the social inequalities driving wellbeing
inequalities. This is backed by evidence sources which refer to the unequal distribution of poor mental health.

138

Ambition

Process/Action

1. Strengthen our
whole school
approach, with a view
to ensuring all children
are thriving and have
access to the support
they need

•

2. Identify and
implement solutions
which recognise needs
early and improve
access to targeted and
specialist interventions.

•

•
•

1.

Page 205

2.
3.

4.
5.
6.
7.
•

Short/Medium/Long
term

Identify opportunities and implement action's to integrate the Mental Health Support Teams
and the SWS
Actively promote the THRIVE model with schools and families
Review findings from the SWS Evaluation to support further action under this ambition

Short term

Develop a solution for consultation with stakeholders. We will work with stakeholders to
develop model to articulate our aspirations on what good looks like. We will also agree a
comprehensive set of principles for local services:
Holistic – treatment approaches take a whole family approach and treat both the young person
and the family and environmental environment in which the young person lives.
Responsive – help is available when required and to all who need it.
Integrated –service delivery is embedded into a single integrated model of children’s emotional
health and wellbeing and other community assets including schools and INSPIRE rather than
being delivered separately or in parallel.
Preventative – will seek to intervene at the earliest possible opportunity to prevent mental ill
health issues becoming worse
Resilient and capacity building – helps to support a resilient service model by building capacity
through training and education.
Evidence Based Practice- takes into consideration local & national evidence as part of service
development
Able to provide a single point of access – offers swift seamless navigation and support for
professional and parents throughout the service model and system
Appraise options for a targeted service in areas identified as having greatest need.
Mapping of existing community and primary care provision and skilling up of the work force to
support the identification and signposting of higher risk young people

Short term

139

3. Tackling the social
inequalities that put
young people at a
disadvantage in
achieving good mental
health and health

•
•
•

Undertake an inequalities deep dive into children’s mental health. This will be led by the
Thurrock Public Health Team in partnership with the Brighter Futures Board and supported by
the Brighter Futures Survey.
Strengthen existing service provision to provide holistic, evidenced-based support for children
most at risk for developing mental health problems – specifically children with SEND, looked
after and known to the Youth Offending Service.
Mapping of existing community and primary care provision and skilling up of the work force to
support the identification and signposting of higher risk young people.

Page 206
140

Long term
Medium term
Medium term

So what?



Themes from Appreciative Enquiry SP4 include:



-

Putting CYP at the centre of the strategy and using their feedback
to guide future services.
Using a whole school approach for early intervention.
Working with the whole family.
Building on the collaboration between services by further
integrating the offer.
Outcome measures should include resilience measures and selfassessment by CYP
Ensuring timely access to services
Person centered care planning



We will seek to address “hidden” or below the iceberg mental
health problems through our newly skilled workforce, with
emphasis on identifying and addressing risk factors for mental illhealth and including the impact of COVID-19 measures on CYP
social and emotional skills

-

We will Identify and implement solutions which improve access to
targeted and specialist interventions

Now what?



We are building on practice deemed as good or outstanding

•

Page 207



We are proposing the strengthening of our whole school approach,
with a view to ensuring that all our children thrive and have access
to the support they need

We intend to make maximum use of local assets to support
wellbeing in our young people by linking into the Stronger Together
Directory with CVS and working closely with our voluntary sector
colleagues (making use of the support listed for adults to benefit
families)

•



We will tackle social inequalities that affect our children’s mental
health

•





We undertook an appreciative enquiry with stakeholders in April
2020; 81% of stakeholders thought the ambitions for SP4 were
right

•
•

•

We will use the information generated from our appreciate inquiries
to support our “articulating plans into action phase”
May 2021 – September 2021 will mark our “articulating plans into
action” phase
The Brighter Futures Board will provide overall strategic
governance and oversight of the process moving forward.
The Schools Wellbeing Partnership will provide operational
oversight of and review of SP4 plans.
Recognition of unmet/hidden needs and understanding
inequalities – linking in with the PHM MSE work stream.
An integration model, bringing services together to achieve better
outcomes across the system and offering consolidation

SP4: How will we know we are there?
Service delivery
 Partners will assure the Brighter Futures Partnership Board and SWS that Local Child and Adolescent Mental Health
Service and multi-agency pathways are in place and incorporate agreed principles and innovation
 Evaluation of the Schools Wellbeing Service, child self-assessments
 Audit of Young People’s Voice Charter

Page 208

Child Outcomes:
 Measurable improvements in children and young people’s emotional wellbeing are identified through the Brighter Futures
Survey
 Number of finished admission episodes in children aged between 10 and 24 years where the main cause is intentional selfharm, available in Child Health Profiles and in the Young People’s Profiles
 Number of hospital admissions in children aged between 10 and 14 years where the main cause is intentional self-harm,
available in Young People Profiles
 Hospital admissions in children aged between 15 and 19 years where the main cause is intentional self-harm, available in
Young People’s Profiles
Measure and compare to a baseline the,





number of children with emotional health and wellbeing issues who have access to the school wellbeing service and
MHSTs
number of children and young people accessing a low level mental health support in targeted areas
number of children and young people who show improved mental health following interventions from the school wellbeing
service and MHSTs
number of referrals to EWMHS services

Chapter 4: Delivering our Vision
4.1 Delivering our Vision
Why is our vision important?

Page 209

Children and young people’s physical, emotional and mental wellbeing
are shaped by the social determinants of health into which they are
born, live, learn and grow. As a partnership we are aware that there is
a complex interrelationship between the experiences an individual
child has in a family and those they experience in the wider community.
Negative experiences, both at home and in the community can mean
that children are at greater risk of experiencing poorer outcomes which
can propagate inequality throughout life, from one generation to the
next. Our vision and strategic priorities take into account the individual
and wider risk factors that need to be addressed in order to achieve
the best results for our children.
Transition into adulthood threads through all of our priorities and is
implicit within our vision. Early and effective planning for transitioning
out of care is key in ensuring challenges are addressed in a timely way
and can work to support young people’s independent living in ways
that benefit their entire wellbeing. Locally there is an opportunity to
strengthen existing transition strategies through close collaboration
with adult services and service users.
A Themed Approach
Over the life span of this strategy we aim to have an annual theme to
mark our focus for the year in line with our plans. Our themes will start
in the month of September in the respective year:
2021 – Reset and Recovery

2022 – Our year of levelling up
2023 – The year of Mental & Emotional Wellbeing
2024 - Our year of Safeguarding
2025 - Reaching our aspirations
Demonstrating impact and measuring success
Impact will be demonstrated through refreshed performance
measures in our Brighter Futures Outcomes Framework. LINK TO
OUTCOMES FRAMEWORK
Our Pledge
Taking a whole family approach, we pledge to continue to strive to
move towards a more integrated and collaborative approach with
system partners. We will also listen to the views of our young people
and hold ourselves to account to deliver on our promises.
LINK to YP PLEDGE

4.2 Young people’s voice

international legislation to acknowledge that 'children are
subjects of rights rather than merely recipients of protection'

Importance of Young People’s Voice

Page 210

Co-production is one of the underpinning principles of our strategy.
We have therefore sought to engage with local young people to better
understand the importance of health and wellbeing from their
perspective using creative workshops and semi structured interviews.
We have done this to ensure that our strategy reflects the priorities
and ambitions of local young people.
As a partnership we appreciate that our views may not be shared by
local young people and that many young people recognise their right
to participate in matters that affect them. We have therefore embarked
on a responsible power sharing journey with local young residents to
empower them, increase transparency and create trust.
The importance of youth voice cannot be overstated. Transparent
strategic planning is about putting the user of a service or intervention
at the heart of the development process, to make sure it addresses
felt needs and that plans are fit for those who will use them. Listening
to young people can improve policy and service delivery.
There is quite a rich national and local policy context to children’s voice.
A few key examples include:
• The 1989 Children Act for England and Wales 'which opened
the way for children to have an increasing influence on the
outcome of decision-making'.
• The UN Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC),
ratified by the UK Government in 1991, was the first piece of

•

Article 12 of the Convention states that children and young
people have the right to express their views freely in all areas
that they are involved in, and that these views should be
listened to

•

The Green Paper Every Child Matters, 2003. This emphasised
the government's commitment to involving children and young
people in planning, delivering and reviewing policies and
services that affect them

•

Locally children’s voice is consistently obtained through our
statutory services.

Voice can be defined as
meaning that resides in
the individual and
enables that individual
to participate in a
community.

144

environment and self & freedoms. Workshop findings were consistent
with these areas of importance. When asked what was important to
them, responses included:

4.3 Young people’s voice - Creative
Workshops

“Friends, family, education, success and doing well in life”
Young people’s definitions of health & wellbeing included:
“Thoughts and feelings, exercise, good nutrition and your mind”
The findings also suggest that the strategic priorities within the
Brighter Futures strategy reflect what local young people deem as
important.

“Respect is such a shared thing, if you don’t respect other people
they are not going to respect you”
Young Person, Creative Workshop February 2021

We invited 30 children across Thurrock to take part in an engagement
exercise * during the February 2021 half term. The project was
advertised on the Youth Services page on the Thurrock Council
Website, with a link to sign up to the project. Six online workshops
were conducted with young people aged between 11 and 18 (n=29).
Workshops were used to explore young people’s perceptions of
wellbeing using drama, animation and poetry. Two times as many girls
took part compared to boys with representation from BME and
physical disabilities communities. The sample of children were
obtained through convenience and self-selection using existing social
care and community networks.

Page 211

Young people were cautiously optimistic about the future and about
where they wanted to be later in life.
“Success pie ingredients, patience hard work, self-love, selfconfidence and personality.
The workshops also gave some insight into how lock down had
impacted upon young people and the added value of the experience.
Having taken part in the workshops, young people were asked if there
was something they would differently or what would remain the same
in their lives. They responded:
“Talk to others more confidently”; “Take time each morning to
focus on myself”; “Believe in myself”
“Listen to everyone else for them to listen to you”

While children’s views of health and wellbeing vary, by age, stage of
maturity, gender and socio-economic circumstances, there appear to
be three main areas of importance quality of relationships,
*

*It is noted that the engaged sample were not truly representative of Thurrock and that perceptions of wellbeing would vary depending on gender, age, maturity and socio
economic status.

145

Figure 36 Creative conversations word cloud

Page 212

4.4 Young people’s voice – Semi
structured interviews
A self-selecting group of children and young people were interviewed
following the workshop for more detailed discussion on their views on
health and wellbeing. Thematic analysis of the post project interviews
has therefore been undertaken to draw out the main themes identified
and to assess if the Brighter Future’s strategy priorities and ambitions
are aligned to what young people deem as important.
Sample
Post project interviews were conducted with 12 of original workshop
cohort (n=29)

Page 213

3

The group consisted of 9 girls and 3 boys between the ages of 11
and 18 years old.

Table 9 Questions from Boom post project interviews

Interview Questions

What effect has the pandemic had on you?
What does “wellbeing “mean to you?
What does “being healthy” mean to you?
What are the 3 most important things in life to you?
What would help to achieve the things most important to you?
Does your involvement in shaping a local authority strategy matter
to you? Why?
Table 10 Example of initial and refined coding framework used for thematic analysis

Initial coding

Refined coding

Low mood
Depressed
Negative impact on mental
health
Scared
Stressed

Mental health concerns

Methods
The interviews were transcribed and grouped according to the
questions being asked (see Table 9). Word clouds have been
generated using transcripts of the interviews to highlight the main
concerns of the interviewees. A coding framework was then devised
in order to identify the main themes. These coding groups were then
further refined by grouping together common themes. (Table 10).

Nothing to do
Need some motivation
Bored

Lack of motivation

Lonely
Miss friends
Social interaction

Socialisation

Stuck indoors
School disruption
Can’t see friends

Disruption to normal life

School disruption
Worsening grades

Impact on education

Effect of Lockdown on Children and young people
Boredom

Themes

Stress/anxiety
Poor school work
Lack
scoial
interaction
Lack
of of
social
interaction
Low mood/worse mental health
Disruption of normal life
0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

Page 214

No of times mentioned

The most frequent responses related to the effect on mental health.
Answers included mentions of low mood, anxiety about various issues
including school work and also returning to normal school after being
at home. The pandemic may have had the effect of increasing
awareness of mental health issues amongst children and young
people.

Effect of pandemic on children and young people
The interviewer asked the young people how they had been affected
by the COVID pandemic and the impact of lockdown on their lives.
The following graph shows the themes that came up most frequently
in their responses.

The lack of social interaction also featured predominantly in the
responses. Words such as “trapped” or “stuck” were often used to
describe their experience of lockdown.

148

“going for a run makes me feel so much better
about myself, and that’s not just good for my
health physically but also mentally”
“if your mental health is bad then everything else is
going to suffer because of that”
One respondent described health as being “able to do the things
you normally do” showing awareness of the importance of health in
leading a productive life.

What does "being healthy" mean to you?
Physical health

Themes

Self care
Mental Health
Emotional Health

Page 215

Diet

Exercise
0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Frequency

What does “being healthy” mean to you?

Diet and exercise were mentioned frequently demonstrating that the
young people understood their importance in relation to health.

When asked about what being healthy meant to them, all but two of
the children spoke about both mental and physical health. The two
youngest children (aged 11 and 12) only discussed physical health.
This might perhaps suggest that awareness of mental health is more
prevalent in older children and teenagers.
There was an awareness among the young people of the benefits of
exercise and physical activity on mental health and the
interconnectedness of physical and mental health.

149

friendship group. They also discussed feeling the lack of socialisation
during the lockdown and missing some of this support.
Education featured more predominantly for the older children
particularly those age 15 and older who had experienced disruptions
to their schooling during a time they would be sitting national exams
and preparing for the future. The older children were also more likely
to mention the need for opportunities and success later in life.
Mental and emotional wellbeing was again mentioned frequently
highlighting how important an issue this is for children and young
people.

Page 216

One child mentioned the heightened awareness the pandemic had
given her of the need to be in a secure home and the dangers the
pandemic had posed for other people in terms of homelessness and
financial difficulty.
Overall the answers indicated that what the interviewees valued most
was their support system, as this enabled them to maintain their health
and persevere with education.

What are the 3 most important things in life to you?
Family was the most frequently cited aspect of life when the young
people were asked what was most important to them. Some of the
children elaborated on this and discussed the support they had got
from their family during lockdown and how this had been important in
helping them through this difficult time.

There was also a sense of ambition and hopefulness for the future
with the importance of education and opportunities being discussed.

The next most frequently mentioned category was friends. Again the
young people mentioned the support they felt they got from their

150

What are the 3 most important things in life to
you?

Support type

Hobbies
Home/Security

Themes

Religion
Opportunities/success in life

Family

Mental and emotional wellbeing
Education

Page 217

Friends
Family
0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Frequency

What would help to achieve the things most important
to you?
When asked about what would help them achieve their goals the
majority of young people discussed needing some type of support.
The types of support fell broadly into three categories, school, family
and friends.

151

Friends

School

Support in a school setting was the
greatest need.
This included
greater support for learning
disabilities. While the younger
children (aged<15 years) were
more likely to mention wanting to
return to school and see friends,
the older children were focused on
their need for support with careers,
job opportunities and how to
prepare themselves for the future.

What would help to achieve the things most
important to you?

Reasons why shaping a local authority strategy
mattered
Link to local community

Reasons

Support with education from school
Opportunities

Themes

Career support

Desire to help others
Confidence and trust in Local Authority
Important for young people to be heard

Socialisation

0

Support from friends

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Frequency
Support from family

Page 218

Returning to school
0

1

2

3

4

5

The interviews highlighted the importance of young people having
their views heard by people in authority. Some of the young people
mentioned that they felt as though the council cared about them more
now.

6

Frequency

Does your involvement in shaping a local authority
strategy matter to you? Why?

There was a desire to be useful to others and a sense of achievement
that came with contributing to the project.
There was also mention of being a part of the local community, having
been born in Thurrock, and feeling a need to see that community
prosper.

Overall the young people who took part in the Boom project felt that it
did matter to them that they had been involved in a project that would
help shape local policy.

152

Page 219

153

Mapping needs against strategy priorities
Overall, the two areas that the young people highlighted as important were help with their emotional and mental wellbeing and support with
education and to achieve their future goals. The following two maps look at these areas.
Mapping Young People’s needs against strategic priorities.

Need of CYP

Main categories of need

Page 220

Emotional and
mental wellbeing

Brighter Futures Strategic Priorities
& Services

Strategic Priority 4
(Services pp 114-120)

Health and well being

Physical Health

Strategic Priority 2
(Services pp 60-72)

Mapping Young People’s needs against strategic priorities

Need of CYP

Main categories of
need

Areas of support

Extra support with
schoolwork

School

Brighter Futures Strategic
Priority & Services
SP1
(services pp 3640)

SP1
(Ask, Inspire, etc.)

Page 221

Career support
and future opportunities

Support to achieve goals

SP1
(Family Learning)

Family and Friends
Supporting children to
achieve goals

SP1
(Kickstart)

155

Key points

Page 222

•

The pandemic has had a profound effect on children and young
people. The children interviewed had experienced strain on
their emotional and mental wellbeing as a result of a lack of
socialisation and the disruptions to their normal life

•

For the majority of the interviewees, wellbeing as a concept
was strongly linked to mental and emotional health. Older
children appeared to be more aware of their mental health
needs

•

For most children “being healthy “meant both physical and
mental health. There was also good awareness of the
interconnectedness of physical and mental health

•

Family and friendships were of high importance to the group
interviewed. This reflected a need for a solid support system in
order for them to achieve their goals which included a good
education and opportunities to succeed in life

•

Although their motivation for participating in the project was not
to affect local authority strategy, most of the children felt it was
an important matter. They highlighted the importance of having
their voices heard and the increased trust some of them had
in the council as a result of feeling heard. One child said it was
not important to him as he did not understand how things would
be changed or influenced. There might therefore be an
opportunity to engage more with young people through projects
such as this one in order to increase their awareness and
confidence in local authority.

•

The mapping exercise shows that the Brighter Futures strategy
is aligned to what young people deemed as important. It is
noted that many of the services that support the mental health
and aspirations of young people such as the SWS and career
advice are provided through the school environment. Due to
the pandemic children have been unable to go to school and
may have been less aware of what was on offer to them and
less able to access these services. Going forward these young
people are likely to need increased support due to the severe
disruption they have experienced in their schooling and life
planning
Limitations: the findings represent the views of the 12 young people who
took part in the project and cannot be generalised.

References

Page 223

1. Office of the Childrens Commissioner. Briefing: Tackling the disadvantage gap during the Covid-19 crisis. April 2020.
2. Crenna-Jennings, Whitney. Key Drivers of the Disadvantage Gap: Literature Review. s.l. : Education Policy Institute, 2018.
3. UCL Institute of Health Equity. Local action on health inequalities: Reducing the number of young people not in employment, education or
training (NEET). s.l. : Public Health England, 2014.
4. HM Government. Child Poverty Strategy: 2014-17. 2014.
5. NATSAL. National Survey of Sexual Attitudes and Lifestyles 3. Unpublished data. 2013.
6. Office for National Statistics . Conception statistics, England and Wales . [Online] 2018.
7. The prevalence of unplanned pregnancy and associated factors in Britain: findings from the third National Survey of Sexual Attitudes and
Lifestyles (Natsal-3) . Wellings, K. 2013, The Lancet, Vol. 382.
8. Director of Public Health. Annual Public Health Report – Violence & Vulnerability. Thurrock : Thurrock Council, 2019.
9. Cullinane, Carl and Montacute, Rebecca. COVID-19 and Social Mobility Impact Brief #1: School Closures. s.l. : The Sutton Trust, April
2020.
10. Public Health England. Best start in life and beyond: Improving public health outcomes for children, young people and families. 2016.
11. England, Public Health. Guidance. Supporting public health: children, young people and families. 2021.
12. Department of Health. Guidance. Healthy Child Programme: 5 to 19 years old. 2009.
13. Department of Health and Social Care. Policy paper. Healthy Child Programme: Pregnancy and the First 5 Years of Life. 2009.
14. Childbearing and obesity in women: weight before, during, and after pregnancy. Gunderson, EP. 2, s.l. : Obstet Gynecol Clin North Am,
2009, Vol. 36.
15. Care of Women with Obesity in Pregnancy. Denison, FC, et al. s.l. : British Journal of Gynecology, 2018.
16. NHS. Healthy Start. [Online] [Cited: 7 December 2020.] https://www.healthystart.nhs.uk/.
17. The Health Foundation. Generation Covid-19. [Online] August 2020. [Cited: 8 January 2021.]
https://www.health.org.uk/publications/long-reads/generation-covid-19.
18. The Health Foundation. How has children and young people's usage of A&E been impacted by lockdown and social distancing?
The Health Foundation. [Online] September 2020. [Cited: 8 January 2021.] https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/charts-andinfographics/how-has-children-and-young-peoples-usage-of-AE-been-impacted-by-lockdown-and-social-distancing.
19. Youth Justice Board for England and Wales. Ethnic disproportionality in remand and sentencing in the youth justice system:
Analysis of administrative data . s.l. : HM Government, 2021.
20. Thornberry, TP. Membership in youth gangs and involvement in serious and violent offending. [ed.] R Loeber and D Farrington.
Serious and Violent Juvenile Offenders: Risk Factors and Successful Interventions. Thousand Oaks, CA : Sage, 1998.
21. Young, T, et al. Groups, gangs and weapons .Youth Justice Board. s.l. : Youth Justice Board, 2007.
22. Heale, J. One Blood: inside Britain’s New Street Gangs. s.l. : Simon & Schuster, 2008. p. 34.
23. Gangs Working Group. Dying to belong: an in-depth review of street gangs in Britain. London : The Centre for Social Justice, 2009.

Page 224

24. Understanding the black box of gang organization: implications for involvement in violent crime, drug sales, and violent
victimization. Decker, SH, Katz, CM and Webb, VJ. 1, 2008, Crime & Delinquency, Vol. 54, pp. 153-172.
25. Youth gang membership and serious violent victimization: the importance of lifestyles and routine activities. Taylor, TJ, et al. 10,
2008, Journal of Interpersonal Violence, Vol. 23, pp. 1441-1464.
26. NHS Digital. Mental Health of Children and Young People in England, 2020. 2020.
27. Sainsbury Centre for Mental Health. . Mental health at work: developing the business case. 2007.
28. The Mental Health Foundation. Fundamental Facts About Mental Health. 2015.
29. McDaid, Shari and Kousoulis, Antonis. Tackling social inequalities to reduce mental health problems: How everyone can flourish
equally. The Mental Health Foundation. 2020.
30. Young Minds. Mental Health Statistics. Young Minds. [Online] 2021. https://youngminds.org.uk/about-us/media-centre/mentalhealth-stats/.
31. Public Health England. Guidance. School-aged years high impact area 1: Supporting resilience and wellbeing. Rules, Guidance and
Support. [Online] 19 May 2021.
32. Thurrock Council Public Health. SEND Deep Dive. s.l. : Thurrock Council, 2021.
33. Children's Commissioner. The state of children’s mental health services 2019/20. 2020.
34. Centre for Longitudinal Studies. Economic activity and health: Initial findings from the Next Steps Age 25 Sweep. s.l. : UCL, 2017.
35. The effects of social deprivation on adolescent development and mental health. Orben, Amy, Tomova, Livia and Blakemore, SarahJayne. 8, 2020, Lancet Child and Adolescent Health, Vol. 4, pp. 634-640.
36. ONS. Coronavirus and the social impacts on young people in Great Britain: 3 April to 10 May 2020. Office for National Statistics.
[Online] June 2020.
37. Public Health England. COVID-19: mental health and wellbeing surveillance report. GOV.UK. [Online] 19 May 2021.

158

Agenda Item 9


ITEM: 9

23 July 2021
Thurrock Health and Wellbeing Board
Primary Care Strategy Refresh
Wards and communities affected:

Key Decision:

All

N/A

Report of: Rahul Chaudhari, Deputy NHS Alliance Director, Thurrock CCG
Accountable Head of Service: Mark Tebbs, NHS Alliance Director, Thurrock CCG
Accountable Director: Mark Tebbs, NHS Alliance Director, Thurrock CCG
This report is public
Executive Summary
The Primary Care Strategy refresh has reviewed the strategy that was agreed in
2018 and intends to address the key changes to health and healthcare since that
date as they relate to this sector, and primary care’s enhanced role within Mid and
South Essex. It is intended as a blueprint which will both guide the strategic and
operational development of primary care and emphasise its importance and
contribution to the entire Health and Care system.
The paper aims to update the members about the Primary Care Strategy Refresh,
highlight the key strategic areas for primary care in an Integrated Care System and
how it relates to Thurrock.

1.

Recommendation(s)
Members are requested to take note of the contents of this paper

2.

Introduction and Background

2.1

In 2018 the five CCGs approved a Primary Care Strategy that:
Sought to address a demand and capacity gap that both existed, and was
projected to increase, over the following three years.
Improving the sustainability of general practice and increasing its
attractiveness as a place to work in Essex.
Building on a relatively new locality structure in order to improve standards
and mutual support across primary care.





This Strategy is due to expire in the summer of 2021.

Page 225



2.2

The Health and Care Partnership agreed that a refresh of the Primary Care
Strategy was required. This refresh was led by Brian Balmer, CEO of the
North and South Essex LMCs.

2.3

The strategy refresh builds on the existing 2018 strategy – it does not propose
an alternative strategic direction but focuses heavily on the element of
collaborative working - and takes account of local and national policy changes
that have occurred since the original strategy was approved. Explicitly it takes
account of
 The NHS Long Term Plan (2019),
 Investment and Evolution: A five-year framework for GP contract
reform to implement The NHS Long Term Plan (2019),
 The Mid and South Essex Health and Care Partnership Five Year
Delivery Plan (2019)
 The Mid and South Essex Memorandum of Understanding and H&CP
Outcomes Framework
 The impact of the on-going pandemic, and
 Recent publication of the DH&SC White Paper
In summary the strategy says Primary Care Networks are about collaboration
and will be the vehicle for collaborative working at the local level, and;
improving population health. As a system we will support them grow.

3.

Issues, Options and Analysis of Options

3.1

Impact on Resources - Funding
The strategy is underpinned by national and local policy direction. It does not
explicitly request funding over and above that already identified for investment
into Primary Care as part of nationally negotiated contract reform. This
investment forms part of CCG Primary Care Allocations and expectations for
utilisation ae defined nationally. It does however make a statement of intent
that investment into Primary Care, via PCNs, should grow as a proportion of
local resource. As a principle it aligns with emerging thinking for the system
financial framework and development of service line budgets.

3.2

Impact on Resources - People
As noted above PCN investment through the national contract has been
targeted at clinical capacity. There has been no real/explicit investment in
management infrastructure. The expectation of the strategy is that as the
system realigns through its move towards an ICS – and as part of the ongoing
CCG structure discussions – traditional commissioning resource is
transitioned to facilitate PCN development as part of place-based teams. This
aligns with discussions held with NHS Alliance Directors. The ambition would
be that other partners also align resource to PCNs as well – whilst the NHS
Standard Contact will support this, meaningful implementation will require
local ownership of the strategic vision for PCNs.

Page 226



3.3

Clinical Workforce
In 2018 there was a known and projected demand and capacity gap. The
national contract reforms tend to acknowledge this as well through the
creation of the Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme – significant
investment into PCNs for increased capacity. Data analysis run as part of this
strategy refresh suggests recruitment to these roles is essential in meeting
demand for General Practice services. This provides the resilience and
sustainability practices need to become effective members of Primary Care
Networks. A key strategic deliverable will be the recruitment and retention of
these roles within PCNs – and ensuring they become valued and effective
members of collaborative teams.

3.4

Implementation
Implementation of the strategy sits at both system and place, however it
needs to be truly owned at place as success depends upon the development
of effective collaborative working between practices and between practices
and the wider membership of PCNs. This is a key deliverable for NHS
Alliance Directors and partners at place. Place based plans are currently
being developed which should include the local approach to PCN
development, as well as the identification of place/PCN based priorities that
align to system ambitions.
It is acknowledged however that elements of funding are received at system
level, and elements of implementation can be accelerated if undertaken
collectively. At system there will also be support to those PCNs that wish to
develop faster to do so through a PCN Accelerator Programme. This will
enable the exploration of the possible, and enable adoption and spread of
good practice. This programme will support delivery of local ambition.
Collective implementation is proposed to be overseen at the existing Primary
Care Programme Board. This will require evolution from its current form to
widen membership to take account of key strategic partners, and any
proposed changes required as part of the move to an ICS.

4.

Reasons for Recommendation
The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to take note of the strategic
direction as described within this document. This has also been approved by
the System Leadership Executive Group (SLEG).

5.

Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable)

5.1

Engagement took place through multiple forums and targeted discussion
groups including


GPs, Clinical Directors and the LMC

Page 227









Clinical Commissioning Groups – both GP leaders and management
Community and Acute Provider representation
Local Upper Tier Authorities
Healthwatch Organisations
The Health and Care Partnership Board

5.2

In addition to engagement sessions a draft version was shared with multiple
stakeholders and system leaders for comment

5.3

All feedback has been incorporated into the current version. Feedback tended
to focus around a few key points
a.

b.

c.
d.

e.
f.

g.

The challenge of Primary Care to develop the infrastructure to grow the
PCNs into the vehicles for collaboration and health improvement that the
strategy intends them to become
The challenge faced by PCNs to recruit the additional roles that are
available through the Network DES, and are essential in developing a
resilient and sustainable Primary Care market
General Practices view that PCNs will only be successful if individual
practices are resilient and sustainable and able to engage
The importance of recognising the good work already taking place in
pockets across the footprint in relation to collaborative working,
particularly between partners beyond General Practice– and the
importance that implementation of this strategy builds on this, as
opposed to detracts from this
PCN development will be reliant on the strength of the relationships
between partners, and as such implementation has to be locally driven
The impact of movements to digital and remote working borne out of the
response to the current pandemic need to be understood. There is a risk
it could increase inequalities as a result of ‘digital exclusion’. This needs
to be considered as part of local implementation, and as part of the
Digital First Primary Care Strategy currently being developed
There is recognition that the system faces a growing challenge with the
increasing numbers of people waiting between referral and first
appointment, and first appointment and treatment. This should be
considered as part of the system response to managing this known
issue. A Guardian service is proposed as one possible solution to
manage this issue

6.
Successful delivery of the strategy will, as noted in the main document,
support
1. Delivery of improvements in population health as measured though the
national Impact and Investment Fund measures and local alignment to the
H&CP Outcomes Framework, and
2. Improvements in PCN maturity, and relationships between those working at
a PCN footprint.

Page 228



Key Strategic Areas and Expected Changes within the next two years
Refining and Strengthening Primary Care Networks (PCNs) and their role in service
integration
Strategic Priority
Clarify and implement NHS England’s
core ambitions for PCNs, namely
improved sustainability in general
practice, and enhanced capacity across
primary care.
PCNs will lead the integration of
services, working with Community
Providers covering both physical and
mental health and Local Authorities

Expected Progress by 2023/24
Practices are confident about PCN service
delivery and its effect on their patients.

Local delivery models, led by individual
or groupings of PCNs, will allow closer
collaboration between primary care and
both secondary care and mental health
providers.
Through PCNs and the national service
specifications PCNs will deliver services
in partnership that contribute to the
improvement of care within local
priority areas including cancer care and
ageing well.
PCNs will lead the integration of
services, working with Community
Providers covering both physical and
mental health and Local Authorities

Networks are able to fund community level
improvements and the development of care
pathways.

Practices routinely use population health
data to guide their work and support
integration with community partners to
improve patient care.

Networks are delivering services that are in
line national requirements, and where
appropriate exceed to meet local priorities

Community providers, and other
stakeholders, identifying named leads to
work as part of the emerging PCN leadership
teams – able to make collective decisions
around best use of the local workforce to
meet the PCN ambitions.

Page 229



Addressing the legacy of the Pandemic by improving collaboration with Acute care
Strategic Priority
Explore the development of a
“Guardian” service which will address
the issues arising from the patient group
who have been referred but will have
prolonged waits for definitive
treatment.
Utilise the administrative capacity of the
Guardian service to identify and address
unnecessary delays and problems
affecting patient care, and producing
increased workload.
Encourage and develop joint working
between primary and secondary care
and the production of agreed care
pathways with a focus on prevention,
personalisation and self-care through all
partner organisations involved in PCNs.

Expected Progress by 2023/24
Patients will have mostly virtual access to
their diagnostic tests and ready access to
their care plans and timescales

Communication between Primary care and
Acute services will where necessary be
channeled through the Guardian service.

Pathway development will be a trigger for
joint clinical training and education across
the system

Developing leadership and innovation within the Primary Care Workforce
Strategic Priority

Expected Progress by 2023/24

Increase management capacity within
PCNs in order to drive integration.

Within twelve months create an
infrastructure which can independently
innovate and solve local problems.

Promote specialist roles and portfolio
careers for clinicians from both primary
and secondary care.

Demonstrate clinical collaboration is driving
meaningful bottom up integration through
adoption of a framework similar to the
Integrated
Workforce
I-Statements
Framework.

Continue to develop Accelerator PCNs
and invest in success.

Support for all Networks through their wider
development and also freeing and
supporting lead and accelerator PCNs to
make progress.

Page 230



7.

Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community
impact
The impact of the Mid and South Essex Primary Care Refresh document
within Thurrock is that it has supported

6.1

collaborative working through the delivery of COVID-19 vaccine programme
where all 4 Thurrock PCNs came together and worked under a collaborative
agreement to deliver the COVID-19 vaccine to all Thurrock residents from 2
Local Vaccination Sites (LVS) within Thurrock. This was a unique way of
working as across MSE all other PCNs had their individual LVS.

6.2

Collaborative working has also started with clinical leaders across the system
coming together in making a success of the Clinical Professional Forum and
the Networking meetings to consider pathway design changes and address
troubleshooting to improve patient access to services.

6.3

2 Thurrock PCNs have taken up a role in Population Health Management
through the Obesity pilot PCN Accelerator Programme and 1 more PCN in
Thurrock is undertaking detailed work in the Population Health Management
work through a NHS England/Improvement project.

6.4

Even though the above work is ongoing in Thurrock there is still further work
that needs to be done to show the true impact on the MSE Primary Care
Strategy Refresh within Thurrock including further work to confirm the clinical
model within Integrated Medical Centres.

7.

Implications

7.1

Financial
N/A

7.2

Legal
N/A

7.3

Diversity and Equality
N/A

7.4

Other implications
N/A

8.

Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location
on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected
by copyright):

Page 231





9.

Mid and South Essex Health & Care Partnership Board Paper which
includes Mid and South Essex Primary Care Strategy Refresh
document

Appendices to the report


N/A

Report Author:
Rahul Chaudhari
Deputy NHS Alliance Director,
Thurrock CCG

Page 232

Primary Care Strategy (PCS) Refresh
Contents
1.

Executive Summary ........................................................................................................................................ 6

2.

Commitments ................................................................................................................................................. 8

3.

Introduction..................................................................................................................................................... 8

4.

Guiding Principles to the Strategic Review .................................................................................................... 10

5.

Key Strategic Areas for Primary Ca re in an Integrated Ca re Sys tem .............................................................. 10
5.1.

Refocussing on Primary Ca re/the scope of primary care ....................................................................... 11

5.2.

Primary Care’s Strategic Presence within the Integrated Care Sys tem (ICS) ......................................... 13

5.3.

PCNs - General Practices Operational Presence in the Integrated Care Sys tem.................................... 14

6.

Model of Ca re and the MSE Target Operating Model ......................................................................................... 20

7.

Measuring Success ...................................................................................................................................... 22
7.1.

Improvements in population health outcomes ...................................................................................... 22

7.2.

Use of s ys tem resources ...................................................................................................................... 24

7.3.

Maturity/Relational ............................................................................................................................... 24

8. Developments since 2018 and the Case for Strategic Refresh ........................................................................... 24
8.1. NHS Long-Term Plan ........................................................................................................................................ 24
8.2. Primary Ca re Networks and Inves tment ...................................................................................................... 26
8.3. Covid-19 .................................................................................................................................................... 26
8.4. Covid and Post-covi d Impact on servi ces ..................................................................................................................... 27
8.5. Digital ......................................................................................................................................................... 28
8.6. The effect of the Pandemic on Waiting Lis ts and Patient Waiting Times ..............................................................28
8.7. Integration and Innova tion: working together to improve health and social care for all .................................. 28
9.

Making i t Happen .......................................................................................................................................... 29
9.1. Engagement ............................................................................................................................................... 29
9.2. Data ............................................................................................................................................................ 32
9.3. Digital ......................................................................................................................................................... 32
9.4. Estate / PCN estate .................................................................................................................................... 33
9.5. Workforce ................................................................................................................................................... 35
9.5.1. The Primary and Community Ca re Training Hub ........................................................................... 36
9.6. Investment .................................................................................................................................................. 37
9.7. Implementation ........................................................................................................................................... 38
9.8. Risks........................................................................................................................................................... 40
9.9. Governance ................................................................................................................................................ 41

Page 233

Primary Care Networks will support collaboration amongst organisations, groups and
individuals who positively impact on their population’s health and wellbeing. As well as
Primary Medical Services and General Practice this includes other significant incumbent
providers of health and care, education providers, major employers, the third sector and
community groups. PCNs are seen as a vehicle to bring together the wider network of
primary care providers - community pharmacists, optometrists and dentists.

1. Executive Summary
The Mid & South Essex Health & Care Partnership comprises all key NHS, local authority, community
and voluntary sector organisations that collective serve our 1.2m population.
Our 5 year strategy, published in December 2019, set out our key ambition to work in partnership to
reduce health inequalities. We now know that the Covid-19 pandemic has widened those existing
health inequalities and sadly affected many of our residents. Throughout the pandemic response,
all partners worked closely together, putting the needs of the population above organisational
requirements and boundaries. We have demonstrated that joint working is key to supporting our
residents. Nowhere is this more important than in primary care – the gateway for our population to
access help, support, advice and treatment. This paper describes how we will support primary care,
through primary care networks (PCNs) to become more resilient, to take a key role in integrating care
at a local level, and to improve the health and wellbeing of our residents.
This paper describes a review of the Primary Care Strategy agreed in 2018 and addresses the key
changes to health and healthcare since that date as they relate to this sector, and primary care’s
enhanced role within Mid and South Essex. It is intended as a blueprint which will both guide the
strategic and operational development of primary care and emphasise its importance and
contribution to the entire Health and Care system.
Key Strategic Areas and Expected Changes within the next two years
Refining and Strengthening Primary Care Networks (PCNs) and their role in service integration
Strategic Priority
Clarify and implement NHS England’s
core ambitions for PCNs, namely
improved sustainability in general
practice, and enhanced capacity across
primary care.
PCNs will lead the integration of
services, working with Community
Providers covering both physical and
mental health and Local Authorities

Expected Progress by 2023/24
Practices are confident about PCN service
delivery and its effect on their patients.

Local delivery models, led by individual
or groupings of PCNs, will allow closer
collaboration between primary care and
both secondary care and mental health
providers.
Through PCNs and the national service
specifications PCNs will deliver services
in partnership that contribute to the
improvement of care within local

Networks are able to fund community level
improvements and the development of care
pathways.

Practices routinely use population health
data to guide their work and support
integration with community partners to
improve patient care.

Networks are delivering services that are in
line national requirements, and where
appropriate exceed to meet local priorities

Page 234

priority areas including cancer care and
ageing well.
PCNs will lead the integration of
services, working with Community
Providers covering both physical and
mental health and Local Authorities

Community providers, and other
stakeholders, identifying named leads to
work as part of the emerging PCN leadership
teams – able to make collective decisions
around best use of the local workforce to
meet the PCN ambitions.

Addressing the legacy of the Pandemic by improving collaboration with Acute care
Strategic Priority
Explore the development of a
“Guardian” service which will address
the issues arising from the patient group
who have been referred but will have
prolonged waits for definitive
treatment.
Utilise the administrative capacity of the
Guardian service to identify and address
unnecessary delays and problems
affecting patient care, and producing
increased workload.
Encourage and develop joint working
between primary and secondary care
and the production of agreed care
pathways with a focus on prevention,
personalisation and self-care through all
partner organisations involved in PCNs.

Expected Progress by 2023/24
Patients will have mostly virtual access to
their diagnostic tests and ready access to
their care plans and timescales

Communication between Primary care and
Acute services will where necessary be
channelled through the Guardian service.

Pathway development will be a trigger for
joint clinical training and education across
the system

Developing leadership and innovation within the Primary Care Workforce
Strategic Priority

Expected Progress by 2023/24

Increase management capacity within
PCNs in order to drive integration.

Within twelve months create an
infrastructure which can independently
innovate and solve local problems.

Promote specialist roles and portfolio
careers for clinicians from both primary
and secondary care.

Demonstrate clinical collaboration is driving
meaningful bottom up integration through
adoption of a framework similar to the
Integrated
Workforce
I-Statements
Framework.

Continue to develop Accelerator PCNs
and invest in success.

Support for all Networks through their wider
development and also freeing and
supporting lead and accelerator PCNs to
make progress.

Page 235

2. Commitments
To support delivery, we commit to building the infrastructure that enables new, collaborative, ways
of working.
The Mid & South Essex Health & Care Partnership Commit to:
Supporting PCNs to understand the information available to them, and making operational and
planning decisions based on understanding. We will give PCNs the toolsand competenciesto adopt
an operational health management approach.
Support the identification and implementation of digital solutions that support the aims ofmanaging
demand, creating capacity and improving collaboration across partners (This will be included in the
Digital First Primary Care Strategy)
Through the Workforce Training Hub, and wider workforce strategy support the retention of the
existing workforce and maximise the uptake of the Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme that is
available to PCNs to see the workforce in General Practice increase
As we move to a system operating budget, and service line budgets, ensure PCNs are part of this
development, and identify a target investment level for General Practice that builds upon the
current baseline
As we further develop our Integrated Care System we will ensure governance arrangements are fit
for purpose enabling collaboration and transformation to happen at PCN level and remove
unnecessary bureaucracy
Over the next 18 months we are committed to supporting PCNs to engage with a wider range of
stakeholders to co-design how best to maximise health and wellbeing at the local level

Through this strategy we will seek to address the challenges of unaligned purpose and incentives
amongst partners. We will look to align purpose amongst stakeholders at PCN level, working to
address local needs and inequalities whilst contributing to agreed system priorities. This will enable
PCN success to be measured across three domains
1. Improvements in population health outcomes as determined through the national contract,
and local outcomes framework
2. Use of system resources, and
3. PCN and Relationship Maturity

3. Introduction
The current Primary Care Strategy (PCS) was approved by the five Clinical Commissioning Groups
(CCGs) in June 2018 and covers the period to 2020/21.
Its focus was:
•
•

Quantifying and addressing the existing and projected capacity gap in primary care within
general practice.
Improving the sustainability of general practice and increasing its attractiveness as a place to
work in Essex.

Page 236

•

Building on a relatively new locality structure in order to improve standards and mutual
support across primary care.

The three years since the approval of the strategy have seen continued increase in the staff,
particularly clinical staff, involvedin the provision of primary care and an apparent stabilisation of the
GP workforce.

General Practice Workforce, GP, Nurses and Direct Patient Care (exc ARRS) March 2018-December 2020.
Headcount and Full-Time Equivalent (FTE) Time Series – NHS Digital

Whilst the headcount and FTE has increased across the footprint we still remain low when compared
to national benchmarks for FTE per 1,000 registered patients across most reported staff groups.

General Practice Workforce by staff group. FTE per 1,000 registered patients, by CCG and National Average
December 2020 - NHS Digital

Whilst the rate of decline in GP numbers appears to have slowed it would be wrong to claim that the
GP capacity issue has been solved and the numbers and time frame involved are insufficient to allow

Page 237

firm conclusions. There are particular concerns over the falling number of GP partners, with Thurrock
being among the lowest CCGs nationally for partner/patient ratios.
The changes to the environment in primary care since June 2018, both anticipated, planned and
globally unplanned, have beenprofoundand a realignment of the strategy withthis new world is now
necessary.
The purpose of the strategy refresh is to revisit the principles agreed in 2018 in the context of recent
changes, and to ensure Primary Care Transformation is fitfor purpose in the evolving landscape of our
Integrated Care System, and the ambitions of the Mid & South Essex Health and Care Partnership.

4. Guiding Principles to the Strategic Review
The strategy refresh has been undertaken with the following principles at its heart.
•
•
•
•

•
•

•

•

The views of our residents and patients will be routinely sought and will guide the
development of our system
Primary Care will play a key role in improving the health and wellbeing of the local population
The review of the strategymust be informedby reliable and up to date information on primary
care capacity and the needs of the population.
The economic status of primary care as a network of independent entities should be
maintained and used to best effect where these contribute to the improved health and
wellbeing of the population we serve.
System integration and transformation will recognise the challenges for and potential of
primary care.
System integration and collaboration will to a large extent proceed on the basis that the
importance of primary care is recognised and primary care colleagues are able to engage in
system development
Increased provision of care in community and primary care sectors will be planned, agreed
and resourced with due consideration given to the impact on other services, and recognising
the impact of General Practice operating under a nationally negotiated contract.
The growing primary care workforce will be supported and valued both within General
Practice and by system partners.

To this extent the Health & Care Partnership see the involvement of, and leadership from, General
Practice in PCNs as fundamental to the long-term success for the system.
The Partnership commits to supporting those that are willing to drive this agenda forward through
the targeting of development funding, supplemented by supportive resource, to increase
competencies available within PCNs. In delivering against this commitment the Partnership will
seek to identify and support lead and accelerator PCNs.

5. Key Strategic Areas for Primary Care in an Integrated Care
System
The Mid & South Essex Health & Care Partnership 5 year Strategy identified an overarching ambition
to reduce health inequalities experienced within the population. This would be achieved through:
-

Creating opportunities – through education, employment and supporting socioeconomic
growth
Supporting health and wellbeing – with a focus on prevention and self-care

Page 238

-

Bringing care closer to home – where safe and possible
Transforming and improving our services with and for the population:

Progress made since 2018, in both General Practice and the wider system, suggest that there are four
key strategic areas this refresh needs to focus on to deliver the greatest effect on both primary care
and the wider system.
1. The changing scope of primary care as a consequence to the pressures faced by other parts
of the system
2. The requirements of a strategic presence of Primary Care within a future integrated care
system and its role in supporting delivery of the ambitions described above
3. The operationalising of the ambition to drive improved health and wellbeing through the
collaboration of partners at a PCN footprint, with General Practice fulfilling its role within
this, and
4. The requirement to transform the workforce and embed cultural change at all levels of the
system.
5.1.
Refocussing on Primary Care/the scope of primary care
One of the main concerns expressed by practices since the Covid crisis has been the impact of work
transferred from secondary to primary care due to changes in the format of out-patients, and the
workload involved in managing patients who have been referred but are awaiting secondary care
appointments. This latter group are now spending considerable time “between” service providers and
therefore at risk of unplanned changes to their clinical status and of unmonitored deterioration.
It is some years since the NHS had widespread prolonged waiting lists for secondary care and the
population has grown accustomed to ready access across most specialities. This increases patient
expectation and therefore their impact on services. In essence, this is a growing cohort with genuine
identified need who are not currently under the direct care of any provider for that need. They have
been referred from primary care but are unable to access the secondary care they require.
As a system we need to understand and address the growing unmet need of our population that
have been “referred but not seen”. Where possible we will adopt a Population Health Management
approach to understand and address this challenge.
The question of how the care of patients is managed by which part(s) of the health sector and where
accountability and responsibility lie might be better answered by a consideration of the advice and
support, and potential new services that should be put in place to ensure patient safety.
In a perfect tax funded, list-based system, care of the patient lies with the registered practice and
referrals merely transfer, usually temporarily, part of this responsibility to the secondary care (or
other) sector. This is not the current situation and a “care gap” is emerging which in time riskscausing
harm to patients, particularly those who are inexperienced at accessing services or who are
disadvantaged in other ways.
Patients routinely expect their general practice to support them in owning and managing their
condition(s) holistically - but as the number of patients in this group increases it is becoming
increasingly clear that their needs are not being met and this is beginning to add an additional strain
on primary care that will naturally affect other provision. Primary care cliniciansare currently carrying
the responsibility for conditions which they know require specialist intervention and patients are at
risk of deterioration whilst waiting to be seen in secondary care.

Page 239

5.1.1. A Guardian Service?
This “care gap” will impact on the health and wellbeing of those people who will be living with an
unmanaged care need. It is considered the impact on service providers of increasing waits postreferral but pre-first appointment and the increasing time between first appointments and
commencement of treatment will mainly fall on General Practice in its role as the gateway to health
and care services. It is proposed that the system explores the practicalities of primary care being
resourced to support referred patients by the establishment of a new “Guardian Service” that would
be owned by and accountable to primary care, through PCNs, to manage at scale the increase in
patient queries and support required falling to General Practice. As well as providing oversight and
clarity on patient journeys such a service would be in a strong position, if operated at a scale no lower
than Place level, to identify challenges in the system and encourage resolution by developing
improved local care pathways, and relationships between PCNs and the local Acute provider.
This is one of the most difficult choices for both primary care and the system as a whole , as while it
could move resources into primary and communitycare and support patients who are strugglingwith
the current lack of capacity, it could also increase the workload of hard-pressed practices and further
accelerate the decline in GP partners.
As this challenge cannot be ignored alternative approaches might be to:
•
•

Move resources into community trusts, or another provider, to provide a link between the
other parts of the service, or
Increase resources for the acute trust to allow it to improve monitoring and care to those
awaiting formal assessment or procedures or to accelerate deliveryof their specialist services.

Neither of these two solutions will adequately take account of the fact that accountability remains
with General Practice, and as such would still require their input. This is the key reason why any
Guardian service should be accountable to primary care. However, this will require careful handling
to ensure the service improves care pathways and does not over-extend the responsibility of PCNs.
Similarly, thischange will require improved discipline within primary care to complete agreed referral
workup for patients and provides an opportunity to explore the development of non-acute based
diagnostic solutions
A Guardian service must be seen as a supporter and protector of patients and it must at all times work
towards solving problems and developing improved agreed care pathways. It will not solve all the
current problems within the NHS but it will aim to improve communication and the effective delivery
of guidance and care to patients.
The PCNs are responsible for the delivery of the Designated Enhanced Service (DES) on behalfof their
practices. This is the first example of a service within general practice’s General Medical Services
(GMS) which requires practices to work together across an identified population linked by a network.
Part of the specification requires PCNs to work with Community Trusts on the care of patients being
discharged from hospital back into the community. The proposal above would widen this to cover
those patients transitioning between primary and secondary care and proposes that a new service,
answerable to primary care, be explored.
Potential key functions of a Guardian Service:
•
•

Provide a first point of contact for referred patients
Organise and report required diagnostic investigations and ensure agreed work up has been
completed before referral continues

Page 240

•
•

•
•

Improve communication between clinicians
Improve prioritisation by secondary care of waiting lists – making using of intermediate
services (tier II) and other community provision, including lifestyle support (eg smoking
cessation, weight management)
Maximise the opportunity that technology offers in managing the patient journey
Control and reduce unnecessary, and duplication of, workload across the system

We will rapidly explore the feasibility of delivering a guardian service within Mid & South Essex that
covers the full registered population.

5.2.

Primary Care’s Strategic Presence within the Integrated Care System
(ICS)

It is essential that we clarify the role of General Practice within the integrated care system –
strategically and operationally - and for General Practice to be able to take up that role effectively.
The planned legislative changes being discussed by NHS England will almost certainly result in a new
statutory framework during the life of this strategy.
There is little detail available on the relative power and accountability of these new structures, and in
particular a lack of specifics on how this new system relates to Local Authorities and other partners. It
is possible therefore to only cover the principles and generalities of how primary care may be able to
influence within the ICS environment.
Local change already focuses on improved collaboration across the Health and Care Partnership and
the creation of a simpler NHS commissioning and strategic planning infrastructure. Irrespective of
future form it is essential that General Practice is supported to mature to a position whereby it can,
across all parts of the emerging system - PCN, Place and System:
•
•

In the interests of patients, and the population as a whole, speak with one voice, and
Acquire an appropriate influence, and make meaningful contribution, to decision making at
all levels

6.2.1. Networks
Primary care within Essex has always supported bottom up change and the PCNs are an obvious
structural embodiment of this attitude. These relatively new collaborations are far from a position of
maturity and will be growing and recruiting staff, both clinical and managerial, for several years to
come whilst also coping with the uncertainty and pressures of the current pandemic response.
A crucial function of the networks, and recognised by General Practice, is their integration with
community providers, Local Authorities and wider stakeholders. A network which fulfils its role as a
community-based health and care provider grouping will need to be accountable for improvements
in outcomes to both the NHS and the Local Authority.
Such divided accountability does not need to be over complicated and should dovetail with the cooperative nature of networks being groupings of local general practices. It is probably unnecessary to
attempt to be prescriptive about decisionmaking and influence at this level as individuals ought to be
able to undertake this in a way which best suits their community and circumstances. To truly succeed
there will need to be decisions made at PCN level amongst all partners, these include
•
•

Leadership and decision-making arrangements in a growing network
Formal relationships with Community Providers and Local Authorities

Page 241

•
•

Interaction with other networks and the local Place/Alliance
Individual PCNs ambitions for presence or influence at place-based Alliance and system levels

5.3.

PCNs - General Practices Operational Presence in the Integrated Care
System

NHS England’s operational model, and investment route, for General Practice is the PCN. This was
made clear in the Long-Term Plan and continues to be reinforced by subsequent spending
commitments, particularly in additional staffing across networks. MSE’s localities for the most part
adopted well to this change.

5.3.1. PCNs must be more than a collaboration amongst practices
Over recent years significant work has gone into improving collaboration amongst system partners.
To date this has tended to focus on two related but separate areas of work, that over the life of this
strategy need to become aligned, and expanded to include other partners, to create ‘delivery units’
focused on the health and wellbeing of the population which they serve.
Experience through the pandemic, and in particular in relation to delivery of the Covid vaccination
programme, has provided a valuable learning experience in relation to practical approaches to
collaboration, focused around collective delivery. As we progress we will take the learning from these
experiences, share them, and build upon them.

5.3.2. Collaboration amongst practices
Collaboration between practices was a key focus of the 2018 Strategy, and a significant contributor to
closing the previously modelled demand and capacity gap particularly through utilisation of a
diversified workforce. Prior to development of the PCN Network DES this was progressed in varying
ways across the Partnership. The release of the DES, and its positionin the GP Contract for the coming
years, makes it the key vehicle for enabling intra-practice collaboration, in particular through the
Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme.
The ARRS, which forms part of the nationally negotiated GP Contract, provides funding for defined
roles to be recruited to at a PCN level. Recent announcements expanded these roles to include joint
funded mental health workers working for the PCN, but funded through both PCN and community
mental health providers. Criteria and restrictions are nationally decided which can create supply
shortages and drive costs for difficult to recruit staff groups and there are emerging problems with
training, mentoring and induction for this growing workforce. The increased demands placed on PCN
Clinical Directors has not been addressed despite the national expansion in the workforce and the
increased expectation placed on networks.

Page 242

It is considered that the previous demand and capacity gap identified in 2018 should close by 2024
through full take up of the Additional Roles across PCNs by 2023/24. This enables a refocus of
discussions from insufficient resource, to one around best use of resource. Uptake to date has not
been in line with plans, leaving unutilised resource for 2020/21.
We will work with PCN Clinical Directors to ensure maximum uptake, and best use, of this resource
in future years. We will also explore alternative employment models, such as through local
community providers, as a way of making best use of this contractual entitlement.
Where it is considered appropriate there is nothing to stop the system from further increasing
investment into PCNs, as envisaged by the original Strategy, and enabling a more rapid growth in out
of hospital capacity both in terms of its quantity and also in the range of services provided where it is
considered this will deliver improvements in health and wellbeing outcomes, collaboration amongst
partners and a reduction in health inequalities. This investment could be financial, or in-kind, through
the alignment of existing resources and expertise already working within the system within partner
organisations. This would enable PCNs to increase their competencies and expand their boundaries
beyond General Practice.
Using PCNs to develop GP Practices
PCNs will be supported by Alliance or Place Directors and their teams, and possibly also by resources
at MSE Partnership level. It is important to remember that the PCNs currently have no legal status and
as such cannot directly employ staff or hold contracts to provide services – these functions are
generally undertaken through a lead practice. Similarly, groups of PCNs at Place level will function only
by utilising lead practice or other contractual measures or organisational forms.
Any change to the current status of PCNs would require careful preparation as a hasty move to create
legal entities, particularly if they could hold GMS or PMS contracts, could destabilise general practice
with practices and Networks becoming competitors for finite resource. PCNs are immature but
growing in strength and should be allowed to grow organically.
PCNs exist as collaborative structures encompassing local practices in order to deliver care across
wider populations. The registered patient list lies with individual practices and patients identify with
practices and not PCNs. The current Covid vaccination programme may begin to alter this relationship
but it is unlikely that the population’sfundamental linkto the NHS will move away from“their” general
practice and its staff.
This refresh has highlightedand worked around the national policy of diverting general practice funds
through PCNs and as such it is easy to overlook the individual practices and their assets and challenges.
It would however be a mistake to overlook the very real diversity among our practices in terms of
workforce, organisation and ambition. If all innovation, and funding, is focussed on PCNs there is a
danger practices stagnate, fail to recruit and become vulnerable to contract failure and ultimately
termination. This has happened in the recent past and the effect on patient care has been immensely
negative.
The system need to recognise the risk associated with development and leadership training solely
focusing on PCN Clinical Directors. There is a clear need to promote wider leadership across primary
care and to assist succession planning in practices.

5.3.3. Collaboration beyond practices
In parallel integration programmes have been progressed across all four places within Mid and South
Essex, with many examples of closer working – some include General Practice, some do not – and

Page 243

there are already excellent examples at Alliance level of wider Network development which includes
the community providers and Local Authorities. Thisis evident inpatchesacross the Mid & South Essex
footprint.
As a system we will build on good practice and through alignment of key staff make such innovation
normal in Mid and South Essex. The alignment of staff could give primary care the infrastructure
necessary to accelerate real and pragmatic integration at Network level.
Examples of current collaboration include
Thurrock began their transformationjourney in 2012with a focus on the better integration of services
at place, the built environment and stronger communities. This has evolved and grown over recent
years and in 2017 moved to a more whole system approach for phase 2 and the Better Care Together
programme bringing together commissioners of services with, adult and child social care, community
and acute providers of physical and mental health services, the third sector through their local
Association of Voluntary Services and others. This journey has seen material improvements including
the relationships with local communities through the implementation local area co-ordinators who
help vulnerable people find ways to make a better life and improve strategic relationships between
key stakeholders within the area through the development of their integrated care partnership, and
the development of Enhanced Primary Care Teams, hosted by the local community services provider,
covering two of the four PCN footprints. One of the next steps, currently underway, is the alignment
of General Practice in both strategic and operational conversations across partners through
engagement with the Clinical Directors.
Essex County Council have explored multiple approaches to collaboration with other partners,
showing a flexible approach based on local context. As well as aligning social workers with practices
and PCNs to improve relationships – ECC have, in partnership with Provide CiC who deliver NHS
community services within Mid Essex, formally undertaken a programme of integration focused on
collaboration among front-line care providers. This has seen progress made in the approach to
collaboration, and within the Dengie they are about to launch a 18 month pilot working across
organisations to coordinate activitiessuch as planned visits. At present this excludes General Practice,
although the ambition exists to bring them into the working arrangements.
Within South East Essex they are progressing a transformation programme of current services into an
integrated model of care, on a localityfootprint. The ambition being to create a family of professionals
who are well networked and deliver in concert to meet health and care needs at both population and
individual level.
Across the footprint there are examples of improvements in collaboration between the acute provider
and General Practice through models such as the employment of First Contact Physiotherapists on
behalf of, and managed by, PCNs, and a joint consultant paediatrician and GP clinic in the community,
targeting low risk cases with common presentations and conditions for those under 5. The aim being
to increase skills, experience and confidence of GPs enabling them to manage similar cases in the
future in primary care. Each session ends with a teaching/development session for colleagues across
the PCN, ultimate aim was to align a paediatrician to each PCN.
MSE will seek to provide resources to widen the range of staff within PCNs and facilitate a more
flexible approach to care provision which best suits each community.

Page 244

5.3.4. Embedding Collaboration
The ambition to truly integrate, or collaborate, with General Practice from other partners has been a
reality for a number of years. To date universal coverage has failed to materialise.
In order to achieve the ambitionsof the Long-Term Plan, the MSEHCP 5 Year Strategy and the original
Primary Care Strategy these aligned but separate arrangements for collaboration will need to be
‘aligned’ and ‘expanded’.
Through the NHS Alliance Directors, and their local teams, we will facilitate the coming together ofall
partners that are working with common populations. Whilst the focus has been on health and adult
social care we need to work towards models that are all age, all need, with collaboration being the
norm. We should enable the collaboration around both operational pressures as well as longer-term
planning at a PCN footprint.
The changes outlined in this review will require a fundamental change in the relationship between
PCNs and NHS statutory bodies (in the short-term CCGs, and longer-term the ICS NHS Body), whilst
defining the relationship between PCNs and place. In some areas this is still the traditional
“parent/child” attachment which gives comfort to both sides but has a tendency towards selfpreservation therefore slowing down the maturation of the provider, in this case the Network.
We will endeavour to create the environment that enables effective collaboration, including
supporting the development of shared purpose, identification of time to enable development, and
where possible the removal of un-necessary bureaucracy
We will drive collaboration at PCN level through the alignment of incentives to locally set outcome
measures that contribute to the ambitions of the Health & Care Partnership
We will look to share good practice, and support maximum impact of innovation by working to
improve our approach to ‘spreading’ adoption, including the development of lead and accelerator
PCNs to drive this agenda forward

5.3.5. Micro Commissioning
The MSEHCP believes in ‘building from the bottom up’. We want to plan and deliver care in the heart
of our communities with PCN’s providing the building block around which integration best occurs. The
ambition is to devolve planning and delivery down to the lowest possible l evel where it makes sense
to do so. The starting point for service delivery, transformation and integration will be Primary Care
Network level and we will only plan, commission and deliver services over wider geographical
footprints where a clear case can be made that this is necessary.
As such PCNs need to have the capacity and competencies to fulfil that role alongside those at place
and system – engaging closely with their local populations in the context of the wider system.
Changes in one part of the system, or one sector, have an impact elsewhere. Closer integrationshould
have the result of increasing agreed and planned change, which allows maturing PCNs to obtain the
capacity to deal with additional work.
The Health and Care Partnership Board has committed to targeting the “Partnership Pound” on
appropriate care needs for our patients and residents, and the system has committed to managing
resources on the basis of a system operating budget, through the use of service line reporting, linked
to the performance framework for the system.

Page 245

To achieve the commitments in managing resources in a meaningful way we need to ensure that we
co-ordinate the financial management roles of System, Place, PCNs and Partners to maximise the
potential for our population.
To optimize the benefit of working as a system we have agreed that we can only spend/ financially
manage the partnership pound once. Therefore, aside from the System role of resource allocator,
there are two types of roles that will operate in the system; Resource Consumer or Resource Manager.
The distinction between the two roles has been made as follows:
Resource consumer: will be measured on the level of resources consumed of services provided by
others. Management reporting for resource consumption will provide a view of the level of resource
that has been used – it is not the transfer of cash and the aim of reporting will be to understand the
variation of resources use to improve population health.
Resource manager is the direct manager of a budget for resources, incurring the costs for the delivery
of care and is linked with cash transactions. Management reporting will provide insight into the
performance against budget and is a hard measure for the financial success of the ICS against the
System financial envelope.
Primary Care Networks hold a unique position within the system by having a role as both consumer
and as a provider of primary care.
This framework could enable the introduction of a ‘Micro Commissioning’ role influenced by PCNs to
meet specific needs for their populations, including impacting on local health inequalities, and
supporting the personalisation agenda
Micro Commissioning, alongside PCN development, will be supported by the new NHS Alliance
Directors and their local teams, who have transformation and managerial responsibility for the four
“Places” in Mid and South Essex.
In line with the movementto service line reporting, lead PCNs will need to emerge where one network
can drive change in a specific clinical area in conjunction with partners from other sectors (eg
secondary care, community and mental health services, local authorities, community and voluntary
sector organisations) with, and on behalf of the whole population.
Through the movement to system operating budgets we will look to develop a local planning role
for PCNs aligned to enhancing local service provision to meet the needs of the local population.
Integration will not be effective unless the management capacity or infrastructure across the system
is re-balanced to support PCNs, and explicitly General Practice to take its place within them. To date
investment in PCNs has been through clinical capacity, without corresponding investment in
managerial, estate or digital infrastructure.
NHS Alliance Directors and their teamsare currentlyengaged inwrapping support and servicesaround
PCNs. As this process matures, the system will need to address the transition from PCNs being the
recipients of CCG management support to one where Networks have access to, and influence over,
the necessary skills and competencies to deliver the outcomes expected of them.
Emerging PCNs and CCGs work closely together but are often significantly different in terms of their
organisational culture and interaction with the wider health and social care environment. This refresh
proposes formal recognition of PCNs as the future vehicle for the provision of primary care and a

Page 246

commitment to supporting them develop the skills and competencies required to succeed. This
commitment enables a genuine focus on:
•
•
•
•

Clear strategic aims and objectives
The precise operational functions required by the out of hospital system
Matching the needs and skills of the available staff to the required functions containedwithin
new primary care management roles
Integration at Network level which is meaningful to Local Authorities, community providers
and other key stakeholders

The environment allows a genuine focus on functionrather than form although the designation of Mid
& South Essex as an ICS, and the establishment of an ICS management team will provide overall
stability.
There is a clear need for the workforce plans of the ICS to address these issue s and to promote the
organisational development of PCNs which may make progress at differing speeds and with varying
ambitions. The key to success will be to create a system which encourages growth to the next level
without losing sight of their primary functions nor of stifling these new “organisations” through over
ambitious plans and expectations.
The H&CP recognise PCNs as a fundamental building block of the future system and will actively
support
Development of Leadership and the culture of the system to enable primary care driven
change.
General Practice to develop the capacity and capability to lead and accomplish primary care
driven change in an integrated system.

5.3.6. Closer working with Dental, Pharmaceutical and Ophthalmic
services

The complexity of the commissioner and provider landscape for the other three elements of primary
care has traditionally made this one of the more difficult areas to address in enabling local
collaboration, with all three holding slightly different contractual relationships with the NHS.
It is considered however that for PCNs to fully achieve the ambition of improving population health
and wellbeing, better collaboration across the whole of primary care is required.
In addition to the opportunity to develop the concept of Making Every Contact Count all three sectors
provide excellent opportunities for early identification of deterioration in people’s health, the
prevention agenda and in some elements, on-going care and support. It is important that we begin

Page 247

to bring their expertise into the conversation and work through how we enable collaboration across
the whole of primary care.
We have to date been unsuccessful in this arena, and we will look to improve relationships and
collaborative working as we build on the competencies within PCNs. The proposed legislation, as
described in the Government’s White Paper ‘Integration and Innovation: working together to improve
health and social care for all’ will give stronger responsibilities for commissioning all primary care
services to the NHS ICS statutory body, and we intend to take these opportunities to integrate where
possible.

6. Model of Care and the MSE Target Operating Model
In 2018 the Primary Care Strategy focused on the sustainability of General Practice. At the time it was
considered that there were risks to the system associated with the resilience of individual practices.
The majority of interventions were built on principles in the GP Forward View, with the focus of
support aligned to individual practices and the collaboration between practices.
The priority at the time was addressing an identified and projected demand and capacity gap through
implementing a range of interventions as illustrated in the diagram below. The ambition being to
manage demand and improve capacity and access.

As part of this Strategy Refresh support was identified to model a range of demand and capacity
scenarios for General Practice over the life of the current GP contract reforms (2023/24). This was
undertaken in partnership with place based Primary Care leads – both clinical and managerial.
Scenarios were developed that covered assumptions with a high likelihood of occurrence and some
more speculative scenarios. In summary the key conclusions of the work were:
•
•
•

•

Current Q4 2020/21 workforce levels will not provide sufficient capacity to meet forecast
demand in 2024.
Planned increases to core GMS resources by 2024 will not provide sufficient capacity to meet
2024 demand.
Planned recruitment throughthe Primary Care Network (PCN) DES under the Additional Roles
Reimbursement Scheme will provide sustainable Primary Care capacity by 2024 and can meet
forecast demand levels (for scenarios with a high likelihood of occurrence).
PCN DES resources can provide sufficient capacity to meet increased 2024 demand resulting
from a range of ‘external factors’ if a number workload reduction and prioritisation schemes

Page 248

are implemented effectively and consistently and achieve maximum levels of forecast benefits
across the MSE HCP in tandem with recruitment
It is clear from the analysis that recruitment to the ‘ARRS’ roles is essential in achieving a resilientand
sustainable modelfor General Practice across the Partnership and creating the foundationupon which
enhanced collaboration can take place.
Significant investment – money and time - has gone into areas that increase capacity within, and
across, practices since the original strategy was improved. However, whilst partnership working
beyond General Practice was identified as a requirement this has in most areas occurred around
General Practice (e.g. between other partners) and not with General Practice.
The ambition for collaboration was enhanced within the MSE 5 Year Strategy which included a Target
Operating Model for the system that saw this as a fundamental building block to improving health and
care outcomes. The principle of subsidiarity and collaboration looks beyond i ndividual organisational
responsibilities and at the collective delivery of improved outcomes for the population.

Target Operating Model: Mid & South Essex Health & Care Partnership 5 Year Strategy

This Target Operating Model was underpinned by six design principles that will shape on-going
transformation across MSE, and form a key part of this strategy refresh and its implementation.
This strategy refresh does not propose an alternative model of care, but further commits to the
principles of managing demand, increasing capacity and the developmentof collaboration to improve
the wellbeing of our population. General Practice must take its place alongside partner organisations,
with the PCN DES providing the opportunity, and vehicle, for those who are willing and able to take a
leadership role in the future model of care. Through our accelerator programme we will work with
those with ambition to lead the way and develop models of good practice for adoption and spread.

Page 249

Design Principles, Mid & South Essex Health & Care Partnership 5 Year Strategy

7. Measuring Success
In 2018 it was recognised that we did not systematically track outcomes in primary care at either
individual practice or ‘locality’ level. This meant that the priorities and targets being aimed for were
not always clear, and it was difficult to track and understand levels of progress.
There has been limited progress with this over the past three years, althoughrecent decisions at both
a Partnership and national level, through the MSEH&CP Outcomes Framework and the Impact &
Investment Scheme respectively, will begin to move the dial on the ambition.
Moving forward success of PCNs need to be measured within the context of the system in which
they are operating, and the expectations placed upon them. As such success will be measured across
three domains
1. Improvements in population health outcomes
2. Use of system resources, and
3. PCN Maturity/Relational Development

7.1.

Improvements in population health outcomes

It is important that we don’t create an environment that measures something that drives perverse
behaviours, be it from a care or administrative burden perspective.
The PCNs contributiontowards improvements inhealth outcomes will be againsttwo set of measures.

Page 250

7.1.1. Impact and Investment Fund
The IIF is an incentive scheme built in to the GP contract reform. It focuses on resourcing high quality
care in areas where PCNs can contribute significantly towards the ‘triple aim’:
•
•
•

improving health and saving lives (eg through improvements in medicines safety)
improving the quality of care for people with multiple morbidities (eg through increasing
referrals to social prescribing services)
helping to make the NHS more sustainable.

The metrics are set nationally, and achievement funded through Primary Care Allocations. The table
below identifies the metrics for the IIF in 2020/21.

It is important to recognise that payments achieved through this are likely to form part of individual
practice income. Achievement will be monitorable through the NHSE PCN Dashboard due for release
during 2021.

7.1.2. Mid & South Essex Health & Care Partnership Outcomes Framework
The MSEHCP have collectivelyagreed a set of outcome measures, and priorities as noted at the top of
the document, that they want to achieve for the population. Achieving improvement in many aspects
will sit and place and PCN level.
It is the expectation that PCNs become the owners of their information, and the needs of their
population. Through this knowledge PCNs will identify local priorities – utilising information such as
Joint Strategic Needs Assessments, Population Health Analysis and Patient Engagement - to address
local need and health inequalities that contribute towards system ambition.

Page 251

7.2.

Use of system resources

PCNs operate in a system of finite resources, and decisions made impact on these. It is important that
PCNs understand their wider use and impact on these resources. To date we have not collated or
shared this information.
During 2021/22 we will work to develop regular information for PCNs to understand how their
population is utilising system resources. This is supported by the movement to service line budgets.

7.3.

Maturity/Relational

PCN success will be determined by the maturity of the relationships between individuals and partner
organisations.
We are yet to define how we will measure this, but it is proposed that during 2021/22 we developa
way to understand this across the system, enabling areas of good practice to be identified and shared
across the wider footprint. The ‘Integrated Workforce ‘I’ Statements (IWIS) Framework1’ provides a
structure that the system could look to adapt to measure improvements in this area.

8. Developments since 2018 and the Case for Strategic Refresh
8.1. NHS Long-Term Plan
The NHS Long Term Plan was launched in January 2019 in an effort to provide a strategic plan for
services which would be “fit for the future” and which would provide “the most value for patients”.
The plan had a clear emphasis on the prevention of ill health and on improving outcomesfor patients,
and signalled an increase in funding for primary and community care.
The LTP encouraged “doing things differently” to give people more control over their own health and
also encourage more collaboration between GPs and community services. The latter signalled the
creation of “Primary Care Networks” (PCNs) and this initiative was bolstered by the GMS Five Year

1 https://learning.wm.hee.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/2017-03-27_final_21453_-

_integrated_toolkit_booklet_v157927.pdf

Page 252

Contract Agreement of 2019 which put PCNs at the centre of new investment into General Practice.
NHSE stated ambition at the time was that by 2023/24 PCNs will have accomplished five things
•
•

•
•
•

First, stabilised general practice, including the GP partnership model
Second, helped solve the capacity gap and improved skill-mix by growing the wider workforce
by over 20,000 wholly additional staff as well as serving to help increase GP and nurse
numbers
Third, become a proven platform for further local NHS investment
Fourth, dissolved the divide between primary and community care, with PCNs looking out to
community partners not just in to fellow practices
And fifth, systematically delivered new services to implement the Long-Term Plan, including
the seven new service specifications, and achieved clear, positive and quantified impacts for
people, patients and the wider NHS.

This was a natural progression on the local 2018 commitment to address an existing and projected
demand and capacity gap within General Practice through the provision of a wider workforce, the
movement to a GP Led as opposed to GP Delivered model of care and the progression of improved
collaboration between General Practice and other local partners. In response the Mid & South Essex
Health & Care Partnership (MSEHCP) developed its 5 Year Strategy that made clear its ambition for
PCNs.
This stated “Primary Care Networks (PCNs) will form the vehicle for delivering collaborative working
amongst front-line staff. Through PCNs we will deliver the ‘triple integration’ of primary and specialist
care, physical and mentalhealth services, and health with social care. We will move to a GP-led model
of care focused on improving populationhealth and wellbeing, and supporting provider sustainability.
PCNs will be the foundation stone on which local places will thrive and the key provider vehicle for
delivering local services.”
As part of the 5 Year Strategy the Partnership have agreed on the priority areas of ageing well and
cancer.
The National Ageing Well agenda, with a focus on anticipatory care and enhanced health in care
homes, as well as urgent community response, will only deliver the ambitions where PCNs take a
leading role in the care of older people in the community – irrespective of where they live. We
envisage, throughboth nationally negotiated contracts, and local enhancement, that PCNs will deliver
more than just the medical requirements of two of these three programmes of work.
As part of this programme, anticipatory care is beginning to move from a reactive, hospital-centric,
health and care offer to one of prevention, empowerment and community and personal resilience.
The principles of anticipatory care underpin the future models and focus on maintaining wellbeing.
This will be underpinned by our Population Health Management work stream.
Anticipatory care will also encompass supporting maximum coverage of screening opportunities –
including supporting early cancer diagnosis, annual health checks for those who would benefit from
it, ensuring that there is sufficient support for carers, on whom the system relies so much, and
contributing to the challenge presented by health inequalities.
As a Partnership we continue to commit to the improvements included within the 5 Year Strategy for
improvements in Cancer care, with PCNs playing a key role in emerging models of care.

Page 253

•
•
•
•

PCNs will be focussed on prevention and ensuring we meet standards for screening
programmes for breast, cervical and bowel cancers.
By working together, practices will be able to offer faster access to appointments ensuring
fast onward referral, where required, for tests and treatments.
Patients diagnosed with cancer will receive personalised support throughout their treatment
and afterwards
Close work with community and voluntary sector organisations will support patientsand their
families to access a wider range of services – for example, on welfare advice and support
groups

8.2. Primary Care Networks and Investment
PCNs now cover all patients and virtually all practices in England are members. In MSE the PCNs , which
cover the full population, have been a natural progressionof previous localitystructures, and this was
a major advantage for the area in rapidly adapting to the new national environment.
National direction is that PCNs will be the unit at which investment is targeted, through a range of
initiatives including investment through the Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme (ARRS), which
will fund a significant increase (circa 620 WTE against pre- ARRS baselines) in numbers working across
PCNs, and the PCN Impact and Investment Fund that will reward achievement of nationally set
population outcome measures.
Other ambitions within the Long-Term Plan included tackling health inequalities, supporting an
increasing workforce, and making better use of digital technology.
The early result of this, and the on-going implementation of the MSE strategy, has been an increase
in funding for primary care from £149m as noted in the 2018 Strategy to £163min 2019/20 – or 9.29%
of total spend. Whilst the investment figure needs caveating due to the complexity of primary care
funding sitting across six commissioning organisations, and multiple investment streams, the increase
supports the local commitment to ensure seeing investment into primary care increasing at a rate that
will meet the GPFV commitment (ie. to increase the proportion of investment going into general
practice services to be over 10 percent by 2020/21).

8.3. Covid-19
The Covid-19 pandemic, which arrived in the UK in the early months of 2020, presented the most
strategic, and operational, challenge to the health and care system in its lifetime.
Across the system operational changes were enacted rapidly which will have a long-term strategic
effect on delivery of and access to services. There has been an initiation of a strategic change, but one
imposed by factors external to the system itself.
Many of the changes were originally within NHS and its partners plans but the assault on the care
system forced these to be implemented more rapidly and more comprehensively than was ever
anticipated.
General Practice transformedwithin a two-week period into a system based almost entirelyon remote
universal triage and telephone/video consultation. Face to face consultations did not disappear but
did fall to an absolute minimum.

Page 254

Whilst the method of consultation has begun to recalibrate it is unlikely there will a return to the
traditional model of General Practice in the lifetime of this strategy but instead an appraisal of which
of the enforced changes should be further developed and expanded, and a new balance between
triage and access which is more grounded in the opportunities presented by digital innovation
(ensuring that patients without access to digital platforms are not excluded).

8.4. Covid and Post-covid Impact on services
There are clear operational challenges for the whole system due to the persistent effect of Covid in
the community and the challenge arising from the cessation of normal activity during periods of the
pandemic.
Primary Care in an ongoing pandemic environment will require more distinction of patients cohorts
and the days of undifferentiated surgeries are probably at an end, at least for the foreseeable future.
Care navigation and total triage have transformed the patient experience and are likely to remain as
significant public facing elements of the service. Normal GMS, crudely defined as caring for people
who are ill or feel themselves to be ill, will in future be more clearly segmented and ordered by triage
and care navigation using both clinicians and trained administrative staff.
This inevitably leads to categories of service such as:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.
f.
g.
h.
i.
j.

GMS services requiring additional infection control measures
Preventative care
Long term conditions
Enhanced care home provision
Integrated, all age all need, primary/community care
Care for Post-Covid patients and care for “shielded” patients
Covid Vaccination programme
Urgent/unplanned care
Demand management measures to improve access to secondary care
Support for patients awaiting secondary care

Whilst the first category is solely related to General Practice, the others fully align to the integration
agenda, with best outcomes likely to be achieved through collaborationbetween General Practice and
other partners. Categories i. and j. maybe represent the greatest challenge but also provide a real
opportunity to drive “integration” in more innovative ways.
Patients have rapidly learnedto adapt to the changes in access but the service clearly needs to better
explain how care will be delivered in the future. There may be a need to agree what patients should
expect from primary care in the new post-Covid world. Access to primary care will be different, but
there is no reason why it should be difficult.

Page 255

In relation to care delivery the impact of the pandemic goes far beyond the boundaries of General
Practice. The impact on services, and those working within partner organisations has been just as
significant. All of those working across the system – in hospitals, community services, physical and
mental health services, social care, care homes and domiciliary providers, education and beyond have had to adapt to new ways of working, experiencing situationsthat could not have been imagined
before 2020.
As we plan to move forward these experiencesand the likely fatigue felt by the wider workforce must
be acknowledged.

8.5. Digital
The contribution of Information Technology – hardware and software including new digital solutions
- to the transformation of patient access, and ways of working, has been remarkable and has allowed
general practice to remain open despite an initial dramatic reduction in face to face consultations and
overall footfall within practices. Necessity has driven change across every practice, with mirrored
responses in all other parts of the service, and such changes are now accepted across the system
where previously there was opposition or scepticism.
The NHS Long Term Plan target of every patient having access to a “Digital first offer” by 2023/24 has
been achieved in a matter of months. This provides an opportunity to continue to modernise access
and perhaps to increase the contribution of the existing workforce, although patient acceptance of
remote consultation in the medium to long term will require careful planning, and it is important that
we understand the risks associated with this strategic opportunity in relation to those who may be
considered digitally disadvantaged, or even digitally excluded. Meaningful engagement with patient
groups and communities will be required to ensure this.

8.6. The effect of the Pandemic on Waiting Lists and Patient Waiting Times
The need to focus on the care of Covid patients during the Pandemic forced immediate changes to the
delivery and access of primary care but had an entirely different consequence in secondary care,
where staff and resources were re-directed to treat infected patients and planned, and routine or
normal footfall and activity was reduced significantly.
A large number of patients have not been seen as planned and this is likely to become an increasing
problem as patients return to primary care for clinical problems which they have lived with during the
crisis.
Primary care has similar issues with the care of Long-Term Conditions, and preventative medicine, but
the new reality ofsignificantly longer waiting times for hospital care will needto be addressed through
increased joint working between primary and secondary care, and with wider partners who have
influence on addressing the wider determinants of health and supporting people to keep well.

8.7. Integration and Innovation: working together to improve health and social care
for all
In February 2021 the Department of Health & Social Care published its White Paper describing its
legislative proposals for a Health and Care Bill. At its heart the Bill is about backing the health and care
system and everyone who works in it. The proposals build on the NHS’s own – those in the Long Term
Plan, and to which local plans are aligned.
This review has taken account of the strategic direction as described within that paper.

Page 256

9. Making it Happen
9.1. Engagement
a. Engagement: looking forwards
In December 2020, we met with Healthwatch Southend, Healthwatch Essex and Healthwatch Thurrock
to gather their views on the Primary Care Strategy refresh.
The development of the public voice in the growth of P CNs formed a key part of discussions,
recognising the need for sustained and continuous community engagement.
Risks around ensuring plans have due consideration of the digitally disadvantaged were also
discussed. Note: considerations ofthese risks and further analysiswill form part of the systems Digital
Strategy.

Existing engagement structures do not support progression in line with our expectations. Discussion
with the Director of Communications & Engagement for the H&CP has identified that whilst the newly
developing Citizens’ Panel provides one source for engagement, there is benefit from developing an
engagement structure that will enable PCNs to identify and respond to the views of the communities
they serve.
We will seek additional support to deal with the complexity of the ask. Without robust approaches to
engagement that are co-ordinated across PCNs and linkedto the systemit will likely lead to duplication
of effort as well as possible gaps in engagement.

b. Building inclusive primary care networks in partnership with people and communities
In line with the Mid and South Essex Health and Care Partnership Engagement Framework it is
important that there are opportunities for engagement and involvement at all levels in the system to
support and inform decision making.
We also want to make sure we use insights (population health management approaches, lived
experiences etc) to inform decision making.
PCNs have the potential to benefit patients by offering improved access and extending the range of
services available to them, and by helping to integrate primary care with wider health and community
services.

c. Where are we now?
COVID-19 has exposedhow healthinequalities can affect people not just over a lifetime but in a matter
of weeks. The impact of COVID-19 will be long-felt.
PCNs and the broader integration of health and care services offer an opportunity to move from a
medical model of care to a whole system that embraces a holistic, preventative and social approach
to supporting people with all aspects of their health and wellbeing, with a focus on reducing health
inequalities.

Page 257

People in primary and community care are already seeing the benefits of ‘social prescribing’ - Link
Workers and Care Co-ordination works by helping people find the community and voluntary sector
groups and organisations that can support them, directly, to improve their health and wellbeing; and
indirectly, by tackling the other factors in their lives that impair health, such as low activity, isolation,
finances and housing problems.
We will support the development of mechanisms to meaningfully engage and build long-term
trusted relationships betweenindividuals and organisations with an interest in health and wellbeing
in mid and south Essex outside and alongside the traditional health and care system.

d. Plans for the future - building a framework to delivery outcomes in different ways

Over the next 18 months we are committed to supporting PCNs to engage with a wider range of
stakeholders to co-design how best to maximise health and wellbeing at the local level.
As part of this work, it is important to recognise, appreciate and build on what already exists.
Asset based community development (ABCD) is a localised and bottom-up way of strengthening
communities through recognising, identifying and harnessing existing 'assets' (i.e. skills, knowledge,
capacity, resources, experience or enthusiasm) that individuals and communities have which can help
strengthen and improve things locally.
•

Instead of looking at what a community needs or lacks, the approach focuses on utilising the
'assets' that are already there.
• The approach facilitates the empowerment of individuals and communities by helping them
to identify and share their strengths and then work together to create their own social
innovations.
As a starting point, we are therefore looking to support the PCNs to review existing local work on
ABCD that is already underway that either specificallyor potentially relates to the target
populations, identifying opportunities to build upon this to support delivery of programme aims –
e.g.:

Page 258

•
•
•
•
•

Local Authority initiatives, including welfare networks developed to support people who
are/were shielding;
VCSE organisations, (particularly those with ‘Experts by Experience’)
local Healthwatch,
GP Practice PPGs and other patient groups
Local health & care provider Expert Patient groups/programmes

Through Primary Care Transformation funding we will explore the establishment of a Community
Engagement Grant programme to offer community organisations that are currently engaged in
Community Asset Development the means to work with our population to gather insight and
intelligence from local communities that could positively contribute to the delivery of the PCN
engagement programme.
We recognise that this approach is new and completely different to existing ways of working.
In order to embed this approach, it is essential that leaders in our PCNs understand the benefits and
are equipped with the necessary co-production skills and tools. We will therefore provide Asset Based
Community Engagement Training, to support the establishment of effective partnershipworkingwith
the selected population cohorts and relevant community organisations, delivered at Place -level.
Following on from this discovery phase, we envisage practices collectively analyse and eval uate the
learnings and co-produce a shortlist of opportunities (2-3) to test and learn new ways of improving
the health and wellbeing of their patient populations. These plans would be tested and refined
alongside detailed implementation plan, budget and resourcing required to deliver them.
The ambition is that an asset-based community development approach will refocus on early
interventions and prevention, working closely with community services and with the voluntary and
community sector.
PCNs should put themselves in the driving seat of population health management by marrying up the
data they receive within their systems, with insight and intelligence that communities themselves
contribute, about unmet need, unrecognisedchallenges, and getting the responses right first time for
people who may be using services poorly or not at all.
Through the on-going engagement withlocal voluntary and community sector, it is clear that to utilise
local community assets fully, we need to:
•
•
•
•

Support community assets to develop, grow and thrive
Facilitate connections between community assets so that they can function as a network or
group
Facilitate connections of people to assets, so that people are informedand able to choose the
activity/support they want to pursue
Build trust and relationships, challenging existing ways of working and instigating culture
change

Page 259

9.2. Data

General Practice in the UK hold one of the most complete patient records anywhere in the world.
Traditional models of General Practice see this held by individual practices, and locally there has been
very limited examples of this information being used at a scale to influence and drive change.
The success of PCNs to improve population health, shift to a model of prevention and reduce
inequalities will require better use of data across organisational boundaries.
PCNs should be able to operate in an environment where aggregated primary care, community,
mental health, acute and social care data enables them to make better operational decisions, utilising
limited resources better, and drive improvements in population health.
Using data better will enable PCNs to better understand the needs of the population theyserve. It will
enable improvements in a number of areas including
•
•
•

Improved understanding of the current needs of the population,
Identifying those with deterioratingneeds enabling a more proactive and preventative model
of care, and
Projecting forward to manage future risk and contribute to a reduction in health inequalities

As a Health & Care Partnership we will champion the legitimate collation and sharing of high-quality
data for both direct patient care and secondary uses such as risk stratification and population health
management. We will ensure PCNs have access to the competencies required to make best use of
the opportunities this provides them with.

9.3. Digital

In 2018 it was noted that the adoption and spread of digital and other technologies would be a key
enabler for the future model of care and was seen as contributing to
•
•
•

Managing Demand
Creating Capacity, and
Operating at Scale

As included in the 2018 Strategy opportunities in these areas will be explored and harnessed in
contributing to the aims of the strategy. The H&CP Digital First Primary Care Team to be recruited

Page 260

during 2021/22 will support delivery of this commitment. Examples included at the time, and still
relevant now, were
Managing demand
• Self-care and community support. These tools are well developed and have a range of
applications, including apps and software that support behaviour change (for example
people with diabetes) as well as providing online support for people with a wide range of
conditions including anxiety and depression
• Care navigation and triage. These technologies support self-care, such as by navigating
patients to appropriate sources of information and support, as well as by providing
opportunities for rapid access to consultations, often via computers or smartphones
• Prediction and risk stratification. There are a number of established tools that can support
practices to risk stratify patients on their list and identify those patients that have ‘rising risk’
and deliver anticipatory care. This enables comprehensive care plans to be put in place for
these individuals, enabling them to stay well for longer
Creating capacity
• Patient pathways and treatment. These tools can support patients and professionals to
provide improved on-going care and reduce the need for regular consultations, for example
through Artificial Intelligence or remote patient monitoring where the patient’s readings are
constantly logged and reported automatically, with anomalies or concerning patterns
flagged to the patient and their GP
• Processes and productivity. There is considerable scope to better harness technology to
reduce bureaucracy in primary care, and across the system. Solutions that are already
available include digital dictation that is integrated with clinical systems, and tools that
enable automated data extraction from primary care platforms such as SystemOne.
Operating at scale
• Communication across settings. Having access to patient level information across a range of
care settings is vital, especially as patients are frequently in contact with multiple services.
As well as a core shared care record, further digital solutions now enable summary records
to be held on smartphones, and for automatic communication with patients (such as
appointment reminders, medication alerts etc.)
Over the past three years there have been improvements made in this area, including implementation
of remote monitoring tools and process automation contributing to positive impacts on bothworkflow
and workload.
Digital continues to be seen as a fundamental enabler forthe Target Operating Model for M&SE, and
the development of PCNs.
In parallel to the refresh of this strategy MSEHCP have also progressed developmentof a Digital First
Primary Care Strategy that supports both this refresh, and the delivery of the systems digital strategy,
which should be read in conjunction with this.

9.4. Estate / PCN estate
In parallel to this strategy refreshthe Health and Care Partnership is also reviewing its estates strategy,
and the content and ambitions described here mirror emerging content of that document for Primary
and Community Care.
In order to enable collaborative working and deliver the Long-Term Plan, we need an estate that is
fit for purpose. All practices and providers need to be able to deliver services in premises that are

Page 261

accessible, attractive and of high quality, and in order to do this we are working with partners to
deliver physical or virtual hubs that will facilitate the delivery of community and out of hospital
services to reduce activity at acute sites, support locality working, provide accommodation for the
additional staff they plan to recruit and enabling services to be integrated and - where possible – co
located.
Hubs will have the following key features (estates principles):
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

All space will be flexible to support the delivery of a range of services and providers
There will be virtual consultation rooms available for the use of GPs but also accessible for
all patients for virtual outpatient clinics
All new builds will have an MDT room that is able to be divided for use by community
providers, local authority services as well as multi-professional healthcare delivery
All new builds will have at least one training / seminar room
All facilities should be capable of operating seven days a week to maximise access and
utilisation
Increasing digital access to enable the estate to be used more flexibly and appropriately to
improve access to services for patients and staff
Utilisation of buildings at 85% (applying Cavell assumptions)
No more than 35% non-clinical space
Accessible for third sector / voluntary organisations
Review existing disposals and / or voids prior to committing to a new build

Building a physical hub potentially housing several practices and a wide range of other services is not
practical in all areas, particularly in the more rural parts of the footprint. As a result, a broad model
that is flexible has been developed, and is able to support the development of hubs at three
different levels: separate practices and a virtual hub, separate practices and a physical hub, practises
consolidate into a physical hub.

In line with the NHS Long Term Plan to promote self-care, prevention and delivering more services at
a local level, closer to people’s homes, and the Partnerships key estates policy work streams, these

Page 262

hubs will facilitate the delivery of community and out of hospital services to reduce activity at acute
sites.

9.5. Workforce
The workforce crisis was one of the main reasonsbehind the development of the 2018 Strategy as the
system faced an underlying – and longstanding – factor of significantly fewer doctors and nurses per
head than the national average.
The focus on recruitment and retention, as well as the diversified workforce through both locality
models and subsequent PCN Additional Roles Reimbursement Schemes has seen the picture improve
compared against projected numbers, but as identified in section 3 we continue to be understaffed
when compared to national benchmarks.
There are currently around 3,500 staff working within primary care in Mid and South Essex (December
2020 data). Of these 23% are GPs (including Registrars and Locums), 13% Nursing, 10% Direct Patient
Care and 54% Admin staff. Under the ARRS, a further 477 FTE are planned to be employed by 2024.
This being the local contribution to the national commitment of 26,000 additional FTE by 2023/24 in
General Practice. Whilst the additional roles will strengthen the primary care workforce there are a
number of challenges facing the current workforce.
The Mid and South Essex Health and Care Partnership has one of the most significantly challenged
primary care workforces in the country with approximately a third of GPs forecast to retire in the next
five years which is significantly higher than the national average of 22%. In addition, 43% of Nurses,
33% of Direct Patient Care staff and 48% of admin staff could retire over the next 10 years 2
The overall clinical workforce has increased, as mentioned inthe introductory section, but GP numbers
are reducing and the number of partners is low and decreasing. December 2020 data showed that
only 69% of permanent GP’s in mid and south Essex are Partners and these numbers are declining
with a decrease of 6 Headcount (3 FTE) between June and September 2020. Not only is headcount
decreasing but so is the number of hours partners are working.
A strategy based on networks of partner led practices needs to address the needs of the modern
workforce and demonstrate flexibility beyond what is normally available. Partnership is seenby many
new GPs as an onerous and thankless position, with little or no control of workload.
The expanded role for PCNs outlined above will hopefully create more opportunities for GPs and
others to develop additional skills and enhance portfolio careers. A career structure within a
partnership framework would be unique in England. “Super-partnerships” have been established in
many areas of England, notably Birmingham, but in Essex this initiative has mainly been developed
around Colchester and Tendring.
MSE will work with general practice to promote and improve the partnership model, and to develop
a career development structure which strengthens the partnership offer
The national “new to Partnership” Payment Scheme will continue to be promoted across the area and
we are waiting for information from NHSE/I on uptake, but also we need to consider whether there

2

(MSE Integrated health and care workforce strategy, February 2020, gave estimates of 33% GP retirement in 5 years and
43% practice nurses in 10 years .)

Page 263

are any other suggested programmes for people to access to ensure they emerge as confident
Partners at the end of it.
Through the ARRS there is a real opportunity to shape the future and recruit, train, develop and
integrate a workforce that will be flexible, adaptable and competent to deliver models of care that
will result in improved health outcomes for the local population. Uptake of these roles are essential
in underpinning delivery of this strategy, and a resilient and sustainable model of primary care.
The joint funded Mental Health workers – to be employed by the local mental health trust, part funded
through the ARRS scheme, and fully aligned to PCN work – is one such example of a driver towards
collaborative models of care, as is the approach being taken in some areas to the recruitment of First
Contact Physiotherapists through the local acute provider, enabling stronger cross organization
working than is achievable through other employment models.
Whilst the focus of workforce plans was on the additional staff, PCN’s have been encouraged to think
about the existing roles that they have and how these need to be adapted and de veloped to embrace
the new way of working. This includes thinking about careers across the integrated care system to
support the joint strategy and exploring opportunities to work differently e.g. rotational roles
between primary care and other sectors such as acute and community services for roles such as
physiotherapists and other allied health professionals, and the ambulance trust in relation to
paramedics
MSE will work with PCNs to meet reasonable, unfunded, additional costs of an expanded and
essential clinical workforce.
The primary care strategy is alignedto the Integrated Health and Care Workforce Strategy - the overall
aim of which is to enable the system to develop a more joined up approach with health and care on
workforce challenges especially in such key priority areas as recruitment and retention.
Working collaboratively on specific areas such as, training, education and development of the
workforce creates invaluable learning and sharing of resources. The potential development of the
Guardian service may provide opportunities for clinicians to train and solve system problems together.

9.5.1. The Primary and Community Care Training Hub
Training Hubs are integral to Health Education England’s core purpose of supporting the delivery of
excellent healthcare and health improvementto patients and the public, through ensuring the primary
care workforce of today and tomorrow are trainedin the rightnumbers, have the necessaryskills, NHS
values and behaviours at the right time and in the right place as described.
Training Hubs contribute to development and retention of the workforce through delivery
of locally commissioned initiatives which include:
a. Support for new clinical staff through fellowships, preceptorships, peer and multi-professional
“new professional” learning groups
b. Promotion and facilitation of key CPD programmes and multi-professional learning linked to
clinical care intentions / service redesign initiatives at a systems level
c. Promotion and facilitation of leadership programmes to develop staffand development of primary
and community care educators
d. Co-ordination of personal career support for all stages of Primary and Community Care
e. professionals’ careers
f. Support integrated education and training across existing current boundaries:

Page 264

including supporting rotational programmes across organisations.
Training Hubs are required to have six core functions
1. Further development and expansion of placement capacity to create innovative and high-quality
clinical placements for all learners to meet the workforce needs of “the place” in line with the
Long-Term Plan: thus, maximising the effective use of educational resources across the network
2. Support understanding of workforce planning, assisting in the co-ordination and realisation of the
health and social care workforce across the ICS.
3. Support recruitment of the primary care workforce through:
a. Developing, expanding and enhancing recruitment of multi-professional educators
together with developing their capabilities to support the delivery of high-quality clinical
learning placements and high-quality teaching and learning environments.
b. Supporting the development and realisation of educational programmes to develop the
primary/ community care workforce at scale to address identified population health
needs, support service re-design and the delivery of integrated care (through, for
example, rotational placements and integrated educational programmes of learning).
4. Enable, support and embed “new roles” within primary care
5. Support the retentionof the primary care workforce across all keytransitionsincluding promoting
primary care as an employment destination to students, through schools and higher education
institutions
6. Enable both workforce planning intentions and placement co-ordination through the active
management of clinical placement tariffs – moving towards “place-based tariffs”.
Given the role Training Hubs have in supporting the existing and growing primary care workforce it is
essential that they are aligned to the ambitions of PCNs, and we will support the continued
development of a direct relationship between the Training Hub and PCN Clinical Directors. In time
PCNs should be able to both direct the core work of, and commission additionalsupportdirectlyfrom,
the Training Hub in order to improve the workforce offer of PCNs.

9.6. Investment
Investment into General Practice and wider Personal Medical Services is complex in terms of sources
and use of funding. Through this strategy we will mirror the national intention that PCNs become
the unit level at which investment is targeted. As part of the move to a system operating budget,
and service line budgets, we will we look to set a target for investment as a proportion of overall
spend, building on the current baseline with an intention to go beyond national ambition.
Investment is currently circa 10% of total local investment. This is intended to grow as a result of
national GP Contract negotiations, and investment commitments made as part of the Long-Term Plan,
in particular through the Network DES.
National direction will also see investment previously made by CCGs into service models ‘funnelled’
through the Network DES, for example the transfer of Extended Access funding into PCNs. This
however is not new money.
The system, through this strategy and led by the ambition and capability of accelerator PCNs, are
seeking to increase the proportion of investment made into General Practice. This should go beyond
revenue investment, and could start to look at targeting capital investment into this area. One
example could be through possible development of non-acute based diagnostic facilities, reducing
acute footfall, and improving collaboration across sectors.

Page 265

At the time of writing CCGs and systems had not been informed of allocations for 2021/22, and as
such the investment below is considered the minimum investment to be made into General Practice
based on known outcomes of the GP Contract Negotiations from previously published information
and illustrates additional funding against the 2020/21 baseline. Through the national investment
programme General Practice has access to an additional £26m of investment over the next three
years. This additional investment was further committed within the NHSE Planning Guidance
published on the 25th March 2021.
New Investment through the National GP Contract (Network DES)
Mid & South Essex Total (£'000's)
21/22
22/23
23/24
Additional Role Reimbursement
Scheme
7,084
6,272
8,652
Impact and Investment Fund

Total
22,008

2,818

1,675

1,672

6,165

Average PCN (£'000's)
Additional Role Reimbursement
Scheme

253

224

309

786

Impact and Investment Fund

101

60

60

220

Notes
Calculations as of BMA & NHSE 'Update to the GP contract agreement 2020/21 - 2023/24' 6 February 2020
Figures above
•¾
do not include the ARRS underspend from 2020/21 being invested over the coming three year. If PCNs recover
this under-recruitment this will see additional investment into General Practice of circa £5m
•¾
do not include the contractual uplift agreed as part of the contract settlement

It is the ambition for investment into General Practice to increase at a faster rate. This will be
determined in part by the readiness of PCNs to expand their scope and deliver a greater range of
services.

9.7. Implementation
In 2018 the system agreed an approach where each CCG would lead its local implementation, but coordinating across the system where that made sense. This acknowledged individualjourneys to date,
local pace, context and relationships.
Local implementation remains essential, but as we mature our ICS it is important that the end points
become more aligned, in both time and expectation.
Here we seek to describe an approach based upon place-based leadership and accountability for
delivery, within a collective system acknowledging the principles agreed within the H&CP MOU.
Transitioning to a model of collaboration built around Primary Care Network footprints will take time
and will need to resolve some of the well-versed challenges that have limited progress over recent
years. Effective GP involvementwill need to recognise both the challenges presented by a nationally
negotiated contract for Primary Medical Services and that CCGs (and the new ICS statutorybody when
it emerges), with delegated commissioning responsibilities for General Practice, cannot move away
from the formal relationship with individual practices, and delivery of the functionsdelegated by NHS
England and NHS Improvement.
To successfully deliver the ambitions of this strategy, and the local and national ambitions that this
contributes to, we will need to successfully strike the balance between bottom-up change, and the
achievement of system ambitions. It is the expectation that this is managed through Place in line
with the principles already agreed as part of the H&CP MOU & Ways of Working.

Page 266

It can be argued that there are two fundamental challenges to be addressed for successful
implementation:
The first is the alignment of purpose and incentives. Through implementation of this strategy we will
look to align purpose amongst stakeholders at a PCN. This will be co-ordinated at Place where
assurance will be provided that theyalignto Place-based prioritieswhilst contributing to the collective
purpose of the Health and Care Partnership. This will include as a minimum agreement of PCN level
outcome measures that sit across all partners, identifiedand definedby the PCN, but endorsed by the
Place based Alliances, and over the life ofthis strategy the movement to arrangements that incentivise
collective delivery. This will be supported through the development of the system’s service line
budgets financial framework, and aligns with the principles of the Health & Care Partnership MOU.
The second, and arguably more important element, will focus on leadership development and
organisational/system culture. As is the case with the first point this will, in the main, be delivered
through place level relationships upon which the success of PCNs are reliant.

9.7.1. Accelerator Programme
Following a blanket offer of support to PCNs in 2019/20 in 2020/21 the system moved to an offer of
targeted support to those PCNs willing and capable to develop faster, and open to sharing learning
with others.
This accelerator approach, backed up by support to enable fast followers, will be the mechanism for
PCN development at a system level. It is expected that through place PCNs will be identified and
supported to engage in this programme. As a system we will collectively support these PCNs to grow
and become strategically important delivery vehicles in their area, using them to test new ways of
working with partners before spreading and adoptingacross the wider footprint. An essential principle
to test is how partners, such as Local Authorities and Acute Trusts, become members of PCNs.
Whilst it is accepted that development happens at a local level, the ambitions of the systemas a whole
need to ensure that collectively PCNs are all moving forward. The summary implementation timeline
below identifies high-level milestones to be achieved within each Place and collectively.
The creation of place based, or PCN specific, development planswill be required to move thisforward
through which it is expected that those areas where collaboration at a larger footprint is requiredwill
be identified. These should be developed at Place level, and fall in scope for the NHS Alliance Directors
to agree with alliance partners .

Page 267

9.8. Risks
We will adopt the Partnership approach to risk management as described in its 5 year strategy for the
delivery of this strategy. The approach is designed to ensure that the risks and issues are identified,
assessed, and mitigation plans developed in a risk management plan. All risks will have a responsible
owner identified.
Each specific programme has its own risk log and items elevated to Partnership level are those
significant risks that require partners to address together.
The overarching risk management policy is based on an iterative process of:
•
•
•

Identifying and prioritising the risks to the achievement of the programme aims and
objectives;
Evaluating the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised;
Managing the risks efficiently, effectively and economically.

The key risks for delivery are as follows:
Risks
Partners do not agree the strategic
direction as described in this
document
General Practice do not agree with
the strategic direction as described in
this document

Mitigations
Partners engaged in the development process of the
strategy refresh and endorsement received at the
Partnership Board
The refresh does not alter the strategic direction as
described in 2018, but enhances it in line with recent local
and national policy. General Practice have been involved,

Page 268

including through the LMC and CCG Chairs, in the
development of this document
Failure to attract and retain an Focus on the challenge through the Workforce Training
appropriately skilled health and care Hub, and making the explicit links to the wider workforce
workforce, and under recruitment of strategy of the H&CP
the ARRS
PCNs do not have the appropriate Through accelerator programme, and Alliance Directors,
capacity and competencies to understand existing gap and as partners seek to address
develop
Financial risks are not managed
All five CCGs have delegated authority for commissioning
appropriately
primary care services as of April 2021.
Links made with the Service Line Budgets Financial
Framework being developed under the system governance
of System Executive and System Finance Leaders.

9.9. Governance
This section attempts to describe the governance approach to be adopted to oversee delivery of this
strategy. It does not attempt to cover the governance arrangements for the ICS, or how Primary Care
is represented within an integrated system. It is also likely to be reviewed as part of any transition
requirements of new legislation.
The H&CP have adopted a memorandum of understanding that clearly champions the concept of
subsidiarity, and this has been reflected within the approach to implementation. However, the
principles of working as a system require an understanding of the impact of decisions and actions
made at each tier – system, place and PCN – and the importance of collective alignment where this
makes sense. As such, as is the case with many current transformation programmes, the governance
for oversight and delivery of the statedstrategic ambitions will take two forms bothof which feedinto
the H&CP Governance arrangements. These arrangements are likely to be reviewed as part of any
changes to landscape as a result of the White Paper.

9.9.1. Contractual Assurance
From April 2021 all five CCGs in Mid and South Essex will have delegated responsibility for the
commissioning of primary medical services. As part of the delegation agreement with NHS England
each will also have a Primary Care Commissioning Committee, with an intention that these will meet
as a Committee in Common. Delegation gives the CCGs the ability to make local decisions around
primary care resource, and align local discussions and decisions on primary care commissioning and
implementation of local strategy including transitioning to a new consistent contracting framework
for local investment that supports the development and growth of PCNs.
Whilst the issues identified within this strategy refresh will not be addressed by delegation alone, the
local decision making that delegation brings will give greater responsiveness, flexibility and freedom
to act to address these issues.

9.9.2. Assurance at Place
The strongest message from this, and associatedstrategies, is one of improvedcollaborationamongst
frontline staff. This cannot be undertaken at a system level - its success is down to local relationships
and understanding and appreciating local context.

Page 269

As such responsibility for delivering PCNs that achieve the triple integration aim, and contribute to
improvements in local population health outcomes, must sit at place. This is currently assumed to be
through the four place-based alliances and within their emerging arrangements. This is reflected in
the expectations of the NHS Alliance Directors within the CCGs Joint Executive Team. Specific
arrangements at place will be clarified during the first part of 2021/22.
Delivery of Placed based plans will be overseen by the System Oversight and Assurance Group.

9.9.3. Collective Assurance
Since 2018 the Primary Care Programme Board has met to bring together the five CCGs to ensure that
there is appropriate alignment in the transformation of General Practice, and to provide a shared
forum forthe discussion and agreement of the utilisation of specific primary care ‘system’ funding. Its
current scope for collective oversight includes PCN Development, Primary Care Digital and Primary
Care Workforce.
There is still a requirement for this collective oversight to exist, particularly amongst commissioners
of Primary Medical Services, to ensure there is best value being achieved in the utilisation of shared
resource, and that economies of scale can be extracted where possible.
To date this has been a health commissioner dominated forum, but as we move to more mature
collaborative ways of working it is envisaged that the scope of this group may change.
We will review the Terms of Reference during 2021/22 to ensure they reflect the emerging
accountability structure of the system, and ensure they are fit for purpose for the developing system
and the relationships with place-based Alliances.

Page 270

Agenda Item 10


23 July 2021

ITEM: 10

Health & Wellbeing Board
Mid and South Essex Health and Care Partnership Report on
Learning from COVID
Wards and communities
affected:

Key Decision:
N/A

All
Report of: Mark Tebbs, NHS Thurrock Alliance Director, Thurrock
Clinical Commissioning Group
Accountable Head of Service: N/A External partner report
Accountable Director: N/A External partner report
This report is public
Executive Summary
The ‘Learning From COVID-19 in Mid and South Essex Report: Understanding
Drivers of Collaboration and Seeking New Ways to Tackle Inequalities’ (March 21)
report was produced by Kaleidoscope Health and Care. The report was the output
from a number of place based stakeholder engagement events culminating in a Mid
and South Essex learning event in November 2020. The stakeholder and learning
events, therefore, gathered the learning from Spring and Summer 2020 when the
system experienced the first waves of the pandemic.
It is therefore important to remember that these stakeholder and learning events took
place during the pandemic. The systems were still adapting and managing the
operational demands upon them. Many staff were exhausted. Nationally and locally
awareness was growing regarding the disproportionate impact of the pandemic on
our most vulnerable members of our society. The lessons were very live to the
situation and therefore contain many important messages which must be recorded
and help shape our approach to future service transformation. it is a credit to the
system that it took time out to hold such events and record these lessons.

Page 271



1.

Recommendation(s)

1.1

That members of the Board note and comment on the contents of this
report and accompanying documentation

2.
2.1

Introduction and Background
The report summarised the learning under a number of headings:
1. When you prioritise, you can deliver significant change at pace
2. Shared purpose helped create a culture of enablement
3. Local people help local people if they are given the tools to do so
4. Strong relationships grow out of trust and connection to place
5. COVID-19 and health inequalities

2.1

The report provides a number of actions and commitments following the

pandemic:
1. Work with the CVS to ensure all partners are united around the purpose and
vision for reducing inequalities and teams see a connection between their
work and the impact on the community.


Alliance leaders should work together to understand what reducing
inequalities means locally



CVS should be central to the co-development process to ensure
solutions are routed in the community

2. Embed a community focus into how services are delivered so that social value
is integral part of how organisations work


Share learning from other anchor institutions



Establish measure for monitoring progress



Adopt the anchor institution charter



Set out a learning and development process to embed and
maintain anchor practices



Provide guidance and training on how to maximise value to the
local community



Share learnings from other anchor institutions



Develop a baseline and metrics for evaluating success

Page 272



3. Drive the development of PCNs and neighbourhood level delivery to work
differently with communities


Embed the engagement framework and ensure people are trained
on what it means for them



Work closely with PCNs to support shared learning and
progression



See opportunities for the CVS to lead programmes of work



Work together in place to tackle digital exclusion

4. Support staff so they can deliver their best work by role modelling the
behaviours that deliver strong culture and excellent decision-making.


Establish flexible integrated teams



Look at the career development to fill gaps



Role model the behaviours that make for a positive culture



Be prepared to make difficult decisions about priorities



Ensure partnership staff have access to NHS staff wellbeing
programme



Socialise new ways of working through education and preparation



Establish knowledge sharing and best practice fora

2.2

Thurrock Integrated Care Partnership (TICP) can already demonstrates
progress against many of the place based actions and commitments outlined
in the report. It is proposed that the TICP develop a task and finish group to
review the actions and co-produce a response to this report to ensure that the
learning is embedded locally within our local partnership arrangements.

3.

Issues, Options and Analysis of Options

3.1

This report provides an update on MSE learning from COVID

4.

Reasons for Recommendation

4.1

This report shares information about MSE learning from COVID with key
partners in Thurrock through the Health and Wellbeing Board

5.

Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable)

5.1

MSE System partners to inform the contents of the report

Page 273



6.

Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community
impact

6.1

N/A External report

7.

Implications

7.1

Financial
Implications verified by:

7.2

Legal
Implications verified by:

7.3

N/A External report

Diversity and Equality
Implications verified by:

7.4

N/A External report

N/A External report

Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability,
Crime and Disorder)
None

8.

Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location
on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected
by copyright):

9.

Appendices to the report


Appendix A. Learning for MSE document

Report Author: Mark Tebbs, NHS Thurrock Alliance Director, Thurrock Clinical
Commissioning Group

Page 274

MARCH 2021

LEARNING FROM
COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH
ESSEX
UNDERSTANDING DRIVERS OF
COLLABORATION AND
SEEKING NEW WAYS TO
TACKLE INEQUALITIES

Page 275
Prepared by Kaleidoscope Health and Care

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

//

MARCH 2021

CONTENTS
3

PREFACE

4

FOREWORD by Professor Michael Thorne

6

REFLECTION

7

LEARNINGS

11

ACTIONS

21

NEXT STEPS

APPENDICIES
22

APPENDIX 1: LEARNING APPROACH

23

APPENDIX 2: ESSEX COUNTY COUNCIL ANCHOR
INSTITUTION CASE STUDY

25

02

APPENDIX 3: FURTHER RESOURCES

Page 276

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

//

MARCH 2021

PREFACE
A NOTE ON THE TIMING OF THIS REPORT

Learning is an ongoing and iterative process. What we learn today should
shape our actions tomorrow, building on what we learned yesterday and the
day before.
In this spirit, this report reflects the time between the first and the second
waves of the Covid-19 pandemic. During this particular phase, Mid and South
Essex Health and Care Partnership took the opportunity to reflect on what had
happened to colleagues and those whom they work to support in the spring
and summer of 2020. There was a desire to learn both from the challenges
and the successes, and so enable the Partnership to prepare for what was
about to happen subsequently, as well as influencing longer term plans for
collaboration.
It is now clear that even greater challenges were in the near future and many
of those involved in developing this report were put under further, enormous
strain. Whilst their response was guided by what they had learned and was
supported by networks developed during the first wave, it was perhaps
inevitably undermined by exhaustion and the scale of the emergency.
It will be important to ensure that any learnings from what happened during
the second wave of the pandemic are also gathered and shared. These further
insights will build on the foundations of this report, and ensure that the
conclusions and recommendations that follow in this report evolve, thereby
ensuring the Partnership is in the best possible position to reset our approach
to how we work together with our communities taking more account of the
wider determinants of health.

03

Page 277

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

//

MARCH 2021

FOREWORD
PROFESSOR MICHAEL THORNE CBE
CHAIR, MID AND SOUTH ESSEX HEALTH AND
CARE PARTNERSHIP
When people talk about the ‘unprecedented’ nature of
2020, it’s often in a negative sense. But in Mid and
South Essex, alongside the many challenging aspects
of the pandemic, we’ve seen something special and
powerful emerge. Out of the chaos, we have seen our
health and care teams come together quickly to make
changes that we thought would take years. New
services set up in days; pathways revised to keep
people out of hospital and treat them where they are
safest. And we’ve seen our communities stand up to
protect neighbours and strangers who were in need.
The Covid-19 pandemic has seen us working better
together than ever before and has shown us the
potential that we can achieve if we focus our efforts in
one direction. The experience has given us the tools
we need to make a real difference to the health of our
communities, even as the scale of our challenge is
increasing. Research shows us that health is largely
1
determined by broad social and economic factors. As
the pandemic has continued to impact people’s
livelihoods, we now need to look at new ways to
support our communities if we want people to have
better health and better lives.

04

1

The Health Foundation, What makes us healthy? An introduction to the social
determinants of health, March 2018. Accessed on 21.12.20 at:
https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/What-makes-us-healthy-quickguide.pdf

Page 278

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

//

MARCH 2021

As we move towards becoming an integrated care
system (ICS), we have a strong plan to steer our
programmes and services. Alongside this, we continue
to learn about how we can collaborate better and that
our joint reach is so much greater than the sum of our
parts. To that end, we want to do more than just
deliver our services – we want the way that we work
together to actively contribute to better lives for our
residents. As a partnership we will look after our staff
and seek out ways to reduce bureaucracy and
unnecessary policy so that they can work more
effectively and quickly. We will also look for
opportunities to deliver social value through the
people we employ, the goods we buy and the land we
use.
This autumn we took the time to ensure we really
understood the drivers of better collaboration, what
our staff and volunteers need us to do to support
them, and what actions are needed to empower
change in our communities.
This report reflects on what we’ve learned from the
achievements of the past year and where challenges
remain, and connects this with the path we are taking
forward to become a truly integrated and caring
system.

Page 279

05

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

//

MARCH 2021

REFLECTION
System wide events
with key partners
who are leading
the Health and
Care agenda are
essential - for
awareness,
understanding as
well as
contributing to a
collaborative
approach.

06

During the first wave of Covid-19, a number of
changes in working practices and policies occurred
that meant it was significantly easier for people in Mid
and South Essex to work together and to re-organise
services. These changes made it possible for teams to
be more responsive and flexible, and to deliver on
priorities at pace. This ensured that hospitals had
enough beds to treat Covid-19 patients, that people
were looked after in the community and the public
was kept as safe as possible.
In a bid to ensure that any positive developments
were not lost, the partnership decided to undertake a
learning process to understand what had enabled the
changes in behaviour and policy that supported
collaborative efforts during the pandemic. This
learning would then inform action to tackle the
inequalities that were deepening as a result of Covid19. More detail about the learning process can be
found in appendix 1.

Page 280

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

//

MARCH 2021

LEARNINGS
WHEN YOU PRIORITISE, YOU CAN DELIVER
SIGNIFICANT CHANGE AT PACE

During the
first wave of
Covid-19 it
was clear that
there was
support for
PCNs and
delivery
through
communities,
so we came
together and
agreed what
we could
accelerate and
what was
needed to do
things
differently.

07

Although the health and care sectors have been
moving towards greater integration for many years,
the process has been slow for a multitude of reasons.
Covid-19 saw a shift-change in how a range of
organisations collaborated, including clinical
commissioning groups (CCGs), hospitals, local
authorities and community and voluntary sector (CVS)
providers. New teams were created that brought
together staff across organisations and worked in a
responsive, reactive, client-focused, innovative and
digitally-enabled way. Changes were made at pace in a
way that would not have been possible previously.
This was because regulatory and bureaucratic
challenges were overcome but also because priorities
were incredibly clear.
At the outset of the pandemic, in South East Essex, for
example, the local authorities, NHS, CVS and
healthwatch spoke to commissioners about what could
be accelerated and what could be done differently.
They created a family of professionals to implement
changes to benefit local populations through Primary
Care Networks (PCNs). In Basildon and Brentwood, a
seven-day adult social care rota was achieved in
weeks. Across all of the partnership, clinical
appointments were delivered virtually.
These changes happened because the pandemic
allowed staff to challenge existing rules and
regulations where they conflicted with priorities. At

Page 281

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

//

MARCH 2021

the time, priorities were all related to Covid-19 and
ensuring that the health service was able to cope with
the patients that needed treatment. Support for
collaboration came from partnership-level work
streams including the setting up of care home hubs,
technical solutions for care homes, initiatives on
homelessness and urgent care pathway reorganisation.

SHARED PURPOSE HELPED TO CREATE A
CULTURE OF ENABLEMENT
Having this absolute clarity of purpose was key. This
meant that everyone knew what they were supposed
to be doing and how they were contributing to that
goal. The challenging situation gave leaders an
opportunity to create a culture that was about
enablement and people felt empowered to go out and
make change happen. Alongside this both staff and
services users were encouraged to self-manage to a
greater degree. This enabled local authorities to work
with the CVS to set up food banks overnight and
mobilise armies of local residents, who came out to
support their neighbours (see below).
The partnership was critical in creating the
infrastructure to show people how they could work
together, through the Memorandum of Understanding
(MoU) and guidance that showed how to marry
national and regional policies with local assets to
deliver a hyper-local response to need. There is now a
real sense of excitement and enthusiasm for the
partnership and alliances, and the role they can play
in supporting a culture of empowerment, knowledgesharing and blending resources going forward.

Page 282

When we put
our collective
efforts and
focus on trying
to achieve a
common
outcome we’ve
demonstrated
we can do it,
we just need
to make it
front and
centre of what
we do.

08

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

//

MARCH 2021

LOCAL PEOPLE HELP LOCAL PEOPLE IF THEY ARE
GIVEN THE TOOLS TO DO SO

We changed
from a
traditional way
of working to
something that
enabled people
to make the
real difference.
That couldn’t
have happened
without our
willingness to
release the
reins and let
people get on
and do things.

The CVS, already expert in recruiting supporters, rose
to the occasion of Covid-19 and recruited thousands of
supporters to deliver food and prescriptions, work in
call centres and support those in need. In addition to
creating a community of volunteers, the CVS
organisations reached those groups who had selfmobilised to ensure they operated safely providing
skills development, guidance and insurance where
needed.
Although local communities played a phenomenal part
in protecting people during the pandemic, the CVS
believes there is still much more it could be doing to
shape services so that the right care is delivered to
the right person and at the right time, especially with
a shift towards prevention and a more holistic
approach to health and care. For example, while there
is funding to develop the social prescribing offers this
does not always extend to the partners in the
voluntary or third sector delivering services. Social
prescribers played a significant part in pandemic but
will struggle if the charity offer cannot survive.

STRONG RELATIONSHIPS GROW OUT OF TRUST
AND CONNECTION TO PLACE

09

The pandemic saw a new paradigm for organisations
working together in place and within the partnership.
Local authorities came together with the CVS and
PCNs to reach groups and areas not previously reached
through the shielding list and utilising relationships at
ward level. Technology enhanced connection between

Page 283

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

//

MARCH 2021

those working together (though it also created a new
disparity for those who do not have access to it).
Going forward, these relationships have consolidated
in areas where they were new and strengthened in
existing places. In South East Essex, for example, it
has led to genuinely collaborative efforts to improve
health provision for rough sleepers. Different partners
are working together to share learning which in turn is
helping to inform further investment/service change.

Communities
pull together
when there is a
clear reason to
do so.

All of this was underpinned by a feeling of trust that
everyone was working for the same goals and a new or
renewed sense of place.

COVID-19 AND HEALTH INEQUALITIES
Covid-19 did not affect all equally. As the pandemic
progressed, it became clear that people from poorer
backgrounds and from minority ethnic groups, among
others, were considerably worse affected by the
disease. Considering what is well established about
the factors that make people healthy (or not), this is
unsurprising. People’s homes, jobs, schools, habits and
communities deeply affect the likelihood of them
becoming ill and the outcome when they do so.
The NHS alone cannot keep people well, in the same
way it could not fight Covid-19 by itself. The central
purpose of Mid and South Essex Health and Care
Partnership is to unite the organisations who together
can have the greatest impact on people’s wellbeing.
As the pandemic continues to have a devastating
effect on businesses, the partnership needs to
consider what it can do beyond the services it delivers
to address economic inequalities that drive poor
Page 284
health.

Inequalities
will only
increase with
the impact of
lockdown on
society and the
economy.
Strong action
needed to
protect those
from
disadvantaged
backgrounds.

10

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

//

MARCH 2021

ACTIONS
With everything that has been lost in 2020, it is more important than ever that
positive change is maintained and built upon. However, the challenges that the
partnership now faces are significant, among them the ongoing pandemic, widening
inequalities, financial constraints, an economic downturn, and an exhausted
workforce.
For the learnings captured in this report to lead to tangible change, organisations
across the system must be prepared to work differently and make difficult
decisions.
The following chapter sets out four areas where leaders in place will need to take
action to avoid lapsing back into old ways of working.
1. Work with the CVS to ensure all partners are united around the purpose and
vision for reducing inequalities and teams see a connection between their work and
the impact on the community.
2. Embed a community focus into how services are delivered so that social value is
integral part of how organisations work
3. Drive the development of PCNs and neighbourhood level delivery to work
differently with communities
4. Support staff so they can deliver their best work by role modelling the
behaviours that deliver strong culture and excellent decision-making.

11

We are collaborating better than ever. Now we need to turn
that into action starting by properly supporting the community
and voluntary sector that has been so critical during the
pandemic and will be so into the future.

Page 285

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

//

MARCH 2021

1. ENSURE ALL PARTNERS ARE UNITED AROUND
THE PURPOSE AND VISION FOR REDUCING
INEQUALITIES

One
organisation
or individual
can’t achieve
real change in
isolation. We
have to have
a common
vision and a
multi-faceted
approach,
statutory and
nonstatutory
together.

12

The pandemic gave everyone a clear goal and broke
down ways of thinking that distinguished ‘us’ from
‘them’. This shared purpose and vision, more than
anything else, created the basis for a decision-making
framework and gave people the permission to
challenge the way things had been done before. To
replicate the strength of collaboration during this
time, reduce barriers with governance and further
improve links with the community, staff and
volunteers must be 100% clear about what they are
driving towards and why.
Across all of the discussions, there was a strong sense
that a majority of people saw tackling inequalities as
central to their work. This is not a surprise given the
disproportionate impact the pandemic had on already
disadvantaged groups, and the evidence highlighted
by Covid-19 about the impact of economic and social
circumstances on wellbeing. However, it was also
clear from discussions that participants felt that to
truly tackle inequalities a new approach was needed.
Leaders in each place should work together to
understand what reducing inequalities means for their
alliance. Co-creating understanding around purpose
and vision will help to ensure that teams can see a
direct link from their work all the way through to the
system-wide goal of people living better lives. This
will strengthen focus on activities which contribute
towards reducing inequalities, and empower people to
make the difficult decisions and prioritisations that
will be needed in the coming weeks and months.

Page 286

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

//

MARCH 2021

The vision for reducing inequalities in each place
should emphasise the role in communities supporting
themselves, and the CVS should be central to the codevelopment process to ensure solutions are routed in
the community.
Commitments for partners:
Alliance leaders should work together to
understand what reducing inequalities means
locally.
CVS should be central to the co-development
process to ensure solutions are routed in the
community.

2. EMBED A COMMUNITY FOCUS INTO HOW
SERVICES ARE DELIVERED
The partners within Mid and South Essex have an
opportunity to support local communities beyond the
services they offer. As large employers and purchasers
of goods and services, and through the use of the land
they own, they can create powerful positive
investments in people, businesses and the
environment. Creating ways of operating that aim to
increase the value to local people and communities is
sometimes called an ‘anchor institution’ approach,
because it relates to organisations that are deeply
embedded in a fixed place.
The partnership’s vision to reduce inequalities will be
strengthened if the organisations that make it up
commit to working together in this way. The first step
towards this will be signing up to an anchor
institution charter that sets out the vision and key
areas that organisations will focus on.

Page 287

Every
year we all
commit to
addressing
inequalities
and every
year
inequalities
grow...we
need to have
a drastically
different
approach.

13

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

//

MARCH 2021

Setting the vision is the first step of this process, but
ongoing work will be needed to make value for
communities an integral part of how organisations
work. Leaders in place will need to set out a learning
and development process to embed and maintain
practices that have a long term view. This must be
reflected in organisations’ overarching aims and
objectives, and translated through to all teams. Good
employment practices engender a happy (and
healthier) workforce who are key to consolidating this
approach. Furthermore, positive experiences of an
organisation lead to recommendations and new talent
being drawn in (also part of an anchor approach).

WHY ARE WE TALKING ABOUT
'ANCHOR INSTITUTIONS'?
When we say 'anchor institution', we're talking about large
organisations, generally in the public sector, like
hospitals, local authorities or universities. These
institutions employ a high number of local people and
provide services in the same area. As a result of this, there
is a lot these organisations can do to impact the wellbeing
of local people. This is because the things that most
determine our health is not healthcare, but economic and
social factors.

14

Page 288

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

Developing
career paths
and training
plans for
young people
will
encourage
more local
applications.

If we
tell local
businesses
what we
need, they
may be able
to adapt to
create a
sustainable,
local supply.

15

//

MARCH 2021

Each organisation will also have to provide guidance
and training on how to maximise value to the local
community in a variety of work practices (the draft
charter identifies three potential domains;
employment, procurement and working as an
environmentally responsible organisation). The
partnership should aim to share learnings from other
'anchors' within and without Mid and South Essex,
about how to take action in these areas. This could
include highlighting frameworks that incorporate
measures for social value and examples of how
recruitment can be made to deliver greater local
benefit. Appendix 2 sets out some examples and
further resources are listed in Appendix 3.
Key to understanding the value of any approach is to
establish what the gaps are, what the anticipated
change will be and how to measure the progress
towards this. Developing a baseline and metrics
should be done at partnership level to monitor
progress, and in place to set targets and link to need.
It is critical that the communities whom this approach
is aimed at supporting are central to shaping the
desired outcomes.
Commitments for Mid and South Essex HCP:
Share learnings from other ‘anchor institutions’.
Establish measures for monitoring progress.

Page 289

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

//

Commitments for partners
Adopt the anchor institution charter.
Set out a learning and development process to
embed and maintain ‘anchor’ practices.
Provide guidance and training on how to maximise
value to the local community.
Share learnings from other ‘anchor institutions’
Develop a baseline and metrics for evaluating
success

3. WORK DIFFERENTLY WITH COMMUNITIES
The relationship between local populations and public
services is changing, and the balance of power is
slowly shifting. It is important to keep hold of what
has been learned in terms of co-design and outreach
with local communities, although there is still
progress to be made. There is a continued effort to
build from the bottom up and reach out to groups who
are seldom asked or heard.
Reducing inequalities will only be possible with a
further shift in how organisations understand and
partner with communities. Across the partnership,
organisations and alliances have made great strides in
how they co-design and deliver action with residents
and service users.
Embedding the engagement framework in place, and
ensuring everyone is aware of the approach will help
to consolidate this good practice and spread it further.

Page 290

MARCH 2021

The
opportunity to
restructure
and review
the estates is
now,
particularly
for CCGs.

Communities
themselves
often have a
greater
understanding
of their needs
and how to
help each
other than
local
services.

16

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

//

MARCH 2021

PCNs provide a strong mechanism to bring operations
closer to communities, residents and seldom reached
groups. Alliances should be working closely with
clinical directors and other community leaders to
support PCNs to share learning and progress in
maturity.

We need
to encourage
PCNs to
engage more
with their
communities
and local
services and
partners in
both health
and social
care. For too
long we have
told people
what they can
have and have
not asked
what's
important to
them.

17

A challenge going forward remains an imbalance of
power in the relationship between statutory and
community organisations. During the pandemic, and
despite stronger than previous relationships, the CVS
reported being engaged belatedly in many cases and
considered themselves to be a lesser partner in
alliances. It is welcome that in many areas, the CVS is
leading work around Theory of Change for place and
that the partnership has established an engagement
steering group. Alliances should continue to seek
opportunities for the CVS to lead programmes of work.
While alliances and individual organisations are
achieving impressive results in engaging with people
virtually through existing social media channels, work
is still in place needed to tackle digital exclusion, and
that should be a priority going forward.
Commitments for partners:
Embed the engagement framework and ensure
people are trained on what it means for them.
Work closely with PCNs to support shared learning
and progression.
Seek opportunities for the CVS to lead programmes
of work.
Work together in place to tackle digital exclusion.

Page 291

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

//

MARCH 2021

4. SUPPORT STAFF SO THEY CAN DELIVER THEIR
BEST WORK
For organisations to truly cement a community focus
in their operations, all staff must understand the
concept and how their roles contribute to delivering
the overarching objective of reducing inequalities.
From finance teams to facilities, to IT, to catering,
everyone can do something with their role to improve
the standing of the local community. This might be
buying locally, employing locally, choosing a
environmentally friendlier option or supporting
communities in another way. As such, it is vital that
staff not only understand this, but are supported to do
their jobs to the best of their ability.
In 2020, staff have gone above and beyond to ensure
that vulnerable residents and communities could
shield and stay safe during the pandemic. Now as
services try to rebuild while experiencing another
wave, organisations must address staff wellbeing
needs and resilience if they want to move forward and
not back.
The partnership’s Integrated Health and Care
Workforce Strategy published in the summer offers
good guidance for alliances for shaping action going
forward, including advice on establishing flexible
integrated teams and looking at career development
to fill gaps (this is also part of an anchor institution
approach).

Page 292

To retain staff
we need to
deal with the
‘what are we
not going to
do?’ question
to ensure a
manageable
workload for
our staff.

As senior
managers
need to be
very, very
conscious of…
comments
made about
staff
exhaustion
and feeling
very
stretched.

18

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

Digital has
been a real
driver for
better
collaboration
by bringing
people
together
more
regularly and
more easily
to make
decisions.

Digital
technology has
made so many
things
possible, but
the discipline
about how to
use it wisely is
not always
there.

19

//

MARCH 2021

Digital communications enabled faster decision
making and information sharing, which was positive
during the pandemic. However, staff resilience is now
being tested by new ways of working and concerning
new work patterns. ‘Crisis mode’ has become the norm.
In addition to wellbeing concerns, this means that
there is a lack of headspace for strategic thinking and
leadership.
The workforce strategy also includes approaches that
are relevant for addressing burnout and a slide into
tactical, short-termism. Leaders must role model the
behaviours that make for a positive culture, such as
expectations around work/life balance. They should
also be prepared to make difficult decisions about
priorities, and explain the reasoning behind them, to
ensure that there is enough resource to do the work
that is highest priority. Other approaches includes
ensuring staff working for the partnership have access
to the NHS staff wellbeing programmes that are
funded already.
Despite the work that has been done to reduce and
simplify governance arrangements, some confusion
remains about the respective roles of the partnership,
the alliances and the different organisations that are
involved with each. It can be expected that not
everyone needs to understand these arrangements in
detail, but where it hinders collaboration, it is a
problem that should be addressed. The MoU has
proved to be valuable during the pandemic, in giving
structure to statutory organisations wanting to work
with the CVS and private sectors. However, alliances
may want to do more to understand where confusion
continues and provide education and preparation to
socialise new ways of working.

Page 293

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

//

MARCH 2021

Another challenge to collaboration in a number of
places, was a sense that there were strong
relationships at a strategic level but not among
operational teams, and that this is where a culture
shift was needed. Leaders in place should seek
opportunities to develop connections through
knowledge sharing and best practice fora especially in
relation to business models, delivering pathways
across multiple providers and decision making.
Commitments for partners:
Establish flexible integrated teams.
Look at career development to fill gaps Role model
the behaviours that make for a positive culture.
Be prepared to make difficult decisions about
priorities.
Ensure partnership staff have access to the NHS
staff wellbeing programme.
Socialise new ways of working through education
and preparation.
Establish knowledge sharing and best practice fora.

20

Page 294

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

//

MARCH 2021

NEXT STEPS
Learning from experience and translating into action
is a key component of quality improvement, and this
process has given partners within Mid and South Essex
a strong opportunity to reflect and set a new course.
Above all else, people involved in this process wanted
the positive changes that happened during the
pandemic to sustain and deepen, so that 2020
becomes a turning point in how people work together
and how equal their communities are.
The recommendations above set out what is needed to
achieve this goal. Going forward, the leadership in
each place and each organisation must now decide
which commitments to prioritise, how to deliver them
and the timescales for action. With plans in place, the
potential is huge and exciting for what can be
achieved to transform the lives of people in Mid and
South Essex.

21

Page 295

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

//

MARCH 2021

APPENDIX 1: LEARNING
APPROACH
During November, virtual learning events for each
place unpicked the successes, ongoing challenges and
priorities emerging from the pandemic. The themes
arising from the discussions highlighted the
importance of shared purpose and vision, the role of
communities in supporting themselves, the importance
of clarity around governance and, more than ever, the
need to prioritise staff wellbeing.
These sessions fed into a system-wide event that
explored the implications of these themes for the
partnership, and what they would mean in practice.
The participants of the system event also discussed
the opportunities that could be realised by adopting
an approach to operating that would maximise social
value, and so target the upstream determinants of ill
health.
This report represents the stated intentions of the
members of the partnership to take forward the
learnings, and recommended actions that would be
necessary for this to happen.
For more information about the learning approach,
please contact zoe@kscopehealth.org.uk.

Page 296

22

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

//

MARCH 2021

APPENDIX 2: ESSEX
COUNTY COUNCIL ANCHOR
INSTITUTION CASE STUDY
In 2019, Essex County Council (ECC) examined system
opportunities to tackle deprivation through addressing
the broader determinants of health. Following
acknowledgment that the greatest influencer of good
health has consistently been shown to derive from
socio-economic factors, with the key driver of health
being material wealth which is associated with higher
levels of educational attainment and ‘good’
employment opportunities, the board agreed to
explore a range of interventions to tackle these issues.
These included:
Targeting employment positions for local people to
optimise opportunities for people from
disadvantaged backgrounds, or with particular
health needs, or protected characteristics.
Creating pre-employment programmes, work
placements and volunteer work experience to help
encourage people to consider different career
paths.
Engaging young people and supporting career
development to tackle low levels of aspiration and
encourage young people to consider different
career paths.
New career opportunities to review and reshape
posts that do not have good progression or
opportunities.

23

Page 297

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

//

MARCH 2021

Supporting health and wellbeing of staff,
concentrating on mental health and
musculoskeletal conditions, to support people to
enter and remain in the workforce.
Shifting more spend locally to boost local business
and supply chains.
Embedding social value into purchasing decisions
to acknowledge businesses that contribute to
creating local jobs and training opportunities,
paying a living wage etc
Recognising workforce as part of the community
and seeking opportunities for staff to be
ambassadors through the other roles they hold
Encouraging public sector opportunities to drive
investment in areas in need of regeneration.
Use of estate and infrastructure development to
connect services with local areas of need.
ECC has now integrated many of these approaches and
is working with other anchors locally to help them
also embed social value in their work practices.
It is also working with the private sector, encouraging
major employers with 500+ staff to adopt an anchor
approach and has secured significant investment from
Innovate UK to help the development of the Horizon
120 business and innovation park in Braintree.
For more information, please contact: Laura.TaylorGreen@essex.gov.uk.

24

Page 298

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

//

MARCH 2021

APPENDIX 3: FURTHER
RESOURCES
Factors affecting wellbeing and health outcomes
1. Health Foundation, What makes us healthy? An
introduction to the social determinants of health,
March 2018.
https://www.health.org.uk/sites/default/files/Wha
t-makes-us-healthy-quick-guide.pdf
2. Institute of Health Equity, Health Equity in
England: The Marmot Review 10 Years On,
February 2020
https://www.health.org.uk/publications/reports/th
e-marmot-review-10-years-on
3.Improvement and Development Agency, The
social determinants of health and the role of local
government, 2010.
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/docu
ments/social-determinants-healt-25f.pdf

25

Page 299

LEARNING FROM COVID-19 IN
MID AND SOUTH ESSEX

//

MARCH 2021

Embedding a community focus in delivering
services
Centre for Local Economic Strategies (CLES)
Website: https://cles.org.uk/
Health Foundation
Website: https://www.health.org.uk/news-andcomment/charts-and-infographics/the-nhs-as-ananchor-institution
Report:
https://www.health.org.uk/publications/reports/buildin
g-healthier-communities-role-of-nhs-as-anchorinstitution
Local Government Association
Website:
https://www.local.gov.uk/topics/devolution/devolution
-online-hub/local-growth/leading-places
NHS Long Term Plan
Website:
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/onlineversion/appendix/the-nhs-as-an-anchor-institution/

26

Page 300

